## WNT SIGNALING IN IMMUNE CELL REGULATION DURING MICROBIAL INFECTION AND CANCER

EDITED BY: Malini Sen, Dennis A. Carson, Antje Blumenthal, Elena Martin-Orozco and Jere W. McBride <u>PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology</u>







#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-859-8 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-859-8

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

# WNT SIGNALING IN IMMUNE CELL REGULATION DURING MICROBIAL INFECTION AND CANCER

**Topic Editors:** 

Malini Sen, Indian Institute of Chemical Biology (CSIR), India Dennis A. Carson, University of California, San Diego, United States Antje Blumenthal, The University of Queensland, Australia Elena Martin-Orozco, University of Murcia, Spain Jere W. McBride, University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston, United States

**Citation:** Sen, M., Carson, D. A., Blumenthal, A., Martin-Orozco, E., McBride, J. W., eds. (2020). Wnt Signaling in Immune Cell Regulation During Microbial Infection and Cancer. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-859-8

# Table of Contents

04 Editorial: Wnt Signaling in Immune Cell Regulation During Microbial Infection and Cancer

Antje Blumenthal, Elena Martin-Orozco, Jere W. McBride, Dennis A. Carson and Malini Sen

06 The WNT Framework in Shaping Immune Cell Responses During Bacterial Infections

Tanushree Mukherjee and Kithiganahalli Narayanaswamy Balaji

15 Macrophages as an Emerging Source of Wnt Ligands: Relevance in Mucosal Integrity

Jesús Cosin-Roger, Mª Dolores Ortiz-Masià and Mª Dolores Barrachina

31 WNT/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway Regulating T Cell-Inflammation in the Tumor Microenvironment

Xin Li, Yanwei Xiang, Fulun Li, Chengqian Yin, Bin Li and Xisong Ke

- **43** *Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling as a Molecular Target by Pathogenic Bacteria* Octavio Silva-García, Juan J. Valdez-Alarcón and Víctor M. Baizabal-Aguirre
- **57** Bacterial Manipulation of Wnt Signaling: A Host-Pathogen Tug-of-Wnt Madison R. Rogan, LaNisha L. Patterson, Jennifer Y. Wang and Jere W. McBride
- 79 Wnt Signaling: Pathogen Incursion and Immune DefenseSuborno Jati, Tresa Rani Sarraf, Debdut Naskar and Malini Sen
- 86 Functions of the WNT Signaling Network in Shaping Host Responses to Infection

Johanna K. Ljungberg, Jessica C. Kling, Thao Thanh Tran and Antje Blumenthal

- 109 Wnt Signaling and its Significance Within the Tumor Microenvironment: Novel Therapeutic Insights
   Sonal Patel, Aftab Alam, Richa Pant and Samit Chattopadhyay
- **122** WNT Signaling in Tumors: The Way to Evade Drugs and Immunity Elena Martin-Orozco, Ana Sanchez-Fernandez, Irene Ortiz-Parra and Maria Ayala-San Nicolas





## **Editorial: Wnt Signaling in Immune Cell Regulation During Microbial Infection and Cancer**

Antje Blumenthal<sup>1\*</sup>, Elena Martin-Orozco<sup>2\*</sup>, Jere W. McBride<sup>3\*</sup>, Dennis A. Carson<sup>4\*</sup> and Malini Sen<sup>5\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> The University of Queensland Diamantina Institute, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia, <sup>2</sup> Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology B and Immunology, Murcia BioHealth Research Institute (IMIB), University of Murcia, Murcia, Spain, <sup>3</sup> Departments of Pathology and Microbiology and Immunology, Center for Biodefense and Emerging Infectious Diseases, University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston, Galveston, TX, United States, <sup>4</sup> Department of Medicine, University of California, San Diego, San Diego, CA, United States, <sup>5</sup> Cancer Biology and Inflammatory Disorder, Indian Institute of Chemical Biology (CSIR), Kolkata, India

Keywords: WNT, immunity, infection, microbe, pathogen, tumor

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

Edited and reviewed by:

Catherine Sautes-Fridman, INSERM U1138 Centre de Recherche des Cordeliers, France

#### \*Correspondence:

Antje Blumenthal a.blumenthal@uq.edu.au Elena Martin-Orozco emartin@um.es Jere W. McBride jemcbrid@utmb.edu Dennis A. Carson dcarson@ucsd.edu Malini Sen msen648@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 21 April 2020 **Accepted:** 11 May 2020 **Published:** 05 June 2020

#### Citation:

Blumenthal A, Martin-Orozco E, McBride JW, Carson DA and Sen M (2020) Editorial: Wnt Signaling in Immune Cell Regulation During Microbial Infection and Cancer. Front. Immunol. 11:1133. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.01133

#### Wnt Signaling in Immune Cell Regulation During Microbial Infection and Cancer

### **OVERVIEW**

**Editorial on the Research Topic** 

WNT ligands interact with distinct families of cell surface receptors to initiate signaling in response to the various environmental cues that orchestrate cell physiology and tissue homeostasis. For example, WNT signaling directs cytoskeletal modulations, organelle dynamics and specific transcriptional programs that regulate cell growth, differentiation, and migration. While WNT signaling was initially best studied in embryogenesis and carcinogenesis, quite naturally, this important aspect of life was also discovered to orchestrate interactions between the immune system and invading pathogens and tumors, as well as the microbiota that co-exist with the host. Many gaps remain in our understanding of how WNT signaling is involved in immune defense, host cell interactions with tumors and phylogenetically diverse microbes. This Research Topic comprises articles that provide a comprehensive picture of the current understanding of WNT signaling in response to pathogens, commensals, and tumors. With a view toward exploiting these novel insights for therapeutic applications, considerations of targeting specific WNTs and WNT signaling intermediates in the various scenarios are discussed.

## WNT SIGNALING SCHEME

WNTs comprise a family of secreted glycol-lipo-protein ligands that bind to cell surface receptors including Frizzled G protein-coupled receptors, as well as ROR and Ryk tyrosine kinases to elicit signal transduction. Although WNT signaling is broadly categorized into 2 principal types,  $\beta$ -catenin-dependent and  $\beta$ -catenin independent, considerable crosstalk exists among the signaling intermediates of WNT signaling pathways in complex modes that are mostly context dependent. The intricate features of the diverse WNT signaling cascades under physiological states and different pathophysiological settings have been covered categorically in the articles by Mukherjee et al., Ljungberg et al., Silva-Garcia et al., Jati et al., Rogan et al., Li et al., Cosin-Roger et al., Patel et al., and Martin-Orozco et al.

4

## WNT SIGNALING IN RELATION TO MICROBIAL PATHOGENESIS

Being an important component of cell and tissue homeostasis, WNT signaling is often exploited by pathogens for their own survival. For example, Salmonella Typhimurium depresses WNT signaling in the endothelium by virtue of its T3SS effector system and utilizes the vascular leakiness to enhance its dissemination (Rogan et al.). Some pathogens, for example S. flexneri on the other hand, take advantage of the inflammatory component of WNT signaling for propagation of infection (Mukherjee et al.). Along the same lines, Silva-Garcia et al. have outlined the role of various bacterial virulence factors in the regulation of the WNT-\beta-catenin pathway during disease pathogenesis. Ljungberg et al. provide an overview of bacteria-induced WNT responses in experimental systems and patient samples, and the functional consequences in the context of immune responses. Some examples include impact on immune cell differentiation, antimicrobial defense, inflammation, and the cross-talk between innate and adaptive immunity. Adding another twist to this topic, Jati et al. have described how actin cytoskeleton organization by WNT5A signaling dictates the killing of some pathogens by utilizing the host autophagy machinery. Jati et al. also raise how WNT signaling might facilitate differentiating between pathogenic and non-pathogenic microbes, given the plethora of beneficial commensals that have evolved with our system.

In view of the ongoing tug of war between the host and pathogens for WNT signaling components during the onset and progression of infections, it would be fair to state that appropriate and targeted inhibition or activation of WNT signaling may be beneficial for the host's ability to control pathogens. Such operations, however, would naturally vary case to case.

## WNT SIGNALING IN TUMORIGENESIS AND ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNE RESPONSES

Consistent with an important role in directing transcription, cytoskeletal motility and cell proliferation and differentiation, dysregulated WNT signaling is associated with the development of tumors. With the discovery that WNT signaling also shapes immune cell functions, it is increasingly appreciated that the immune response to tumors is shaped by WNT signaling in both tumor and immune cells. As explained by Cosin-Roger et al., evidence of the association of WNT signaling with tumorigenesis was first reported in 1991, when mutations in the Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC) gene were linked with the development of colorectal cancer. Anomalous expression and function of the APC gene product, which regulates  $\beta$ -catenin functions as a transcriptional co-activator, is now known to be associated with uncontrolled cell proliferation in cancer. Cosin-Roger

et al. and Li et al. project WNT-β-catenin signaling as a high priority target for therapeutic intervention in the treatment of cancers. In their review, Patel et al. describe the role of tumor infiltrating macrophages in colorectal cancer, commenting on the high level of expression of WNT2 and WNT5A in the macrophages and its correlation with cancer progression. They further describe how WNT-\beta-catenin signaling is involved in the functional polarization of tumor-associated macrophages that facilitates tumor growth. Martin-Orozco et al. discuss the role of WNT-\beta-catenin signaling in augmenting drug resistance of tumors through expression of drug export pumps. Importantly, reports of the role of WNT signaling in tumor regression also exist. For example, evidence has been presented that WNT5A acts as a tumor suppressor in various cancers. In fact Foxy-5 is a hexapeptide mimic of WNT5A, which is currently being studied in clinical trials as a tumor suppressor (Patel et al.).

As dysregulated WNT signaling is explored as a therapeutic target in cancer, it is important to consider that the applied interventions will define and re-shape the associated immune response. With pro- and anti-tumorigenic functions of WNT signaling in specific tumor settings it will be important to evaluate the therapeutic benefits and potential risks of WNT-targeted interventions in different cancers.

## PERSPECTIVE AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Activation of WNT signaling is an integral part of host responses to microbial encounter and tumorigenesis. Given the complexity of WNT signaling, special emphasis should be placed on the nature of the WNT response, as well as the understanding of functional impact of individual WNT ligands and their concerted action in response to infection and tumorigenesis. This will be essential to evaluate strategies for WNT-directed therapeutic interventions that might prove particularly valuable considering the significant challenges posed by drug resistance in pathogens as well as tumors.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

**Conflict of Interest**: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Blumenthal, Martin-Orozco, McBride, Carson and Sen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## The WNT Framework in Shaping Immune Cell Responses During Bacterial Infections

#### Tanushree Mukherjee and Kithiganahalli Narayanaswamy Balaji\*

Department of Microbiology and Cell Biology, Indian Institute of Science, Bangalore, India

A large proportion of the world is inflicted with health concerns arising from infectious diseases. Moreover, there is a widespread emergence of antibiotic resistance among major infectious agents, partially stemming from their continuous dialog with the host, and their enormous capacity to remodel the latter toward a secure niche. Among the several infection-driven events, moderation of WNT signaling pathway has been identified to be strategically tuned during infections to govern host-pathogen interactions. Primarily known for its role in arbitrating early embryonic developmental events; aberrant activation of the WNT pathway has also been associated with immunological consequences during diverse patho-physiological conditions. Here, we review the different mechanisms by which components of WNT signaling pathways are exploited by discrete bacterial agents for their pathogenesis. Furthermore, recent advances on the cross-talk of WNT with other signaling pathways, the varied modes of WNT-mediated alteration of gene expression, and WNT-dependent post-transcriptional and post-translational regulation of the immune landscape during distinct bacterial infections would be highlighted.

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Malini Sen, Indian Institute of Chemical Biology (CSIR), India

#### Reviewed by:

Sahana Holla, National Cancer Institute, United States Catherine Ayn Brissette, University of North Dakota, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Kithiganahalli Narayanaswamy Balaji balaji@iisc.ac.in

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 06 June 2019 Accepted: 06 August 2019 Published: 21 August 2019

#### Citation:

Mukherjee T and Balaji KN (2019) The WNT Framework in Shaping Immune Cell Responses During Bacterial Infections. Front. Immunol. 10:1985. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01985 Keywords: Wnt, infectious diseases, epigenetics, nuclear Wnt signaling, therapeutics

## INTRODUCTION

## The Discovery of WNT Ligands and Receptors

Three decades have passed since Dr. Roel Nusse cloned and characterized the first mammalian Wnt gene in 1982. This continued with the congregation of additional 18 ligands and 10 receptors into the large family of Wnt genes. The series of these discoveries have been elaborated by Dr. Nusse in his essay commemorating 30 years of Wnt genes (1). Wnt derives its name from the amalgamation of two lines of research being pursued in the 1980s. On one hand, in an attempt to identify the genes that induced mammary tumors upon infection with mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV), Nusse and Varmus discovered a single "integration site" that could lead to disease phenotype, and named the same as *int1*. Later it was shown that overexpression of int1 is sufficient to induce tumorigenesis in mice. At a similar time, int1 homolog Wingless was identified in a Drosophila mutant screen; wherein the gene was found to be essential for segment polarity and for the formation of wing tissue. By the end of 1980s, enormous screens were carried out to decipher other integration sites that may contribute to tumors (int2, int3, int4). However, those tumorigenic integration events were diverse and had least homology with int1; necessitating the nomenclature to be revisited. The researchers working then with int1 and Wingless consented to the hybrid name "Wnt" (Wingless-related integration site), and int1 as the pioneer was called Wnt1; whereas int2 is known today as FGF3, int3 as NOTCH4 and int4 as Wnt3A (1).

6

The Wnt family has only been expanding with the youngest member being added to the list in 2002 (2). In view of simplification, the Wnt members and their signaling mechanisms have now been broadly categorized into canonical, non-canonical and alternate, as briefly discussed in the following section.

## The Wnt Signaling Pathway

The Wnt pathway is evolutionarily conserved in all metazoans, where it contributes to critical fate decisions such as polarity, axis formation, organogenesis, tissue homeostasis, and stem cell renewal. Wnt ligands (19 in number), secretory glycoproteins, upon being translated undergo palmitoylation by the ER-resident Porcupine acyl transferases, and are then transported through the Golgi network to be docked onto the plasma membrane. When stimulated, the extracellular domain of Wnt is cleaved to release the bioactive ligand into the extracellular milieu, which binds to corresponding Frizzled (Fzd) receptors (10 in humans) in an autocrine or paracrine manner. Fzd form a class of sevenpass transmembrane proteins, showing topological homology to G-protein coupled receptors (GPCRs). The ligand binding occurs at the N-terminal cysteine-rich extracellular domain, bringing about conformational alterations that subsequently activate the adaptor molecule Disheveled (Dsh/Dvl). The phosphoprotein Dvl is activated by kinases such as Casein Kinase1, Casein Kinase2, and Protein Kinase C (PKC) among others. Apart from Wnt and Fzd, co-receptors (lipoprotein receptor-related protein, LRP5/6) are critical for tuning the transduction of signal through Wnt receptor. Physiological and biochemical characterization of Wnt ligands, their receptors, co-receptors and the corresponding signaling mechanisms have identified at least three distinguishable consequences of Wnt interaction with specific Frizzled (Fzd) receptors: the canonical β-CATENIN-dependent signaling pathway; and the non-canonical β-CATENIN-independent Planar Cell Polarity and Wnt/Ca<sup>2+</sup> pathways. Further, the signaling cascades are kept under tight control by various negative regulators operating both intracellularly and extracellularly (briefly described in Figure 1). Owing to the modular architecture, Dvl stands as a single molecule past the ligand-receptor interface to be common in all the three pathways (3-5).

### Wnt/β-CATENIN Signaling Pathway

This forms the first pathway to be identified by genetic screens in Drosophila and validated in worms, frogs, fishes, and mice. The central objective of the pathway ensures the stabilization and activation of the transcription co-activator  $\beta$ -CATENIN. When unstimulated,  $\beta$ -CATENIN is trapped in a destruction complex composed of Axin, Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC), Casein kinase1 $\alpha$  (CK1 $\alpha$ ), glycogen synthase kinase3 (GSK3). Here, GSK3/CK1 $\alpha$  phosphorylates  $\beta$ -CATENIN, thereby priming it for ubiquitination-mediated proteasomal degradation. Upon signaling activation, Axin is translocated to the membrane to bind to LRP5/6, which leads to a series of relatively uncharacterized events activating Dvl and inactivating GSK3. These steps release the repression from  $\beta$ -CATENIN and allow it to translocate to the nucleus along with specific nuclear localization signal (NLS)-containing proteins.  $\beta$ -CATENIN, then effectuates Wnt-specific gene expression by interacting with the TCF/LEF (T cell factor/ lymphoid enhancer factor) family of DNA-binding transcription factors, while eliminating the negative regulator Groucho from the site.

### Planar Cell Polarity (PCP) Pathway

The non-canonical pathways activate Fzd and utilize specific domains of Dvl to transduce the signals. LRP5 and LRP6 do not participate in the non-canonical pathways, and are reportedly replaced by NRH1, Ryk, Ror as co-receptors. In the PCP pathway, activated Dvl adopts a route through GTPases Rho and Rac to activate ROCK and JNK, respectively. These events majorly culminate in cytoskeletal re-organization, and mechanisms of the pathway's contribution to transcriptional rewiring still require investigation.

#### Wnt/Ca<sup>2+</sup> Pathway

This pathway came to light with the observation that discrete Wnt signals can lead to  $Ca^{2+}$  release from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) in a GPCR-dependent manner. Though the precise GPCR has not been elucidated, it is clear that the activated trimeric G proteins lead to  $Ca^{2+}$  release and activation of  $Ca^{2+}$ -dependent kinases such as Calcium/ calmodulin Kinase II (CamKII) and PKC, and transcription factor NFAT. Interestingly, CamKII can also intercept  $\beta$ -CATENIN-driven regulation of gene expression, thereby altering the canonical arm of Wnt signaling.

## WNT PATHWAY IN INFECTIONS

Conventionally, Wnt genes have been correlated with carcinogenesis, retrovirus-mediated tumorigenesis and developmental processes, however, its contributions in the context of various infections is manifold (5). Sentinel macrophages, epithelial cells and other immune cells adopt a number of defense mechanisms to defy the invading pathogens that include autophagy, apoptosis, inflammation, antigen presentation, ER-stress regulation, inflammasome activation, and priming of cell-mediated immune responses such as T helper or cytotoxic phenotype. This review will give a brief account of the same with respect to bacterial infections in the light of Wnt signaling pathways.

## Regulation of Inflammation and Adaptive Immune Responses During Bacterial Infections

Inflammation is a complex process encompassing the differential activation of pathways leading to the expression and secretion of a set of cytokines by the host cells themselves or by host cell-mediated priming of the adaptive immune system. Skewing cytokine response to establish successful infection is adopted by several pathogens such as *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, *Shigella flexneri*, *Salmonella typhimurium*, *Citrobacter rodentium* etc. In this context, it was recently shown that canonical Wnt signaling is essential to maintain an inflammatory equipoise during *S. flexneri* infection. It was found that



Shigella-induced inflammation is maintained by NOD2driven Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor (EGFR)-dependent activation of Wnt/β-CATENIN axis, leading to the production of the anti-inflammatory molecule IDO1 (indoleamine 2, 3 dioxygenase1). The perturbation of Wnt signaling compromised IDO1 expression and pharmacological inhibition of IDO1 in mice exacerbated Shigellosis by inducing intestinal hyper-inflammation (6). Another instance of NOD2-driven inflammation was replicated in an acute arthritis model wherein Singh et al. utilized NOD2 agonist muramyl dipeptide (MDP) to demonstrate Wnt/β-CATENIN activation through LYPD6. It was found that the resultant Wnt signaling orchestrates β-CATENIN-dependent XIAP expression that mediated NLRP3 inflammasome activation, Caspase1 maturation and IL-1 $\beta$  secretion, thereby leading to the development of the inflammatory condition of acute arthritis in mice (7). Therefore, in contrasting conditions the same components of the canonical Wnt pathway generate intermediates that influence net inflammation.

Apart from the direct interception of Wnt pathway, certain pathogens alter Wnt signaling events by modulating the expression of the regulators of the pathway. For instance, in a model of *C. rodentium* infection in resistant C57BL/6J mice vs. susceptible C3H/HeOUJ and FVB mice, the authors found a robust expression of R-Spondin (Rspo2) in the susceptible strains (8). Rspo2 is known to activate Wnt pathway by negatively

regulating E3 ubiquitin ligases ZNF43 and ZNRF3 that allow proteasomal degradation of Wnt pathway components. The authors show that Rspo2 is associated with pathological Wnt/ $\beta$ -CATENIN activation-driven loss of intestinal differentiation, resulting in susceptibility to *C. rodentium* infection. Further studies by the same group found Rspo2 to be associated with enhanced MHC-II-driven antigen presentation and generation of Th1/ Th17 in susceptible mice (9). This could be attributed to the pronounced ability of proliferating intestinal cells to sense the pathogen because of an apparent loss of functionally differentiated goblet cells in Rspo2-driven Wnt active intolerant/susceptible mice.

## Modulation of Host Cell Death Pathways

The regulated execution of specific cell death pathways enables bacterial pathogens to either localize in host cells or disseminate systemically during the course of infection. Therefore, it can be surmised that the dynamics of these pathways would be carefully tapped during host-pathogen interactions. Wnt signaling has been significantly implicated in apoptotic events during development, and has subsequently been found to contribute to distinct cell death phenomena associated with infections. It has been reported that canonical Wnt3a- $\beta$ -CATENIN signaling enhances apoptotic host cell death during *Mycobacterium bovis* BCG (BCG) infection via mitochondrial cytochrome c-driven Caspase3 activation. This involved the

upregulation of the pro-apoptotic Bax and downregulation of anti-apoptotic Mcl1 proteins (10). Alongside, another study reported the ability of Wnt3a to inhibit BCG-induced necrosis (another cell death pathway) by restricting the ROSdependent PARP1-AIF cascade (11). These studies employed the vaccine strain BCG, which might present immunologically diverse regulatory outcomes compared to virulent mycobacteria. However, the parallel results of enhanced apoptosis and restricted necrosis may be explained by the ability of BCG to utilize Wnt pathway-driven apoptosis as a strategy to establish infection at early stages and therefore the disseminationprone necrotic pathway is limited. In another instance, Liu et al. demonstrated that Salmonella infection enhances Wnt2 expression at the transcript and protein level, partially by AvrA-mediated regulation, which is responsible for inhibiting Salmonella infection-driven apoptotic/necrotic host cell death, thereby enabling pathogen survival (12). Recent advances have identified multiple forms of regulated cell death mechanisms, apart from apoptosis, such as RIPK1-RIPK3-MLKL-dependent necroptosis and iron-mediated ferroptosis, however, these have not been explored in the context of Wnt signaling and infections.

## Wnt-Dependent Regulation of Cellular Homeostatic Processes

Among different cellular events, autophagy forms a homeostatic process initiated to unload host cells of non-functional/unfolded proteins, worn-out/excess organelles and exogenous agents, including intracellular pathogens. The processing of intracellular pathogens, referred to as xenophagy, displays an efficient host response to infections. The implication of Wnt pathway in the inhibition of autophagy in the context of mycobacterial infection has been demonstrated. It was found that infection with pathogenic bacteria, including BCG, S. flexneri and Listeria monocytogenes stimulate the expression of Wnt ligand Wnt5a, receptor Fzd4 and co-receptor Lrp5 to bring about the inhibition of IFNy-induced autophagy. The detailed molecular mechanism implied an mTOR-dependent miR31- and miR155-driven downregulation of the phosphatase PP2A, thereby stabilizing the inhibitory phosphorylation on the negative regulator of Wnt pathway i.e., GSK3β. However, non-pathogenic bacteria such as E. coli failed to execute the string of events (13). Interestingly, in another study with Ehrlichia chaffeensis, Lina et al. demonstrated the ability of the pathogen to utilize Wnt-driven mTOR-PI3K pathway to inhibit autophagy by restricting the fusion of amphisomes (bacteria-containing endosomes decorated with autophagy markers BECLIN1, p62, LC3BII) with lysosomes. The authors suggest that the virulence factor Etf1 allows amphisome formation in order to acquire nutrients, while, another set of virulence determinants TRP120, 32 and 47 act in concert to activate Dvl/Wnt pathway to mediate mTOR-driven TFEB cytosolic retention and consequent inhibition of amphisomelysosome fusion (14). These studies clearly indicate the ability of pathogens to hijack the Wnt pathway to evade host innate defense of autophagy. In addition to these reports, Jati et al. demonstrated that pathogens such as Pseudomonas aeruginosa and Streptococcus pneumoniae indeed downregulate Wnt5a in order to suppress autophagy and establish a successful infection (15). Thus, Wnt signaling is regulated disparately by diverse pathogens to execute similar immune responses, indicating toward the specificity of virulence mechanisms employed by infectious agents.

## Non-canonical Wnt in Infectious Diseases

The non-canonical components of the Wnt pathway have distinct roles in patho-physiologies, and their association with infectious diseases has started to garner significant attention. For instance, Luo et al. investigated the ability of the obligate intracellular bacterium E. chaffeensis, causing human monocytotrophic ehrlichiosis (HME) to utilize the non-canonical Wnt pathway for its pathogenesis. The authors showed that the unusual bacterium upregulates several components of the Wnt pathway, including ligands Wnt6 and 10a; receptors Fzd5 and 9; co-receptor LRP6 and TCF7 early during infection. Interestingly, E. chaffeensis tandem repeat proteins (TRPs) were shown to assist bacterial internalization through noncanonical Wnt components, where they interacted with Wnt pathway regulators like ARID2, KDM6B, IRF2BP2, PPP3R1, and VPS29, thus influencing Wnt signaling activation and aiding in bacterial survival by both canonical  $\beta$ -CATENIN and non-canonical Ca<sup>2+</sup>-CAMKII-NFAT routes (16). Apart from this, several reports have focused on enteric pathogens for their association with the non-canonical Wnt pathway. Wnt11 has been reported to be enhanced during intestinal bowel disease (IBD), and Liu et al. demonstrated its relevance in the context of bacterial inflammation for the first time. They found that infection of host epithelial cells with S. typhimurium leads to an elevated expression of Wnt11, dependent on the Salmonella effector protein AvrA. Further, the in vivo studies showed a relocalization of Wnt11 to the lower crypts during infection and also demonstrated that overexpressing Wnt11 shows inhibitory effects on Salmonella internalization and IL-8 expression-mediated intestinal inflammation (17). Another instance is detailed with the kinome array conducted for Salmonella enteritidis infection in chicken, wherein the authors find an infection-driven activation of non-canonical components of the Wnt pathway in Fzd1-dependent manner. This was shown to converge to the phosphorylation of Fzd1-CamKII/β-CATENIN/Protein Kinase C that eventually activates NFAT and suppresses canonical Wnt signaling. This aids the expression of anti-inflammatory IL-10 and TGFB, thereby generating a tolerogenic state and allowing persistent colonization of Salmonella in the chicken gut (18). In the realm of mycobacterial infection, the contribution of canonical Wnt/β-CATENIN pathway has been detailed in several studies (13, 19). Interestingly, mycobacterial infection has also been reported to mediate the expression of non-canonical Wnt components (Wnt5a and Wnt6). In one instance, Wnt5a-Fzd5 axis was shown to be activated in myeloid cells of the TB lesion in order to prime cell-mediated pro-inflammatory immune responses such as IFNy production from T cells (20). Conversely, in another study, Wnt6 was found to be expressed specifically by lipidladen macrophages in TB granulomas and was associated with Arginase1 expression, while being negatively correlated with proinflammatory TNF $\alpha$  production (21). Although both the studies were conducted in the mouse model of chronic TB infection, it appears that the cell type expressing specific Wnt ligands and their spatio-temporal abundance strongly influences the immune cell polarization and the net immune outcome.

## Cross-Talk of Wnt With Other Signaling Pathways During Infections

Infection with pathogens triggers several signaling pathways that act in concert to define the immune outcome. The Wnt cascade itself establishes communication with intracellular signaling intermediates in physiological and infectious scenarios. This is achieved by the presence of common upstream regulators or downstream target molecules. It has been shown that Wnt interacts with Sonic Hedgehog (SHH) signaling through GSK3β, which acts as a negative regulator of both the pathways. In the context of mycobacterial infection in macrophages, miRNAs 31 and 155 were found to repress the expression of the phosphatase PP2A, thereby retaining the inhibitory phosphorylation of GSK3β, and consequently allowing the activation of Wnt and SHH through β-CATENIN and NUMB, respectively (13). Further, in another study, a pathogenic encounter with Mtb, Salmonella or Staphylococcus was found to induce both NOTCH (Notch1, Jagged1) and Wnt (Wnt5a, Fzd4, Lrp5) signaling pathways. This pathogen-specific TLR2dependent activation of Wnt and NOTCH relied on a Wnt/ β-CATENIN-driven expression of NOTCH pathway ligand Jagged1 in iNOS/NO-dependent manner. Critically, such studies broaden the repertoire of signals responsible for canonical β-CATENIN activation to include non-canonical Wnt ligands, such as WNT5a. Such an orchestration was observed to mediate regulatory T cell expansion during pathogenic bacterial infections (19). The signaling cross-talks are witnessed across phyla and species, ranging from Drosophila and zebrafish to mice and pigs. In this light, a study by Huan et al. showed the synergistic effects of Wnt attenuation (assessed by cytosolic localization of β-CATENIN and downregulation of target gene expression) and NOTCH pathway activation in regulating goblet cell maturation, mucosal integrity and crypt cell proliferation in pigs infected with Lawsonia intracellularis, thus providing insights into the pathogenesis of this bacterial agent (22).

Recent reports demonstrate Wnt pathway to respond to *S. flexneri* infection-activated EGFR pathway. It was shown that the pathogen utilizes EGFR pathway to initiate a cascade comprising the engagement of c-Abl and HIPK2 to mediate the activation of the Wnt/ $\beta$ -CATENIN axis and the subsequent expression of anti-inflammatory IDO1 (6). In the context of another intestinal infection with *C. rodentium*, Wnt signaling has been reported to coordinate with AHR signals to maintain a balance of intestinal stem cell renewal and differentiation. Metidji et al. demonstrated that AHR pathway transcriptionally upregulates Wnt negative factors RNF43 and ZNRF3, thereby limiting Wnt signaling activation. This check on Wnt pathway allows intestinal stem cell repair and differentiation; and prevents from intestinal infections (*C. rodentium*) and formation of colorectal cancers (23).

## Hijacking Wnt Components for Gaining Access to Host Cells

The intracellular events post-receptor-driven activation of Wnt pathway are well appreciated. The independent roles for the receptors themselves during infections form a relatively recent development in the functional spectra of this signaling cascade. In 2016, Tao et al. demonstrated the implication of Fzd receptors in the invasion and thereby pathogenesis of the Gram positive bacterium Clostridium difficile. They found that the pertinent TcdB toxin of the pathogen is infused into host cells via Fzd2 receptor, alongside Fzd1 and Fzd7. Single knockout of either Fzd1/2/7 or triple knockout in HeLa cells compromised TcdBmediated host cell rounding and cell death; while complementing any of the three Fzd in the triple knockout conditions restored the host cell sensitivity to the toxin. Having validated the same in colorectal cancer cell line HT-29 and colonic organoids and having confirmed its relevance in detecting TcdB in mouse colon epithelium in vivo, it is intriguing to consider Fzd receptors as potential targets for minimizing the detrimental effects of this infection (24). Another interesting study by Zhang et al. (25), demonstrated the effect of Axin1 in Salmonella invasion and resultant inflammation. They found that the pathogen attaches to the host cell membrane irrespective of the presence of Axin1; however, the invasion of Salmonella is severely compromised in cells overexpressing Axin1. Mechanistically, the authors found that Salmonella strategizes the depletion of Axin1 early during infection by post-translational mechanisms through ubiquitination and SUMOylation (25). Of note is that a proportion of overexpressed Axin1 is found localized to the plasma membrane upon Salmonella infection, suggesting a possible inhibitory effect being generated at the entry point.

## Wnt-Dependent Epigenetic Regulation of Infection-Driven Immune Responses

The paradigm of regulation of gene expression also includes accurate and swift alterations mediated by epigenetic mechanisms. These epigenetic changes result from the covalent modifications of DNA/ histones or the structural reorganization of chromatin. The bearings of such modifications are immense, as recruitment of the transcriptional co-activator,  $\beta$ -CATENIN, alone is not sufficient to orchestrate WNT target gene expression. Therefore, a major focus of the current research invests in exploring the epigenetic interventions. In this front, it is known that upon nuclear translocation, β-CATENIN interacts with multiple factors through its N- and C-terminal domains. The N-terminus interacts with LEF to allow its DNA binding, while also associating with a number of factors such as Legless (Lgl) and Pygopus (Pygo). The C-terminus is more diverse in the repertoire of chromatin binding proteins that include histone methyl transferases such as MLL, PRC2 complex (EZH2), demethylase LSD1, histone acetyl transferase like p300, and chromatin remodelers such as BRG1 and ISW1. A study by Yakulov et al. has compared the chromatin partners of β-CATENIN in the presence or absence of the canonical ligand, WNT3a (26, 27). Although, some of these association studies have been prominent in cancers and development, the implications of the same in bacterial infections is in its infancy.

In a model of C. rodentium infection in mice, Roy et al. proposed the activation of WNT signaling-driven crypt hyperplasia and tumorigenesis to result from EZH2-dependent downregulation of the negative Wnt regulator WIF1. They demonstrate an enhanced expression of EZH2 upon infection with Citrobacter (28). However, there is a lack of evidences that compare the infection-moderated chromatin profile or alterations of associating partners of β-CATENIN. Such instances may be borrowed from studies elucidating distinct pathologies. For instance, the type-II protein arginine methyltransferase, PRMT5, activates Wnt signaling and Wnt/ β-CATENIN target gene expression by differentially modulating the promoter occupancy by co-activators and co-repressors in lymphoma cells. Chung et al. specifically demonstrated that PRMT5 inhibition reduces the recruitment of co-activators p300, MLL1, while enhancing the co-repressors HDAC2 and LSD1 in lymphoma cell lines. Interestingly, the occupancy of β-CATENIN over the promoters of these target genes does not alter significantly upon PRMT5 inhibition making it an interesting supposition to assess if PRMT5 associates with β-CATENIN to mediate differential recruitment of activators/repressors in Wnt-specific gene expression even during infections (29).

### **Future Perspectives**

Infectious diseases account for a vast proportion of disability associated life years (DALYs) as well as mortality in the global context. This stems from the ability of major infectious agents to adopt strategies in order to co-evolve with their host, and exhibit immune evasion and subversion mechanisms as a part of their survival tactics. With the early reports of the implications of Wnt pathway in development and tumorigenesis, it could be foreseen that the pathway might be hijacked by infectious entities to disrupt homeostasis and establish infection. In this light, we discussed the many facets that are exploited by pathogens along the Wnt signaling axis, including Wnt ligands, receptors, coreceptors, transcription factors, and certain epigenetic alterations (summarized in Table 1). However, the increasing complexities being identified for the Wnt pathway provides an array of avenues that still remain untapped in the realm of bacterial infections.

The canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling pathways are majorly distinguished by the nuclear translocation of the transcriptional co-activator  $\beta$ -CATENIN, which alters immune gene expression. Notably, several other Wnt components such as APC, Axin2, and Dvl proteins harbor nuclear import and export signals and have been found to shuttle to the nucleus in order to fine tune the outcome of the Wnt pathway (30–33). However, it is unclear as to how these cytosolic/membrane-localized Wnt components are targeted to the nucleus. Since the infection outcomes depend on the transcriptional landscape, filling the gaps in nuclear Wnt signaling may assist the understanding of gene expression in a more cohesive fashion. It would be interesting to assess if bacterial pathogens or their virulence factors associate with these accessory components to invade into the host cell nucleus or differentially drive their shuttling to enhance their pathogenesis.

Chromatin modifications contribute significantly in defining the infection-induced transcriptome. With the premise that  $\beta$ -CATENIN is decorated with several chromatin modifiers and remodelers once inside the nucleus, exploring the epigenetics along Wnt signaling axis during bacterial infections, as a cause or consequence, requires further investigation. Moreover, it is reported that certain epigenetic factors can also act on host cytosolic proteins to alter their functions. In a very recent series of research outcomes, it was identified that the arginine methyl transferase PRMT1 is important for Wnt signaling activation. Mechanistically, the asymmetric arginine dimethylation conferred by PRMT1 on many of the GSK3 target proteins either primed them for GSK3-mediated phosphorylation or packaged them along with GSK3 into multi-vesicular bodies (MVBs), which stands as a pre-requisite for B-CATENIN nuclear translocation and Wnt activation (34). Further development showed that PRMT1-Wnt axis is crucial for governing macropinocytosis- (referring to the uptake of extracellular fluid with particles  $>0.2 \,\mu$ m)-driven endosomal trafficking and lysosomal degradation to increase the bioavailability of free amino acids (35). This attribute of Wnt signaling can be extended to infectious scenarios, where pathogens derive a large portion of nutrients from the host. It might possibly posit a critical persistence mechanism as many of the infections deal with innate sentinels such as macrophages, which sample their microenvironment and may collect nutrients by macropinocytosis upon infection-driven Wnt activation.

Finally, the extensive repertoire of Fzd receptors still require detailed investigation for their possible implications in pathogen uptake and ensuing microautophagy/macropinocytosis events. The endless possibilities of Wnt functions, given the apparent cross-talks and the overlaps of the canonical and non-canonical components, can levy contrasting immune outcomes during host-pathogen interactions as may be observed with the ability of Mtb to induce canonical Wnt/ β-CATENIN signaling to inhibit autophagy, while the non-canonical Wnt being downregulated by P. aeruginosa and S. pneumoniae infections to execute the same (13, 15). Wnt was primarily recognized to be essential for cell proliferation and differentiation processes, which also included the modulation of host cell death. It may be noted that Wnt-directed host cell death during infections has only been restricted to apoptosis and necrosis. Advances in the understanding have revealed the existence of multiple regulated cell death pathways, such as necroptosis, ferroptosis, and pyroptosis. Though Wnt has been associated with components of these cell-death events, it has not been studied in infections. For instance, necroptosis that occurs via the formation of "necrosome" consisting of RIPK1-RIPK3-MLKL axis has been linked with Wnt pathway. In a study with colorectal cancer, it was shown that RIPK3 knockout leads to the excessive activation of various pathways including Wnt/ B-CATENIN (36). Moreover, recent evidence succinctly demonstrated that GPX4 interacts with canonical Wnt transcription factors TCF3

TABLE 1 | Interactions of bacterial pathogens with Wnt pathway components.

Pathogens	WNT component involved	Effect on infection-driven processes	References
Shigella flexneri	Canonical β-CATENIN pathway	Maintaining inflammatory equipoise through the regulation of IDO1	(6)
Citrobacter rodentium	R-spondin 2-mediated Wnt activation	Involved in loss of intestinal differentiation	(8)
		Leads to increased MHC-II responses and Th1/17-driven hyper-inflammation	(9)
Mycobacterium bovis BCG	Wnt3a	Induction of apoptosis	(10)
Mycobacterium bovis BCG	Wnt3a	Inhibition of necrosis	(11)
Salmonella	Wnt2	Inhibition of necrosis	(12)
BCG, Shigella flexneri, Listeria monocytogenes	Wnt5a, Fzd4, Lrp5	Inhibition of autophagy	(13)
Ehrlichia chaffeensis	Canonical Wnt/Dvl-mTOR axis	Inhibition of autophagy	(14)
Pseudomonas aeruginosa/ Streptococcus pneumoniae	Downregulation of Wnt5a	Inhibition of autophagy	(15)
Ehrlichia chaffeensis	Wnt6, Wnt10a, Fzd5, Fzd9, Lrp6, Tcf7	Assist bacterial internalization and survival	(16)
Salmonella typhimurium	Wnt11	Inhibition of <i>Salmonella</i> internalization and IL-8 expression-mediated inflammation	(17)
Salmonella enteritidis	Fzd1	Production of anti-inflammatory cytokines IL-10, TGFβ	(18)
Mycobacterium tuberculosis	Wnt5a-Fzd5	Induction of pro-inflammatory immune response	(20)
Mycobacterium tuberculosis	Wnt6	Expressed in lipid droplets and associated with production of anti-inflammatory Arginase1	(21)
Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Salmonella, Staphylococcus	Wnt5a, Fzd4, Lrp5	Regulatory T cell expansion	(19)
awsonia intracellularis.	Downregulated Wnt signaling (cytosolic β-CATENIN)	Inhibition of goblet cell maturation at peak of infection	(22)
Citrobacter rodentium	Upregulation of negative regulators of Wnt pathway - RNF43 ZNRF3	Intestinal stem cell renewal and differentiation, thereby preventing intestinal infections	(23)
Clostridium difficile	Fzd1, 2, 7	Assist in pathogen internalization	(24)
Salmonella	Axin1	Limits invasion into host cells	(25)
Citrobacter rodentium	Epigenetic downregulation of WIF1, leading to Wnt activation	Crypt hyperplasia and tumorigenesis	(28)

and TCF4, occupies the promoters of Wnt target genes and suppresses their expression (37). GPX4 acts as a major regulator of ferroptosis (iron-induced programmed cell death) by buffering peroxide levels, and is downregulated by infectious agents like Mtb (38). These observations offer a vast avenue for probing into the mechanistic insights of Wnt-associated cell death events during infections. A major proportion of research on Wnt pathway in the realm of infectious diseases limits to intestinal bacterial infections and subsequent inflammation. However, as may be noted now that the potential implications of a versatile and complex pathway like Wnt has so far not been appropriately exploited in distinct infections and associated cellular consequences. With the expanding dynamics of antibiotic resistance among



globally relevant pathogens, host-directed therapeutics form an essential alternative (39), and we believe that unraveling the contributions of Wnt pathway would provide critical cues for the same. Several platforms are being synthesized for targeting the Wnt pathway in distinct pathologies, however, it is imperative to understand that the numerous ligand-receptor permutations along with their downstream cross-talks present an unavoidable drawback for Wnt-directed therapeutics (40). Moreover, the ubiquity of kinases like GSK3 would compromise the specificity of such attempts. Overall, though it would be highly challenging to design Wnt-specific therapies, it must be envisioned that a thorough analysis of the pathway with respect to its interactome, including chromatin modifiers/remodelers, cell death factors to name a few, and how they are redefined during infections would offer a novel paradigm for combinatorial adjuncts (Figure 2).

## REFERENCES

- Nusse R, Varmus H. Three decades of Wnts: a personal perspective on how a scientific field developed. *EMBO J.* (2012) 31:2670–84. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2012.146
- Kim KA, Zhao J, Andarmani S, Kakitani M, Oshima T, Binnerts ME, et al. R-Spondin proteins: a novel link to beta-catenin activation. *Cell Cycle*. (2006) 5:23–6. doi: 10.4161/cc.5.1.2305
- Komiya Y, Habas R. Wnt signal transduction pathways. Organogenesis. (2008) 4:68–75. doi: 10.4161/org.4.2.5851

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

KB constructed the framework of the manuscript. TM wrote the initial draft. TM and KB finalized, edited, and proofread the manuscript.

## **FUNDING**

KB receives research funding from the Department of Biotechnology (DBT; BT/PR13522/COE/34/27/2015; BT/PR27352/BRB/10/1639/2017) and the Department of Science and Technology (Government of India, EMR/2014/000875). KB thanks Science and Engineering Research Board, Department of Science and Technology, New Delhi, India for J. C. Bose National Fellowship (SB/S2/JCB-025/2016). TM receives fellowship from Indian Institute of Science.

- MacDonald BT, He X. Frizzled and LRP5/6 receptors for Wnt/betacatenin signaling. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2012) 4:a007880. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a007880
- Zhan T, Rindtorff N, Boutros M. Wnt signaling in cancer. Oncogene. (2017) 36:1461–73. doi: 10.1038/onc.2016.304
- Mukherjee T, Udupa VAV, Prakhar P, Chandra K, Chakravortty D, Balaji KN. Epidermal growth factor receptor-responsive indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase confers immune homeostasis during shigella flexneri infection. J Infect Dis. (2019) 219:1841–51. doi: 10.1093/infdis/ jiz009

- Singh V, Holla S, Ramachandra SG, Balaji KN. WNT-inflammasome signaling mediates NOD2-induced development of acute arthritis in mice. *J Immunol.* (2015) 194:3351–60. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402498
- Papapietro O, Teatero S, Thanabalasuriar A, Yuki KE, Diez E, Zhu L, et al. Rspondin 2 signalling mediates susceptibility to fatal infectious diarrhoea. *Nat Commun.* (2013) 4:1898. doi: 10.1038/ncomms2816
- Kang E, Zhou G, Yousefi M, Cayrol R, Xia J, Gruenheid S. Loss of disease tolerance during Citrobacter rodentium infection is associated with impaired epithelial differentiation and hyperactivation of T cell responses. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:847. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-17386-y
- Wu X, Deng G, Hao X, Li Y, Zeng J, Ma C, et al. A caspase-dependent pathway is involved in Wnt/beta-catenin signaling promoted apoptosis in Bacillus Calmette-Guerin infected RAW264.7 macrophages. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2014) 15:5045–62. doi: 10.3390/ijms15035045
- Wu X, Deng G, Li M, Li Y, Ma C, Wang Y, et al. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling reduces Bacillus Calmette-Guerin-induced macrophage necrosis through a ROS -mediated PARP/AIF-dependent pathway. *BMC Immunol.* (2015) 16:16. doi: 10.1186/s12865-015-0080-5
- Liu X, Lu R, Wu S, Zhang YG, Xia Y, Sartor RB, et al. Wnt2 inhibits enteric bacterial-induced inflammation in intestinal epithelial cells. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2012) 18:418–29. doi: 10.1002/ibd.21788
- Holla S, Kurowska-Stolarska M, Bayry J, Balaji KN. Selective inhibition of IFNG-induced autophagy by Mir155- and Mir31-responsive WNT5A and SHH signaling. *Autophagy*. (2014) 10:311–30. doi: 10.4161/auto.27225
- Lina TT, Luo T, Velayutham TS, Das S, McBride JW. Ehrlichia activation of Wnt-PI3K-mTOR signaling inhibits autolysosome generation and autophagic destruction by the mononuclear phagocyte. *Infect Immun.* (2017) 85:e00690– 17. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00690-17
- Jati S, Kundu S, Chakraborty A, Mahata SK, Nizet V, Sen M. Wnt5A signaling promotes defense against bacterial pathogens by activating a host autophagy circuit. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:679. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00679
- Luo T, Dunphy PS, Lina TT, McBride JW. *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* exploits canonical and noncanonical host wnt signaling pathways to stimulate phagocytosis and promote intracellular survival. *Infect Immun.* (2015) 84:686–700. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01289-15
- Liu X, Wu S, Xia Y, Li XE, Zhou ZD, Sun J. Wingless homolog Wnt11 suppresses bacterial invasion and inflammation in intestinal epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* (2011) 301:G992–1003. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00080.2011
- Kogut MH, Arsenault RJ. A role for the non-canonical Wnt-beta-catenin and TGF-beta Signaling Pathways in the Induction of Tolerance during the Establishment of a *Salmonella* enterica serovar enteritidis persistent cecal infection in chickens. *Front Vet Sci.* (2015) 2:33. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2015.00033
- Bansal K, Trinath J, Chakravortty D, Patil SA, Balaji KN. Pathogen-specific TLR2 protein activation programs macrophages to induce Wnt-beta-catenin signaling. J Biol Chem. (2011) 286:37032–44. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.260414
- Blumenthal A, Ehlers S, Lauber J, Buer J, Lange C, Goldmann T, et al. The Wingless homolog WNT5A and its receptor Frizzled-5 regulate inflammatory responses of human mononuclear cells induced by microbial stimulation. *Blood*. (2006) 108:965–73. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-12-5046
- Schaale K, Brandenburg J, Kispert A, Leitges M, Ehlers S, Reiling N. Wnt6 is expressed in granulomatous lesions of Mycobacterium tuberculosis-infected mice and is involved in macrophage differentiation and proliferation. J Immunol. (2013) 191:5182–95. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201819
- 22. Huan YW, Bengtsson RJ, MacIntyre N, Guthrie J, Finlayson H, Smith SH, et al. Lawsonia intracellularis exploits beta-catenin/Wnt and Notch signalling pathways during infection of intestinal crypt to alter cell homeostasis and promote cell proliferation. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0173782. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0173782
- Metidji A, Omenetti S, Crotta S, Li Y, Nye E, Ross E, et al. The environmental sensor AHR protects from inflammatory damage by maintaining intestinal stem cell homeostasis and barrier integrity. *Immunity*. (2018) 49:353–62 e355. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.07.010
- Tao L, Zhang J, Meraner P, Tovaglieri A, Wu X, Gerhard R, et al. Frizzled proteins are colonic epithelial receptors for C. difficile toxin B. *Nature*. (2016) 538:350–5. doi: 10.1038/nature19799

- Zhang YG, Wu S, Xia Y, Chen D, Petrof EO, Claud EC, et al. Axin1 prevents Salmonella invasiveness and inflammatory response in intestinal epithelial cells. PLoS ONE. (2012) 7:e34942. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034942
- Jessen S, Gu B, Dai X. Pygopus and the Wnt signaling pathway: a diverse set of connections. *Bioessays*. (2008) 30:448–56. doi: 10.1002/bies.20757
- Yakulov T, Raggioli A, Franz H, Kemler R. Wnt3a-dependent and independent protein interaction networks of chromatin-bound beta-catenin in mouse embryonic stem cells. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2013) 12:1980–94. doi: 10.1074/mcp.M112.026914
- Roy BC, Subramaniam D, Ahmed I, Jala VR, Hester CM, Greiner KA, et al. Role of bacterial infection in the epigenetic regulation of Wnt antagonist WIF1 by PRC2 protein EZH2. *Oncogene*. (2015) 34:4519–30. doi: 10.1038/onc.2014.386
- Chung J, Karkhanis V, Baiocchi RA, Sif S. Protein arginine methyltransferase
  (PRMT5) promotes survival of lymphoma cells via activation of WNT/betacatenin and AKT/GSK3beta proliferative signaling. J Biol Chem. (2019) 294:7692–710. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA119.007640
- Itoh K, Brott BK, Bae GU, Ratcliffe MJ, Sokol SY. Nuclear localization is required for Dishevelled function in Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. *J Biol.* (2005) 4:3. doi: 10.1186/jbiol20
- Neufeld KL, Zhang F, Cullen BR, White RL. APC-mediated downregulation of beta-catenin activity involves nuclear sequestration and nuclear export. *EMBO Rep.* (2000) 1:519–23. doi: 10.1093/embo-reports/kvd117
- Rennoll SA, Konsavage WM Jr, Yochum GS. Nuclear AXIN2 represses MYC gene expression. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2014) 443:217–22. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2013.11.089
- Zmijewski JW, Jope RS. Nuclear accumulation of glycogen synthase kinase-3 during replicative senescence of human fibroblasts. *Aging Cell.* (2004) 3:309–17. doi: 10.1111/j.1474-9728.2004.00117.x
- 34. Albrecht LV, Ploper D, Tejeda-Munoz N, De Robertis EM. Arginine methylation is required for canonical Wnt signaling and endolysosomal trafficking. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2018) 115:E5317–25. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1804091115
- Tejeda-Munoz N, Albrecht LV, Bui MH, De Robertis EM. Wnt canonical pathway activates macropinocytosis and lysosomal degradation of extracellular proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2019) 116:10402–11. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1903506116
- Li S, Ning LG, Lou XH, Xu GQ. Necroptosis in inflammatory bowel disease and other intestinal diseases. World J Clin Cases. (2018) 6:745–52. doi: 10.12998/wjcc.v6.i14.745
- Rong X, Zhou Y, Liu Y, Zhao B, Wang B, Wang C, et al. Glutathione peroxidase 4 inhibits Wnt/beta-catenin signaling and regulates dorsal organizer formation in zebrafish embryos. *Development*. (2017) 144:1687–97. doi: 10.1242/dev.144261
- Amaral EP, Costa DL, Namasivayam S, Riteau N, Kamenyeva O, Mittereder L, et al. A major role for ferroptosis in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*induced cell death and tissue necrosis. *J Exp Med.* (2019) 216:556–70. doi: 10.1084/jem.20181776
- Blair JM, Webber MA, Baylay AJ, Ogbolu DO, Piddock LJ. Molecular mechanisms of antibiotic resistance. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2014) 13:42–51. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3380
- Blagodatski A, Poteryaev D, Katanaev VL. Targeting the Wnt pathways for therapies. *Mol Cell Ther.* (2014) 2:28. doi: 10.1186/2052-842 6-2-28

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Mukherjee and Balaji. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Macrophages as an Emerging Source of Wnt Ligands: Relevance in Mucosal Integrity

Jesús Cosin-Roger<sup>1</sup>, M<sup>a</sup> Dolores Ortiz-Masià<sup>2\*</sup> and M<sup>a</sup> Dolores Barrachina<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Hospital Dr. Peset, FISABIO, Valencia, Spain, <sup>2</sup> Departamento de Medicina, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Valencia, Valencia, Spain, <sup>3</sup> Departamento de Farmacología and CIBER, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de Valencia, Valencia, Spain

**OPEN ACCESS** 

## Edited by:

Antje Blumenthal, University of Queensland, Australia

#### Reviewed by:

Julius Brandenburg, Research Center Borstel (LG), Germany Sumaira Z. Hasnain, University of Queensland. Australia

> \*Correspondence: Mª Dolores Ortiz-Masià m.dolores.ortiz@uv.es

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Molecular Innate Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 06 June 2019 Accepted: 11 September 2019 Published: 24 September 2019

#### Citation:

Cosin-Roger J, Ortiz-Masià MD and Barrachina MD (2019) Macrophages as an Emerging Source of Wnt Ligands: Relevance in Mucosal Integrity. Front. Immunol. 10:2297. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02297

The Wnt signaling pathway is a conserved pathway involved in important cellular processes such as the control of embryonic development, cellular polarity, cellular migration, and cell proliferation. In addition to playing a central role during embryogenesis, this pathway is also an essential part of adult homeostasis. Indeed, it controls the proliferation of epithelial cells in different organs such as intestine, lung, and kidney, and guarantees the maintenance of the mucosa in physiological conditions. The origin of this molecular pathway is the binding between Wnt ligands (belonging to a family of 19 different homologous secreted glycoproteins) and their specific membrane receptors, from the Frizzled receptor family. This specific interaction triggers the activation of the signaling cascade, which in turn activates or suppresses the expression of different genes in order to change the behavior of the cell. On the other hand, alterations of this pathway have been described in pathological conditions such as inflammation, fibrosis, and cancer. In recent years, macrophages-among other cell types-have emerged as a potential source of Wnt ligands. Due to their high plasticity, macrophages, which are central to the innate immune response, are capable of adopting different phenotypes depending on their microenvironment. In the past, two different phenotypes were described: a proinflammatory phenotype-M1 macrophages-and an anti-inflammatory phenotype-M2 macrophages-and a selective expression of Wht ligands has been associated with said phenotypes. However, nowadays it is assumed that macrophages in vivo move through a continual spectrum of functional phenotypes. In both physiological and pathological (inflammation, fibrosis and cancer) conditions, the accumulation and polarization of macrophages conditions the future of the tissue, facilitating various scenarios, such as resolution of inflammation, activation of fibrosis, and cancer development due to the modulation of the Wnt signaling pathway, in autocrine and paracrine manner. In this work, we provide an overview of studies that have explored the role of macrophages and how they act as a source of Wnt ligands and as mediators of mucosal integrity.

Keywords: macrophage, mucosal homeostasis, regeneration, fibrosis, cancer, Wnt ligands

## INTRODUCTION

Wnt signaling is a molecular pathway found across species and cell lines and which is absolutely necessary for development and for the growth, homeostasis, and regeneration of most tissues in an organism. This molecular cascade plays a pivotal role determining cell fate by controlling critical processes such as migration, polarity, regulation of the neural pattern, and organogenesis during embryonic development (1). Evidence of its central role in the development and homeostasis of several tissues is the fact that aberrant alterations of this molecular pathway have been involved in multiple human disorders and pathologies such as birth defects, autoimmune diseases, metabolic diseases, and cancer.

In the present review we summarize our current understanding of the main participants in Wnt signaling and the role of this pathway in mucosal homeostasis, regeneration, fibrosis, and cancer. In addition, we will describe the different sources of Wnt ligands in mucosal tissue, with a special focus on the role that macrophage-derived Wnt ligands play in physiological and pathological conditions.

## WNT SIGNALING COMPONENTS

The interaction between a Wnt-secreted protein and a Frizzled receptor triggers the activation of several downstream pathways, which, in turn, has a bearing on the future of the cell and, indeed, that of the organism. One reason for the huge complexity of this pathway is the presence of multiple Wnt genes in any animal genome. In fact, in vertebrates, 19 different Wnt proteins have been identified and their expression is known to be temporally regulated during the development of the organism. Each Wnt protein is crucial, since the deletion of a given ligand from the genome triggers different phenotypes (2). Indeed, studies have demonstrated the role of specific Wnt ligands in the development of the organism. For instance, a lack of Wnt4 affects the normal development of the lung (3), whereas the absence of Wnt5a causes several alterations in the gastrointestinal tract (4).

Wnt ligands belong to a huge family of secreted glycoproteins of ~40 kDa, which are highly hydrophobic and cysteinerich. Although it has been reported that Wnt ligands can be expressed in different cell types, one feature of these proteins is cell and tissue specificity (5). These ligands have the ability to mediate cell-cell communication not only between two cells that are in contact, but also over short distances. Wnt proteins are made in a cellular compartment called the endoplasmic reticulum. There, an acyl group from palmitoleic acid is added to Wnt by the membrane-spanning enzyme Porcupine. This modification allows Wnt ligands to become hydrophobic and, consequently, to be secreted through exocytic vesicles or exosomes into the extracellular microenvironment. Following their secretion, they can act in either an autocrine or a paracrine manner in cells, where they bind specifically to a heterodimeric receptor complex (6-8). All Wnt ligands have been classified in two groups depending on their downstream effects: canonical Wnt ligands, which induce a  $\beta$ -catenin dependent pathway (Wnt1, 2, 3, 8a, 8b, 10a, and 10b), and non-canonical Wnt ligands, which induce  $\beta$ -catenin-independent pathways (Wnt4, 5a, 5b, 6, 7a, 7b, and 11) (9).

There are molecules that inhibit the Wnt signaling pathway. These can be subdivided into: secreted frizzled-related proteins (SFRP1-5), Dickkopf family proteins (DKK1-4), Wnt inhibitory factor (Wif1), Wise/SOST, and Cereberus. The mechanism of action involved in the inhibition of this pathway varies: while SFRPs, Wif1, and Cereberus are able to sequester Wnt agonists in the extracellular environment, DKK proteins and Wise/SOST compete with Wnt agonists and prevent their binding with the receptor LRP5/6 (10).

The activation of Wnt signaling initiates when a Wnt ligand binds specifically to a cell surface heterodimeric complex composed of two components: a member of the Frizzled receptor (FZD) family and a second receptor, which can be any one of the following: the low density lipoprotein receptorrelated protein 5/6 (LRP5/6), receptor-like tyrosine kinase (RYK), the Neurotrophin Receptor Homolog 1 (NRH1), the receptor tyrosine kinase like orphan receptor 2 (ROR2), or Tyrosine-protein kinase-like receptor 7 (PTK7). In vertebrates, the FZD family includes 10 different receptors (FZD1-10), all of which are composed of an extracellular region with an Nterminal sequence and a cysteine-rich domain, a seven-pass transmembrane domain and an intracellular domain with the C-terminal sequence. One of the most striking properties of these receptors is the fact that one FZD receptor can interact with different Wnt ligands to activate either canonical or non-canonical pathways. This characteristic, together with the presence of several Wnt ligands, makes it very difficult to understand this cascade (11). Indeed, the selective binding of each Wnt protein with a given FZD receptor is still poorly understood, and further research need to be performed in order to further our knowledge.

As mentioned above, Wnt signaling is classically subdivided into canonical and non-canonical pathways. In the canonical pathway, the activation of a FZD receptor and its co-receptor LRP5/6 by a canonical Wnt ligand triggers the inhibition of the complex, which destroys  $\beta$ -catenin due to the recruitment of the disheveled protein (Dsh) (12). This inhibition provokes the accumulation of the non-phosphorylated  $\beta$ -catenin in the cytosol and its translocation into the nucleus, where it interacts with Tcf/Lef transcription factors and some co-activators, thereby activating the transcription of the target genes involved in this molecular pathway (13).

On the other hand, the non-canonical pathway is initiated when a non-canonical Wnt ligand binds to a Frizzled receptor as well as with another co-receptor, which could be NRH1, Ryk, PTK7, or ROR2. In this case, the Wnt/Ca+2 or Planar Cell Polarity (PCP) pathways are activated depending on the cell type, meaning that this branch of the Wnt pathway is even more complex and less studied than the canonical pathway. Despite these differences, it is important to point out that both canonical and non-canonical pathways are crucial to essential processes such as apoptosis, proliferation, survival, cell motility, or cell fate (14).

## WNT PATHWAY IN MUCOSAL HOMEOSTASIS

The importance of the Wnt signaling pathway in embryogenesis has been demonstrated by murine  $\beta$ -catenin knock-out embryos, which fail to develop the endodermal and mesodermal germ layers and are unviable (15). Wnt signaling is also required for the further differentiation of embryonic stem cells. Specifically, this pathway is temporarily regulated, so that it is activated to differentiate toward the mesoderm lineage or is inactivated to create the neuroectoderm (16).

The Wnt cascade also constitutes a key molecular pathway in the homeostasis of different tissues throughout the life cycle of adult mammals (17). In the next part of this review, we will discuss in more detail the relevance of this molecular cascade in the maintenance of mucosal integrity, specifically in the intestine and lung.

## Intestine

The intestinal epithelium is the most rapidly-renewing tissue in the body of adult mammals, regenerating every 4-5 days, while the Wnt signaling pathway is closely implicated in the homeostasis of this tissue. The first hints of the relevance of the Wnt pathway arose during genetic experiments with mice. Korinek et al. reported that the lack of TCF4, one of the central downstream effectors of Wnt signaling, caused an absence of proliferative crypts in neonatal mice (18). In line with this, the maintenance of the intestinal crypts in adult mice is dependent on Wnt signaling, since the conditional ablation of TCF4 triggers the loss of most of the proliferative crypts (19). Furthermore, the role of Wnt antagonists and Wnt agonists has also been demonstrated, with the overexpression of the Wnt antagonist DKK1 provoking a complete loss of proliferation (20). On the other hand, the transgenic expression of the strong Wnt agonist R-spondin 1 exacerbates the hyperproliferation of the intestinal crypts (21).

This rapid self-renewal is guaranteed by the presence of Intestinal Stem Cells (ISCs) at the base of the intestinal crypts. Specifically, two types of ISCs have been identified: crypt-based columnar stem cells (CBCs), which express the cell-surface marker leucine-rich repeat-containing G-proteincoupled receptor 5 (LGR5) and continually proliferate under homeostasis and an alternative reserve ISC population, which are quiescent ISCs and located in position +4 (22). Given that stem cells are located in the lower part of the crypt, Wnt signaling is present to a greater extent in the bottom of the crypt, and its activation gradually ameliorates toward the top of the crypt. It is widely assumed that Lgr5+ CBC stem cells are the driving force of tissue renewal, since they proliferate and generate a subpopulation known as transit-amplifying cells (TA cells), which quickly divide and migrate toward the upper part of the crypt, where they finally differentiate into secretory, absorptive, or enteroendocrine lineages (23-25). Therefore, as a consequence of the high rates of proliferation and differentiation among intestinal crypts, the Wnt signaling pathway coexists with several molecular pathways, such as Notch and Hedgehog, and the homeostasis of this tissue depends on the correct balance of all these pathways (26).

The intestinal stem cell niche provides the optimal environment to sustain the self-renewing and multipotent behavior of the ISCs (27). This intestinal niche is maintained due to the presence of the subepithelial mesenchyme, which is composed of myofibroblasts, fibroblasts, neuronal, and smooth muscle cells. Among all the essential factors secreted by these mesenchymal cells, Wnt ligands constitute one of the most abundant. In this way, it has been recently reported that blockage of the Wnt ligands secreted by subepithelial telocytes impairs epithelial renewal and alter intestinal integrity (28). In the same way, Wnt ligands from subepithelial Gli1+ mesenchymal cells ensure the presence of stem cells, since the specific blockage of said Wnt ligands provokes a loss of stem cells, thus altering the integrity of the intestinal epithelium and resulting in epithelial death (29).

Apart from the importance of mesenchymal cells in maintaining the intestinal stem niche, Paneth cells also secrete essential growth signals, including Wnt3, EGF, and Notch ligands. Specific Paneth are located between the CBCs, since these cells do not migrate upwards like the rest of the differentiated epithelial cells, but rather migrate downwards and constitute a niche for intestinal stem cells at the base of the intestinal crypts. The importance of these specialized intestinal epithelial cells was demonstrated by the loss of Lgr5+ stem cells due to the genetic ablation of Paneth cells in vivo (30). Interestingly, among all the Wnt components, these cells exhibit a pronounced and specific expression of the Wnt3 ligand. The importance of this Wnt ligand specifically from Paneth cells seems differ between in vitro and in vivo conditions. In fact, Wnt3 from Paneth cells acts as an essential niche factor for the growth and development of organoid cultures in vitro, while mesenchymal Wnt ligands compensate for the lack of Wnt3 from Paneth cells in vivo (31). In addition, Paneth cells are dependent on Wnt, which is evident in the presence of an autocrine loop. In this sense, the Wnt signaling pathway is important for the development, differentiation and maturation process of the epithelial cells that regulated the expression of the alpha-defensins HD5 and HD6 (32).

## Lung

The lung is another organ whose development and homeostasis is regulated by the Wnt pathway. In 1990 Gavin et al. identified six new members of the Wnt family that are involved in the development of the lung in the fetus (33). That report spawned several further studies using different knock-out mice of several Wnt ligands which confirmed the relevance of this molecular pathway in lung development by (34–36). Recent reports have highlighted an emerging role of the non-canonical Wnt pathway in lung development. In line with this, experiments with Wnt5a knock-out mice have demonstrated that the absence of this noncanonical ligand results in several defects in the lung, such as abnormal capillary formation and endothelial differentiation and an impaired differentiation of alveolar epithelial cells (37–39).

On the other hand, the Wnt signaling pathway is not only essential in the development of the lung, but also in lung morphogenesis and homeostasis (40). Several reports have demonstrated—by both *in vitro* and *in vivo* approaches—that the Wnt pathway is part of a tightly-honed interplay between all the different cell types present in the lung, including the epithelium, mesenchyme, and endothelium. Indeed, the lack of Wnt2, Wnt4, or Wnt7b causes lung hypoplasia (3, 34, 41). In addition, receptors such as LRP-5/6 and Wnt antagonists such as sFRP-1 and Dkk-1 have also exhibited an important role in lung morphogenesis. In this sense, the genetic deletion of LRP-5 has been shown to impair alveolar formation and angiogenesis in neonatal mice (42), whereas the accumulation of nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin in SFRP-1 knock-out mice increases mesenchymal proliferation and impairs alveolar formation (43).

As occurs in the intestine, the Wnt signaling pathway of the lungs manages the successful proliferation and differentiation of the stem cell progenitors located in the lung into airway smooth muscle cells (ASMCs). In fact, Cohen et al. demonstrated that Wnt7b and  $\beta$ -catenin control the differentiation and development of ASMCs through the Platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFR) pathway (44). Although most studies demonstrate the relevance of the Wnt pathway in mice, few studies have revealed the importance of this molecular cascade in human lung morphogenesis and homeostasis. The expression of several Wnt ligands (Wnt1, Wnt2, Wnt3, Wnt4, Wnt5a, Wnt5b, Wnt6, Wnt7a, Wnt7b, Wnt8b, Wnt10b, Wnt11, and Wnt16), Wnt receptors (FZD1, FZD2, FZD3, FZD4, FZD6, FZD7, FZD8, LRP5, and LRP6),  $\beta$ -catenin and members of the TCF/LEF family has been detected in human epithelial cells (40).

## WNT PATHWAY IN MUCOSAL REGENERATION

One of the molecular pathways involved in the complex process of regeneration is the Wnt signaling pathway. In non-regenerating vertebrates, the Wnt pathway is active only in specific tissues with high turnover, such as the intestine, hematopoietic compartment, and epidermis, where it preserves the self-renewal of stem cells necessary for homeostasis. However, when a tissue is injured, a cascade of molecular events is activated in order to regenerate the damaged tissue as soon as possible (45). In the following section, we will review current understanding of the role of the Wnt pathway in mucosal regeneration specifically in the intestine and lung.

### Intestine

Due to its elevated turnover the intestinal epithelium has the ability to regenerate after multiple stresses or harmful agents that disrupt the tissue, such as gamma radiation, cytotoxic drugs, or after surgical resection. The process of intestinal regeneration is mainly characterized by an enhanced proliferation of the intestinal crypts. Indeed, when the intestinal tissue is damaged, the crypts close to the injury increase their proliferation in order to close the wound as soon as possible. The regenerative process has been widely studied and can be subdivided into four steps: an apoptotic phase, characterized by a continuous loss of crypts; a reduction of the crypt size and shortening of the villi, a regenerative phase during which crypts close to the injury proliferate and close the wound; and the normalization phase, in which the size and length of the new crypts are normalized (46).

Several studies have demonstrated that the activation of the Wnt signaling pathway plays a pivotal role in the induction of intestinal regeneration. In response to the damage, this pathway is activated and the expression of *c-Myc*, one of the most well-known Wnt targets, is increased and promotes the regeneration of the epithelial cells through Focal adhesion kinase (Fak) and Akt/mTOR signaling (47). Furthermore, the Wnt5a from the macrophages present in the mesenchyme activates the regeneration of the intestinal crypts through TGF-B signaling (48). Recently, it has been reported that Wnt2b from intestinal epithelial cells is essential for intestinal regeneration because it induces the proliferation of the subpopulation of the quiescent intestinal stem cells located at position +4 Tert+ stem cells. In the study in question, Suh et al. showed that, although the conditional ablation of these Tert+ stem cells did not alter intestinal homeostasis, tissue regeneration was significantly impaired after the injury (49). Hence, it is clear that intestinal regeneration is a complex process regulated by several nonredundant Wnt ligand sources that are crucial for the activation of the Wnt pathway and the complete regeneration of the intestine after insult.

Given the central role of the Wnt pathway in intestinal regeneration, this molecular cascade acquires a huge importance in patients with Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD), who suffer continuous episodes of intestinal inflammation and recovery (50). We have previously reported that this pathway is more activated specifically in the damaged mucosa of IBD patients compared with the non-damaged mucosa of the same patients. Moreover, we have shown how the activation of the Wnt signaling pathway with a Wnt agonist accelerates mucosal regeneration after acute TNBS-induced colitis (51, 52). In line with our studies, Tao et al. have recently demonstrated that microRNA-31 promotes the regeneration of intestinal epithelium following injury by regulating the Wnt signaling pathway (53).

### Lung

The epithelium of the lung can be injured by insults such as inflammation, infection, allergic reactions (asthma), physical trauma, or inhaled particles coming from cigarettes or pollen. All of these stresses provoke damage to the pulmonary epithelium, characterized by the disruption of the tight junctions between epithelial cells and impaired epithelial barrier function, which in turn leads to increased permeability, debilitated cell-cell adhesion, necrosis, and apoptosis of epithelial cells. After an injury, the regenerative mechanism is initiated in order to restore the pulmonary epithelium (54). In this context, the Wnt signaling pathway is also essential for the regeneration of the lung. It is important to consider that, although the cellular proliferation in this organ is weaker than in others, the presence of an injury still triggers the activation of this molecular cascade. The Wnt signaling pathway regulates the activity and control of lung stem cells, which differentiate toward either mesoderm or endoderm progenitor cells as a result of this molecular cascade (55). In line with this, McCauley et al. have recently published an elegantly performed study consisting of experiments with

airway organoids generated from single-cell lung progenitors, demonstrating that the Wnt signaling pathway plays a central role in the regulation of the proximal and distal epithelial pattern in both murine and human pluripotent stem cells. Their results have underlined the essential role of this pathway in lung regeneration, revealing a significant reduction in tissue repair when the Wnt pathway was absent (56).

The central component of the canonical Wnt pathway, βcatenin, mediates the regeneration of the lung, thus acting as a transcription factor which activates the expression of genes involved in epithelial regeneration and regulating the tight junctions of the epithelial cells in the lung. In this respect, Cai et al. demonstrated that overexpression of  $\beta$ -catenin enhanced the differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells of the lung into alveolar epithelial type II cells, which improved the permeability of the lung epithelium and reduced the acute inflammation and lung fibrosis caused by administration of lipopolysaccharide (57). The activation of the Wnt pathway after injury to the pulmonary epithelium stimulates the proliferation of epithelial cells and the secretion of FGF-10, which subsequently activates  $\beta$ -catenin in different epithelial cells and enhances the proliferation and regeneration of the damaged epithelium (58). As previously mentioned, β-catenin also contributes to pulmonary regeneration, acting as an adherens junction protein. Finigan et al. reported that the central protein of the Wnt signaling pathway mediates pulmonary epithelial permeability, showing that the human epidermal growth factor receptor-2 (HER-2) interacts with  $\beta$ -catenin to trigger the dissolution of the adherens junction, reduce the cell-cell adhesion and alter pulmonary epithelial barrier function (59).

As occurs in the intestine, due to the pivotal role of the Wnt signaling pathway in the homeostasis and regeneration of the lung, this molecular cascade acquires huge protagonism in pathologies of the lung, such as pulmonary arterial hypertension (PAH), asthma and Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (60). GWAS studies have identified several polymorphisms in genes of the Wnt signaling pathway in asthmatic patients. Specifically, a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP; rs2929973) in the WISP1 gene has been associated with asthma in children (61). In addition, a more recent GWAS edition has identified SNPs close to the genes FZD3 and FZD6 in asthmatic patients (62). In addition to genetic analysis, an enhanced expression of some Wnt components such as WNT5a and FZD5 has been demonstrated in patients with Th2-high asthma (60).

## WNT PATHWAY IN FIBROSIS

Fibrosis is characterized by an exacerbated accumulation of components of the extracellular matrix (ECM), mainly collagen fibers. This pathogenic mechanism is associated with a huge number of diseases, and can appear in several tissues, eventually culminating in organ failure. Several molecular pathways, including transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ), Notch, BMP, NF- $\kappa$ B, and Wnt signaling, have been associated with the development of fibrosis (63–66). In recent years, Wnt signaling

has emerged as a central pathway that regulates different steps of this complex process. In addition, a profound crosstalk between TGF- $\beta$  (the master regulator of fibrosis) and Wnt signaling pathways is present in both extracellular and intracellular compartments. In this regard, TGF- $\beta$  and Wnt ligands can regulate each other, whereas TGF- $\beta$  in the cytoplasm can induce the translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin into the nucleus through Smad3 (67).

In normal conditions, in response to an insult that causes damage, both epithelial and endothelial cells secrete proinflammatory cytokines, which leads to the formation of blood clots and a provisional extracellular matrix. Subsequently, epithelial, endothelial cells and myofibroblasts secrete matrix metalloproteinases, which degrade the basement membrane and several cytokines and chemokines that recruit and activate neutrophils, leukocytes, macrophages, T cells, B cells, and eosinophils. This initial inflammatory stage is followed by a remodeling stage during which activated myofibroblasts promote the closure of the wound. These active myofibroblasts can originate local fibroblasts recruited from bone marrow, or from epithelial or endothelial cells derived from epithelial-tomesenchymal transition (EMT) or endothelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EndEMT), respectively (68). The persistence or chronification of these processes leads to fibrosis (69). In the next section of this review, we will describe the specific relevance of the Wnt signaling pathway in fibrosis originating in the intestine and lung.

## Intestine

Intestinal fibrosis is one of the most frequent complications in Crohn's Disease (CD) patients, and leads to an irreversible stenosis of the colon. It is believed that intestinal fibrosis in these patients is the consequence of chronic inflammation, and the therapeutic goal has been to reduce the inflammatory process. Nevertheless, anti-inflammatory drugs are incapable of resolving this complication, so surgery is currently the only option to remove fibrotic tissue, and does not necessarily prevent recurrence (70). To our knowledge, not a single study has analyzed the relevance of the Wnt signaling pathway in intestinal fibrosis. We have recently reported that, compared with non-IBD patients, Crohn's sufferers whose condition is characterized by stenotic and penetrating behavior exhibit higher levels of profibrotic markers, enhanced gene expression of FZD4 and Wnt target genes such as C-MYC, LGR5, and CYCLIN D1, and higher protein levels of  $\beta$ -catenin. In the same study we have also demonstrated that WNT2b activates EMT in intestinal epithelial cells through FZD4. In this way, we have demonstrated for the first time that there is an association between the Wnt signaling pathway and intestinal fibrosis, which suggests that the Wnt signaling pathway is also important in the development of intestinal fibrosis (71).

Nevertheless, the functional role of the Wnt pathway in the development of intestinal fibrosis *in vivo* is still not clearly determined. Therefore, further studies should be performed in order to analyse the specific role of Wnt signaling in each stage of intestinal fibrosis. In light of the body of evidence from studies performed in fibrosis in other organs, such as lung or kidney, we

hypothesize that pharmacological inhibition of the Wnt pathway will also be beneficial in intestinal fibrosis. However, future studies are needed to confirm this hypothesis. As we will describe in the following section, there is considerable data about the role of Wnt signaling in lung fibrosis, while, as far as we know, no studies have been published about its role in intestinal fibrosis.

## Lung

Idiopatic pulmonary fibrosis (IPF) constitutes an important complication characterized by damage to the lung epithelium and activation of fibroblasts with an excessive accumulation of extracellular matrix components, all of which triggers a progressive loss of the functions of the lung. In this pathological scenario, an overactivation of the canonical Wnt/β-catenin pathway has been described in both human patients and experimental mice models. In line with this, the lungs of IPF patients exhibit an increased gene expression of WNT1, WNT7b, WNT10b, FZD2, FZD3, β-catenin, and LEF1 compared with subjects without IPF. These results have been reinforced with immunohistochemical studies which have revealed an accumulation of WNT1, WNT3a, and  $\beta$ -catenin specifically in the bronchial and alveolar epithelium and in myofibroblasts in IPF patients (72, 73). The functional relevance of WNT1inducible signaling protein-1 (WISP1) was demonstrated by Königshoff et al., who reported an attenuation of lung fibrosis through WISP1 neutralization in vivo. In their elegantly performed study, the authors also demonstrated that WISP1 regulates alveolar epithelial cell function and the reprogramming of myofibroblasts (73). WISP1 has also been described as a downstream mediator of some profibrotic factors, such as miR-92A, Transforming growth factor  $\beta$  (TGF $\beta$ ) and Tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$  (TNF $\alpha$ ) in human lung fibroblasts, which points to a possible pharmacological target for IPF treatment (74). Of interest, the implication of the non-canonical Wnt pathway has been reported in pulmonary fibrosis. Indeed, it has been described that WNT5b activates profibrotic signaling in a βcatenin-independent pathway through the FZD8 receptor. Vuga et al. expanded these observations by demonstrating that the non-canonical Wnt ligand Wnt5a regulates the deposition of ECM by fibroblasts in the lung and protects them against apoptosis induced by oxidative stress (75). On the whole, the literature offers firm evidence that both canonical and noncanonical Wnt pathways mediate the development of fibrosis in the lung.

Given the pivotal role of the Wnt signaling pathway in the development of pulmonary fibrosis, huge efforts have been made in order to prevent the over activation of this molecular pathway by targeting this cascade at different molecular levels, with promising results having been reported to date. In this sense, the effectivenss of tankyrase inhibitors as pharmacological agents was demonstrated by Wang et al. when they reported improved survival and amelioration of the lung fibrosis induced by bleomycin after administration of the tankyrase inhibitor XAV939. In said study, the authors proposed that this inhibitor affords benefits by reducing fibroblast proliferation, impairing differentiation of myofibroblasts and enhancing differentiation of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal cells into epithelial cells (76). Cao et al. recently reported that the inhibition of Wnt signaling pathway with a peptidomimetic small-molecule inhibitor called ICG-001 impairs myofibroblast differentiation of resident lung mesenchymal stem cells and attenuates lung fibrosis (77). The therapeutic option of inhibiting the Wnt signaling pathway has recently been strongly reinforced when Chen et al. showed that blocking the Wnt pathway with a glycoprotein called *Thymocyte differentiation antigen-1* improves pulmonary fibrosis through a reduction in the proliferation of fibroblasts in cases of acute interstitial pneumonia (78).

Nevertheless, it is important to take into account that, whereas the inhibition of this pathway produces anti-fibrotic effects, the activation of the Wnt pathway in pulmonary epithelial cells during the early stages of injury is necessary in order to repair and regenerate the tissue. Therefore, further studies should be performed in order to modulate this molecular cascade, specifically at optimal moments.

## WNT PATHWAY IN CANCER

Cancer englobes a group of pathologies characterized by an uncontrolled growth of some cell types, which spread throughout the whole organism and invade different tissues. An aberrant Wnt signaling pathway has been closely related to a broad range of cancers, from their initiation to their development, due to the dysregulation of the Cancer Stem Cells (CSCs) (79). Apart from its relevance in CSCs, the Wnt pathway plays an important role in the activation of EMT in tumor cells, thus promoting cancer metastasis and progression (80).

### Intestine

Colorectal Cancer (CRC) is a frequent and lethal disease originating from an alteration of the epithelial cells that line the colon or rectum as a result of the most common mutations of the Wnt signaling pathway, which triggers an uncontrolled proliferation and migration of these cells around the organism. The first evidence of a role for Wnt signaling in cancer was published in 1991, when Nishisho et al. reported that the gene known as Adenomatous Polyposis Coli (APC), which encodes a protein implicated in the control of nuclear β-catenin, was mutated in patients with non-inherited forms of CRC (81). Since then, accumulated evidence has confirmed that an over activation of this molecular pathway leads to the formation of adenomas and, subsequently, to the development of colon carcinoma. In fact, 90% of colon carcinoma patients present acquired mutations in APC, and these mutations determine differences in the location of tumors along the large intestine (82, 83). Of interest, the reversible knockdown of APC with shRNA in a murine model of carcinogenesis promotes regression from an adenoma to normal tissue, which highlights the importance of this pathway in the maintenance of the tumor (84). A feature of CRCs that is still a mystery is the abundance of mutations specifically in APC, rather than in other WNT components. Indeed, mutations in AXIN or  $\beta$ -catenin genes are present only in a small fraction of CRC patients (around 5-6%) (85). This special characteristicdescribed only in CRC, and not in other types of cancer-needs to be addressed in the future.

The survival of these patients has increased considerably in recent years, but this has been achieved due to advances in surgery, adenoma detection, chemotherapy, and recent drugs targeting VEGF and EGFR signaling pathways. Despite the clearly pivotal role of the over activation of the Wnt signaling pathway in CRC patients and the huge amount of different strategies to block this molecular cascade, no therapy has yet obtained significant results in CRC treatment (85). The Wnt signaling pathway has been targeted at three different points: blocking the interaction between the Wnt ligand and its receptor; targeting the destruction complex of the  $\beta$ -catenin; and targeting the transcriptional activity of  $\beta$ -catenin. The first strategy has not obtained significant advances in CRC treatment, since most CRCs activate the Wnt pathway independently of a specific Wnt ligand. Hence, although some drugs, such as Vanticumab or Ipafricept, have progressed in clinical trials in several cancers (e.g., breast, pancreatic, and ovarian), none of them have achieved good results in CRC (86). Regarding the second strategy, some studies have shown that inhibition of Tankyrase enzymes (TNKS) improves and synergizes with approved chemotherapies and drugs which target PI3K-AKT and RAS-MAPK signaling pathways (87, 88). However, these TNKS inhibitors have a high toxicity and also interfere with the stability of proteins essential in the elongation of telomeres and cell division (89). Finally, with respect to the third strategy, the drug PRI-724, which blocks the interaction between β-catenin and the CREB-binding protein, is currently in Phase I trials, and at Phase 2 in a randomized study in which it is being used in combination with FOLFOX/Bevacizumab to treat metastatic CRC (85). As a whole, it is clear that further studies must be performed in order to identify safer molecules to target over activation of the Wnt signaling pathway, the driving force of this type of cancer. We can only hope that the huge research efforts currently being made will provide significant clinical benefits and improve the quality of life of CRC patients.

### Lung

Lung cancer is one of the most devastating forms of cancer, and can originate as one of two types depending on clinical, molecular, histological and endocrinological characteristics: small cell lung cancer (SCLC) and non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (90). Unlike colon cancer, lung cancer is rarely associated with APC mutations, and the accumulation of Wnt proteins is mainly caused by dysregulation of the transcription of Wnt ligands. In this context, an exacerbated activation of either canonical or non-canonical Wnt pathway has also been detected in lung cancer, specifically in patients with non-small cell lung cancer. In fact, an accumulation of several Wnt participants, including WNT1, WNT2, WNT3, WNT5a, FZD8, Dsh, Porcupine, and TCF4, has been reported in patients with lung cancer, and this accumulation is associated with a poor prognosis (91). In addition, in certain NSCLC subtypes, a shift from the canonical to the non-canonical Wnt pathway has been detected, while both Wnt pathways have been involved in lung cancer metastasis, since the metastatic stage of lung tumors has been associated with EMT linked to  $\beta$ -catenin dependent signaling and the expression of the non-canonical WNT5a, which increases the expression of fibroblast growth factor (FGF) 10 and sonic hedgehog (SHH) (92, 93). Moreover, the expression of matrix metalloproteinases, whose levels increase at the metastatic stage, can be activated by both canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling pathways (94). It is important to point out that the combination of the enhanced Wnt pathway with a constitutive activation of different molecular pathways (such as the KRAS pathway) caused by the mutations in KRAS triggers an increase in tumor size and a poor prognosis (95). The central role of the Wnt pathway in lung cancer has recently been endorsed by Wagner et al., who have just shown for the first time that activation of the canonical Wnt is involved in resistance to chemotherapy in SCLC (96).

As occurs in the intestine, given the pivotal role of the aberrant activation of the Wnt pathway in all stages of lung cancer development, several compounds have been designed and tested. These Wnt inhibitors can be subdivided into two different categories: small molecule inhibitors and biologic inhibitors. The first group of molecules includes several Wnt antagonists (e.g., ICG-001, XAV939, AV-65, PRI-724, NCTD, etc.), whereas biologic inhibitors include antibodies such as OMP-18R5, OMP-54F28, OTSA101, small interfering RNA, short hairpin RNA, and recombinant proteins such as adenoviral sLRP6E1E2 (97). The strategies used in order to block the Wnt pathway have been basically the same ones used in other cancer types, such as colon carcinoma. Several studies have demonstrated that several small molecule compounds which target  $\beta$ -catenin, such as XAV939, ICG-001, or TNKS inhibitors, reduce the proliferation of lung cancer stem cells (98-100). The beneficial role of some natural compounds (e.g., curcumin or 25-hydroxyprotopanaxadiol) that reduce NSCLC cell proliferation and invasion through the inhibition of the Wnt pathway has also been reported (101, 102). On the other hand, antagonist monoclonal antibodies against the Wnt ligands Wnt1 and Wnt2 have provided beneficial results in various cancers, including NSCLC (103). The positive role of monoclonal antibodies in combatting FZD receptors has also been demonstrated in lung cancer. In this context, the antibody Vantictumab (OMP-18R5), which can undermine FZD1/2/5/7/8 receptors is currently being used in combination with docetaxel in Phase I of a Clinical Trial with patients with NSCLC (104). Despite all the progress achieved in the treatment of patients with lung cancer by specifically targeting the Wnt signaling pathway, this pharmacological strategy is still at a very primary stage, and further studies must be performed in the coming years in order to improve the safety and efficacy of all these drugs. Nevertheless, the results obtained in preclinical studies and clinical trials to date endorse the Wnt signaling pathway as a promising pharmacological target in the treatment of lung cancer.

## SOURCES OF WNT LIGANDS

It is logical to consider that, given the diversity of the nonpathological and pathological processes that are regulated by the Wnt signaling pathway, Wnt ligands have become the subject of study for many years. Since the first Wnt ligand was identified more than 30 years ago, several Wnt proteins have been identified, but the specific role of each ligand is still not well-characterized. Although there is a growing body of literature regarding the role of Wnt pathway components in several cell types, very little is known about the different sources of Wnt ligands and the relevance of those sources in different pathological scenarios. Therefore, we will now describe the sources of Wnt ligands and will focus specifically on macrophages as a source of Wnt ligands, mainly in inflammatory conditions.

Epithelial cells constitute an important source of Wnt ligands in several tissues, including intestine, bone, and kidney. In the intestine, the role of epithelial-secreted Wnt ligands remains controversial; several reports demonstrate that these epithelial Wnt ligands are redundant and non-essential (31, 105, 106), while a recent study from Zou et al. has demonstrated that Wnt proteins in epithelial cells are necessary for the expansion of stem cells after virus-induced villus damage (22). The authors of the aforementioned study proposed that epithelial Wnt ligands are important for the repair of the intestinal epithelium, in contrast to the redundant role of epithelial Wnt proteins in intestinal homeostasis. Epithelial Wnt ligands are essential for the maintenance of the bone, since these proteins activate the Wnt signaling pathway in osteoblasts and osteoclast precursors, thus preventing bone resorption (107). Regarding the role of epithelial Wnt ligands in the kidney, it is known that Wnt9b from epithelial cells is involved in nephrogenesis, whereas epithelial Wnt11 regulates the control of ureteric bud branching (108). However, Wnt ligands from epithelial cells not only regulate physiological functions, but are also involved in pathological conditions. In this sense, specifically in the kidney, tubular epithelial cells are the predominant source of dickkopf 3 (DKK3), which acts as a profibrotic and immunosuppressive molecule that promotes renal fibrosis (109).

Mesenchymal cells have also been identified as an important source of Wnt ligands in most tissues. In the intestine, unlike that which happens with epithelial Wnt ligands, mesenchymalderived Wnt proteins play a key role in the regulation of the proliferative status of the stem cells (105, 110, 111). Specifically, in the kidney, the Wnt4 ligand of the metanephric mesenchyme is required for tubule formation (112). Mesenchymal cells in the lung are an important source of Wnt ligands, since stromal fibroblasts secrete, Wnt ligands, including Wnt5a, which maintains alveolar stem cells and their capacity for proliferation (113). In addition, other cellular sources of Wnt ligands have been reported, such as endothelial cells and adipocytes. In the liver, Wnt ligands from endothelial cells, specifically Wnt2 and Wnt9b, help to maintain the progenitor niche (114), while frizzledrelated protein 5 secreted from adipocytes controls the white adipose tissue under metabolic stress (115).

Immune cells such as macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), T cells, and platelets can also act as cellular sources of Wnt ligands. DCs secrete Wnt ligands, whose functions include the modulation of the immune responses mediated by B and T cells. Indeed, Kim et al. demonstrated that follicular dendritic cells secrete Wnt5a, which protects isolated germinal center B cells from apoptosis through activation of the Wnt/Ca+2 pathway (116). Reinforcing this observation, Valencia et al. reported that Wnt5a from DCs exerts a regulatory effect on both dendritic cells and T cells and increases secretion of IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$ , in an autocrine and paracrine manner (116, 117).

Platelets play important roles in inflammation and act as a source of molecules that impair the activation of Wnt signaling in different cells. Among them, DKK1 derived from platelets is the most well-characterized, having been implicated in several pathological conditions. Platelets are able to inhibit Wnt signaling pathway in alveolar epithelial cells through DKK1, thus contributing to pulmonary inflammation by inducing the adhesion of both macrophages and neutrophils to alveolar epithelial cells (118). Another pathological role for DKK1 secreted from platelets has been reported in *Leishmania major* infection, since pharmacological blockage of DKK1 with the inhibitor WAY-262611 was found to weaken the cytokine production of Th2 cells and leukocyte infiltration, which protected mice from the infection (119).

T cells, one of the key protagonists of the adaptive immune response, can also act as a source of molecules that antagonize Wnt signaling. These T cell-derived Wnt antagonists modulate the immune system, triggering changes in the immune response in several conditions. Treg cells can prevent T cell-mediated colitis through Dickkopf-1 (120), while DKK3 from T cells have been implicated in the regulation of the tolerance of CD8 T cells (121).

## MACROPHAGES AS A SOURCE OF WNT LIGANDS

Macrophages are cells involved in the innate immune response, and play a variety of roles in the inflammatory process. They are essential in the release of inflammatory mediators, but also modulate wound healing and fibrosis development. These varying functions are a result of the way these cells change their phenotype depending on the microenvironment. Accumulative evidence demonstrates that macrophages constitute a significant source of Wnt proteins in adult tissues (122–127), and the synthesis of these ligands seems to depend on their phenotype (51). These observations, joined with the fact that these cells usually accumulated in chronic inflammation, point to the relevance of macrophage-derived Wnt ligands in mucosal regeneration and in complications such as fibrosis and cancer.

Macrophages display remarkable plasticity and can adopt both pro- and anti-inflammatory phenotypes, allowing them to switch between homeostatic and tissue repair functions. The differentiation programs involved in macrophage polarization have been categorized as classic M1-type activation and alternative M2-type activation. As a consequence of several stresses, such as inflammatory pathway activation or the presence of pathogenic organisms, monocytes can adopt an M1 proinflammatory phenotype, exerting a relevant role in host defense, and promote a  $T_H1$ -like immune response. M1 polarization is characterized by upregulation of cell surface activation markers and molecules involved in antigen presentation, such as major histocompatibility complex class II, CD16, CD32, CD80, CD86, and IL-1 receptor, as well as the production of a range of pro-inflammatory molecules (IL-1, IL-6, IL-12, Il-23, inducible nitric oxide synthase, matrix metalloproteinase 12, and macrophage-inducible C-type lectin). During the repair phase, M2 macrophages predominate, originating from in situ proliferation, differentiation from infiltrating monocytes, or phenotype switch from M1 macrophages. M2 macrophages have a wide range of functions, which include the suppression of inflammation and promotion of tissue repair. The M2 phenotype has been classified into three different M2 subpopulations (M2a, M2b, and M2c) depending on the basis of their phenotype and function. Thus, macrophages are alternatively activated in vitro in the following manners: a) IL-4/IL-13 are designated as M2a macrophages; b) immune complexes and Toll-like receptor (TLR) and/or IL-1R agonist are designated as M2b; and c) IL-10, transforming growth factor- $\beta$  (TGF- $\beta$ ) and glucocorticoids are designated as M2c. M2 markers, including CD206, CD163, arginase 1, Dectin 1, IL-10, IL-4Ra, and TGF- $\beta_1$ , are more highly expressed during late inflammation and granulation (128).

In the following sections, we describe the role of macrophages as a source of Wnt ligands in mucosal regeneration, fibrosis and cancer. As a general observation, the synthesis of these ligands seems to be associated with an M2 macrophage phenotype, while other mediators involved in mucosal proliferation and differentiation, such as Notch ligands, have recently been associated with a subpopulation of pro-inflammatory macrophages (51, 129, 130).

## Macrophage-Derived Wnt in Mucosal Regeneration

The specific expression of Wnt ligands by the macrophage phenotype was first analyzed by our group. We demonstrated that the in vitro polarization of human macrophages toward a M2 phenotype by means of treatment with IL4 was associated with increased levels of Wnt1 and Wnt3a with respect to nonpolarized or M1 (LPS + IFNy-treated) macrophages (51). In addition, we detected activation of the Wnt signaling pathway in intestinal epithelial cells co-cultured with M2 macrophages. In vitro experiments performed with human hypoxic macrophages also showed that epithelial cells impaired autophagy through Wnt1, when they are co-cultured with hypoxic macrophages (131). In contrast to this observation, Wang et al. showed that blocking Wnt secretion, by either treatment with the IWP12 porcupine inhibitor or knockdown of WLS, did not modulate autophagy or ER stress in hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines or colorectal cancer cell line (132). It seems that the specific role played by Wnt ligands in autophagy regulation deserve further investigation but of interest, we found the co-localization of Wnt1 with CD206, a marker of M2 macrophages in the inflamed intestine of patients with Ulcerative Colitis in which an impaired autophagy was detected (51, 131).

The functional relevance of macrophage-derived Wnt in intestinal regeneration has recently been demonstrated in murine models of colitis or intestinal damage. First, we demonstrated STAT6-dependent overexpression of *Wnt2b*, *Wnt7b*, and *Wnt10a* in IL4-treated murine macrophages *in vitro*, in parallel with defects in mucosal regeneration in STAT6

knockout mice. We showed that the administration of a Wnt agonist—as well as transfer of polarized M2a macrophages to STAT6<sup>-/-</sup> mice—activated the Wnt signaling pathway in the damaged mucosa and accelerated wound healing (52). In support of these observations, the study by Saha et al., who used macrophage-restricted ablation of Porcupine (133), demonstrated that macrophage-derived extracellular vesicle-packaged Wnts are essential for the regenerative response of the intestine to radiation.

The role of Wnt signaling in lung macrophages has been studied in infectious and inflammatory processes. It has been described that Wnt3a inhibits proinflammatory cytokine secretion of murine macrophages (134), and Wnt6 has been identified as a novel factor driving macrophage polarization toward an M2-like phenotype (135). However, other studies have highlighted the role of the Wnt5a ligand as a novel marker of inflammation with intrinsic pro-inflammatory properties (122, 136). For instance, the Wnt5a ligand regulates inflammatory cytokine secretion, polarization, and apoptosis in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected macrophages (137).

The role of macrophage-derived Wnt proteins in lung regeneration is incipient and requires further study. Hung et al. demonstrated a reduced expression of Wnt4 and Wnt16 in Trefoil factor 2 (TFF2)-deficient macrophages, and reconstitution of hookworm-infected CD11c<sup>Cre</sup> TFF2<sup>flox</sup> mice with rWnt4 and rWnt16 restored proliferation in lung epithelia post-injury. Their work revealed a mechanism wherein lung myeloid phagocytes utilize a TFF2/Wnt axis as a mechanism that drives epithelial proliferation following lung injury (138).

Under healthy physiological conditions, the kidney macrophage compartment includes a population of longliving tissue-resident macrophages, as well as macrophages that have differentiated from circulating monocytes produced in the bone marrow. RNA sequencing shows that acute kidney injury causes transcriptional reprogramming of macrophages resident in the kidneys, and they are enriched in the Wingless-type MMTV integration site family (Wnt). Relative expression levels measured by RNAseq have shown that levels of Wnt4 are higher than other Wnts in kidney-resident macrophages (139). In the same line, Wnt7b derived from wound-healing or pro-reparative macrophages has been shown to promote tubular epithelial cell proliferation, angiogenesis, and kidney repair. The report in question showed that kidney injury results in an up-regulation of Wnt ligands (Wnt4, 7b, 10a, and 10b) in macrophages and the canonical Wnt response in epithelial cells. Furthermore, macrophage ablation during repair of the injured kidney results in a reduced canonical Wnt response in kidney epithelial cells. Indeed, compromise of Wnt receptors or conditional deletion of Wnt7b in the macrophage lineage has been shown to undermine the repair response and persistent injury (127, 140, 141).

Macrophage-derived Wnts have been shown to affect blood vessel formation by regulating VEGF and angiopoietin signaling in vascular endothelial cells (142). For instance, during eye development, macrophages secrete Wnt7b to induce blood vessel regression (143–145).

There is growing evidence regarding the role of both macrophages and Wnt signaling in infarct healing. In line with this, Palevski et al.'s recent work shows that Wntless-deficient macrophages in myocardial infarction present a unique subset of M2-like macrophages with anti-inflammatory, reparative, and angiogenic properties, and these mice exhibit an increased vascularization near the infarct site compared with wild-type mice. They conclude that loss of macrophage Wnt secretion improves remodeling and function after myocardial infarction in mice (146).

## **Macrophage-Derived Wnt in Fibrosis**

In the context of intestinal fibrosis we have described that CD16+ CD206+ macrophages accumulate in the mucosa of patients with Crohn's Disease, and that these macrophages express high levels of Wnt2b compared with controls and patients with a stenotic pattern (147, 148). In a similar manner, Salvador's work demonstrated the accumulation of CD16+ macrophages, a subgroup of macrophages that express Wnt6, in the mucosa of STAT6 knockout mice treated with TNBS to induce intestinal fibrosis. It seems likely that a pro-fibrotic macrophage phenotype expressing CD16 accumulates in both human and murine intestinal fibrosis, although the specific Wnt ligand expressed by these cells may differ depending on the species analyzed (147).

Although macrophages, particularly the alveolar type, are important for host defenses in the lung, they can also contribute to tissue fibrosis. The role of macrophage-derived Wnt proteins in pulmonary fibrosis has been analyzed in a co-culture system in Hou's study, which showed that M2 macrophages (IL-4stimulated RAW cells, CD68<sup>+</sup> CCR7<sup>-</sup>CD206<sup>+</sup>), but not M1 macrophages (LPS-stimulated, CD68<sup>+</sup> CCR7<sup>+</sup>CD206<sup>-</sup>), promote myofibroblast differentiation of lung-resident mesenchymal stem cells through the release of Wnt7a (149).

Traditionally, macrophages have been recognized as key players in kidney fibrosis. Feng et al. have described that Wnt5a promotes kidney fibrosis by stimulating Yap/Taz-mediated macrophage M2 polarization (150). It is important to note that Wnt ligands have also been reported to modulate macrophage polarization toward a pro-fibrotic phenotype. In accordance with this, treatment of macrophages with Wnt3a exacerbated IL-4or TGF $\beta$ 1-induced alternative macrophage polarization (M2) (151), and activation of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling can promote macrophage proliferation and macrophage accumulation, which may play a role in kidney fibrosis (152).

## Macrophage-Derived Wnt and Cancer

Tumor associated macrophages (TAMs) constitute one of the most abundant components of the tumor microenvironment. These macrophages originate in mononuclear cells present in blood vessels, which, after their extravasation, penetrate the tumor tissue and respond to all the signaling substances released from the tumor cells (153). Once there, TAMs polarize preferably toward the M2 phenotype, thus playing an important role in the suppression of the immune system, the promotion of infiltration, increase of tumor size, angiogenesis, and metastasis. Therefore, the abundance of these TAMs is an indicator of bad prognosis in cancer patients (154).

The relevance of TAMs in tumor progression has been widely studied, but the molecular mechanisms involved are not well-elucidated. There is growing evidence to support an important crosstalk between tumor cells and macrophages due to the action of many kinds of soluble factors, including Wnt ligands (155).

Oguma et al. demonstrated that infiltrated macrophages are needed for the development of intestinal tumors and are associated with activation of the Wnt signaling pathway. In vitro, they showed that macrophages can activate this cascade through the secretion of TNF- $\alpha$ . Although they did not confirm that macrophage-derived Wnt ligands are also responsible for this effect, they speculated that other soluble factors might also be involved, since they could only demonstrate a partial role of TNF- $\alpha$  in Wnt activation (156). In order to better characterize the expression pattern of of tumor-associated macrophages, Ojalvo et al. analyzed the gene expression signature of TAMs by subdividing them into two subpopulations: noninvasive and invasive macrophages. Among other pathways, they identified for the first time that the Wnt signaling pathway was increased specifically in an invasive subpopulation of TAMs that promotes tumor metastasis and angiogenesis. In addition, they highlighted a specific increase in the expression of Wnt5b and Wnt7b in this subpopulation of invasive TAMs (157). To our knowledge, the aforementioned study provided the first confirmation of an increased expression of Wnt components specifically in invasive TAMs. In line with this, the tumor-associated macrophage-derived Wnt7b ligand has also been involved in cholangiocarcinoma growth in vivo (158).

In line with the above studies, Pukrop et al. demonstrated that the expression of Wnt5a is enhanced in TAMs in breast cancer and lymph node metastasis, and non-canonical Wnt activation by this ligand increases the invasiveness of cancer cells (124). Of interest, another Wnt ligand has recently been associated with tumor progression. In fact, Linde et al. have just shown that intraepithelial macrophages secrete higher levels of Wnt1 and activate epithelial-tomesenchymal transition in cancer cells, thus triggering and fuelling metastasis (159). Therefore, it is important to point out that tumor-associated macrophages promote tumor progression and metastasis through both canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathways.

On the other hand, TAMs can also activate the Wnt pathway in epithelial cells through several soluble factors other than Wnt ligands. These macrophages can activate Wnt signaling in colon cancer cells through the secretion of the proinflammatory cytokine IL-1 $\beta$ , thereby increasing the survival of cancer cells (160). TAMs can also activate epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) in several cancers (e.g., breast, lung and pancreas) through the secretion of prostaglandin E2 and IL-10, which increases the translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin into the nucleus (161–163). Chen et al. have recently reinforced these observations by demonstrating that TNF- $\alpha$  derived from TAMs activates EMT and cancer stemness

#### TABLE 1 | Summary of macrophage-derived Wnt ligands and their relevance in homeostasis and different pathologies.

Macrophage-derived Wnt ligand	Relevance	References
Wnt1	Activates EMT and promotes metastasis in breast cancer	(159)
	M2 (IL4) macrophages act as a source of Wnt1 and promote Wnt signaling in intestinal crypts in IBD	(51)
	Hypoxic macrophages impair autophagy in epithelial cells through Wnt1	(131)
Wnt2b	M2 (IL4) macrophages overexpress Wnt2b in a STAT6-dependent manner and accelerate intestinal wound healing in mice	(52)
	M2 (CD45+CD64+CD206+CD16+) macrophages act as a source of Wnt2b and promote EMT in CD	(148)
Wnt3a	M2 (IL4) macrophages act as source of Wnt3a	(51)
	Inhibits proinflammatory cytokine secretion of murine macrophages	(134)
	Drives parenquimal regeneration of hepatocytes	(168)
Wnt4	Restores proliferative defects in post-injury lung epithelial cells produced by TFF2-deficient macrophages	(138)
Wnt5a	Enhances the invasiveness of cancer cells in breast cancer	(124)
	Regulates inflammatory cytokine secretion, polarization, and apoptosis in mycobacterium tuberculosis-infected macrophages	(137)
	Promotes kidney fibrosis by stimulating Yap/Taz-mediated macrophage M2 polarization	(150)
Wnt5b	Induces tumor progression of breast cancer	(157)
Wnt6	Up-regulated in the colonic mucosa and in CD16 <sup>+</sup> macrophages of STAT6 knockout mice in an IBD model	(147)
	Drives macrophage polarization toward the M2 phenotype	(135)
Wnt7a	M2 (IL4) macrophages act as a source of Wnt7a and promote lung fibrosis	(149)
Wnt7b	Induces tumor progression of breast cancer	(157)
	Promotes cholangiocarcinoma growth	(158)
	M2 (IL4) macrophages overexpress Wnt7b in a STAT6-dependent manner and accelerate intestinal wound healing in mice	(52)
	Wound-healing macrophages promote tubular epithelial cell proliferation, angiogenesis and kidney repair	(127)
	Affects blood vessel formation	(143, 144)
Wnt10b	M2 (IL4) macrophages overexpress Wnt10b in a STAT6-dependent manner and accelerate intestinal wound healing in mice	(52)
Wnt16	Restores the proliferative defect in lung epithelial cells post-injury produced by TFF2-deficient macrophages	(138)



FIGURE 1 | Macrophage-derived Wnt ligands and their relevance in homeostasis, regeneration, fibrosis and cancer. (A) Under normal conditions, macrophages act as a source of Wnt ligands. (B) When homeostasis is disturbed, Wnt ligands from macrophages and other cells can result in increased proliferation of epithelial cells. (C) Epithelial cells can transdifferentiate into fibroblasts (Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition, EMT) under the influence of macrophage-derived Wnt ligands. This transition is accompanied by the progressive loss of typical epithelial cell markers and the acquisition of typical mesenchymal cell markers. (D) Tumor associated macrophages can activate Wnt epithelial cells through Wnt ligands and soluble factors different from Wnt ligands.

in hepatocellular carcinoma cells through activation of the Wnt signaling pathway (164). In line with this, it has recently been reported that tumor-associated macrophages enhance the proliferation and migration of osteosarcoma cells due to the activation of Wnt signaling through the secretion of CCL18 (165).

### CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The present review supports a central role of Wnt signaling in mucosal homeostasis and regeneration, but it also highlights how this pathway is involved in fibrosis and cancer, which complicated the pharmacological modulation of this cascade. Nevertheless, the inhibition of Wnt signaling has become a pharmacological strategy, and several compounds have been or are being designed in order to treat several diseases. A wide spectrum of different compounds has been tested in several cancers, including porcupine inhibitors, antibodies against Wnt family proteins, Tankyrase inhibitors, Disheveled inhibitors, TCF/beta-catenin Transcription Complex Inhibitors, Wnt coactivator antagonist, and Gamma Secretase Inhibitors (166). In the context of fibrosis, some inhibitors of CBP/β-catenin interaction, such as ICG-001 and PRI-724, have been tested, and promising results have been obtained in vitro and in vivo with animal models (167). Nevertheless, these compounds are yet to be approved specifically for fibrosis treatment in clinical trials. In spite of all the evidence accumulated, we still lack conclusive results regarding these compounds, and the potential effects of

### REFERENCES

- Loh KM, van Amerongen R, Nusse R. Generating cellular diversity and spatial form: Wnt signaling and the evolution of multicellular animals. *Dev Cell.* (2016) 38:643–55. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.201 6.08.011
- Nusse R, Clevers H. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling, disease, and emerging therapeutic modalities. *Cell.* (2017) 169:985– 99. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.016
- Caprioli A, Villasenor A, Wylie LA, Braitsch C, Marty-Santos L, Barry D, et al. Wnt4 is essential to normal mammalian lung development. *Dev Biol.* (2015) 406:222–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2015.08.017
- Cervantes S, Yamaguchi TP, Hebrok M. Wnt5a is essential for intestinal elongation in mice. *Dev Biol.* (2009) 326:285– 94. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2008.11.020
- Marchetti B, Pluchino S. Wnt your brain be inflamed? Yes, it Wnt!. Trends Mol Med. (2013) 19:144–56. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2012.12.001
- Rios-Esteves J, Haugen B, Resh MD. Identification of key residues and regions important for porcupine-mediated Wnt acylation. J Biol Chem. (2014) 289:17009–19. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.561209
- McGough IJ, Vincent JP. Exosomes in developmental signalling. Development. (2016) 143:2482–93. doi: 10.1242/dev.126516
- Bartscherer K, Pelte N, Ingelfinger D, Boutros M. Secretion of Wnt ligands requires Evi, a conserved transmembrane protein. *Cell.* (2006) 125:523– 33. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.04.009
- Acebron SP, Niehrs C. beta-catenin-independent roles of Wnt/LRP6 signaling. *Trends Cell Biol.* (2016) 26:956–67. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.201 6.07.009

pharmacological inhibition of the Wnt signaling pathway are yet to be determined.

The Wnt signaling pathway is activated mainly by Wnt ligands, small proteins that are synthetized and released from different cell types. In inflammatory conditions, in which mucosal integrity is altered and macrophages accumulate, the synthesis of Wnt ligands from these cells seems to modulate mucosal regeneration, but the persistence of these ligands in chronic situations can also lead to fibrosis or cancer. In **Table 1** and **Figure 1**, we include all macrophage-derived Wnt ligands and their relevance in homeostasis and a range of different pathologies. A better characterization of the specific ligands released from these cells, as well as the specific receptors involved in each scenario, will help to define more selective pharmacological approaches.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JC-R and MO-M organized and wrote the draft manuscript. MB critically reviewed the draft. All authors contributed to the writing of the manuscript and approved the final version.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by Ministerio de Economia, Industria y Competitividad and the European Regional Development fund of the European Union (SAF2016-80072-P), Conselleria de Educación, Investigación, Cultura y Deporte, Generalitat Valenciana (PROMETEO2018/141 and GV/2018/041), and CIBERehd (EHD19PI05).

- Driehuis E, Clevers H. WNT signalling events near the cell membrane and their pharmacological targeting for the treatment of cancer. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2017) 174:4547–63. doi: 10.1111/bph.13758
- 11. Zeng CM, Chen Z, Fu L. Frizzled receptors as potential therapeutic targets in human cancers. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:E1543. doi: 10.3390/ijms19051543
- Vallee A, Lecarpentier Y. Crosstalk between peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma and the canonical WNT/beta-catenin pathway in chronic inflammation and oxidative stress during carcinogenesis. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:745. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00745
- Chae WJ, Bothwell ALM. Canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling in immune cells. *Trends Immunol.* (2018) 39:830– 47. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2018.08.006
- Ackers I, Malgor R. Interrelationship of canonical and non-canonical Wnt signalling pathways in chronic metabolic diseases. *Diab Vasc Dis Res.* (2018) 15:3–13. doi: 10.1177/1479164117738442
- Huelsken J, Vogel R, Brinkmann V, Erdmann B, Birchmeier C, Birchmeier W. Requirement for beta-catenin in anterior-posterior axis formation in mice. J Cell Biol. (2000) 148:567–78. doi: 10.1083/jcb.148.3.567
- Tabar V, Studer L. Pluripotent stem cells in regenerative medicine: challenges and recent progress. *Nat Rev Genet.* (2014) 15:82–92. doi: 10.1038/nrg3563
- Clevers H. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in development and disease. Cell. (2006) 127:469–80. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.10.018
- Korinek V, Barker N, Moerer P, van Donselaar E, Huls G, Peters PJ, et al. Depletion of epithelial stem-cell compartments in the small intestine of mice lacking Tcf-4. *Nat Genet.* (1998) 19:379–83. doi: 10.1038/1270
- van Es JH, Haegebarth A, Kujala P, Itzkovitz S, Koo BK, Boj SF, et al. A critical role for the Wnt effector Tcf4 in adult intestinal homeostatic self-renewal. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2012) 32:1918–27. doi: 10.1128/MCB.06288-11

- Kuhnert F, Davis CR, Wang HT, Chu P, Lee M, Yuan J, et al. Essential requirement for Wnt signaling in proliferation of adult small intestine and colon revealed by adenoviral expression of Dickkopf-1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2004) 101:266–71. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2536800100
- Kim KA, Kakitani M, Zhao J, Oshima T, Tang T, Binnerts M, et al. Mitogenic influence of human R-spondin1 on the intestinal epithelium. *Science*. (2005) 309:1256–59. doi: 10.1126/science.1112521
- Zou WY, Blutt SE, Zeng XL, Chen MS, Lo YH, Castillo-Azofeifa D, et al. Epithelial WNT ligands are essential drivers of intestinal stem cell activation. *Cell Rep.* (2018) 22:1003–15. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.12.093
- Armbruster NS, Stange EF, Wehkamp J. In the Wnt of paneth cells: immuneepithelial crosstalk in small intestinal Crohn's disease. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1204. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01204
- Kaestner KH. The intestinal stem cell niche: a central role for Foxl1expressing subepithelial telocytes. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2019) 8:111-7. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2019.04.001
- Flanagan DJ, Austin CR, Vincan E, Phesse TJ. Wnt signalling in gastrointestinal epithelial stem cells. *Genes.* (2018) 9:E178. doi: 10.3390/genes9040178
- van Neerven SM, Vermeulen L. The interplay between intrinsic and extrinsic Wnt signaling in controlling intestinal transformation. *Differentiation*. (2019) 108:17–23. doi: 10.1016/j.diff.2019.02.002
- Spit M, Koo BK, Maurice MM. Tales from the crypt: intestinal niche signals in tissue renewal, plasticity and cancer. *Open Biol.* (2018) 8:180120. doi: 10.1098/rsob.180120
- Shoshkes-Carmel M, Wang YJ, Wangensteen KJ, Toth B, Kondo A, Massasa EE, et al. Subepithelial telocytes are an important source of Wnts that supports intestinal crypts. *Nature*. (2018) 557:242–6. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0084-4
- Degirmenci B, Valenta T, Dimitrieva S, Hausmann G, Basler K. GL11expressing mesenchymal cells form the essential Wnt-secreting niche for colon stem cells. *Nature*. (2018) 558:449–53. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0190-3
- Sato T, van Es JH, Snippert HJ, Stange DE, Vries RG, van den Born M, et al. Paneth cells constitute the niche for Lgr5 stem cells in intestinal crypts. *Nature*. (2011) 469:415–8. doi: 10.1038/nature09637
- Farin HF, Van Es JH, Clevers H. Redundant sources of Wnt regulate intestinal stem cells and promote formation of Paneth cells. *Gastroenterology*. (2012) 143:1518–29.e7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2012.08.031
- van Es JH, Jay P, Gregorieff A, van Gijn ME, Jonkheer S, Hatzis P, et al. Wnt signalling induces maturation of Paneth cells in intestinal crypts. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2005) 7:381–6. doi: 10.1038/ncb1240
- Gavin BJ, McMahon JA, McMahon AP. Expression of multiple novel Wnt-1/int-1-related genes during fetal and adult mouse development. *Genes Dev.* (1990) 4:2319–32. doi: 10.1101/gad.4.12b.2319
- Shu W, Jiang YQ, Lu MM, Morrisey EE. Wnt7b regulates mesenchymal proliferation and vascular development in the lung. *Development*. (2002) 129:4831–42.
- Rajagopal J, Carroll TJ, Guseh JS, Bores SA, Blank LJ, Anderson WJ, et al. Wnt7b stimulates embryonic lung growth by coordinately increasing the replication of epithelium and mesenchyme. *Development*. (2008) 135:1625– 34. doi: 10.1242/dev.015495
- Li C, Xiao J, Hormi K, Borok Z, Minoo P. Wnt5a participates in distal lung morphogenesis. *Dev Biol.* (2002) 248:68–81. doi: 10.1006/dbio.2002.0729
- Buttler K, Becker J, Pukrop T, Wilting J. Maldevelopment of dermal lymphatics in Wnt5a-knockout-mice. *Dev Biol.* (2013) 381:365–76. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2013.06.028
- Ghosh MC, Gorantla V, Makena PS, Luellen C, Sinclair SE, Schwingshackl A, et al. Insulin-like growth factor-I stimulates differentiation of ATII cells to ATI-like cells through activation of Wnt5a. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2013) 305:L222–8. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.0001 4.2013
- Lee JG, Heur M. Interleukin-1beta-induced Wnt5a enhances human corneal endothelial cell migration through regulation of Cdc42 and RhoA. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2014) 34:3535–45. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01572-13
- Hussain M, Xu C, Lu M, Wu X, Tang L, Wu X. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling links embryonic lung development and asthmatic airway remodeling. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis.* (2017) 1863:3226– 42. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2017.08.031

- Goss AM, Tian Y, Tsukiyama T, Cohen ED, Zhou D, Lu MM, et al. Wnt2/2b and beta-catenin signaling are necessary and sufficient to specify lung progenitors in the foregut. *Dev Cell.* (2009) 17:290– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2009.06.005
- Mammoto T, Chen J, Jiang E, Jiang A, Smith LE, Ingber DE, et al. LRP5 regulates development of lung microvessels and alveoli through the angiopoietin-Tie2 pathway. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e41596. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041596
- Foronjy R, Imai K, Shiomi T, Mercer B, Sklepkiewicz P, Thankachen J, et al. The divergent roles of secreted frizzled related protein-1 (SFRP1) in lung morphogenesis and emphysema. *Am J Pathol.* (2010) 177:598– 607. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.090803
- Cohen ED, Ihida-Stansbury K, Lu MM, Panettieri RA, Jones PL, Morrisey EE. Wnt signaling regulates smooth muscle precursor development in the mouse lung via a tenascin C/PDGFR pathway. *J Clin Invest.* (2009) 119:2538– 49. doi: 10.1172/JCI38079
- Bastakoty D, Young PP. Wnt/beta-catenin pathway in tissue injury: roles in pathology and therapeutic opportunities for regeneration. *FASEB J.* (2016) 30:3271–84. doi: 10.1096/fj.201600502R
- Kim CK, Yang VW, Bialkowska AB. The role of intestinal stem cells in epithelial regeneration following radiation-induced gut injury. *Curr Stem Cell Rep.* (2017) 3:320–32. doi: 10.1007/s40778-017-0103-7
- Perochon J, Carroll LR, Cordero JB. Wnt signalling in intestinal stem cells: lessons from mice and flies. *Genes.* (2018) 9:E138. doi: 10.3390/genes9030138
- Miyoshi H, Ajima R, Luo CT, Yamaguchi TP, Stappenbeck TS. Wnt5a potentiates TGF-beta signaling to promote colonic crypt regeneration after tissue injury. *Science*. (2012) 338:108–13. doi: 10.1126/science.1223821
- Suh HN, Kim MJ, Jung YS, Lien EM, Jun S, Park JI. Quiescence exit of Tert(+) stem cells by wnt/beta-catenin is indispensable for intestinal regeneration. *Cell Rep.* (2017) 21:2571–84. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.10.118
- 50. Koch S. Extrinsic control of Wnt signaling in the intestine. *Differentiation*. (2017) 97:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.diff.2017.08.003
- Cosin-Roger J, Ortiz-Masia D, Calatayud S, Hernandez C, Alvarez A, Hinojosa J, et al. M2 macrophages activate WNT signaling pathway in epithelial cells: relevance in ulcerative colitis. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e78128. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0078128
- Cosin-Roger J, Ortiz-Masia D, Calatayud S, Hernandez C, Esplugues JV, Barrachina MD. The activation of Wnt signaling by a STAT6-dependent macrophage phenotype promotes mucosal repair in murine IBD. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2016) 9:986–98. doi: 10.1038/mi.2015.123
- Tian Y, Xu J, Li Y, Zhao R, Du S, Lv C, et al. MicroRNA-31 reduces inflammatory signaling and promotes regeneration in colon epithelium, and delivery of mimics in microspheres reduces colitis in mice. *Gastroenterology*. (2019) 156:2281–96.e6. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2019.02.023
- Whyte JL, Smith AA, Helms JA. Wnt signaling and injury repair. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. (2012) 4:a008078. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a008078
- Villar J, Zhang H, Slutsky AS. Lung repair and regeneration in ARDS: role of PECAM1 and Wnt signaling. *Chest.* (2019) 155:587– 94. doi: 10.1016/j.chest.2018.10.022
- McCauley KB, Hawkins F, Serra M, Thomas DC, Jacob A, Kotton DN. Efficient derivation of functional human airway epithelium from pluripotent stem cells via temporal regulation of Wnt signaling. *Cell Stem Cell.* (2017) 20:844–57.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2017.03.001
- 57. Cai SX, Liu AR, Chen S, He HL, Chen QH, Xu JY, et al. Activation of Wnt/beta-catenin signalling promotes mesenchymal stem cells to repair injured alveolar epithelium induced by lipopolysaccharide in mice. *Stem Cell Res Ther.* (2015) 6:65. doi: 10.1186/s13287-015-0060-y
- Volckaert T, Dill E, Campbell A, Tiozzo C, Majka S, Bellusci S, et al. Parabronchial smooth muscle constitutes an airway epithelial stem cell niche in the mouse lung after injury. J Clin Invest. (2011) 121:4409– 19. doi: 10.1172/JCI58097
- Finigan JH, Vasu VT, Thaikoottathil JV, Mishra R, Shatat MA, Mason RJ, et al. HER2 activation results in beta-catenin-dependent changes in pulmonary epithelial permeability. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. (2015) 308:L199– 207. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00237.2014
- Baarsma HA, Konigshoff M. 'WNT-er is coming': WNT signalling in chronic lung diseases. *Thorax.* (2017) 72:746– 59. doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2016-209753

- Wang SH, Xu F, Dang HX, Yang L. Genetic variations in the Wnt signaling pathway affect lung function in asthma patients. *Genet Mol Res.* (2013) 12:1829–33. doi: 10.4238/2013.January.4.1
- Barreto-Luis A, Corrales A, Acosta-Herrera M, Gonzalez-Colino C, Cumplido J, Martinez-Tadeo J, et al. A pathway-based association study reveals variants from Wnt signalling genes contributing to asthma susceptibility. *Clin Exp Allergy*. (2017) 47:618–26. doi: 10.1111/cea.12883
- Wynn TA, Ramalingam TR. Mechanisms of fibrosis: therapeutic translation for fibrotic disease. *Nat Med.* (2012) 18:1028–40. doi: 10.1038/nm.2807
- Roberts AB, Russo A, Felici A, Flanders KC. Smad3: a key player in pathogenetic mechanisms dependent on TGF-beta. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2003) 995:1–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb03205.x
- Speca S, Giusti I, Rieder F, Latella G. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of intestinal fibrosis. World J Gastroenterol. (2012) 18:3635–61. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v18.i28.3635
- Mora AL, Rojas M, Pardo A, Selman M. Emerging therapies for idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis, a progressive age-related disease. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. (2017) 16:810. doi: 10.1038/nrd.2017.225
- 67. van den Bosch, MH, Gleissl TA, Blom AB, van den Berg, WB, van Lent PL, van der Kraan, PM. Wnts talking with the TGF-beta superfamily: WISPers about modulation of osteoarthritis. *Rheumatology*. (2016) 55:1536– 47. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kev402
- Ueha S, Shand FH, Matsushima K. Cellular and molecular mechanisms of chronic inflammation-associated organ fibrosis. *Front Immunol.* (2012) 3:71. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00071
- Chen DQ, Feng YL, Cao G, Zhao YY. Natural products as a source for antifibrosis therapy. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2018) 39:937–52. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2018.09.002
- Yun SM, Kim SH, Kim EH. The molecular mechanism of transforming growth factor-beta signaling for intestinal fibrosis: a mini-review. *Front Pharmacol.* (2019) 10:162. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.00162
- Ortiz-Masia D, Salvador P, Macias-Ceja DC, Gisbert-Ferrandiz L, Esplugues JV, Manye J, et al. WNT2b activates epithelial-mesenchymal transition through FZD4: relevance in penetrating Crohn s disease. J Crohns Colitis. (2019) jjz154. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjz134 [Epub ahead of print]
- Konigshoff M, Balsara N, Pfaff EM, Kramer M, Chrobak I, Seeger W, et al. Functional Wnt signaling is increased in idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. *PLoS* ONE. (2008) 3:e2142. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002142
- Konigshoff M, Kramer M, Balsara N, Wilhelm J, Amarie OV, Jahn A, et al. WNT1-inducible signaling protein-1 mediates pulmonary fibrosis in mice and is upregulated in humans with idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis. J Clin Invest. (2009) 119:772–87. doi: 10.1172/JCI33950
- 74. Berschneider B, Ellwanger DC, Baarsma HA, Thiel C, Shimbori C, White ES, et al. miR-92a regulates TGF-beta1-induced WISP1 expression in pulmonary fibrosis. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* (2014) 53:432–41. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2014.06.011
- Vuga LJ, Ben-Yehudah A, Kovkarova-Naumovski E, Oriss T, Gibson KF, Feghali-Bostwick C, et al. WNT5A is a regulator of fibroblast proliferation and resistance to apoptosis. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2009) 41:583– 9. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2008-0201OC
- Wang C, Zhu H, Sun Z, Xiang Z, Ge Y, Ni C, et al. Inhibition of Wnt/betacatenin signaling promotes epithelial differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells and repairs bleomycin-induced lung injury. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. (2014) 307:C234–44. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00366.2013
- Cao H, Wang C, Chen X, Hou J, Xiang Z, Shen Y, et al. Inhibition of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling suppresses myofibroblast differentiation of lung resident mesenchymal stem cells and pulmonary fibrosis. *Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:1364–9. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-28968-9
- Chen L, Tang RZ, Ruan J, Zhu XB, Yang Y. Up-regulation of THY1 attenuates interstitial pulmonary fibrosis and promotes lung fibroblast apoptosis during acute interstitial pneumonia by blockade of the WNT signaling pathway. *Cell Cycle.* (2019) 18:670–81. doi: 10.1080/15384101.2019.15 78144
- 79. Duchartre Y, Kim YM, Kahn M. The Wnt signaling pathway in cancer. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol.* (2016) 99:141–9. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2015.12.005
- Zhan T, Rindtorff N, Boutros M. Wnt signaling in cancer. Oncogene. (2017) 36:1461–73. doi: 10.1038/onc.2016.304

- Nishisho I, Nakamura Y, Miyoshi Y, Miki Y, Ando H, Horii A, et al. Mutations of chromosome 5q21 genes in FAP and colorectal cancer patients. *Science*. (1991) 253:665–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1651563
- Yeh YS, Chang YT, Ma CJ, Huang CW, Tsai HL, Chen YT, et al. First-decade patient with colorectal cancer carrying both germline and somatic mutations in APC gene. *BMC Cancer*. (2017) 17:849. doi: 10.1186/s12885-017-3878-0
- 83. Christie M, Jorissen RN, Mouradov D, Sakthianandeswaren A, Li S, Day F, et al. Different APC genotypes in proximal and distal sporadic colorectal cancers suggest distinct WNT/beta-catenin signalling thresholds for tumourigenesis. Oncogene. (2013) 32:4675–82. doi: 10.1038/onc.2012.486
- 84. Dow LE, O'Rourke KP, Simon J, Tschaharganeh DF, van Es JH, Clevers H, et al. Apc restoration promotes cellular differentiation and reestablishes crypt homeostasis in colorectal cancer. *Cell.* (2015) 161:1539– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.05.033
- Schatoff EM, Leach BI, Dow LE. Wnt signaling and colorectal cancer. Curr Colorectal Cancer Rep. (2017) 13:101–10. doi: 10.1007/s11888-017-0354-9
- Gurney A, Axelrod F, Bond CJ, Cain J, Chartier C, Donigan L, et al. Wnt pathway inhibition via the targeting of Frizzled receptors results in decreased growth and tumorigenicity of human tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:11717–22. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1120068109
- Wu X, Luo F, Li J, Zhong X, Liu K. Tankyrase 1 inhibitior XAV939 increases chemosensitivity in colon cancer cell lines via inhibition of the Wnt signaling pathway. *Int J Oncol.* (2016) 48:1333–40. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2016.3360
- Arques O, Chicote I, Puig I, Tenbaum SP, Argiles G, Dienstmann R, et al. Tankyrase inhibition blocks Wnt/beta-catenin pathway and reverts resistance to PI3K and AKT inhibitors in the treatment of colorectal cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:644–56. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-3081
- Riffell JL, Lord CJ, Ashworth A. Tankyrase-targeted therapeutics: expanding opportunities in the PARP family. *Nat Rev Drug Discov*. (2012) 11:923– 36. doi: 10.1038/nrd3868
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2015. CA Cancer J Clin. (2015) 65:5–29. doi: 10.3322/caac.21254
- Stewart DJ. Wnt signaling pathway in non-small cell lung cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2014) 106:djt356. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djt356
- Brabletz T, Hlubek F, Spaderna S, Schmalhofer O, Hiendlmeyer E, Jung A, et al. Invasion and metastasis in colorectal cancer: epithelial-mesenchymal transition, mesenchymal-epithelial transition, stem cells and beta-catenin. *Cells Tissues Organs.* (2005) 179:56–65. doi: 10.1159/000084509
- Li C, Hu L, Xiao J, Chen H, Li JT, Bellusci S, et al. Wnt5a regulates Shh and Fgf10 signaling during lung development. *Dev Biol.* (2005) 287:86– 97. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2005.08.035
- McCawley LJ, Crawford HC, King LE, Mudgett J, Matrisian LM. A protective role for matrix metalloproteinase-3 in squamous cell carcinoma. *Cancer Res.* (2004) 64:6965–72. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-0910
- 95. Rapp J, Jaromi L, Kvell K, Miskei G, Pongracz JE. WNT signaling - lung cancer is no exception. *Respir Res.* (2017) 18:167. doi: 10.1186/s12931-017-0650-6
- Wagner AH, Devarakonda S, Skidmore ZL, Krysiak K, Ramu A, Trani L, et al. Recurrent WNT pathway alterations are frequent in relapsed small cell lung cancer. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:3787. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06162-9
- Zhang X, Lou Y, Wang H, Zheng X, Dong Q, Sun J, et al. Wnt signaling regulates the stemness of lung cancer stem cells and its inhibitors exert anticancer effect on lung cancer SPC-A1 cells. *Med Oncol.* (2015) 32:95. doi: 10.1007/s12032-014-0462-1
- Zhang X, Lou Y, Zheng X, Wang H, Sun J, Dong Q, et al. Wnt blockers inhibit the proliferation of lung cancer stem cells. *Drug Des Devel Ther.* (2015) 9:2399–407. doi: 10.2147/DDDT.S76602
- Botting GM, Rastogi I, Chhabra G, Nlend M, Puri N. Mechanism of resistance and novel targets mediating resistance to EGFR and c-Met tyrosine kinase inhibitors in non-small cell lung cancer. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0136155. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0136155
- 100. Kim YM, Ma H, Oehler VG, Gang EJ, Nguyen C, Masiello D, et al. The gamma catenin/CBP complex maintains survivin transcription in betacatenin deficient/depleted cancer cells. *Curr Cancer Drug Targets*. (2011) 11:213–25. doi: 10.2174/156800911794328420
- 101. Lu Y, Wei C, Xi Z. Curcumin suppresses proliferation and invasion in non-small cell lung cancer by modulation of MTA1-mediated

Wnt/beta-catenin pathway. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim. (2014) 50:840-50. doi: 10.1007/s11626-014-9779-5

- 102. Bi X, Xia X, Mou T, Jiang B, Fan D, Wang P, et al. Anti-tumor activity of three ginsenoside derivatives in lung cancer is associated with Wnt/beta-catenin signaling inhibition. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2014) 742:145– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2014.08.032
- 103. You L, He B, Xu Z, Uematsu K, Mazieres J, Mikami I, et al. Inhibition of Wnt-2-mediated signaling induces programmed cell death in non-small-cell lung cancer cells. *Oncogene*. (2004) 23:6170–4. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1207844
- 104. Le PN, McDermott JD, Jimeno A. Targeting the Wnt pathway in human cancers: therapeutic targeting with a focus on OMP-54F28. *Pharmacol Ther.* (2015) 146:1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2014.08.005
- 105. Valenta T, Degirmenci B, Moor AE, Herr P, Zimmerli D, Moor MB, et al. Wnt ligands secreted by subepithelial mesenchymal cells are essential for the survival of intestinal stem cells and gut homeostasis. *Cell Rep.* (2016) 15:911–8. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.03.088
- 106. San Roman AK, Jayewickreme CD, Murtaugh LC, Shivdasani RA. Wnt secretion from epithelial cells and subepithelial myofibroblasts is not required in the mouse intestinal stem cell niche *in vivo. Stem Cell Rep.* (2014) 2:127–34. doi: 10.1016/j.stemcr.2013.12.012
- Takeo M, Hale CS, Ito M. Epithelium-derived Wnt ligands are essential for maintenance of underlying digit bone. *J Invest Dermatol.* (2016) 136:1355– 63. doi: 10.1016/j.jid.2016.03.018
- Nejak-Bowen K, Monga SP. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in hepatic organogenesis. Organogenesis. (2008) 4:92–9. doi: 10.4161/org.4.2.5855
- Federico G, Meister M, Mathow D, Heine GH, Moldenhauer G, Popovic ZV, et al. Tubular Dickkopf-3 promotes the development of renal atrophy and fibrosis. JCI Insight. (2016) 1:e84916. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.84916
- 110. Aoki R, Shoshkes-Carmel M, Gao N, Shin S, May CL, Golson ML, et al. Foxl1-expressing mesenchymal cells constitute the intestinal stem cell niche. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2016) 2:175–88. doi: 10.1016/j.jcmgh.2015.12.004
- 111. Stzepourginski I, Nigro G, Jacob JM, Dulauroy S, Sansonetti PJ, Eberl G, et al. CD34+ mesenchymal cells are a major component of the intestinal stem cells niche at homeostasis and after injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:E506–13. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1620059114
- 112. Kispert A, Vainio S, McMahon AP. Wnt-4 is a mesenchymal signal for epithelial transformation of metanephric mesenchyme in the developing kidney. *Development.* (1998) 125:4225–34.
- 113. Nabhan AN, Brownfield DG, Harbury PB, Krasnow MA, Desai TJ. Singlecell Wnt signaling niches maintain stemness of alveolar type 2 cells. *Science*. (2018) 359:1118–23. doi: 10.1126/science.aam6603
- 114. Wang B, Zhao L, Fish M, Logan CY, Nusse R. Self-renewing diploid Axin2(+) cells fuel homeostatic renewal of the liver. *Nature*. (2015) 524:180– 5. doi: 10.1038/nature14863
- 115. Ouchi N, Higuchi A, Ohashi K, Oshima Y, Gokce N, Shibata R, et al. Sfrp5 is an anti-inflammatory adipokine that modulates metabolic dysfunction in obesity. *Science*. (2010) 329:454–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1188280
- 116. Kim J, Kim DW, Chang W, Choe J, Kim J, Park CS, et al. Wnt5a is secreted by follicular dendritic cells to protect germinal center B cells via Wnt/Ca2+/NFAT/NF-kappaB-B cell lymphoma 6 signaling. J Immunol. (2012) 188:182–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102297
- 117. Valencia J, Martinez VG, Hidalgo L, Hernandez-Lopez C, Canseco NM, Vicente A, et al. Wnt5a signaling increases IL-12 secretion by human dendritic cells and enhances IFN-gamma production by CD4+ T cells. *Immunol Lett.* (2014) 162:188–99. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2014.08.015
- 118. Guo Y, Mishra A, Howland E, Zhao C, Shukla D, Weng T, et al. Plateletderived Wnt antagonist Dickkopf-1 is implicated in ICAM-1/VCAM-1mediated neutrophilic acute lung inflammation. *Blood.* (2015) 126:2220– 9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-02-622233
- 119. Chae WJ, Ehrlich AK, Chan PY, Teixeira AM, Henegariu O, Hao L, et al. The Wnt antagonist Dickkopf-1 promotes pathological type 2 cell-mediated inflammation. *Immunity.* (2016) 44:246–58. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.01.008
- 120. Chae WJ, Park JH, Henegariu O, Yilmaz S, Hao L, Bothwell ALM. Membrane-bound Dickkopf-1 in Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells suppresses T-cell-mediated autoimmune colitis. *Immunology*. (2017) 152:265–75. doi: 10.1111/imm.12766

- 121. Papatriantafyllou M, Moldenhauer G, Ludwig J, Tafuri A, Garbi N, Hollmann G, et al. Dickkopf-3, an immune modulator in peripheral CD8 T-cell tolerance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:1631– 6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1115980109
- 122. Blumenthal A, Ehlers S, Lauber J, Buer J, Lange C, Goldmann T, et al. The Wingless homolog WNT5A and its receptor Frizzled-5 regulate inflammatory responses of human mononuclear cells induced by microbial stimulation. *Blood*. (2006) 108:965–73. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-12-5046
- 123. Pereira C, Schaer DJ, Bachli EB, Kurrer MO, Schoedon G. Wnt5A/CaMKII signaling contributes to the inflammatory response of macrophages and is a target for the antiinflammatory action of activated protein C and interleukin-10. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. (2008) 28:504–10. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.157438
- 124. Pukrop T, Klemm F, Hagemann T, Gradl D, Schulz M, Siemes S, et al. Wnt 5a signaling is critical for macrophage-induced invasion of breast cancer cell lines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2006) 103:5454– 9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0509703103
- Zhao C, Ma H, Bu X, Wang W, Zhang N. SFRP5 inhibits gastric epithelial cell migration induced by macrophage-derived Wnt5a. *Carcinogenesis.* (2013) 34:146–52. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgs309
- 126. Bilkovski R, Schulte DM, Oberhauser F, Mauer J, Hampel B, Gutschow C, et al. Adipose tissue macrophages inhibit adipogenesis of mesenchymal precursor cells via wnt-5a in humans. *Int J Obes.* (2011) 35:1450–4. doi: 10.1038/ijo.2011.6
- 127. Lin SL, Li B, Rao S, Yeo EJ, Hudson TE, Nowlin BT, et al. Macrophage Wnt7b is critical for kidney repair and regeneration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:4194–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0912228107
- 128. Snyder RJ, Lantis J, Kirsner RS, Shah V, Molyneaux M, Carter MJ. Macrophages: a review of their role in wound healing and their therapeutic use. Wound Repair Regen. (2016) 24:613–29. doi: 10.1111/wrr.12444
- Ortiz-Masia D, Cosin-Roger J, Calatayud S, Hernandez C, Alos R, Hinojosa J, et al. M1 Macrophages activate notch signalling in epithelial cells: relevance in Crohn's disease. J Crohns Colitis. (2016) 10:582– 92. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjw009
- 130. Hernández C, Barrachina MD, Cosín-Roger J, Ortiz-Masiá D, Álvarez Á, Terrádez L, et al. Progastrin represses the alternative activation of human macrophages and modulates their influence on colon cancer epithelial cells. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e98458. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0098458
- 131. Ortiz-Masia D, Cosin-Roger J, Calatayud S, Hernandez C, Alos R, Hinojosa J, et al. Hypoxic macrophages impair autophagy in epithelial cells through Wnt1: relevance in IBD. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2014) 7:929– 38. doi: 10.1038/mi.2013.108
- 132. Wang W, Xu L, Liu P, Jairam K, Yin Y, Chen K, et al. Blocking Wnt secretion reduces growth of hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines mostly independent of beta-Catenin signaling. *Neoplasia*. (2016) 18:711– 23. doi: 10.1016/j.neo.2016.10.004
- 133. Saha S, Aranda E, Hayakawa Y, Bhanja P, Atay S, Brodin NP, et al. Macrophage-derived extracellular vesicle-packaged WNTs rescue intestinal stem cells and enhance survival after radiation injury. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:13096. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13096
- 134. Neumann J, Schaale K, Farhat K, Endermann T, Ulmer AJ, Ehlers S, et al. Frizzled1 is a marker of inflammatory macrophages, and its ligand Wnt3a is involved in reprogramming *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*infected macrophages. *FASEB J.* (2010) 24:4599–612. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-160994
- 135. Schaale K, Brandenburg J, Kispert A, Leitges M, Ehlers S, Reiling N. Wnt6 is expressed in granulomatous lesions of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected mice and is involved in macrophage differentiation and proliferation. J Immunol. (2013) 191:5182–95. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201819
- 136. Liu Z, Wu HT, Ni YG, Yin YT, Li SX, Liao DF, et al. Crosstalk between Wnt5a and inflammatory signaling in inflammation. *Sheng Li Xue Bao.* (2015) 67:437–45. doi: 10.13294/j.aps.2015.0054
- 137. Chen D, Li G, Fu X, Li P, Zhang J, Luo L. Wnt5a deficiency regulates inflammatory cytokine secretion, polarization, and apoptosis in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected macrophages. *DNA Cell Biol.* (2017) 36:58–66. doi: 10.1089/dna.2016.3418
- 138. Hung LY, Sen D, Oniskey TK, Katzen J, Cohen NA, Vaughan AE, et al. Macrophages promote epithelial proliferation following infectious and

non-infectious lung injury through a Trefoil factor 2-dependent mechanism. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2019) 12:64–76. doi: 10.1038/s41385-018-0096-2

- Lever JM, Hull TD, Boddu R, Pepin ME, Black LM, Adedoyin OO, et al. Resident macrophages reprogram toward a developmental state after acute kidney injury. JCI Insight. (2019) 4:125503. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.125503
- 140. Lee S, Huen S, Nishio H, Nishio S, Lee HK, Choi BS, et al. Distinct macrophage phenotypes contribute to kidney injury and repair. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2011) 22:317–26. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2009060615
- 141. Chou YH, Pan SY, Yang CH, Lin SL. Stem cells and kidney regeneration. J Formos Med Assoc. (2014) 113:201–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jfma.2013.12.001
- 142. Wynn TA, Chawla A, Pollard JW. Macrophage biology in development, homeostasis and disease. *Nature*. (2013) 496:445– 55. doi: 10.1038/nature12034
- Lobov IB, Rao S, Carroll TJ, Vallance JE, Ito M, Ondr JK, et al. WNT7b mediates macrophage-induced programmed cell death in patterning of the vasculature. *Nature*. (2005) 437:417–21. doi: 10.1038/nature03928
- 144. Lang RA, Bishop JM. Macrophages are required for cell death and tissue remodeling in the developing mouse eye. Cell. (1993) 74:453– 62. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(93)80047-I
- 145. Diez-Roux G, Lang RA. Macrophages induce apoptosis in normal cells in vivo. Development. (1997) 124:3633-8.
- 146. Palevski D, Levin-Kotler LP, Kain D, Naftali-Shani N, Landa N, Ben-Mordechai T, et al. Loss of macrophage wnt secretion improves remodeling and function after myocardial infarction in mice. *J Am Heart Assoc.* (2017) 6:e004387. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116.004387
- 147. Salvador P, Macias-Ceja DC, Gisbert-Ferrandiz L, Hernandez C, Bernardo D, Alos R, et al. CD16+ macrophages mediate fibrosis in inflammatory bowel disease. J Crohns Colitis. (2018) 12:589–99. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjx185
- 148. Ortiz-Masia D, Cosin-Roger J, Rodriguez-Antequera M, Macias-Ceja D, Coll S, Salvador P, et al. P003 C86/CD16 macrophages may act as a source of WNT2b in intestinal tissue from B3 Crohn's disease patients. *J Crohns Colitis*. (2019) 13:S087–8. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjy222.127
- 149. Hou J, Shi J, Chen L, Lv Z, Chen X, Cao H, et al. M2 macrophages promote myofibroblast differentiation of LR-MSCs and are associated with pulmonary fibrogenesis. *Cell Commun Signal.* (2018) 16:89. doi: 10.1186/s12964-018-0300-8
- 150. Feng Y, Liang Y, Zhu X, Wang M, Gui Y, Lu Q, et al. The signaling protein Wnt5a promotes TGFbeta1-mediated macrophage polarization and kidney fibrosis by inducing the transcriptional regulators Yap/Taz. J Biol Chem. (2018) 293:19290–302. doi: 10.1074/jbc.RA118.005457
- 151. Feng Y, Ren J, Gui Y, Wei W, Shu B, Lu Q, et al. Wnt/beta-catenin-promoted macrophage alternative activation contributes to kidney fibrosis. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2018) 29:182–93. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2017040391
- Feng Y, Liang Y, Ren J, Dai C. Canonical Wnt signaling promotes macrophage proliferation during kidney fibrosis. *Kidney Dis.* (2018) 4:95– 103. doi: 10.1159/000488984
- Fujimura T, Kambayashi Y, Fujisawa Y, Hidaka T, Aiba S. Tumor-associated macrophages: therapeutic targets for skin cancer. *Front Oncol.* (2018) 8:3. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00003
- 154. Quail DF, Joyce JA. Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:1423–37. doi: 10.1038/nm.3394
- 155. Parchure A, Vyas N, Mayor S. Wnt and hedgehog: secretion of lipid-modified morphogens. *Trends Cell Biol.* (2018) 28:157– 70. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2017.10.003
- 156. Oguma K, Oshima H, Aoki M, Uchio R, Naka K, Nakamura S, et al. Activated macrophages promote Wnt signalling through tumour necrosis factor-alpha in gastric tumour cells. *EMBO J.* (2008) 27:1671– 81. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2008.105

- 157. Ojalvo LS, Whittaker CA, Condeelis JS, Pollard JW. Gene expression analysis of macrophages that facilitate tumor invasion supports a role for Wnt-signaling in mediating their activity in primary mammary tumors. J Immunol. (2010) 184:702–12. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902360
- 158. Boulter L, Guest RV, Kendall TJ, Wilson DH, Wojtacha D, Robson AJ, et al. WNT signaling drives cholangiocarcinoma growth and can be pharmacologically inhibited. J Clin Invest. (2015) 125:1269–85. doi: 10.1172/JCI76452
- 159. Linde N, Casanova-Acebes M, Sosa MS, Mortha A, Rahman A, Farias E, et al. Macrophages orchestrate breast cancer early dissemination and metastasis. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:21. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02481-5
- 160. Kaler P, Godasi BN, Augenlicht L, Klampfer L. The NF-kappaB/AKTdependent induction of Wnt signaling in colon cancer cells by macrophages and IL-1beta. *Cancer Microenviron.* (2009) 2:69–80. doi: 10.1007/s12307-009-0030-y
- 161. Ding J, Jin W, Chen C, Shao Z, Wu J. Tumor associated macrophage x cancer cell hybrids may acquire cancer stem cell properties in breast cancer. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e41942. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 41942
- 162. Liu CY, Xu JY, Shi XY, Huang W, Ruan TY, Xie P, et al. M2-polarized tumor-associated macrophages promoted epithelial-mesenchymal transition in pancreatic cancer cells, partially through TLR4/IL-10 signaling pathway. *Lab Invest.* (2013) 93:844–54. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2013.69
- 163. Che D, Zhang S, Jing Z, Shang L, Jin S, Liu F, et al. Macrophages induce EMT to promote invasion of lung cancer cells through the IL-6-mediated COX-2/PGE2/beta-catenin signalling pathway. *Mol Immunol.* (2017) 90:197– 210. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2017.06.018
- 164. Chen Y, Wen H, Zhou C, Su Q, Lin Y, Xie Y, et al. TNF-alpha derived from M2 tumor-associated macrophages promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition and cancer stemness through the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway in SMMC-7721 hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Exp Cell Res.* (2019) 378:41– 50. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2019.03.005
- 165. Su Y, Zhou Y, Sun YJ, Wang YL, Yin JY, Huang YJ, et al. Macrophagederived CCL18 promotes osteosarcoma proliferation and migration by upregulating the expression of UCA1. J Mol Med. (2019) 97:49– 61. doi: 10.1007/s00109-018-1711-0
- 166. Krishnamurthy N, Kurzrock R. Targeting the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway in cancer: Update on effectors and inhibitors. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2018) 62:50–60. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2017.11.002
- 167. Nishikawa K, Osawa Y, Kimura K. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling as a potential target for the treatment of liver cirrhosis using antifibrotic drugs. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2018) 19:E3103. doi: 10.3390/ijms19103103
- Boulter L, Govaere O, Bird TG, Radulescu S, Ramachandran P, Pellicoro A, et al. Macrophage-derived Wnt opposes Notch signaling to specify hepatic progenitor cell fate in chronic liver disease. *Nat Med.* (2012) 18:572– 9. doi: 10.1038/nm.2667

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Cosin-Roger, Ortiz-Masià and Barrachina. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## WNT/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway Regulating T Cell-Inflammation in the Tumor Microenvironment

Xin Li<sup>1,2†</sup>, Yanwei Xiang<sup>1†</sup>, Fulun Li<sup>1</sup>, Chengqian Yin<sup>3</sup>, Bin Li<sup>1,2</sup> and Xisong Ke<sup>1,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Dermatology, Yueyang Hospital of Integrated Traditional Chinese and Western Medicine, Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Shanghai, China, <sup>2</sup> Institute of Dermatology, Shanghai Academy of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Shanghai, China, <sup>3</sup> Department of Pharmacology & Experimental Therapeutics, Boston University School of Medicine, Boston, MA, United States, <sup>4</sup> Center for Chemical Biology, Institute of Interdisciplinary Integrative Medicine Research, Shanghai University of Traditional Chinese Medicine, Shanghai, China

Immunotherapy with checkpoint inhibitors has greatly prolonged the overall survival of cancer patients in melanoma and many other cancer types. However, only a subset of patients shows clinical responses from these interventions, which was predicated by the T cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment. T cell-inflamed phenotype is characterized by the infiltration of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, CD8 $\alpha$ /CD103-lineage dendritic cells (DCs), as well as high density of forkhead box P3 (FoxP3)<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells (Tregs) that are associated with the efficacy of immune checkpoint blockade. A number of regulators has been associated with T cell-inflammation in the tumor microenvironment, and WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling is one of the best characterized. The tumor-intrinsic WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling activation is frequently associated with poor spontaneous T cell infiltration across most human cancers. In this article, we review the essential roles of WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling in the T cell-inflamed and non-T cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment, including the development and function of immune cells, activation of immune exclusion of tumor cells, and cancer immunosurveillance. We also discuss the impact of this pathway in driving the non-T cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment in other tumor types. To improve immunotherapy efficacy, we argue that targeting Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling should be a high priority for combinational cancer therapy to restore T cell infiltration.

Keywords: WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway, T cell-inflammation, tumor microenvironment, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, immune exclusion, immunotherapy

## INTRODUCTION

Immunotherapy with immune checkpoint inhibitors (ICIs) is now common for melanoma and many other cancer types (1). An important property of the immune system is to distinguish "foreign" cells from normal cells in the body, which allows the body to attack foreign cells while retaining normal cells. Therefore, it uses "checkpoints"; specifically, molecules on certain immune cells need to be activated (or inactivated) to initiate an immune response (2). As a checkpoint protein on T cells, programmed death-1 (PD-1) normally acts as a type of "off switch" to ensure that T cells do not target other cells in the body (3). Upon binding to PD-L1, which is a ligand protein expressed by some normal (and cancer) cells, it signals T cells to abstain from attacking. Antibodies that target either PD-1 or PD-L1 block this binding and boost the immune response against cancer cells (2). The therapeutic targeting of this axis has shown impressive

### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Antje Blumenthal, University of Queensland, Australia

#### Reviewed by:

Fotini Gounari, University of Chicago, United States Amorette Barber, Longwood University, United States

> \*Correspondence: Xisong Ke xisongke@shutcm.edu.cn

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 30 May 2019 Accepted: 11 September 2019 Published: 26 September 2019

#### Citation:

Li X, Xiang Y, Li F, Yin C, Li B and Ke X (2019) WNT/β-Catenin Signaling Pathway Regulating T Cell-Inflammation in the Tumor Microenvironment. Front. Immunol. 10:2293. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02293 activity in various tumors including melanoma of the skin, non-small cell lung cancer, head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, renal cell carcinoma, urothelial carcinoma, Hodgkin lymphoma, Merkel cell carcinoma, and microsatellite unstable or mismatch repair-deficient tumors (2). CTLA-4 is another type of checkpoint inhibitor, and monoclonal antibodies that target this marker can also boost the body's immune response against cancer cells (4). For ICIs, and especially CTLA-4 antibodies, one concern is their side effects in some patients as they permit the immune system to attack some normal organs in the body (4).

Despite improvements in clinical outcomes, only the minority of patients responds to ICIs (5). In patients susceptible to immunotherapy, an active immune response is usually observed prior to treatment, which is characterized by infiltrating antigenspecific T cells (6). This phenotype has been described as a T cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment (TME) and can be used to predict responding and non-responding tumors (7). The TME is the environment surrounding the tumor and consists of peripheral blood vessels, immune cells, fibroblasts, signaling molecules, and extracellular matrix (8). Tumors are closely related to the surrounding microenvironment and interact with it continually. Specifically, by releasing extracellular signals, promoting tumor angiogenesis, and inducing peripheral immune tolerance, tumors can affect the microenvironment; in turn, the growth and evolution of cancer cells are also affected by immune cells in the microenvironment (9). In the TME, chemokines support the influx of CD8<sup>+</sup> effector T cells, which subsequently are functionally inhibited by PD-L1, IDO, Treg cells, and anergy. The development of TME is promoted in part by type I interferon signaling and the CD8a<sup>+</sup> dendritic cell (DC) lineage (10). In normal tissue microenvironments, chemokine expression is poor and T cell infiltration is lacking, and this is also associated with the minimal presence of defined immune inhibitory pathways (11). In non-T cell inflammatory tumors, T cell inflammatory gene expression is significantly lower than that in matched normal tissues, which is associated with the loss of the native immune phenotype (6). Notably, a recent TCGA database study found that most tumor types are inversely associated with a T-cell-inflamed gene expression signature, and that WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway activation is one potential causal pathway (6).

A correlation between WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling and the T-cell-inflamed TME has been established (6). Moreover, identification of molecular factors associated with non-T cell-inflamed TME is important for the development of combinational immunotherapy regimens. Mechanistic studies based on genetically-engineered mice have also shown that activation of tumor cell-intrinsic  $\beta$ -catenin prevents spontaneous T-cell priming and infiltration into the TME, rendering cells resistant to combinational ICI therapy (12, 13). Thus, pharmacologically targeting the WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway could potentially improve the efficacy of immunotherapy.

Here, we review the mechanisms wherein WNT signaling interrupts immune functions in the T cell-inflamed and non-T cell-inflamed TME, including the development and function of immune cells, activation of immune exclusion in tumor cells, and cancer immunosurveillance. We also discuss the therapeutic potential of harnessing currently available WNT modulators to augment cancer immunotherapy.

## CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY AND THE TME

The T cell-inflamed subset of tumors is dominated by T cell markers and chemokines, which might mediate effector T cell recruitment (14-16). The expression of chemokines C-C motif chemokine ligand (CCL) 2, CCL3, CCL4, CCL5, C-X-C motif chemokine ligand (CXCL) 9, and CXCL10 is associated with the infiltration of T cells, and each of these chemokines is sufficient to recruit CD8<sup>+</sup> effector T cells in vitro (16). Previous studies have confirmed that the T cell-inflamed subset contains variable numbers of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and CD8a/CD103-lineage DCs, but also possesses the highest density of FoxP3<sup>+</sup> regulatory T cells (Tregs) (16). Additionally, many conventional T cells have a dysfunctional anergic phenotype. It has been found that CXCR3binding chemokines (such as CXCL9 and CXCL10) are critical and essential for the recruitment of activated CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells to tumor sites (17). As a major driver of Treg recruitment, CCL22 is partially produced by activated  $CD8^+$  T cells (18). Despite the presence of specific adaptive immunity in this subset of patients, the cause of tumor progression is likely secondary to immunosuppressive mechanisms that act to some extent in the TME (19). Furthermore, T cell dysfunction in the TME is antigen-specific and restricted to tumor reactive T cells (19).

In contrast, T cell markers and chemokines that mediate T cell recruitment in the non-T cell-inflamed TME are lacking. Macrophages, vascular endothelial cells, fibroblasts, extracellular matrices, and immature DCs in some cases are still present in these tumors (20–24). Moreover, both the priming and effector phases of the anti-tumor immune response are deficient in non-T cell inflammatory tumors (19). Effector T cell trafficking into the TME is complex and dependent on adhesion molecules and homing receptors on vascular endothelial cells, consistent with the fact that chemokines are produced by tumor cells and stromal cells within the TME (19). In most cases, this process is necessary for the clinical response of immunotherapy.

The T cell-inflamed phenotype is associated with the efficacy of immune checkpoint blockade, whereas non-T cellinflamed tumors rarely benefit. Recently, a series of studies has linked alterations in WNT signaling to oncogenesis, disease progression, and resistance to treatment in the TME (25, 26). Furthermore, dysregulated WNT signaling supports malignant transformation and disease progression through a variety of mechanisms in the TME (27). The high expression of specific immune cell genes in the TME, known as the T-cell-inflamed phenotype, has been associated with response to multiple immunotherapies including therapeutic vaccines and checkpoint blocking antibodies (11, 15, 16, 28-31). In contrast, the non-T-cell-inflamed TME appears to be closely related to a lack of clinical benefit from immunotherapy, particularly in relation to anti-PD-1 antibodies (30, 31). Despite a variety of molecular mechanisms that could be theoretically detrimental to the Tcell-inflamed microenvironment, several studies have indicated

that oncogenic molecular aberrations are sufficient to drive the immune exclusion phenotype in some cases (6). In a study using a genetically-engineered mouse model, tumor cell-intrinsic WNT/β-catenin signaling in melanoma was found to be the first somatic alteration associated with the non-T-cell-inflamed TME in patients (13). In addition, the transcriptional repression of key chemokine genes leads to a lack of basic leucine zipper ATF-like transcription factor 3 (Batf3)-lineage DC recruitment, and the subsequent failure to prime and recruit CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells appears to be involved in this effect (12, 13). This effect is dominant in the TME and results in decreased pre-clinical efficacy for checkpoint blockade, tumor antigen vaccination, and adoptive T-cell transfer immunotherapy approaches (12, 13). In addition, blocking the  $\beta$ -catenin pathway enhances the influx of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and increases IFNy-related gene targets in syngeneic murine models of B16F10 melanoma, 4T1 mammary carcinoma, Neuro2A neuroblastoma, and Renca renal adenocarcinoma (32). Therefore, strategies to overcome barriers that restrict T cell migration into tumor sites might ultimately promote immunotherapy efficacy in non-T cell-inflamed tumors. The Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway could thus represent a high-priority target for combinational cancer immunotherapy.

## WNT/β-CATENIN SIGNALING AND THE DEVELOPMENT AND FUNCTION OF IMMUNE CELLS

The WNT signaling pathway is highly conserved between species and has been shown to play an important role in controlling multiple developmental processes including asymmetric cell division, stem cell pluripotency, and cell fate specification (33, 34). In addition to the importance of WNT signaling in stem cells and hematopoiesis, its role in the development of T lymphocytes in the thymus is indispensable (35).

T cell factor (TCF), the effector transcription factor of the WNT signaling pathway, was named for its indispensable role in T cell development and proliferation in the thymus (36). The TCF family consists of four members, specifically TCF-1 (encoded by the *TCF-7* gene), TCF-3, TCF-4, and LEF-1 (37, 38). TCF/LEF transcription factors are the major end-point mediators of Wnt signaling throughout metazoans. Although there are other transcription factors that can bind  $\beta$ -catenin and activate transcription, TCFs are major nuclear effector molecules of this pathway (39).

## Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling and CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cells

CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are key effectors of the tumor-immune cycle. In the tumor immune system, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are activated by DCs and co-stimulatory molecules, and then infiltrate into the tumor site to kill target cancer cells (40). By preventing the infiltration of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells during tumor progression, tumor cells evade immune elimination, excluding or inactivating CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (41). Owing to prolonged antigen exposure and the suppressive TME, tumor-infiltrating CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells affect the progressive loss of effector functions (42). Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling is essential for T cell differentiation, effector functions, and migration (43). The activation of TCF-1/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling can result in stem cell-like phenotypes resulting in the formation of memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells or differentiation into a Tfh cell-like gene expression profile *in vivo* (44). Naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells differentiate into effector T cells and kill tumor cells in the tumor-immune cycle (45). Moreover, the activation and maintenance of memory T cells is indispensable to maintain anti-tumor immunity. It has been confirmed that Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling and TCF1 are highly activated and expressed in undifferentiated CD8<sup>+</sup> T and memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, and that TCF1 is downregulated when naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells differentiate into effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (46).

Collectively, the differentiation of naïve CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells into CD8<sup>+</sup> T effector cells is inhibited, the development of memory precursor and central memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells is promoted, and expansion is stimulated by TCF-1 (**Figure 1**). However, the requirement for  $\beta$ -catenin in memory T cell functions, as a coactivator of TCF-1, remains controversial.

## Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling and CD4<sup>+</sup> T Cells

WNT/β-catenin signaling also regulates the differentiation of CD4<sup>+</sup> helper T (T<sub>H</sub>) cells. TCF-1 and  $\beta$ -catenin support Th2 polarization through activation of the expression of the Th2 master transcription factor GATA binding protein 3 (GATA3) via a special AT-rich sequence binding protein-1 (SATB1), which is a chromatin organizer that plays pivotal roles in T cell development (47, 48). A subsequent study confirmed that the sustained activation of  $\beta$ -catenin in mouse CD4<sup>+</sup> thymocytes results in the up-regulation of RAR related orphan receptor C (RARC) and consequent Th17 polarization, ultimately resulting in the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines that favor tumorigenesis (49). Another recent study suggested that Wnt10b regulates type 2 inflammation and the activation of Th2 cells, since Wnt10b deficiency was found to exacerbate house dust mite-induced asthma in mice (50). In addition, the selective ablation of TCF-1 or LEF-1 via two plausible mechanisms leads to Tfh deficiency in the LCMV acute infection model (51).

Overall, the differentiation of naïve  $CD4^+$  T cells into Th1 and Th17 cells is inhibited, whereas differentiation into Th2 and Tfh subsets is promoted, by TCF-1. Further, unlike the effects of TCF-1, all types of T cell differentiation and function are enhanced by the expression of  $\beta$ -catenin (**Figure 1**).

## Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling and FoxP3<sup>+</sup> T Cells (Tregs)

It is been shown that the infiltration of Treg cells into the TME results in inhibition of the anti-tumor immune response (41). Treg cells are recruited into the TME by chemokines (such as CCL-28) secreted by tumor cells and innate immune cells (52). Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling limits the immunosuppressive activity of those cells by modulating the TCF-1-dependent inhibition of FoxP3 transcriptional activity (53). Production of the negative immunomodulators Foxp3, TGF $\beta$ , and IL-10 can be reduced by blocking the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway in Treg cells (54). Further, if wild-type Treg cells are inactivated, the functional integrity of Tregs will be ensured by the direct activation of genes encoding PD-1 and GITR to increase  $\beta$ -catenin expression, whereas  $\beta$ -catenin levels are reduced and



**FIGURE 1** | Role of Wnt Proteins in T cells. (i) The differentiation of naïve CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells into CD8<sup>+</sup> T effector cells is inhibited, the development of memory precursor and central memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells is promoted, and the expansion is stimulated by TCF-1. Naïve CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are resistant to becoming CD8 effector T cells if they are TCF-1<sup>low</sup> cells become active IFN- $\gamma^+$  T-bet<sup>+</sup> effector T cells. WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin-mediated activation of effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells can stimulate the transcription of TCF-1, which inhibits type I IFN-mediated cell exhaustion. (ii) The differentiation of naïve CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells into Th1 and Th17 cells is inhibited and differentiation into Th2 and Tfh subsets is promoted by TCF-1. Unlike TCF-1, all types of T cell differentiation and function are enhanced by the expression of  $\beta$ -catenin. The transcription of TCF-1 is inhibited by T-bet, which is the Th1 hallmark transcription factor, thus preventing the inhibition of T-bet-mediated transcription of IFN- $\gamma$ . Beta-catenin activation enhances memory Th1 cell formation. In Th2 cells, the transcription of GATA-binding protein-3 (GATA-3) can be induced by  $\beta$ -catenin. CaTA-3 stimulates the expression of IL-4, which can bind IL-4R and suppress transcription of TGF-1 in a important effect on Th17 differentiation. Upon  $\beta$ -catenin activation, RORyt transcription can be increased by TCF-1 directly. TCF-1 promotes Tfh differentiation by increasing Bcl-6 expression and inhibiting the transcription of Blimp-1 and IL2RA. (iii) TCF-1 inhibits the Treg cell-mediated suppression of effector T cell (Teff) proliferation. In the expression of various transcriptional targets shared by Foxp3 and TCF-1. TCF-1, T-cell factor 1; IFN- $\gamma$ , interferon gamma; GATA3, GATA binding protein 3; IL-4, interleukin 4; TGF $\beta$ RII, transforming growth factor beta receptor I; TGF $\beta$ RII, transforming growth factor beta receptor II; TGF $\beta$ RII, transforming growth factor beta receptor III; Blimp-1, B lymphocyte-induced maturation protein-1; IL2RA, interleukin 2 receptor al

Treg-mediated immune suppression is impaired by liver kinase B1 (LKB1) deletion (55).

In summary, TCF-1 inhibits the Treg cell-mediated suppression of effector T cell proliferation. When

WNT is present, TCF-1 activity is prioritized over Foxp3, which results in the expression of various transcriptional targets shared by Foxp3 and TCF-1 (**Figure 1**).

liet al

## Wnt/ $\beta$ -Catenin Signaling and CD8 $\alpha$ /CD103-Lineage DCs

The TME regulates DCs through a variety of mechanisms, inhibiting their ability to induce anti-tumor responses. It has been confirmed that the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway plays a critical role in crosstalk between tumor cells and DCs within the TME (56). Upon conditional knockout of the Wnt co-receptors LRP5 and LRP6 on DCs, DC-mediated anti-tumor immunity is enhanced, ultimately resulting in delayed tumor growth (57). The recruitment of T cells and DCs into solid tumors is inhibited by  $\beta$ -catenin signaling in melanoma cells (13). In tumor-bearing mouse studies, the activation of  $\beta$ -catenin in DCs resulted in more tolerogenic phenotypes than those mediated by the DC vaccine-induced cross-priming inhibition of anti-tumor CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells by IL-10 (58). Furthermore, it has been demonstrated that melanoma induces DC-mediated tolerance to inhibit the efficacy of immunotherapy via Wnt5a-mediated mechanisms in mice (59). Notably, DC-specific β-catenin ablation was found to improve anti-PD-1 immunotherapy efficacy in a syngeneic tumor model (59). In antitumor immunotherapy, DCs are crucial subsets that can modulate T cell responses, and studies have summarized the potential to therapeutically target the Wnt pathway in DCs.

The role of the Wnt- $\beta$ -catenin pathway might be related to the generation of tolerogenic DCs. However, caution is needed before concluding that the Wnt pathway plays a major role in DC function.

## WNT Signaling and Immune Exclusion in the TME

Understanding the mechanisms of T cell exclusion in the TME is critical to improve cancer immunotherapy. The Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway has been identified as one of the most important oncogenic signaling pathways associated with immune evasion (58, 60). The pan-cancer association between WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling and immune exclusion was previously confirmed by analyzing activated WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling based on somatic mutations, copy number alterations, gene expression, and reverse-phase protein arrays (6). In addition to WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling, other oncogenic events can also contribute to immune exclusion (19, 61). Accordingly, complex interactions among multiple oncogenic events are coupled to mediate more potent immune exclusion in some tumors, such as colorectal cancer, which exhibits the concurrent activation of WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin, MYC, and RAS (62–64).

Mutations in Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin lead to a non-T cell inflammatory tumor phenotype and might be a biomarker to predict resistance to immunotherapy with ICIs in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (65). Activation of  $\beta$ -catenin reduces T cell infiltrations, increases progression in immunocompetent hosts, and suppresses ICIs in a mouse model of hepatocarcinogenesis (66). The Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway is also involved in the regulation of innate immunity, such as DCs (67). One study detected an association between activation of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling and the loss of T cell gene expression in human metastatic melanoma (13). Beta-catenin activation occurs in 48% of non-T cell inflammatory melanomas (6), and thus, other oncogenic pathways likely contribute to immune exclusion in the remainder of these tumors. Tumor-cell intrinsic activation of the WNT/β-catenin pathway is associated with a lack of T cells in the microenvironment of metastatic melanoma and other cancer types (68). Beta-catenin induces expression of the transcriptional repressor ATF3 and inhibits the transcription of CCL4 in mouse models (69). Furthermore, the defective production of CCL4 results in the impaired infiltration and activation of Batf3-lineage CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs, reduced CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell priming and infiltration, and a subsequent lack of responses to immune checkpoint blockade (69). In the absence of active β-catenin signaling, the normal production of CCL4 was found to be restored, resulting in CD103<sup>+</sup> DC activation and the infiltration and proficient priming of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (69). Wnt/βcatenin signaling within intestinal DCs regulates the balance between inflammatory and regulatory responses in the gut (69). In intestinal DCs,  $\beta$ -catenin was found to be associated with anti-inflammatory mediators, such as retinoic acid-metabolizing enzymes, IL-10, and transforming growth factor- $\beta$ , as well as Treg-induced stimulation (70).

It has also been shown that Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling is involved in crosstalk between cancer cells and tumor-associated macrophages. One study demonstrated that interleukin-1 $\beta$ , secreted by tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), might increase the availability of  $\beta$ -catenin via the phosphorylation of GSK3 $\beta$  in colon cancer cells, thereby disrupting the function of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex (71). Colorectal cancer cells stimulate IL- $\beta$  production in macrophages via Snail, which is a soluble factor and product of Wnt target genes (72).

In summary, the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway mediates immune exclusion via three mechanisms as follows: (i) inhibiting the production of CCL4 in Batf3-lineage CD103<sup>+</sup> DCs through induction of the expression of the transcriptional repressor ATF3, which in turn reduces the initiation and infiltration of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells; (ii) increasing the interaction between Snail (a soluble factor and product of a Wnt-regulated gene) and TAMs, which in turn increases  $\beta$ -catenin activity via IL-1 $\beta$ ; (iii) enhancing Treg survival (**Figure 2**).

## WNT SIGNALING AND IMMUNOSURVEILLANCE IN THE TME

It has been widely accepted that WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling affects cancer immunosurveillance across cancer types (27). By modulating various aspects of tumor-immune cell interactions including the immunogenicity of cancer cells and the ability of immune cells, such as DCs, natural killer (NK) cells, Treg cells, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), and cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) to elicit effective tumor-targeting immune responses, it has been discovered that WNT signaling positively or negatively affects anticancer immunosurveillance (**Figure 3**).

Tumor-intrinsic WNT/beta-catenin signaling affects the immunogenicity of carcinoma cells. Several components of the WNT signal transduction cascade that are overexpressed in carcinoma cells as tumor-associated antigens can be recognized


by the immune system (74). Moreover, it has been confirmed that WNT signaling is a major regulator of tumor immune tolerance. Active forms of  $\beta$ -catenin promote immune evasion and resistance to immunotherapy with anti-PD-1, which was found to involve the deficient recruitment of DCs and impaired T cell activity in a novel mouse model of HCC (75). A previous study showed that tumor-induced  $\beta$ -catenin signaling plays a role in DCs, resulting in inhibition of the DC-dependent cross-sensitization of anti-tumor CTLs and infiltrating immune effector cells into a tolerant state (76).

The accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin in human melanoma cells or DCs leads to the expression of IL-10, which diminishes the capacity of DCs to cross-prime CD8<sup>+</sup> CTLs (77). In melanomas, canonical or non-canonical WNT signaling also limits antitumor immunity in DCs, which is associated with metabolic immunosuppression by IDO1 (78). This indicates that the activation of this pathway in DCs is important to maintain clonal amplified antigen-specific CTLs, although most studies indicate that classical WNT signaling inhibits antitumor CTL cross-priming. These studies indicate that the role of WNT signaling in the regulation of anticancer responses during CTL activation is stage-dependent (27).

Excluding CTL infiltration into the TME is the prominent mechanism of WNT-mediated immunoevasion in multiple types of cancer. Therefore, the conditional expression of oncogenic Braf plus Pten deletion and the engineered expression of β-catenin in mouse melanomas results in cells that are unable to express CCL4, leading to DC recruitment defects (13). Due to the absence of CD103<sup>+</sup> DC-derived chemokines, such as CXCL9 and CXCL10, tumor infiltration by CTLs is prevented and antitumor immune responses are impaired (13). It is generally accepted that effector cell deficiency in the TME is associated with active classical WNT signaling, which is also the main cause of resistance to cancer immunotherapy (79). Actually, tumor-intrinsic, active β-catenin signaling in human melanoma causes resistance to monoclonal antibodies including anti-PD-L1and anti-CTLA4 via T cell exclusion (13). In the absence of WNT ligands, GSK3<sup>β</sup> mediates the phosphorylation-dependent proteasomal degradation of PD-L1 by B-TrCP, and tumor infiltration is ultimately increased by interferon-producing CTLs (80).

WNT signaling exerts significant anticancer effects. For example, limiting  $\beta$ -catenin signaling prevents carcinogenesis



**FIGURE 3** [Effect of WNT signaling on cancer immunosurveillance. (i) Activation of the WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway in cancer cells inhibits the secretion of CCL4 and recruits BATF3-dependent DCs to the TME. This causes a decrease in DC-derived CXCL10 levels and limits CD8<sup>+</sup> CTL infiltration, leading to defective cross-priming. WNT ligands released by cancer cells can induce the canonical WNT signaling pathway in DCs, leading to the increased secretion of IL-10, restricted production of IL-12, and up-regulation of indoleamine IDO1. This contributes to the production of Treg cells and the subsequent inhibition of CTL activity. The inhibition of GSK3 in cancer cells promotes  $\beta$ -catenin activation and subsequently stabilizes PD-L1, which drives CTL exhaustion upon interactions with PD-1. Canonical WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin in MDSCs inhibits their ability to accumulate and infiltrate into malignant lesions, leading to the increased recruitment of CTLs. (ii) DKK1 secreted by latent metastatic cells prevents NK cell-dependent cancer cell lysis, which is caused by the low expression of NKALs, which engage NKARs. GSK3 inhibition and  $\beta$ -catenin overexpression in NK cells lead to the up-regulation of transcription factors responsible for NK cell maturation, thereby stimulating the function of NK cells as effectors. (iii) Although the expression of  $\beta$ -catenin is beneficial for the survival of Treg cells. *in vitro*, the activation of TCF-1, downstream of canonical WNT signaling, blocks Foxp3 transcriptional functions and impairs the immunosuppressive activity of Treg cells. CTL, cytotoxic T cell; DKK1, Dickkopf WNT signaling pathway inhibitor 1; NKALs, NK cell activating ligands; NKARs, NK-cell-activating receptors; MDSCs, myeloid-derived suppressor cells; DC, dendritic cell; CCL4, C-C motif chemokine ligand 4; TCF, T cell factor; BATF3, basic leucine zipper ATF-Like transcription factor 3; GSK3, glycogen synthase kinase 3; PD-L1, programmed cell death ligand 1; NK, natural killer; IL-10, interleukin 10; IDO1, indoleamine 2,3-diox

and the accumulation of CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr-1<sup>+</sup> MDSCs (81). Betacatenin inhibits the downstream deletion of *Plcg2* (82), *Cul4b* (83), or *Mucl* (84), as well as the increased availability of DKK1 in the microenvironment (85), leading to MDSC amplification and recruitment into the TME, attenuating specific immune responses in different types of tumors. Quiescence in lung metastatic cancer cells is caused by autocrine DKK1, which leads to the downregulation of certain cell surface markers recognized by NK cells, allowing cancer cells to evade innate immunity (86).

In summary, cancer immunosurveillance is influenced by WNT signaling in a complex and context-dependent manner.

## WNT MODULATION FOR CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

The WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway should be a high-priority molecular target for new drug development, in an effort to restore T cell infiltration and potentially expand the efficacy of immunotherapy. Several specific inhibitors have been developed and have entered preclinical trials (**Table 1**); however, the activity of monotherapy has not been sufficient to warrant further advances to registered trials (87). Beta-catenin signaling is widely utilized by many cell types, and thus on-target, off-tumor effects limit the potential of therapeutics that target this protein. The immune evasive mechanisms of  $\beta$ catenin activation, including the inhibition of chemokines and cytokine gene expression by tumor cells (13), provide the opportunity to develop agents with more restricted activities that predominantly augment immunity while maintaining other essential cellular functions.

Over the past few years, a variety of agents that target main components or modulators of WNT signaling have been developed and used as tumor therapies. Different clinical trials listed in the National Library of Medicine database are testing the effectiveness and safety of these drugs, which have not been approved by the regulatory agencies for clinical use. At first, drug development focused on disrupting WNT-driven tumor growth, including monoclonal antibodies to frizzled class receptor (FZD) receptors (e.g., OMP-54F28, OMP-18R5) (88), porcupine O-acyltransferase (PORCN) inhibitors (e.g., WNT974, RXC004, ETC1922159) (89), AXIN1 activators (e.g., Niclosamide, XAV939) (90), and β-catenin inhibitor (e.g., PRI724, PKF115-584) (91). Even though the immunomodulatory effects of these drugs have been neglected for a long time, there is increasing evidence suggesting that WNT inhibitors can also help to reestablish anticancer immunity. For example, the β-catenin inhibitor PKF115-584 effectively stimulates DC suppression, leading to a robust therapeutic response (77). Furthermore, both IWP-L6 and XAV939 deplete Treg cells from the TME, thus achieving a therapeutically-relevant immune response in an animal model of melanoma and lymphoma (57, 92). Various mechanisms associated with the cancer immunomodulatory effects of WNT inhibitors are listed in Table 1.

The immunological context of the TME has an important effect on the clinical efficacy of cancer immunotherapy, including its composition, activation status, and localization (93). Actually, the inhibition of local or systemic immunosuppression is the target of immunotherapy that is used to restore CTL depletion and reinstate the immunological control of tumor growth (94). ICIs limit the capability of co-inhibitory receptors including PD-1 and CTLA4, which are used to establish CTL depletion. However, when CTLs are absent or unable to

infiltrate malignant cell niches, the efficacy of immunotherapy with ICIs is severely reduced (95). Since this phenotype is common in tumors that present with WNT activation, inhibitors of canonical WNT signaling can be combined with CTLA4-blocking mAbs to suppress the progression of melanoma in mice (78). Notably, molecular profiling of HCC has identified that patients with ICIs and activating alteration in WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling have lower disease control rates, shorter median progression-free survival, and shorter median overall survival (96). One recent study developed potent, selective inhibitors targeting the interaction of  $\beta$ -catenin/Bcl9, which overcome resistance to ICIs by modulating Treg cells (97).

The activation of anticancer immune responses largely determines the efficacy of several conventional therapeutic strategies for the treatment of cancer, including a variety of chemotherapeutics, radiation therapy, and some targeted anticancer agents (98). Different anticancer molecules, such as oxaliplatin and doxorubicin can result in a noticeable immunogenic variant of cell death to establish adaptive anticancer immunity (99). Further, it has been confirmed that WNT signaling limits the efficacy of multiple anticancer therapies in this manner (10). Accordingly, it has been found that efficient local Wnt5a trapping results in significant remodeling of the immunosuppressive TME and promotes immunogenic cell-death-mediated immunotherapy (10).

The activity of chemotherapy and immunotherapy with ICIs can be boosted by WNT inhibitors. Studies have shown that CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and CD4<sup>+</sup> T<sub>H</sub>17 cells can differentiate into stem-like cells with advantageous anticancer functions upon the intervention with GSK3 inhibitors (46, 100); they also stimulate NK cell-dependent anticancer immunity (86). The restoration of  $\beta$ -catenin expression in MDSCs and the use of an anti-DKK1 mAb also limit tumor growth by establishing a TME that is beneficial for immunocompetency (85). Therefore, based on the existing preclinical evidence, WNT activation can constitute a therapeutic target.

## **CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PROSPECTS**

This review highlights the role of WNT signaling in tumor initiation, malignant tumor progression, and resistance to therapeutics. In the context of combinatorial treatment regimens, a promising candidate WNT modulator, to improve the efficacy of various immunotherapeutic agents, is currently being validated in a variety of preclinical tumor models.

Many preclinical studies have demonstrated that the efficacy of ICIs is affected by WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling, which reduces the infiltration of CTLs into the TME. In contrast, the insensitivity of melanoma patients to immunotherapy with ICIs affects the expression levels of certain components of the WNT signaling cascade (3). In terms of the future

#### TABLE 1 | WNT inhibitors for cancer immunotherapy currently in clinical development.

Mechanism of action	Agent	Stage of clinical development	Status	Details	Trial phase; Identifier	
Anti-FZD7 antibody	OMP18R5	Phase 1	Completed	Metastatic breast cancer with locally recurrent or metastatic; in combination with paclitaxel	NCT01973309	
AXIN1 activator	Niclosamide	Phase 1	Recruiting	Colon cancer subjected to primary tumor resection	NCT02687009	
		Phase 1	Recruiting	Metastatic prostate carcinoma, recurrent prostate carcinoma, and stage IV prostate cancer	NCT03123978	
		Phase 2	Recruiting	Metachronous or synchronous metastases during colorectal cancer progression under standard therapy	NCT02519582	
AXIN1 activator	XAV939	Preclinical				
COX2 inhibitor	Celecoxib	Phase 2	Withdrawn	Breast carcinoma	NCT03185871	
DVL2 inhibitor; PORCN inhibitor	IWP-L6	Preclinical		Favors tumor infiltration by IFNG-producing CD4 $^+$ and CD8 $^+$ T cells; depletes intratumoral Treg cells		
FZD10-targeting ARC	OTSA101	Phase 1	Terminated	Doxorubicin and ifosfamide-refractory synovial sarcoma	NCT01469975	
FZD8-Fc Decoy receptor	OMP-54F28	Phase 1b	Completed	Locally advanced or metastatic hepatocellular cancer, in combination with sorafenib	NCT02069145	
·		Phase 1b	Completed	Recurrent platinum-sensitive ovarian cancer, in combination with paclitaxel and carboplatin	NCT02092363	
		Phase 1b	Completed	Untreated stage IV metastatic pancreatic cancer, in combination with gemcitabine and nab-paclitaxel	NCT02050178	
		Phase 1	Completed	Metastatic and unresectable refractory solid tumors	NCT01608867	
PORCN inhibitor	C59	Preclinical		Synergizes with CTLA4-targeting antibodies in mouse melanoma models		
PORCN inhibitor	ETC1922159	Phase 1a/1b	Active, not recruiting	Locally advanced or metastatic solid tumors	NCT02521844	
PORCN inhibitor	RXC004	Phase 1	Not yet recruiting	Advanced malignancy not considered appropriate for further conventional treatment	NCT03447470	
PORCN inhibitor	WNT974; LGK974	Phase 1/2	Completed	BRAF-mut mCRC and WNT pathway mutations; in combination with LGX818 and cetuximab	NCT02278133	
		Phase 2	Withdrawn	Metastatic head and neck squamous cell carcinoma	NCT02649530	
		Phase 1	Recruiting	Documented BRAF mut for mCRC and pancreatic cancer; tumors of any histological origin with documented genetic alterations upstream of Wnt signaling	NCT01351103	
Unclear	Artesunate	Phase 2	Recruiting	Single primary site colorectal adenocarcinoma or high-grade dysplasia plus unequivocal radiological evidence of invasive cancer	NCT02633098	
Unclear	SM08502	Phase 1	Recruiting	Advanced solid tumors who are refractory to or intolerant of established therapy	NCT03355066	
WNT decoy	OMP54F28	Phase 1	Completed	Solid tumor with metastasis or unresectable	NCT01608867	
WNT inhibitor	CGX1321	Phase 1	Recruiting	Locally advanced or metastatic solid tumors	NCT02675946	
		Phase 1	Recruiting	Advanced Gl tumors, such as colorectal adenocarcinoma, gastric adenocarcinoma, pancreatic adenocarcinoma, bile duct carcinoma, hepatocellular carcinoma, esophageal carcinoma	NCT03507998	
WNT5A inhibitor	WNT5A trap	Preclinical		Modulates the immunological tumor context; favors doxorubicin-driven immunogenic cell death		
β-Catenin inhibitor	PKF115-584	Preclinical		Restores CTL activation in vivo		
β-Catenin inhibitor	PRI724	Phase 1b	Completed	Advanced or metastatic pancreatic adenocarcinoma, in combination with gemcitabine in the second line of treatment	NCT01764477	
		Phase 1/2	Completed	Advanced myeloid malignancies	NCT01606579	
		Phase 2	Withdrawn	Advanced mCRC; in combination with mFOLFOX6 + bevacizumab, in the first line of treatment	NCT02413853	
		Phase 1a/1b	Terminated	Phase 1a: any advanced neoplasm; Phase 1b: only patients with mCRC	NCT01302405	

mCRC, metastatic colorectal cancer; ARC, antibody-radionuclide conjugate; COX2 (official name PTGS2), prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2; DVL2, disheveled segment polarity protein 2; FZD7, frizzled class receptor 7; PORCN, Porcupine O-Acyltransferase; CTLA-4, cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4; CTL, cytotoxic T lymphocyte.

direction, it is important to identify biomarkers associated with the non-T cell inflammatory tumor microenvironment. Although WNT modulators are in development for use in combination immunotherapy regimens for cancer, further preclinical and clinical studies are needed to confirm their utility.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

XK and XL conceived and wrote this manuscript. XL, YX, FL, CY, BL, and XK discussed the literature and contributed to the revision of the manuscript. CY contributed to the revision of the manuscript. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

## REFERENCES

- Wang B, Tian T, Kalland KH, Ke X, Qu Y. Targeting Wnt/beta-catenin signaling for cancer immunotherapy. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2018) 39:648– 58. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2018.03.008
- Ramos RN, Piaggio E, Romano E. Mechanisms of resistance to immune checkpoint antibodies. *Handb Exp Pharmacol.* (2018) 249:109–28. doi: 10.1007/164\_2017\_11
- Hugo W, Zaretsky JM, Sun L, Song C, Moreno BH, Hu-Lieskovan S, et al. Genomic and transcriptomic features of response to anti-PD-1 therapy in metastatic melanoma. *Cell.* (2016) 165:35–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.02.065
- Kobold S, Duewell P, Schnurr M, Subklewe M, Rothenfusser S, Endres S. Immunotherapy in tumors. *Dtsch Arztebl Int.* (2015) 112:809–15. doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2015.0809
- Tang H, Wang Y, Chlewicki LK, Zhang Y, Guo J, Liang W, et al. Facilitating T cell infiltration in tumor microenvironment overcomes resistance to PD-L1 blockade. *Cancer Cell*. (2016) 29:285–96. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2016.02.004
- Luke JJ, Bao R, Sweis RF, Spranger S, Gajewski TF. WNT/beta-catenin pathway activation correlates with immune exclusion across human cancers. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2019) 25:3074–83. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-18-1942
- Olson DJ, Luke JJ. The T-cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment as a paradigm for immunotherapy drug development. *Immunotherapy*. (2019) 11:155–9. doi: 10.2217/imt-2018-0171
- Joyce JA, Fearon DT. T cell exclusion, immune privilege, and the tumor microenvironment. *Science*. (2015) 348:74–80. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa6204
- Korneev KV, Atretkhany KN, Drutskaya MS, Grivennikov SI, Kuprash DV, Nedospasov SA. TLR-signaling and proinflammatory cytokines as drivers of tumorigenesis. *Cytokine*. (2017) 89:127–35. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2016.01.021
- Liu Q, Zhu H, Tiruthani K, Shen L, Chen F, Gao K, et al. Nanoparticlemediated trapping of Wnt family member 5A in tumor microenvironments enhances immunotherapy for B-Raf proto-oncogene mutant melanoma. ACS Nano. (2018) 12:1250–61. doi: 10.1021/acsnano.7b07384
- Gajewski TF, Schreiber H, Fu YX. Innate and adaptive immune cells in the tumor microenvironment. *Nature Immunol.* (2013) 14:1014–22. doi: 10.1038/ni.2703
- Spranger S, Dai D, Horton B, Gajewski TF. Tumor-residing Batf3 dendritic cells are required for effector T cell trafficking and adoptive T cell therapy. *Cancer Cell*. (2017) 31:711–23.e4. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.04.003
- Spranger S, Bao R, Gajewski TF. Melanoma-intrinsic beta-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. *Nature*. (2015) 523:231–5. doi: 10.1038/nature14404
- Ulloa-Montoya F, Louahed J, Dizier B, Gruselle O, Spiessens B, Lehmann FF, et al. Predictive gene signature in MAGE-A3 antigenspecific cancer immunotherapy. J Clin Oncol. (2013) 31:2388–95. doi: 10.1200/jco.2012.44.3762
- 15. Gajewski TF, Louahed J, Brichard VG. Gene signature in melanoma associated with clinical activity: a potential clue to

## FUNDING

This project was supported by a grant from the National Key Research and Development Program of China (no. 2018YFC1705301). It was also supported by the NSFC of China (no. 81874470, 81874319), Shanghai Development Office of TCM [nos. ZY(2018–2020)-FWTX-1008, ZY(2018–2020)-FWTX-4010], the Development Fund for Shanghai Talents (no. 2017047), Young Talent Supporting Program of the China Association of Traditional Chinese Medicine [no. CACM-2017-QNRC2-(B05)], and the Science and Technology Commission of Shanghai Municipality (18401933500), Shanghai Municipal Education Commission (2019-01-07-00-10-E00072).

unlock cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer J.* (2010) 16:399–403. doi: 10.1097/PPO.0b013e3181eacbd8

- Harlin H, Meng Y, Peterson AC, Zha Y, Tretiakova M, Slingluff C, et al. Chemokine expression in melanoma metastases associated with CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell recruitment. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:3077–85. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-08-2281
- Mikucki ME, Fisher DT, Matsuzaki J, Skitzki JJ, Gaulin NB, Muhitch JB, et al. Non-redundant requirement for CXCR3 signalling during tumoricidal T-cell trafficking across tumour vascular checkpoints. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:7458. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8458
- Martinenaite E, Munir Ahmad S, Hansen M, Met Ö, Westergaard MW, Larsen SK, et al. CCL22-specific T cells: modulating the immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. *Oncoimmunology.* (2016) 5:e1238541. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016. 1238541
- Gajewski TF, Corrales L, Williams J, Horton B, Sivan A, Spranger S. Cancer immunotherapy targets based on understanding the T cell-inflamed versus non-T cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (2017) 1036:19–31. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-67577-0\_2
- Demoulin S, Herfs M, Delvenne P, Hubert P. Tumor microenvironment converts plasmacytoid dendritic cells into immunosuppressive/tolerogenic cells: insight into the molecular mechanisms. *J Leuk Biol.* (2013) 93:343–52. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0812397
- Salmon H, Franciszkiewicz K, Damotte D, Dieu-Nosjean MC, Validire P, Trautmann A, et al. Matrix architecture defines the preferential localization and migration of T cells into the stroma of human lung tumors. *J Clin Invest.* (2012) 122:899–910. doi: 10.1172/jci45817
- Watkins SK, Zhu Z, Riboldi E, Shafer-Weaver KA, Stagliano KE, Sklavos MM, et al. FOXO3 programs tumor-associated DCs to become tolerogenic in human and murine prostate cancer. *J Clin Invest.* (2011) 121:1361–72. doi: 10.1172/jci44325
- Kraman M, Bambrough PJ, Arnold JN, Roberts EW, Magiera L, Jones JO, et al. Suppression of antitumor immunity by stromal cells expressing fibroblast activation protein-alpha. *Science.* (2010) 330:827–30. doi: 10.1126/science.1195300
- Buckanovich RJ, Facciabene A, Kim S, Benencia F, Sasaroli D, Balint K, et al. Endothelin B receptor mediates the endothelial barrier to T cell homing to tumors and disables immune therapy. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:28–36. doi: 10.1038/nm1699
- Murillo-Garzon V, Kypta R. WNT signalling in prostate cancer. Nat Rev Urol. (2017) 14:683–96. doi: 10.1038/nrurol.2017.144
- Gagnaire A, Nadel B, Raoult D, Neefjes J, Gorvel JP. Collateral damage: insights into bacterial mechanisms that predispose host cells to cancer. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2017) 15:109–28. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2016.171
- Galluzzi L, Spranger S, Fuchs E, Lopez-Soto A. WNT signaling in cancer immunosurveillance. *Trends Cell Biol.* (2019) 29:44–65. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2018.08.005

- Topalian SL, Hodi FS, Brahmer JR, Gettinger SN, Smith DC, McDermott DF, et al. Safety, activity, and immune correlates of anti-PD-1 antibody in cancer. *N Engl J Med.* (2012) 366:2443–54. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1200690
- Gajewski TF, Woo SR, Zha Y, Spaapen R, Zheng Y, Corrales L, et al. Cancer immunotherapy strategies based on overcoming barriers within the tumor microenvironment. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2013) 25:268–76. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2013.02.009
- Ayers M, Lunceford J, Nebozhyn M, Murphy E, Loboda A, Kaufman DR, et al. IFN-gamma-related mRNA profile predicts clinical response to PD-1 blockade. *J Clin Invest.* (2017) 127:2930–40. doi: 10.1172/jci 91190
- Ji RR, Chasalow SD, Wang L, Hamid O, Schmidt H, Cogswell J, et al. An immune-active tumor microenvironment favors clinical response to ipilimumab. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2012) 61:1019–31. doi: 10.1007/s00262-011-1172-6
- 32. Ganesh S, Shui X, Craig KP, Park J, Wang W, Brown BD, et al. RNAimediated beta-catenin inhibition promotes T cell infiltration and antitumor activity in combination with immune checkpoint blockade. *Mol Ther.* (2018) 26:2567–79. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2018.09.005
- Kim W, Kim M, Jho EH. Wnt/beta-catenin signalling: from plasma membrane to nucleus. *Biochem J.* (2013) 450:9–21. doi: 10.1042/bj20121284
- Staal FJ, Luis TC, Tiemessen MM. WNT signalling in the immune system: WNT is spreading its wings. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2008) 8:581–93. doi: 10.1038/nri2360
- Zhu P, Zhu X, Wu J, He L, Lu T, Wang Y, et al. IL-13 secreted by ILC2s promotes the self-renewal of intestinal stem cells through circular RNA circPan3. Nat Immunol. (2019) 20:183–94. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0297-6
- Verbeek S, Izon D, Hofhuis F, Robanus-Maandag E, te Riele H, van de Wetering M, et al. An HMG-box-containing T-cell factor required for thymocyte differentiation. *Nature*. (1995) 374:70–4. doi: 10.1038/374070a0
- van Beest M, Dooijes D, van De Wetering M, Kjaerulff S, Bonvin A, Nielsen O, et al. Sequence-specific high mobility group box factors recognize 10-12-base pair minor groove motifs. J Biol Chem. (2000) 275:27266–73. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M004102200
- van de Wetering M, Cavallo R, Dooijes D, van Beest M, van Es J, Loureiro J, et al. Armadillo coactivates transcription driven by the product of the Drosophila segment polarity gene dTCF. *Cell.* (1997) 88:789–99.
- Cadigan KM, Waterman ML. TCF/LEFs and Wnt signaling in the nucleus. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2012) 4:a007906. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a007906
- Diamond MS, Kinder M, Matsushita H, Mashayekhi M, Dunn GP, Archambault JM, et al. Type I interferon is selectively required by dendritic cells for immune rejection of tumors. *J Exp Med.* (2011) 208:1989–2003. doi: 10.1084/jem.20101158
- Sharma P, Hu-Lieskovan S, Wargo JA, Ribas A. Primary, adaptive, and acquired resistance to cancer immunotherapy. *Cell.* (2017) 168:707–23. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.01.017
- Ma X, Bi E, Lu Y, Su P, Huang C, Liu L, et al. Cholesterol induces CD8(+) T cell exhaustion in the tumor microenvironment. *Cell Metab.* (2019) 30:143– 56.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2019.04.002
- Gattinoni L, Ji Y, Restifo NP. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in T-cell immunity and cancer immunotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2010) 16:4695–701. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0356
- Ma J, Wang R, Fang X, Sun Z. β-catenin/TCF-1 pathway in T cell development and differentiation. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol. (2012) 7:750– 62. doi: 10.1007/s11481-012-9367-y
- Chen DS, Mellman I. Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle. *Immunity*. (2013) 39:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.012
- Gattinoni L, Zhong XS, Palmer DC, Ji Y, Hinrichs CS, Yu Z, et al. Wnt signaling arrests effector T cell differentiation and generates CD8<sup>+</sup> memory stem cells. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:808–13. doi: 10.1038/nm.1982
- Notani D, Gottimukkala KP, Jayani RS, Limaye AS, Damle MV, Mehta S, et al. Global regulator SATB1 recruits beta-catenin and regulates T(H)2 differentiation in Wnt-dependent manner. *PLoS Biol.* (2010) 8:e1000296. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.1000296
- 48. Yu Q, Sharma A, Oh SY, Moon HG, Hossain MZ, Salay TM, et al. T cell factor 1 initiates the T helper type 2 fate by inducing the transcription factor

GATA-3 and repressing interferon-gamma. *Nat Immunol.* (2009) 10:992–9. doi: 10.1038/ni.1762

- Keerthivasan S, Aghajani K, Dose M, Molinero L, Khan MW, Venkateswaran V, et al. Beta-catenin promotes colitis and colon cancer through imprinting of proinflammatory properties in T cells. *Sci Transl Med.* (2014) 6:225ra28. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3007607
- Trischler J, Shiomi T, Turner DL, Sklepkiewicz PL, Goldklang MP, Tanaka KF, et al. Immune Modulation of the T Cell Response in Asthma through Wnt10b. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2016) 54:584–93. doi: 10.1165/rcmb.2014-0425OC
- Choi YS, Gullicksrud JA, Xing S, Zeng Z, Shan Q, Li F, et al. LEF-1 and TCF-1 orchestrate T(FH) differentiation by regulating differentiation circuits upstream of the transcriptional repressor Bcl6. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:980–90. doi: 10.1038/ni.3226
- Chaudhary B, Elkord E. Regulatory T cells in the tumor microenvironment and cancer progression: role and therapeutic targeting. *Vaccines*. (2016) 4:E28. doi: 10.3390/vaccines4030028
- van Loosdregt J, Fleskens V, Tiemessen MM, Mokry M, van Boxtel R, Meerding J, et al. Canonical Wnt signaling negatively modulates regulatory T cell function. *Immunity*. (2013) 39:298–310. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.019
- Dai W, Liu F, Li C, Lu Y, Lu X, Du S, et al. Blockade of Wnt/betacatenin pathway aggravated silica-induced lung inflammation through Tregs regulation on Th immune responses. *Mediat Inflamm.* (2016) 2016:6235614. doi: 10.1155/2016/6235614
- Yang K, Blanco DB, Neale G, Vogel P, Avila J, Clish CB, et al. Homeostatic control of metabolic and functional fitness of Treg cells by LKB1 signalling. *Nature*. (2017) 548:602–6. doi: 10.1038/nature23665
- Hansen M, Andersen MH. The role of dendritic cells in cancer. Semin Immunopathol. (2017) 39:307–16. doi: 10.1007/s00281-016-0592-y
- Hong Y, Manoharan I, Suryawanshi A, Majumdar T, Angus-Hill ML, Koni PA, et al. beta-catenin promotes regulatory T-cell responses in tumors by inducing vitamin A metabolism in dendritic cells. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:656–65. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-14-2377
- Fu C, Liang X, Cui W, Ober-Blobaum JL, Vazzana J, Shrikant PA, et al. Beta-catenin in dendritic cells exerts opposite functions in cross-priming and maintenance of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells through regulation of IL-10. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2015) 112:2823–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1414167112
- Zhao F, Xiao C, Evans KS, Theivanthiran T, DeVito N, Holtzhausen A, et al. Paracrine Wnt5a-beta-catenin signaling triggers a metabolic program that drives dendritic cell tolerization. *Immunity*. (2018) 48:147–60.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.12.004
- Spranger S, Gajewski TF. A new paradigm for tumor immune escape: β-catenin-driven immune exclusion. J Immunother Cancer. (2015) 3:43. doi: 10.1186/s40425-015-0089-6
- Spranger S, Gajewski TF. Impact of oncogenic pathways on evasion of antitumour immune responses. *Nat Rev Cancer.* (2018) 18:139–47. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2017.117
- 62. Lal N, White BS, Goussous G, Pickles O, Mason MJ, Beggs AD, et al. KRAS mutation and consensus molecular subtypes 2 and 3 are independently associated with reduced immune infiltration and reactivity in colorectal cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:224–33. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-17-1090
- Grasso CS, Giannakis M, Wells DK, Hamada T, Mu XJ, Quist M, et al. Genetic mechanisms of immune evasion in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Discov.* (2018) 8:730–49. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.cd-17-1327
- Guinney J, Dienstmann R, Wang X, de Reynies A, Schlicker A, Soneson C, et al. The consensus molecular subtypes of colorectal cancer. *Nat Med.* (2015) 21:1350–6. doi: 10.1038/nm.3967
- Pinyol R, Sia D, Llovet JM. Immune exclusion-Wnt/CTNNB1 class predicts resistance to immunotherapies in HCC. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2019) 25:2021–3. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-18-3778
- Berraondo P, Ochoa MC, Olivera I, Melero I. Immune desertic landscapes in hepatocellular carcinoma shaped by beta-catenin activation. *Cancer Discov.* (2019) 9:1003–5. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.cd-19-0696
- 67. Swafford D, Manicassamy S. Wnt signaling in dendritic cells: its role in regulation of immunity and tolerance. *Discov Med.* (2015) 19:303–10.

- Trujillo JA, Sweis RA-O, Bao R, Luke JJ. T cell-inflamed versus non-T cell-inflamed tumors: a conceptual framework for cancer immunotherapy drug development and combination therapy selection. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2018) 6:990–1000. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0277
- Ding Y, Shen S, Lino AC, Curotto de Lafaille MA, Lafaille JJ. Betacatenin stabilization extends regulatory T cell survival and induces anergy in nonregulatory T cells. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:162–9. doi: 10.1038/nm1707
- Manicassamy S, Reizis B, Ravindran R, Nakaya H, Salazar-Gonzalez RM, Wang YC, et al. Activation of beta-catenin in dendritic cells regulates immunity versus tolerance in the intestine. *Science*. (2010) 329:849–53. doi: 10.1126/science.1188510
- Kaler P, Augenlicht L, Klampfer L. Macrophage-derived IL-1beta stimulates Wnt signaling and growth of colon cancer cells: a crosstalk interrupted by vitamin D3. *Oncogene*. (2009) 28:3892–902. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.247
- Kaler P, Augenlicht L, Klampfer L. Activating mutations in beta-catenin in colon cancer cells alter their interaction with macrophages; the role of snail. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e45462. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0045462
- Pai SG, Carneiro BA, Mota JM, Costa R, Leite CA, Barroso-Sousa R, et al. Wnt/beta-catenin pathway: modulating anticancer immune response. J Hematol Oncol. (2017) 10:101. doi: 10.1186/s13045-017-0471-6
- Robbins PF, El-Gamil M, Li YF, Kawakami Y, Loftus D, Appella E, et al. A mutated beta-catenin gene encodes a melanoma-specific antigen recognized by tumor infiltrating lymphocytes. *J Exp Med.* (1996) 183:1185– 92. doi: 10.1084/jem.183.3.1185
- Ruiz de Galarreta M, Bresnahan E, Molina-Sanchez P, Lindblad KE, Maier B, Sia D, et al. Beta-catenin activation promotes immune escape and resistance to anti-PD-1 therapy in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Discov.* (2019) 9:1124–41. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.cd-19-0074
- Baur AS, Lutz MB, Schierer S, Beltrame L, Theiner G, Zinser E, et al. Denileukin diftitox (ONTAK) induces a tolerogenic phenotype in dendritic cells and stimulates survival of resting Treg. *Blood.* (2013) 122:2185–94. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-09-456988
- Yaguchi T, Goto Y, Kido K, Mochimaru H, Sakurai T, Tsukamoto N, et al. Immune suppression and resistance mediated by constitutive activation of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in human melanoma cells. *J Immunol.* (2012) 189:2110–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102282
- Holtzhausen A, Zhao F, Evans KS, Tsutsui M, Orabona C, Tyler DS, et al. Melanoma-derived Wnt5a promotes local dendritic-cell expression of IDO and immunotolerance: opportunities for pharmacologic enhancement of immunotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2015) 3:1082–95. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.cir-14-0167
- Galluzzi L, Yamazaki T, Kroemer G. Linking cellular stress responses to systemic homeostasis. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* (2018) 19:731–45. doi: 10.1038/s41580-018-0068-0
- Li CW, Lim SO, Xia W, Lee HH, Chan LC, Kuo CW, et al. Glycosylation and stabilization of programmed death ligand-1 suppresses T-cell activity. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:12632. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12632
- Di Piazza M, Nowell CS, Koch U, Durham AD, Radtke F. Loss of cutaneous TSLP-dependent immune responses skews the balance of inflammation from tumor protective to tumor promoting. *Cancer Cell.* (2012) 22:479–93. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2012.08.016
- Capietto AH, Kim S, Sanford DE, Linehan DC, Hikida M, Kumosaki T, et al. Down-regulation of PLCgamma2-beta-catenin pathway promotes activation and expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer. *J Exp Med.* (2013) 210:2257–71. doi: 10.1084/jem.20130281
- Qian Y, Yuan J, Hu H, Yang Q, Li J, Zhang S, et al. The CUL4B/AKT/betacatenin axis restricts the accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells to prohibit the establishment of a tumor-permissive microenvironment. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:5070–83. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-15-0898
- Poh TW, Bradley JM, Mukherjee P, Gendler SJ. Lack of Muc1-regulated betacatenin stability results in aberrant expansion of CD11b<sup>+</sup>Gr1<sup>+</sup> myeloidderived suppressor cells from the bone marrow. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:3554– 62. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-08-3806
- D'Amico L, Mahajan S, Capietto AH, Yang Z, Zamani A, Ricci B, et al. Dickkopf-related protein 1 (Dkk1) regulates the accumulation and function of myeloid derived suppressor cells in cancer. *J Exp Med.* (2016) 213:827–40. doi: 10.1084/jem.20150950

- Malladi S, Macalinao DG, Jin X, He L, Basnet H, Zou Y, et al. Metastatic latency and immune evasion through autocrine inhibition of WNT. *Cell.* (2016) 165:45–60. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016. 02.025
- Voronkov A, Krauss S. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling and small molecule inhibitors. *Curr Pharma Des.* (2013) 19:634–64. doi: 10.2174/138161213804581837
- Gurney A, Axelrod F, Bond CJ, Cain J, Chartier C, Donigan L, et al. Wnt pathway inhibition via the targeting of frizzled receptors results in decreased growth and tumorigenicity of human tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:11717–22. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1120068109
- You L, Zhang C, Yarravarapu N, Morlock L, Wang X, Zhang L, et al. Development of a triazole class of highly potent Porcn inhibitors. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett.* (2016) 26:5891–5. doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2016. 11.012
- Li C, Zheng X, Han Y, Lv Y, Lan F, Zhao J. XAV939 inhibits the proliferation and migration of lung adenocarcinoma A549 cells through the WNT pathway. *Oncol Lett.* (2018) 15:8973–82. doi: 10.3892/ol.201 8.8491
- Landman EBM, Miclea RL, van Blitterswijk CA, Karperien M. Small molecule inhibitors of WNT/β-catenin signaling block IL-1β- and TNFα-induced cartilage degradation. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2013) 15:R93. doi: 10.1186/ar4273
- 92. Hong Y, Manoharan I, Suryawanshi A, Shanmugam A, Swafford D, Ahmad S, et al. Deletion of LRP5 and LRP6 in dendritic cells enhances antitumor immunity. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016) 5:e1115941. doi: 10.1080/2162402x.2015.1115941
- Galluzzi L, Chan TA, Kroemer G, Wolchok JD, Lopez-Soto A. The hallmarks of successful anticancer immunotherapy. *Sci Transl Med.* (2018) 10:eaat7807. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aat7807
- Galluzzi L, Vacchelli E, Bravo-San Pedro JM, Buque A, Senovilla L, Baracco EE, et al. Classification of current anticancer immunotherapies. *Oncotarget*. (2014) 5:12472–508. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2998
- Chen DS, Mellman I. Elements of cancer immunity and the cancerimmune set point. *Nature*. (2017) 541:321–30. doi: 10.1038/nature 21349
- 96. Harding JJ, Nandakumar S, Armenia J, Khalil DN, Albano M, Ly M, et al. Prospective genotyping of hepatocellular carcinoma: clinical implications of next-generation sequencing for matching patients to targeted and immune therapies. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2019) 25:2116–26. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.ccr-18-2293
- Feng M, Jin JQ, Xia L, Xiao T, Mei S, Wang X, et al. Pharmacological inhibition of beta-catenin/BCL9 interaction overcomes resistance to immune checkpoint blockades by modulating Treg cells. *Sci Adv.* (2019) 5:eaau5240. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.aau5240
- Galluzzi L, Buque A, Kepp O, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunological effects of conventional chemotherapy and targeted anticancer agents. *Cancer Cell.* (2015) 28:690–714. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.10.012
- Galluzzi L, Buque A, Kepp O, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G. Immunogenic cell death in cancer and infectious disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2017) 17:97–111. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.107
- 100. Majchrzak K, Nelson MH, Bowers JS, Bailey SR, Wyatt MM, Wrangle JM, et al. β-catenin and PI3Kδ inhibition expands precursor Th17 cells with heightened stemness and antitumor activity. JCI Insight. (2017) 2:e90547. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.90547

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Li, Xiang, Li, Yin, Li and Ke. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling as a Molecular Target by Pathogenic Bacteria

#### Octavio Silva-García<sup>1</sup>, Juan J. Valdez-Alarcón<sup>2</sup> and Víctor M. Baizabal-Aguirre<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Departamento de Química, Universidad del Papaloapan, Oaxaca, Mexico, <sup>2</sup> Centro Multidisciplinario de Estudios en Biotecnología, Facultad de Medicina Veterinaria y Zootecnia, Universidad Michoacana de San Nicolás de Hidalgo, Morelia, Mexico

The Wht/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway is crucial to regulate cell proliferation and polarity, cell determination, and tissue homeostasis. The activation of  $Wnt/\beta$ -catenin signaling is based on the interaction between Wnt glycoproteins and seven transmembrane receptors-Frizzled (Fzd). This binding promotes recruitment of the scaffolding protein Disheveled (Dvl), which results in the phosphorylation of the co-receptor LRP5/6. The resultant molecular complex Wnt-Fzd-LRP5/6-Dvl forms a structural region for Axin interaction that disrupts Axin-mediated phosphorylation/degradation of the transcriptional co-activator  $\beta$ -catenin, thereby allowing it to stabilize and accumulate in the nucleus where it activates the expression of Wnt-dependent genes. Due to the prominent physiological function, the Wnt/β-catenin signaling must be strictly controlled because its dysregulation, which is caused by different stimuli, may lead to alterations in cell proliferation, apoptosis, and inflammation-associated cancer. The virulence factors from pathogenic bacteria such as Salmonella enterica sv Typhimurium, Helicobacter pylori, Mycobacterium tuberculosis, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Citrobacter rodentium, Clostridium difficile, Bacteroides fragilis, Escherichia coli, Haemophilus parasuis, Lawsonia intracellularis, Shigella dysenteriae, and Staphylococcus epidermidis employ a variety of molecular strategies to alter the appropriate functioning of diverse signaling pathways. Among these, Wnt/β-catenin has recently emerged as an important target of several virulence factors produced by bacteria. The mechanisms used by these factors to interfere with the activity of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin is diverse and include the repression of Wnt inhibitors' expression by the epigenetic modification of histones, blocking Wnt-Fzd ligand binding, activation or inhibition of β-catenin nuclear translocation, down- or up-regulation of Wnt family members, and inhibition of Axin-1 expression that promotes β-catenin activity. Such a variety of mechanisms illustrate an evolutionary co-adaptation of eukaryotic molecular signaling to a battery of soluble or structural components synthesized by pathogenic bacteria. This review gathers the recent efforts to elucidate the mechanistic details through which bacterial virulence factors modulate Wnt/β-catenin signaling and its physiological consequences concerning the inflammatory response and cancer.

Keywords: bacteria, Wnt,  $\beta$ -catenin, infectious disease, signaling transduction, frizzled

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Elena Martin-Orozco, University of Murcia, Spain

#### Reviewed by:

Rebecca Leigh Schmidt, Upper Iowa University, United States Rachel Bar-Shavit, Hadassah Medical Center, Israel

#### \*Correspondence:

Víctor M. Baizabal-Aguirre baizabal@umich.mx; vmbaiza@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 17 June 2019 Accepted: 27 August 2019 Published: 27 September 2019

#### Citation:

Silva-García O, Valdez-Alarcón JJ and Baizabal-Aguirre VM (2019) Wnt/β-Catenin Signaling as a Molecular Target by Pathogenic Bacteria. Front. Immunol. 10:2135. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02135

# INTRODUCTION

The Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway is an evolutionarily conserved mechanism that plays a preeminent role in maintaining cellular homeostasis. It regulates embryo development, cell proliferation and differentiation, apoptosis, and inflammation-associated cancer (1). In basal conditions, the protein transcriptional co-activator β-catenin is constantly phosphorylated by casein kinase  $1\alpha$  (CK1 $\alpha$ ) and glycogen synthase kinase  $3\beta$  (GSK3 $\beta$ ) in a process mediated by the Axin complex (also known as *destruction complex*) constituted by the scaffolding protein Axin, the tumor suppressor gene product adenomatous poliposis coli (APC), CK1a, and GSK3B. Such phosphorylation adds a chemical label to  $\beta$ -catenin that is recognized and polybuquitinated by the Skp1-Cdc53-F-Box E3 ubiquitin ligase complex (SCF<sup> $\beta$ -TRCP</sup>) and degraded by the proteasome 26S. The activation of the canonical pathway is dependent on the binding of Wnt glycoprotein ligands to Frizzled (Fzd) receptors and its co-receptor, low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5/6 (LRP5/6) on the plasma membrane. Several molecular events take place after the formation of the ternary complex Wnt-Fzd-LRP5/6. One of them is the translocation of the scaffolding protein disheveled (Dvl) to the complex, and the phosphorylation of LRP5/6 followed by the recruitment of the *destruction complex* to the receptor. The consequence of this series of protein-protein interactions is the inhibition of Axin-mediated β-catenin phosphorylation, which leads to  $\beta$ -catenin stabilization, cytoplasmic accumulation, and nuclear translocation. Once in the nucleus,  $\beta$ -catenin displaces the corepressor Groucho and binds to the DNA-bound transcription factors T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancer-binding factor (TCF/LEF) to activate Wnt-dependent gene expression (Figure 1).

The inflammatory response (IR) is one of the main defense mechanisms of the innate immune system that protects us against physical, chemical, or biological aggressions (2). The activation of different signaling pathways plays a fundamental role to promote, in the first place, or control, in later stages, the IR. Some of the most relevant transcription factors activated by these signaling mechanisms are the nuclear factor  $\kappa B$  (NF- $\kappa B$ ), the nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2), and the hypoxia-inducible factor 1 $\alpha$  (HIF-1 $\alpha$ ) (3, 4). Interestingly, pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory roles have also been recently assigned to the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling in different tissues stimulated with Wnt glycoproteins or infected by pathogenic bacteria. For example, the pro-inflammatory function was documented in preadipocytes and microglia cells stimulated with Wnt1 and Wnt3a, respectively (5, 6).

This review highlights new findings that strongly support the regulatory role of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling components in the bacterial-induced IR and cancer. Each section contains concise but detailed descriptions on how pathogenic bacteria activate or inhibit the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling and what physiological alterations they may cause. We have chosen to present pathogenic bacteria according to their impact on human health and the number of reports cited. **Table 1** shows the most important effects on Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin of each pathogenic bacteria discussed in text. It is our hope that discussing the activation or inhibition mechanisms of pathogenic bacteria on Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling will incentivize researchers to explore these molecular processes and propose new therapeutic targets.

# Salmonella enterica SV TYPHIMURIUM: A CHRONIC GASTROENTERITIS THAT MAY BECOME CANCER

Salmonella enterica is one of the major public health issues in third- and first-world countries. According to statistical data in the United States, the number of illnesses caused by this enteric bacterium every year is about 1.2 million, with 23,000 hospitalizations and 450 deaths (25). Recent S. enterica outbreaks, linked to the consumption of a variety of foods such as tahini, raw chicken, and ground beef and having hedgehogs as pets, have been well-documented (25). Symptoms of acute S. enterica infection include fever and gastroenteritis; however, if S. enterica colonization becomes chronic, it may lead to other gastrointestinal disorders such as chronic inflammation and cancer. To deliver soluble protein virulence factors in the cytoplasm of host cells, this enteric bacterium is equipped with a type three secretion system (TTSS) (26), which is a nanostructure composed of a hollow needle that serves as a channel to inject the pathogenic virulence factors (called effectors). These S. enterica effectors can take on the role of eukaryotic molecules, changing the proper function of host-cell signaling pathways (26).

The best characterized S. enterica effector is the anti-virulence factor A (AvrA), a protein related to Yersinia acetyltransferase effector YopJ and the Xanthomonas campestris pv vesicatoria protein AvrBsT (27). AvrA promotes the inhibition of NF-KB activity by enhancing β-catenin deubiquitination in epithelial cells colonized with the non-pathogenic strain S. enterica SL1344 PhoPc AvrA<sup>-</sup> or genetically complemented wild-type AvrA<sup>-</sup>/AvrA<sup>+</sup> (28, 29). Direct interaction between the NF- $\kappa$ B p50 subunit and β-catenin caused a reduction of NF- $\kappa$ B-DNA binding and transcriptional activity, which inhibits the IR in S. enterica infections (30) (Figure 2). Apart from its stabilizing effect on  $\beta$ -catenin, AvrA is also an inducer of several Wnt glycoproteins expression including Wnt2, Wnt3, Wnt6, Wnt9a, and Wnt11 (13). The increase in Wnt2 and Wnt11 causes important reductions in IL-8 expression and S. enterica invasion, respectively [as reviewed in (31)]. Wnt3, Wnt6, and Wnt9a, which are important ligands that modulate the activity of stem cell differentiation, were also upregulated in mouse intestinal epithelial cells (IECs) (13). Recently, another member of the Wnt family, Wnt1, was shown to be affected by S. enterica (32). Expression of Wnt1 was decreased by ubiquitination and degradation in the proteasome 26S. Because AvrA is a deubiquitinase, this experimental finding may indicate a different mechanism used by AvrA to reduce the Wnt1 protein levels. This Wnt1 expression reduction in tumors of colon mucosa from mice led to an increase in the proinflammatory cytokines GM-CSF (granulocyte macrophagecolony stimulating factor), IL-6, and IL-8, which may promote



**FIGURE 1** | Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling mechanism. (A) In unstimulated cells,  $\beta$ -catenin forms a macromolecular complex with Axin, APC, CK1 $\alpha$ , and GSK3 (*destruction complex*). Phosphorylation by CK1 $\alpha$  and GSK3 prepares  $\beta$ -catenin to be ubiquitinated and degraded in the proteasome 26S. (B) The interaction of Wnt glycoprotein ligands with Frizzled receptors and LRP5/6 co-receptors recruits DVL to the plasma membrane. Then, GSK3 phosphorylates LRP5/6 and  $\beta$ -catenin is no longer phosphorylated and ubiquitinated because the *destruction complex* disassembles. The  $\beta$ -catenin accumulated in the cytoplasm is translocated to the nucleus where it displaces the co-repressor Groucho and interacts with TCF to activate gene expression.

TABLE 1   Effects of bacterial virulence	factors on Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway.
--	---

Bacterium	Bacterial effector	Wnt/β-catenin pathway effect	Pathway component affected	References	
Clostridium difficile	Toxin B	↓ Reporter activity	↓FZD 1, 2, and 7 function	(7)	
	Toxin A	↓ c-Myc expression ↓ Reporter activity	$\downarrow\beta$ -catenin stability	(8)	
Citrobacter rodentium	Unknown	↑ c-Myc and Mmp7 expression	↓ WIF1 expression ↑ β-catenin stability ↑ R-Spondin 2	(9) (10)	
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	LecB	↓ c-Myc and cyclin D-1 expression	$\downarrow\beta$ -catenin stability	(11)	
Bacteroides fragilis	Toxin	↑ c-Myc expression ↑ TCF reporter activity	↑ β-catenin stability	(12)	
S. enterica typhimurium	AvrA	↑ TCF reporter activity	∱Wnt2, Wnt3, Wnt6, Wnt9a, and Wnt11 ∱β-catenin stability	(13)	
Helicobacter pylori	CagA	↑ c-Myc expression ↑ TCF reporter activity	↑ β-catenin stability ↑ FZD7 expression ↓ WIF1 expression ↓ SFRP expression ↓ DKK expression ↓ Runx3/TCF4 dimer formation	(14–18)	
Mycobacterium tuberculosis	Unknown	↑ c-Myc expression ↑ TCF reporter activity	↑ Wnt5a ↑FZD1 ↑β-catenin stability	(19)	
Escherichia coli	LPS	$\downarrow$ TAZ / WWTR1 expression	↓ β-catenin	(20)	
Haemophilus parasuis	Virulent strain	$\downarrow \beta$ -catenin–E-cadherin interaction	$\uparrow \beta\text{-catenin}$ nuclear translocation	(21)	
Shigella dysenteriae	Virulent strain	$\uparrow$ IL-8 $\uparrow$ TNF $\alpha$	↑ phospho-β-catenin ↑ phospho-GSK3β	(22)	
Lawsonia intracellularis	Virulent strain	↓ MUC2 ↑ Ki67 ↑Caspase-3	↑ β-catenin	(23)	
Staphylococcus epidermidis	LP78	$\downarrow$ TNF $\alpha \downarrow$ IL-6	↑ phospho-β-catenin	(24)	



**FIGURE 2** The AvrA virulence factor from *S. enterica* sv Typhimurium inhibits the inflammatory response in epithelial cells. The initial inflammatory response promoted by interaction of *S. enterica* with TLRs leads to an increase in the NF- $\kappa$ B activity and expression of the classical genes, IL-8 and TNF $\alpha$ , and also to Wnt2 and Wnt8. The autocrine effect of Wnt2/8 is to promote the cytoplasmic accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin. Part of this  $\beta$ -catenin reduces the amount of free NF- $\kappa$ B by forming a complex with the NF- $\kappa$ B p50 subunit. *S. enterica* injects the virulence factor Avra through a type 3 secretion system. AvrA is also able to both inhibit the activity of  $\beta$ -TRCP and directly deubiquitinate I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ , which increases the stability of the I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ -NF- $\kappa$ B cytoplasmic complex and reduces the free NF- $\kappa$ B.

a colitis-associated tumorigenesis (32). Thus, AvrA exerts a regulatory role on the host IR by inhibiting the NF- $\kappa$ B-dependent pro-inflammatory gene expression, inducing the activation of stem cells, and increasing the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines in intestinal tumors as a consequence of Wnt1 expression inhibition. These effects observed in *S. enterica* infections may contribute to chronic disease and cell proliferation, leading to tumor development and cancer.

The Janus kinase (JAK)-signal transducer and activator of transcription (STAT) regulates many fundamental biological processes including cell proliferation and differentiation, inflammation, and apoptosis (33). In homeostatic conditions, STAT3 maintains under control the inflammation caused by indigenous gut microbiota. In chronic inflammation, the continuous stimulation of IECs by STAT3-activating cytokines (i.e., IL-6 and IL-15) increases the rate of cell proliferation, generates tumorigenic IECs, and causes loss of gut inflammation control (33). The activation of JAK-STAT3 signaling has also been associated with inflammatory bowel disease and colon cancer (34). Interestingly, AvrA activates the expression of the STAT3 target genes MMP7 (matrix metalloproteinase-7) and SOCS3 (suppressor of cytokine signaling 3) in a colon cancer mouse model (35). It is tempting to speculate that chronic activation of STAT3 synergizes with  $\beta$ -catenin to promote uncontrolled IEC proliferation and tumorigenesis.

AvrA structural and biophysical data were obtained last year by Labriola et al. (36). Its crystal structure showed many similarities with two YopJ acetyltransferases HopZ (a suppressor of immunity in *Arabidopsis thaliana*) from *Pseudomonas syringae* (37) and Pop2 (an inducer of immunity and inhibitor of proteasome activity in *A. thaliana*) from *Ralstonia solanacearum* (38). The 2.4-Å crystal resolution of AvrA allowed the identification of the secondary arrangement of the regulatory as well-as the catalytic site, and the binding sites of hexakisphosphate and acetyl-CoA (36). More importantly, they characterized the role of an  $\alpha$ -helix near the catalytic site and a Leu<sup>140</sup> residue as a determinant of substrate specificity. Such AvrA structural details have opened new possibilities to develop inhibitory molecules that would help block the harmful effects of this *S. enterica* effector.

# Helicobacter pylori: A RISK FOR COLORECTAL AND GASTRIC CANCER

Helicobacter pylori is a spiral-shaped bacterium that causes more than 90% of duodenal ulcers and ~80% of gastric ulcers and cancer (39), and is present in about 67% of the population worldwide (40). Chronic infection by *H. pylori* is a strong risk factor for gastric cancer development. The virulent strains of *H. pylori* (Type 1 strains) contain the genomic cytotoxin-associated gene A pathogenicity island (*cagAPAI*) that mediates the assembly of a syringe-like structure type IV secretion system (T4SS) (40). Injecting *cagA* through the T4SS initiates a complex series of, as yet, not well-defined interactions with host cell molecules that are thought to be correlated with gastric diseases and cancer. Phosphorylated CagA can interact with many intracellular proteins such as Abl kinase (Abelson murine leukemia viral oncogene homolog 1), Crk (a proto-oncogene adaptor protein), Csk (C-terminal Src kinase), Shp2 (a protein tyrosine phosphatase encoded by the gene PTPN11), and others that contain an SH-2 domain (41). These CagA-SH-2 domain interactions influence the cytoskeleton rearrangement and increase cell mobility and size. The interaction of non-phosphorylated CagA with beta-1-integrin, E-cadherin, c-Met (a protein tyrosine kinase), P120-catenin, and ZO-1 (zonula occludens-1), just to cite a few (41), triggers inflammation and alterations in mitogenic signals, and disrupts cell junctions' structure. These phosphorylationindependent CagA activities and other mechanisms not related to CagA are directly associated with the accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin in nucleus and gastric cancer emergence and development.

The infection by H. pylori causes colorectal and gastric cancer because it can activate the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway mainly by translocating the virulence factor CagA to the cytoplasm of epithelial cells. Once inside the host cell, CagA interacts and phosphorylates the oncoprotein c-Met receptor that, in turn, activates NF-kB and the expression of numerous pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, enzymes, and angiogenic factors (41). The functional ternary complex CagAc-Met-CD44 also induces nuclear β-catenin accumulation by activating the PI3K/Akt signaling (14, 42). This pathway inhibits the apoptotic cell death and is associated with colorectal cancer (43). The direct interaction of CagA with the gastric tumor suppressor transcription factor Runx3 (runt related transcription factor 3) labels it for ubiquitination and proteasome degradation (44). Runx3 is normally found interacting with Tcf4 and therefore repressing the  $\beta$ -catenin-dependent gene expression. The interaction of CagA with Runx3 exposes the Tcf4 binding site for  $\beta$ -catenin, which activates the upregulation of  $\beta$ -catenin target genes and induces stomach carcinogenesis (15) (Figure 3). Another tumor suppressor that is negatively affected by H. pylori is TFF1 (trefoil factor 1) (45). Akt inhibition by TFF1 increases the phosphorylating activity of GSK3ß on β-catenin activating PP2A (protein phosphatase 2A). The net effect is the reduction of β-catenin nuclear translocation and Tcf4 transcriptional activity (45). In epithelial cells, H. pylori promotes the *TFF1* gene hypermethylation, leading to an increase in  $\beta$ catenin-dependent gene expression (16). Promoter methylation and mRNA downregulation of Wnt/β-catenin antagonist genes secreted FRP (frizzled-related protein), DKK (DICKKOPF), and WIF1 (Wnt-inhibitory factor 1) have recently been demonstrated during gastric carcinogenesis and affected by H. pylori infection (17). As a result of this genetic modification,  $\beta$ -catenin nuclear translocation was increased in gastric epithelial cells. This study confirms that epigenetic modification is an important factor for gastric cancer, in which H. pylori plays a significant role. Apart from epigenetic modifications, H. pylori infection promotes cancer stem cell characteristics in cancer gastric cells by activating Wnt/β-catenin signaling in a process dependent on CagA (46). It was also found that Nanog and Oct4, two transcription factors associated with epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), increased their expression in the gastric



cancer samples from patients infected with *cagA*-positive *H*. *pylori* (47).

Helicobacter pylori can induce gastric cancer by activating cell proliferation, cell invasion, and angiogenesis (48). The activation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling is mainly responsible for cell proliferation in gastric tumorigenesis (49). Interestingly, a new mechanism to activate Wnt signaling was recently discovered by Geng et al. (18). These authors showed that H. pylori upregulates the Wnt receptor Fzd7 and simultaneously represses miR-27b. The inactivation of miR-27b, which has been identified as a tumor suppressor (50, 51), resulted in the overexpression of Fzd7 followed by Wnt signaling activation. Moreover, Wnt/β-catenin activation in H. pylori infection has been linked to angiogenesis in the gastric mucosa, which is an important process for tumorigenesis and development of gastric cancer (52). This mechanism involves the upregulation of cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) and inhibition of  $\beta$ -catenin phosphorylation. As a result,  $\beta$ -catenin accumulates in the cytoplasm and then translocates to the nucleus. Finally, COX-2/Wnt/β-catenin signaling activation leads to an increase in vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) expression, a strong proangiogenic molecule (52).

# Mycobacterium tuberculosis: A WNT-FZD INTERACTION THAT DEFINES THE INFECTION OUTCOME

Tuberculosis (TB), the name of the infection caused by M. tuberculosis in humans, is one of the most widespread and deadly diseases worldwide with approximately 25% of the whole population infected. The number of TB cases in 2017 around the world was about 10 million, with 1.3 million TB-associated HIV patient deaths (53). Once M. tuberculosis invades the lungs, it infects the alveolar macrophages in a process associated with, but not strictly dependent on, several membrane receptors including C-type lectin receptors, mannose receptors, scavenger receptors, CD14, CD43, and LSPA (lung surfactant protein A) [as reviewed in (19)]. The success of M. tuberculosis as an intracellular pathogen depends on its ability to manipulate many signaling mechanisms activated by the host cell. For example, after infection, a burst of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines like TNF $\alpha$  (tumor necrosis factor  $\alpha$ ), IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 is observed followed by the expression of anti-inflammatory cytokines such as TGF- $\beta$  (transforming growth factor- $\beta$ ) and IL-10 [as reviewed in (54)]. It is assumed that the attenuation of the inflammatory and adaptive response through production of IL-10 is critical





for *M. tuberculosis* survival and granuloma formation (**Figure 4**, upper panel).

Wnt glycoproteins play a functional role as pro- or antiinflammatory factors depending on the cellular type and context, the stimuli, and the kind of cytokines previously secreted (1). In particular, when cells are infected by *M. tuberculosis*, Wnt3a and Wnt5a downregulation and Wnt6 upregulation promote an anti-IR, via canonical (Wnt3a) and non-canonical (Wnt5a and Wnt6) signaling in mouse and human models (19). In contrast to Wnt3 that prevents infection by M. tuberculosis, Wnt5a and Wnt6 promote it. Except for Wnt5a, Wnt3, and Wnt6, expression is not directly induced by M. tuberculosis (Figure 4, upper and middle panel). However, the upregulation of Fzd1 and Fzd5 is a process directly related to the effect of M. tuberculosis (19). The downregulation of Fzd3-4 and Fzd6-10 has been correlated with reduced  $\beta$ catenin-dependent gene expression (55). Apart from the effects on inflammation, Wnt3, Wnt5a, and Wnt6 inhibit necrosis, TNFa secretion, IL-12 and IFNy production, phagolysosome formation, promotion of apoptosis and phagocytosis, cellular adhesion, and cellular proliferation, among others (Figure 4, lower panel). Collectively, these effects help M. tuberculosis survive and damage the intracellular milieu and surrounding cells (19).

# Pseudomonas aeruginosa: TARGETING WNT/β-CATENIN TO PROMOTE BACTERIAL SURVIVAL

*P. aeruginosa* is an opportunistic bacterial pathogen associated with severe intra-hospital pneumonia (56). One of its most common pathogenic mechanisms leading to the recurrence and chronic infections is to damage the epithelial monolayer structure in the lung alveoli. Also, *P. aeruginosa* avoids elimination by macrophages, which promotes its prevalence and produces chronic inflammation (57).

Experiments with murine macrophages RAW264.7 infected with *P. aeruginosa* 19660 have demonstrated a time-dependent increase in  $\beta$ -catenin degradation (58). In contrast, the overexpression of the  $\beta$ -catenin gene *CTNNB1* in macrophages enhances bacterial intracellular killing by counteracting cell auto-phagocytosis without affecting reactive oxygen species synthesis. However, *P. aeruginosa* can survive inside macrophages by promoting  $\beta$ -catenin degradation (58). These experimental observations indicate that, in macrophages,  $\beta$ -catenin promotes an auto-phagocytosis-breakresistant phenotype.

In an acute lung injury model, *P. aeruginosa* infection of epithelial H1299 and H1975 cell lines promotes NF- $\kappa$ B activation by stimulating its nuclear translocation and  $\beta$ -catenin degradation (11). Interestingly, this degradation was linked to the virulence factor LecB because incubating H1299 cells with recombinant purified LecB was sufficient to induce  $\beta$ -catenin degradation and repress the expression of the  $\beta$ -catenin-dependent genes *c-Myc* and *Cyclin-D1*. Thus, LecB causes a reduction in cellular proliferation by arresting cell cycle in G1 to S phase transition. LecB also promoted  $\beta$ -catenin intracellular reorganization by destabilizing its molecular complex with  $\alpha 1\beta 3$  integrin in the plasma membrane and  $\beta$ -catenin degradation in a process dependent on GSK3 $\alpha/\beta$  but independent on PI3K/Akt (11). In agreement with these data, Wnt3a, a prototypical regulator of  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex, prevented LecB-induced  $\beta$ -catenin degradation (11). These results suggest a role for  $\beta$ -catenin in modulating cellular functions directly related to *P. aeruginosa* clearance.

# *Citrobacter rodentium*: AN UNKNOWN BACTERIAL EFFECTOR PROMOTING HYPERPLASIA

This bacterium is an enteric pathogen of mice that shares mechanistic similarities with the classical enteropathogenic and enterohemorrhagic strains of Escherichia coli (EPEC and EHEC). This feature constitutes a useful model to investigate the characteristic attaching/effacing (A/E) injuries of the gut epithelium induced by E. coli in humans (59). Apart from the A/E lesions, C. rodentium induces hyperplasia and tumorigenesis of the crypt cells (60). A detailed analysis has revealed that mesenchymal stem cells are the primary target of hyperplasia and the activation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling has been correlated to the self-renewal phenotype and proliferation (60). Wnt/β-catenin signaling also promotes an increase in R-spondin-2 expression, an agonist of the leucine-rich repeat G-protein coupled receptor (Lgr), that, along with Fzd and LRP5/6, regulates the expression of Mmp7 and c-Myc genes involved in cell regeneration (9). Although a specific bacterial effector responsible for these mechanisms has not been identified, the hyperplasia caused by C. rodentium infection requires an intact T3SS to promote cellular proliferation and Wnt/β-catenin activation (60). Infecting mice with the T3SS defective mutant  $\Delta EscV$  (an inner membrane T3SS assembly related protein) fails to induce the expression of proliferation markers and attenuates hyperplasia (10, 61).

C. rodentium infection also promotes Wnt/β-cateninmediated hyperplasia through the repression of the Wnt/β-catenin inhibitor factor 1 (WIF1) expression in two different ways. The first mechanism involves epigenetic modification of the enhancer region of the methyltransferase zeste homolog-2 (EZH2) gene that, in turn, promotes the H3 lysine-27-trimethylation (H3K27me3) in the promoter region of the WIF1 gene (10). The second mechanism involves the downregulation of WIF1 gene by the upregulation of miRNA203. Interestingly, these mechanisms are dependent on bacterial effectors because the infection of mouse colonic primary cells with the C. rodentium mutants  $\Delta EscV$  showed a reduced expression of EZH2 and H3K27me3 genes and an increased expression of WIF1 compared with their non-mutant counterparts (10). So far, it is uncertain why C. rodentium promotes stem cell hyperplasia. It is likely that elevated levels of β-catenin may block the NF-κB pathway (62), which is one of the main defense mechanisms against bacterial infections.

# Clostridium difficile: HIJACKING WNT-FZD INTERACTION

This bacterium is a human commensal and opportunistic pathogen related to pseudo-membranous colitis and antibioticassociated diarrhea, which can be life-threatening diseases among elderly patients in developed countries. The most virulent strains secrete toxins A and B. These toxins bind to chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan 4 (CSP4) in HeLa cells and inhibit small GTPases by glycosylation resulting in cell rounding and death (63, 64); however, CSP4 was not detected in colonic epithelium where C. difficile inhabits, indicating the existence of additional receptors involved. The evidence obtained by genetic screening analysis suggests that the Wnt receptors Fzd1, 2, and 7 from HeLa, Caco-2, and HT-29 cells interact with toxin B (7, 65). When toxin B binds to Fzd receptors, Wnt3a and probably other Wnt ligands cannot activate the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway (7, 66). The inhibition of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling by toxin B from C. difficile represses the TCF-dependent gene expression.

Toxin A, on the other hand, can attenuate Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling by repressing target genes expression like *c*-*Myc* even in the presence of the GSK3 inhibitor LiCl, indicating the existence of additional steps in its inhibitory mechanism (8). A precise role for Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway inhibition during *C. difficile* infections remains unclear. Further research on these pathogenic mechanisms is strongly recommended because this bacterium is difficult to control and may cause fatal diseases (63).

# Bacteroides fragilis: TARGETING β-CATENIN FROM THE ADHERENS JUNCTIONS

This bacterium constitutes around 1 to 2% of the gut microbiota and approximately 30% of the anaerobic organisms cultured from human feces. It is considered as the most frequent anaerobic pathogen capable of infecting soft tissues and an important etiological agent of diarrhea (67). The genome of *B. fragilis* virulent strains contains a pathogenic island that encodes a *B. fragilis* toxin (BFT), which is a heat-labile metalloprotease. Rabbits challenged with high concentrations of BFT show tissue damage and hemorrhage, an increase in IL-8 expression, NF- $\kappa$ B activation, and disruption of the epithelial barrier (68, 69).

BFT was the first bacterial effector reported to activate the  $\beta$ catenin-dependent gene expression (12). The protease-mediated activity of BFT on the extracellular domain of E-cadherin has been suggested as the mechanism to disrupt epithelial cell-tocell contact. As a result, BFT causes the dissociation of  $\beta$ -catenin from E-cadherin and, once released,  $\beta$ -catenin translocates to the nucleus where it forms a complex with TCF4, leading to *c-Myc* expression and cellular proliferation in the APC mutant cell lines HT29/C1 and SW480 (12).  $\beta$ -Catenin released from Ecadherin interaction do not translocate directly to the nucleus but to the perinuclear endocytic recycling compartment in A431 cells that express full APC protein (70). This observation indicates that the impaired function of the  $\beta$ -catenin *destruction complex* is a condition needed for BFT to induce  $\beta$ -catenin-mediated effects. However, the effects induced by *B. fragilis* infection on the  $\beta$ -catenin *destruction complex* proteins in non-APC mutant cells are still unknown and deserve further investigation. In agreement with this reasoning, *Bordetella pertussis* toxin, which has been reported to induce the dissociation of  $\beta$ catenin from the complex with VE-cadherin of adherens junctions, also promotes GSK3-specific phosphorylation at Thr41 and Ser45 of the released  $\beta$ -catenin that marks it for degradation (71).

# *E. coli*: OSTEOGENIC DIFFERENTIATION OF HUMAN PERIODONTAL STEM CELLS BY LPS

Periodontitis is an inflammatory disease caused by microbial populations in oral microbiota, which implies biofilm formation and deregulation of the IR from the host (72). Gram-negative anaerobic bacteria are among the most prominent bacterial species found in periodontal disease. Lipopolysaccharide (LPS) is a common cell surface antigen present in Gram-negative bacteria. Recently, Xing et al. (20) found that LPS from E. coli stimulated osteogenic differentiation of human periodontal ligament stem cells (HPDLSCs) but not their proliferation, viability, or cell cycle regulation. They showed that this stimulation was driven by the activation of Wnt/β-catenin pathway. Osteogenesis and osteogenesis stimulated by LPS were confirmed by RT-PCR of osteogenesis-related genes ALP (alkaline phosphatase), RUNX2 (Runt-related transcription factor 2), OCN (osteocalcina), and OSX (osterix) (20). TAZ (also known as WWTR1 [domain containing transcription regulator 1]) is a key transcriptional co-activator with a PDZ binding motif that mediates cell proliferation, differentiation, and stem cell renewal through the Wnt/β-catenin. Its mRNA and protein levels were also increased during LPS-stimulated osteogenesis. The depletion of TAZ by an antiviral transfection with a shTAZ construction reduced both LPS-stimulated and independent osteogenesis in vitro and also blocked the induction of osteogenesis-related genes, emphasizing its major role in osteogenesis (20). To demonstrate the role of Wnt/β-catenin in the induction of TAZ and osteogenesis, LPS stimulation was performed in the presence of DKK1 (DIKKOPF1), a known inhibitor of the Wnt/β-catenin transduction pathway that blocks the interaction between Fzd and LRP5/6 with Wnt ligands. ALP or alizarin red staining assays showed that DKK1 inhibited osteogenesis in vitro, in the presence or absence of LPS. This was accompanied by a decrease in the accumulation of TAZ and  $\beta$ -catenin in the presence of LPS, and a slight but significant increase in phosphorylated TAZ at Ser89. DKK1 also reversed the induction of osteogenesis related-genes by LPS (20).

# Haemophilus parasuis: INITIATION OF EMT

Glässer's disease (Gd) is an acute infection in pigs characterized by a combination of meningoencephalitis, polyserositis, pericarditis, polyarthritis, and, in some cases, primary pneumonia. It is caused by specific serovars of *H. parasuis*, a bacterium that normally resides in the upper respiratory tract. In certain host stress conditions (i.e., weaning, antibiotic treatment, and transportation), *H. parasuis* may turn pathogenic, causing Gd or an acute respiratory disease, depending on the site of infection. Sometimes, an acute inflammatory systemic response causes massive fibrin exudates in the pleuroperitoneal cavity leading to sudden death (73).

The disruption of adherens junctions is a major alteration of epithelial cells that leads to the modification of epithelial permeability. Recently, a role for  $Wnt/\beta$ -catenin in the EMT that contributes to the loss of epithelial permeability caused by H. parasuis was reported (21). The virulent H. parasuis strain SH0165 was observed to increase β-catenin and reduce phosphoβ-catenin at Ser33/37/Thr41 as compared with the non-virulent strain HN0001 in pig kidney (PK-15) cell line and newborn pig tracheal (NPTr) epithelial cell lines. Relative luciferase expression assays showed that the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway was activated by increasing doses of the virulent strain and by LiCl, a known GSK3β inhibitor that stimulates the Wnt signaling pathway. This activation correlated well with an increase in  $\beta$ -catenin and a decrease in phospho-\beta-catenin. β-Catenin was also translocated from the membrane to the cytoplasm and to the nucleus by inoculation with the virulent strain and treatment with LiCl (21). E-cadherin was also degraded upon the interaction of epithelial cells with the virulent strain or by stimulation with LiCl; this was reversed by adding Wnt/β-catenin inhibitors ICG001 and IWR-endo-1, demonstrating the role of the signaling pathway in maintaining the stability of adherens junctions (21). Furthermore, nuclear immunolocalization of  $\beta$ -catenin and reduction of E-cadherin levels in the membrane were confirmed by confocal laser scanning microscopy (CLSM), and these correlated with alterations in epithelial monolayer permeability. The final demonstration of Wnt signaling activity in EMT was conducted by applying siRNA technology against several Wnt target genes such as MMP7 (membrane palmitoylated protein 7), PAI-1 (plasminogen activated inhibitor 1), and COX2 (cyclooxygenase 2), which significantly produced a recovery of the expression levels of the EMT-related genes Ecadherin, collagen IV, cytokeratin, N-cadherin, Snail, Vimentin, and S100A4 (21).

## Lawsonia intracellularis: ALTERATION OF HOMEOSTASIS AND PROMOTION OF CELL PROLIFERATION DURING INFECTION OF INTESTINAL CRYPT CELLS

Proliferative entheropathy (PE) is an infectious disease caused by *L. intracellularis* in which bacteria invade the intestinal crypt cells inducing extensive cell proliferation and loss of the integrity of intestinal mucosa and mucosal thickening. The disease may have two forms—an acute one characterized by hemorrhagic diarrhea and sudden death, and a chronic one with no hemorrhagic diarrhea that causes wasting and loss of control (74).

Wnt/β-catenin and Notch signaling regulate intestinal stem cell (ISC) proliferation and differentiation. These pathways transit amplifying (TA) progenitor cells from which secretory cells and intestinal enterocytes differentiate, regulating in that way the intestinal homeostasis. The evaluation of Wnt/β-catenin and Notch signaling during the disruption of intestinal homeostasis caused by L. intracellularis infection was investigated by Huan et al. (22). They detected fluorescent L. intracellularis in the crypts of ileum sections and observed an increase in bacterial number from 3 to 14 days post-colonization (dpc) and a drastic decrease by 28 dpc. Fluorescence and mRNA levels of MUC2 (intestinal mucin 2) reached the lowest levels by 14 dpc, consistent with the maximum of L. intracellularis fluorescent signal in the ileum. A cell proliferation marker Ki67 and the apoptosis marker caspase-3 also reached their highest fluorescent signals by 14 dpc. These assays demonstrated the correlation between L. intracellularis ileum crypt colonization and the increase in cell proliferation and apoptosis, which result in PE tissue damage. β-Catenin also increased in the upper and lower halves of the crypt by 14 dpc, which was in agreement with the repression of the Wnt/β-catenin-dependent genes ASCL2 (achaete-scute family BHLH transcription factor 2), LGR5 (leucine-rich repeat containing G-protein receptor 5), SOX9 (SRY box 9), and Cyclin D1 (22). The intercellular Notch-1 receptor domain/C-terminal (NICD1) immunodetection in crypts also reached its highest level at 14 dpc, correlating with the transcript repression of Notch-regulated genes ATOH1 (atonal BHLB transcription factor 1; 14 dpc), HES1 (hairy and enhancer ff split1; 21 dpc), and OLFM4 (olfactomedin 4; 28 dpc) (22). Changes in Wnt/β-catenin- and Notchregulated gene expression were consistent with previous reports on their role in intestinal homeostasis, allowing authors to suggest the participation of these major signaling pathways in PE lesions.

# Shigella dysenteriae: IR THROUGH WNT/β-CATENIN AND NF-κB PATHWAYS

Shigella dysenteriae is one of the four species of the genus. It is integrated by 15 serotypes, which are one of the main causative agents of dysentery in developing countries. It destroys the colonic epithelium without causing systemic infection. The typical symptoms produced are diarrhea with blood and mucus accompanied by abdominal cramps and fever (75). Colon infection is associated with an acute IR mediated by IL-8. Recently, Gopal et al. (23) explored the involvement of the Wnt/β-catenin and NF-κB pathways in regulating IL-8 levels and the IR. A rat ileal loop infection model was used to test the IR and the signaling pathways involved. The infection of the ileal loop with S. dysenteriae increased both the protein and mRNA expression levels of proinflammatory cytokines IL-8 and TNFa. Immunohistochemical detection reveals that both β-catenin and NF-κB transcription factors increased the level of expression and its localization (from cytoplasmic to nuclear) after infection with S. dysenteriae (23). Phospho-ΙκΒα, NF-κB, phospho-β-catenin, and GSK3β phosphorylated at Y216, and proteins showed increased levels after infection, whereas unphosphorylated  $\beta$ -catenin and phospho-GSK3 $\beta$  at S9 were reduced. Co-immunoprecipitation with GSK3 $\beta$  and  $\beta$ -catenin antibodies demonstrated the association of  $\beta$ -catenin and NF- $\kappa$ B through GSK3 $\beta$ . Overall, these data suggest that *S. dysenteriae* negatively regulates  $\beta$ -catenin pathway by modulating GSK3 $\beta$  activity; also, the formation of a  $\beta$ -catenin/GSK3 $\beta$  complex promotes  $\beta$ -catenin degradation and release of NF- $\kappa$ B from the ternary complex, leading to inflammation (23).

# Staphylococcus epidermidis: INHIBITION OF SKIN INFLAMMATION BY β-CATENIN ACTIVATION

Staphylococcus epidermidis protects the skin from pathogen infections by secreting antimicrobial peptides (76), although, in some specific conditions, it may become an opportunistic pathogen. Lactic acid bacteria have also been associated with skin wound healing because they can produce bioactive metabolites that control pathogen bacteria and modulate the immune response (77). The ability of commensal S. epidermidis to contribute to wound healing was recently examined by Li et al. (24). These authors isolated lipopeptide 78 (LP78; a peptide of 23 amino acids with an heneicosanoic acid bound to the N-terminal aspartic acid D1) from culture medium and tested its effects on IR in a neonatal human epidermal keratinocytes (NHEKs) cell line and in streptozotocin-induced type 1 diabetic mice. When NHEKs were pre-treated with poly(I:C) and different LP78 concentrations, a significant reduction of TNFa and IL-6 was observed (24). The inhibitory effect of LP78 was potentiated by the addition of lipoteichoic acid (LTA), one of the main proinflammatory structures present in the cell wall of Grampositive bacteria.

When  $TNF\alpha$  and IL-6 protein levels were estimated in the wounds of normal mice or in the wounds of  $Tlr-3^{-/-}$  deficient mice, LP78 repression of cytokine expression was observed in normal but not in TLR3-deficient mice (24). Immunolocalization by CLSM and quantification of the NF-kB p65 subunit suggested that LP78 does not block NF-kB nuclear translocation induced by poly(I:C). In NEHKs, LP78 induced accumulation of phosphoβ-catenin at Y654 and translocation of β-catenin to nucleus in a time-dependent manner. The LP78-mediated repression of poly(I:C)-induced cytokines is lost in NEHK cells with shRNAreduced levels of β-catenin and in wounds treated with the β-catenin inhibitor FH535, which also caused a decrease in LP78induced phospho-β-catenin (Y654) accumulation (24). The TLR2 inhibitor OxPAPC (oxidized 1-palmitoyl-2-arachidonylsn-glycero-3-phosphorylcholine) caused a reduction in  $\beta$ -catenin nuclear translocation and LP78 repression of poly(I:C)-induced cytokines. LP78 effect is also lost in a TLR2-deficient genetic background in the ear intradermic injection model and in primary culture of murine keratinocytes and in the skin wound model. These data suggest that LP78 activates TLR2. To elucidate the TLR2 pathway, inhibitors such as PP2 (specific for non-receptor tyrosine kinase family Src), Bay11 (specific for NF-κB), SB431542 (specific for TGF-β), and FH535 (specific for β-catenin) were tested (24). PP2 and FH535 blocked LP78induced β-catenin phosphorylation. Therefore, these data suggest that LP78 activates TLR2-Src to induce β-catenin activation. GW9662, an inhibitor of PPARy (peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptor gamma), inhibited poly(I:C)-induced TNFa and IL-6. As it is known that PPARy interacts with p65 and that this interaction is disrupted by  $\beta$ -catenin, experiments were conducted to elucidate if LP78 inhibits TLR3-mediated IR by βcatenin-mediated impairment of p65-PPARy interaction (24). NEHK cells treated with poly(I:C) and stimulated with LP78 showed reduced amounts of p65. Under these conditions, βcatenin amounts decreased in the cytoplasm and increased in the nucleus. Altogether, these data suggested that LP78 induces  $\beta$ -catenin nuclear translocation. Once in the nucleus,  $\beta$ -catenin disrupts the interaction between TLR3-activated p65 and PPARy, thus inhibiting TLR3-mediated inflammation in skin wounds.

# **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

The *golden age* of antibiotics therapy against the most important human pathogenic bacteria is approaching a dead end. Nosocomial infections caused by several bacteria cited in this review are difficult to eliminate because of multiple mechanisms that make them resistant to antibiotics specifically recommended for their treatment (78). This antibiotic resistance has generated the appearance of *superbugs*, which are responsible for epidemics with enhanced morbidity and mortality.

One of the most promising alternatives to overcome the bacterial resistance to antibiotics is to search for the host cell mechanisms that are activated or inhibited by virulence factors secreted during pathogenic bacteria infections and then identify the protein molecules involved. Protein kinases (i.e., p38, JNK) and specific transcription factors (i.e., NF-KB), as well as cytoskeletal targets activated during the pro-IR, have been characterized in a number of bacterial infections. More recently, signaling pathways like Wnt/β-catenin and Notch, whose main function is not related to inflammation, were added to the arsenal of molecular mechanisms touched by pathogenic bacteria. The complexity is even greater because the classical NF-KB proinflammatory signaling molecules cross-talk with other signaling pathways such as the Wnt/β-catenin, which are not apparently related to inflammation. This interrelationship frequently gives unexpected phenotypes that need to be taken into account to understand the temporal stages of infection. An integration of signaling at each stage and its proper interpretation may help researchers identify the important clues to fight lethal bacteria. Once signaling molecules are identified, the next step would be to design specific drugs to deactivate the virulence factors. In order to accomplish this ambitious goal, the structural details of virulence factors need to be elucidated. Such biochemical studies combined with bioinformatics, molecular dynamics approaches, and traditional methods (i.e., vaccines) will undoubtedly pave the way to win the battle against infectious diseases.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

OS-G and JV-A helped with the writing of the manuscript. VB-A conceived, wrote, edited, and reviewed the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by Coordinación de la Investigación Científica, Universidad Michoacana de San Nicolás de Hidalgo,

## REFERENCES

- MacDonald BT, Tamai K, He X. Wnt/β-catenin signaling: components, mechanisms, and diseases. *Dev Cell.* (2009) 17:9–26. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2009.06.016
- Medzhitov R. Origin and physiological roles of inflammation. *Nature*. (2008) 454:428–35. doi: 10.1038/nature07201
- Palazon A, Goldrath AW, Nizet V, Johnson RS. HIF Transcription factors, inflammation, and immunity. *Immunity*. (2014) 41:518–28. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.09.008
- Wardyn JD, Ponsford AH, Sanderson CM. Dissecting molecular cross-talk between Nrf2 and NF-κB response pathways. *Biochem Soc Trans.* (2015) 43:621-6. doi: 10.1042/BST20150014
- Gustafson B, Smith U. Cytokines promote Wnt signaling and inflammation and impair the normal differentiation and lipid accumulation in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. J Biol Chem. (2006) 281:9507–16. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M512077200
- Halleskog C, Mulder J, Dahlström J, Mackie K, Hortobagyi T, Tanila H. WNT signaling in activated microglia is proinflammatory. *Glia*. (2011) 59:119–31. doi: 10.1002/glia.21081
- Tao L, Zhang J, Meraner P, Tovaglieri A, Wu X, He X. Frizzled proteins are colonic epithelial receptors for *Clostridium difficile* toxin B. *Nature*. (2016) 538:350–5. doi: 10.1038/nature19799
- Lima BB, Fonseca BF, Da Graça Amado N, Lima DM, Ribeiro RA, Abreu JG, et al. *Clostridium difficile* toxin A attenuates Wnt/β-catenin signaling in intestinal epithelial cells. *Infect Immun.* (2014) 82:2680–7. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00567-13
- Kang E, Yousefi M, Gruenheid S. R-spondins are expressed by the intestinal stroma and are differentially regulated during *Citrobacter rodentium*-and DSS-induced colitis in mice. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0152859. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0152859
- Roy BC, Subramanian D, Ahmed I, Jala VR, Hester C, Umar S, et al. Role of bacterial infection in the epigenetic regulation of Wnt antagonist WIF1 by PRC2 protein EZH2. Oncogene. (2015) 34:4519–30. doi: 10.1038/onc.2014.386
- Cott C, Thuenauer R, Landi A, Kühn K, Juillot S, Römer W, et al. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* lectin LecB inhibits tissue repair processes by triggering β-catenin degradation. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2016) 1863:1106–18. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2016.02.004
- Wu S, Morin PJ, Maouyo D, Sears CL. Bacteroides fragilis enterotoxin induces c-Myc expression and cellular proliferation. Gastroenterology. (2003) 124:392– 400. doi: 10.1053/gast.2003.50047
- Liu X, Lu R, Wu S, Sun J. Salmonella regulation of intestinal stem cells through the Wnt/β-catenin pathway. FEBS Lett. (2010) 584:911–6. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2010.01.024
- Wroblewski LE, Piazuelo MB, Chaturvedi R, Schumacher M, Aihara E, Feng R, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* targets cancer-associated apical-junctional constituents in gastroids and gastric epithelial cells. *Gut.* (2015) 64:720–30. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-307650
- Ito K, Chuang LS, Ito T, Chang TL, Fukamachi H, Salto-Tellez M, et al. Loss of Runx3 is a key event in inducing precancerous state of the stomach. *Gastroenterology*. (2011) 140:1536–46. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2011.01.043
- Tomita H, Takaishi S, Menheniott TR, Yang X, Shibata W, Jin G, et al. Inhibition of gastric carcinogenesis by the hormone gastrin is mediated by suppression of TFF1 epigenetic silencing. *Gastroenterology*. (2011) 140:879– 91. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.11.037

Research Program 2018–2019 to VB-A. OS-G was received a posdoctoral scholarshipo form Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología (CONACYT) México.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the Graphic Designer Claudia E. Baizabal-Vera for helping with the artistic work of the figures.

- Yang HJ, Kim SG, Lim JH, Choi JM, Kim WH, Jung HC. *Helicobacter pylori*induced modulation of the promoter methylation of Wnt antagonist genes in gastric carcinogenesis. *Gastric Cancer.* (2018) 21:237–48. doi: 10.1007/s10120-017-0741-6
- Geng Y, Lu X, Wu X, Xue L, Wang X, Xu J. MicroRNA-27b suppresses Helicobacter pylori-induced gastric tumorigenesis through negatively regulating Frizzled7. Oncol Rep. (2016) 35:2441–50. doi: 10.3892/or.2016.4572
- Villaseñor T, Madrid-Paulino E, Maldonado-Bravo R, Urbán-Aragón A, Pérez-Martínez L, Pedraza-Alva G. Activation of the Wnt pathway by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis:* a Wnt–Wnt situation. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:50. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00050
- Xing Y, Zhang Y, Jia L, Xu X. Lipopolysaccharide from *Escherichia coli* stimulates osteogenic differentiation of human periodontal ligament sstem cells through Wnt/β-catenin-induced TAZ elevation. *Mol Oral Microbiol*. (2019) 34:1–13. doi: 10.1111/mom.12249
- Hua K, Li Y, Zou H, Hu X, Chen Y, He R, et al. *Haemophilus parasuis* infection disrupts adherence junctions and initializes EMT dependent on canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2018) 8:324. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2018.00324
- 22. Huan YW, Bengtsoon RJ, MacIntyre N, Guthrle J, Finlayson H, Smith SH, et al. *Lawsonia intracellularis* exploits β-catenin/Wnt and Notch signalling pathways during infection of intestinal crypt to alter cell homeostasis and promote cell proliferation. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0173782. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0173782
- Gopal A, Chidambaram IS, Devaraj N, Devaraj H. Shigella dysenteriae infection activates proinflammatory response through βcatenin/NF-κB signaling pathway. PLoS ONE. (2017) 12:e0174943. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0174943
- 24. Li D, Wang W, Wu Y, Ma X, Zhou W, Lai Y. Lipopeptide 78 from *Staphylococcus epidermidis* activates β-catenin to inhibit skin inflammation. *J Immunol.* (2019) 202:1219–28. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.18 00813
- 25. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Salmonella*. Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/salmonella/index.html.
- Du F, Galán JE. Selective inhibition of type III secretion activated signaling by the *Salmonella* effector AvrA. *PLoS Pathog.* (2009) 5:e1000595. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000595
- Xingyin L, Sun J. Enteric bacterial regulation of the Wnt/β-catenin signaling. In: Sun J, Dudeja PK, editors. *Physiology in Health and Disease. Mechanisms Underlying Host-Microbiome Interactions in Pathophysiology of Human Diseases*. New York, NY: The American Physiological Society, Springer (2018). p. 79–88. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7534-1
- Collier-Hyams LS, Zeng H, Sun J, Tomlinson AD, Bao ZQ, Chen H, et al. Cutting edge: Salmonella AvrA effector inhibits the key proinflammatory, anti-apoptotic NF-κB pathway. J Immunol. (2002) 169:2846–50. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.6.2846
- Sun L, CZ J. The novel functions of ubiquitination in signaling. Curr Opin Cell Biol. (2004) 16:119–26. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2004.02.005
- 30. Sun J, Robert ME, Duan Y, Rao AS, He TC, Chang EB, et al. Crosstalk between NF- $\kappa$ B and  $\beta$ -catenin pathways in bacterial-colonized intestinal epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liv Physiol.* (2005) 289:G129–37. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00515.2004
- 31. Silva-García O, Valdez-Alarcón JJ, Baizabal-Aguirre VM. The Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway controls the inflammatory response in infections

caused by pathogenic bacteria. *Mediators Inflamm*. (2014) 2014:310183. doi: 10.1155/2014/310183

- Wang J, Lu R, Fu X, Dan Z, Zhang YG, Chang X, et al. Novel regulatory roles of Wnt1 in infection-associated colorectal cancer. *Neoplasia*. (2018) 20:499–509. doi: 10.1016/j.neo.2018.03.001
- Huynh J, Chand A, Gough D, Ernst M. Therapeutically exploiting STAT3 activity in cancer—Using tissue repair as a road map. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2018) 19:82–96. doi: 10.1038/s41568-018-0090-8
- Yu H, Lee H, Herrmann A, Buettner R, Jove R. Revisiting STAT3 signalling in cancer: new and unexpected biological functions. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2014) 14:736–46. doi: 10.1038/nrc3818
- Lu R, Wu S, Yg Zhang, Xia Y, Zhou Z, Kato I, et al. Salmonella protein AvrA activates the STAT3 signaling pathway in colon cancer. Neoplasia. (2016) 18:307–16. doi: 10.1016/j.neo.2016.04.001
- Labriola J, Zhou Y, Nagar B. Structural analysis of the bacterial effector, AvrA, identifies a critical helix involved in MKK4-substrate recognition. *Biochemistry*. (2018) 57:4985–96. doi: 10.1021/acs.biochem.8b00512
- 37. Lewis JD, Wilton M, Mott GA, Lu W, Hassan JA, Guttman DS, et al. Immunomodulation by the *Pseudomonas syringae* HopZ Type III effector family in *Arabidopsis. PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e116152. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116152
- Tasset C, Bernoux M, Jauneau A, Pouzet C, Brière C, Kieffer-Jacquinod S, et al. Autoacetylation of the *Ralstonia solanacearum* effector PopP2 targets a lysine residue essential for RRS1-R-mediated immunity in *Arabidopsis. PLoS Pathog.* (2010) 6:e1001202. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1001202
- Wu WK, Cho CH, Lee CW, Fan D, Wu K, Yu J, et al. Dysregulation of cellular signaling in gastric cancer. *Cancer Lett.* (2010) 295:144–53. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2010.04.025
- Tegtmeyer N, Backert S (eds.). Molecular Pathogenesis and Signal Transduction by Helicobacter pylori. Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology. Cham: Springer (2017). doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-50520-6
- Tohidpour A. CagA-mediated pathogenesis of *Helicobacter pylori. Microb* Pathog. (2016) 93:44–55. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.01.005
- 42. Suzuki M, Mimuro H, Kiga K, Fukumatsu M, Ishijima N, Morikawa H, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* CagA phosphorylation-independent function in epithelial proliferation and inflammation. *Cell Host Microbe*. (2009) 5:23–34. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2008.11.010
- Rasola A, Fassetta M, De Bacco F, D'Alessandro L, Gramaglia D, Di Renzo MF, et al. A positive feedback loop between hepatocyte growth factor receptor and beta-catenin sustains colorectal cancer cell invasive growth. *Oncogene*. (2007) 26:1078–87. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209859
- 44. Tsang YH, Lamb A, Romero-Gallo J, Huang B, Ito K, Peek RM Jr, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* CagA targets gastric tumor suppressor RUNX3 for proteasome-mediated degradation. *Oncogene*. (2010) 29:5643–50. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.304
- 45. Soutto M, Peng D, Katsha A, Chen Z, Piazuelo MB, Washington MK, et al. Activation of  $\beta$ -catenin signalling by TFF1 loss promotes cell proliferation and gastric tumorigenesis. *Gut.* (2015) 64:1028–39. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-307191
- 46. Yong X, Tang B, Xiao YF, Xie R, Qin Y, Luo G, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* upregulates Nanog and Oct4 *via* Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway to promote cancer stem cell-like properties in human gastric cáncer. *Cancer Lett.* (2016) 374:292–303. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2016.02.032
- 47. Chiou SH, Wang ML, Chou YT, Chen CJ, Hong CF, Hsieh WJ, et al. Coexpression of *Oct4* and *Nanog* enhances malignancy in lung adenocarcinoma by inducing cancer stem cell-like properties and epithelialmesenchymal transdifferentiation. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:10433–44. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-2638
- Hatakeyama M. Oncogenic mechanisms of the *Helicobacter pylori* CagA protein. Nat Rev Cancer. (2004) 4:688–94. doi: 10.1038/nrc1433
- Franco AT, Israel DA, Washington MK, Krishna U, Fox JG, Rogers AB, et al. Activation of beta-catenin by carcinogenic *Helicobacter pylori*. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:10646–51. doi: 10.1073/pnas.05049 27102
- Chiyomaru T, Seki N, Inoguchi S, Ishihara T, Mataki H, Matsushita R, et al. Dual regulation of receptor tyrosine kinase genes EGFR and c-Met by the tumor-suppressive microRNA-23b/27b cluster in bladder cancer. *Int J Oncol.* (2015) 46:487–96. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2014.2752

- Jiang J, Lv X, Fan L, Huang G, Zhan Y, Wang M, et al. MicroRNA-27b suppresses growth and invasion of NSCLC cells by targeting Sp1. *Tumour Biol.*. (2014) 35:10019–23. doi: 10.1007/s13277-014-2294-1
- 52. Liu N, Zhou N, Chai N, Liu X, Jiang H, Wu Q, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* promotes angiogenesis depending on Wnt/beta-catenin-mediated vascular endothelial growth factor *via the* cyclooxygenase-2 pathway in gastric cancer. *BMC Cancer*. (2016) 16:321. doi: 10.1186/s12885-016-2351-9
- 53. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. *Tuberculosis (TB)*. Available online at: https://www.cdc.gov/tb/topic/research
- Hossain MM, Norazmi MN. Pattern recognition receptors and cytokines in Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection—The double-edged sword? Biomed Res Int. (2013) 2013:179174. doi: 10.1155/2013/179174
- Chaussabel D, Semnani RT, McDowell MA, Sacks D, Sher A, Nutman TB. Unique gene expression profiles of human macrophages and dendritic cells to phylogenetically distinct parasites. *Blood.* (2003) 102:672–81. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-10-3232
- Nseir S, Ader F, Lubret R, Marquette CH. Pathophysiology of airway colonization in critically ill COPD patient. *Curr Drug Targets*. (2011) 12:514– 20. doi: 10.2174/138945011794751537
- 57. Alhazmi A. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*—Pathogenesis and pathogenic mechanisms. *Int J Biol.* (2015) 7:44–67. doi: 10.5539/ijb.v7n2p44
- Fu Q, Chen K, Zhu Q, Wang W, Huang F, Miao L, et al. β-Catenin promotes intracellular bacterial killing via suppression of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa-triggered macrophage autophagy. J Int Med Res. (2017) 45:556–69. doi: 10.1177/0300060517692147
- Deng W, Li Y, Vallance BA, Finlay BB. Locus of enterocyte effacement from *Citrobacter rodentium*: Sequence analysis and evidence for horizontal transfer among attaching and effacing pathogens. *Infect Immun.* (2001) 69:6323–35. doi: 10.1128/IAI.69.10.6323-6335.2001
- Luperchio SA, Schauer DB. Molecular pathogenesis of *Citrobacter rodentium* and transmissible murine colonic hyperplasia. *Microbes Infect*. (2001) 3:333– 40. doi: 10.1016/S1286-4579(01)01387-9
- Lopez CA, Miller BM, Rivera-Chávez F, Velazquez EM, Byndloss MX, Bäumler AJ, et al. Virulence factors enhance *Citrobacter rodentium* expansion through aerobic respiration. *Science*. (2016) 353:1249–53. doi: 10.1126/science.aag3042
- Ma B, Hottiger MO. Crosstalk between Wnt/β-catenin and NF-κB signaling pathway during inflammation. Front Immunol. (2016) 7:378. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00378
- Kelly CP, Lamont JT. Clostridium difficile—More difficult than ever. N Engl J Med. (2008) 359:1932–40. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0707500
- Yuan P, Zhang H, Cai C, Zhu S, Zhou Y, Li S. Chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan 4 functions as the cellular receptor for *Clostridium difficile* toxin B. *Cell Res.* (2015) 25:157–68. doi: 10.1038/cr.2014.169
- Chen P, Tao L, Wang T, Zhang J, He X, Jin R, et al. Structural basis for recognition of frizzled proteins by *Clostridium difficile* toxin B. *Science*. (2018) 360:664–9. doi: 10.1126/science.aar1999
- Dijksterhuis JP, Baljinnyam B, Stanger K, Sercan HO, Ji Y, Schulte G, et al. Systematic mapping of WNT-FZD protein interactions reveals functional selectivity by distinct WNT-FZD pairs. J Biol Chem. (2015) 290:6789–98. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.612648
- Ghotaslou R, Baghi HB, Alizadeh N, Yekani M, Arbabi S, Memar MY. Mechanisms of *Bacteroides fragilis* resistance to metronidazole. *Infect Genet Evol.* (2018) 64:156–63. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2018.06.020
- Obiso R, Lyerly DM, Van Tassell RL, Wilkins TD. Proteolytic activity of the Bacteroides fragilis enterotoxin causes fluid secretion and intestinal damage in vivo. Infect Immun. (1995) 63:3820–6.
- 69. Kim J, Oh Y, Kim Y, Oh H, Cho Y. Polarized secretion of CXC chemokines by human intestinal epithelial cells in response to *Bacteroides fragilis* enterotoxin: NF-κB plays a major role in the regulation of IL-8 expression. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2001) 123:421–7. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2249.2001. 01462.x
- Kam Y, Quaranta V. Cadherin-bound β-catenin feeds into the Wnt pathway upon adherens junctions dissociation: evidence for an intersection between β-catenin pools. *PLoS ONE*. (2009) 4:e4580. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0004580
- 71. Karassek S, Starost L, Solbach J, Greune L, Sano Y, Schmidt MA, et al. Pertussis toxin exploits specific host cell signaling pathways for promoting

invasion and translocation of *Escherichia coli* K1 RS218 in human brainderived microvascular endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem.* (2015) 290:24835–43. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.650101

- Lasserre JM, Brecx MC, Toma S. Oral microbes, biofilms, and their role in periodontal and peri-implant diseases. *Materials*. (2018) 11:1802. doi: 10.3390/ma11101802
- Nedvalcoba K, Satran P, Jaglic Z, Ondriasova R, Kucerova Z. Haemophilus parasuis and Glässers disease in pigs: a review. Vet Med (Praha). (2006) 5:168–79. doi: 10.17221/5537-VETMED
- Smith DGE, Lawson GHK. Lawsonia intracellularis: getting inside the pathogenesis or proliferative enteropathy. Vet Microbiol. (2001) 82:331–45. doi: 10.1016/S0378-1135(01)00397-2
- Mattock E, Blocker AJ. How do virulence factors of Shigella work together to cause disease? Front Cell Infect Microbiol. (2017) 7:64. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00064
- Christensen JGM, Brüggemann H. Bacterial skin commensal and their role as host guardians. *Benef Microbes*. (2014) 5:201–15. doi: 10.3920/BM20 12.0062

- 77. Ong JS, Taylor TD, Yong CC, Koo BY, Sasidharan S, Choi SB, et al. Lactobacillus plantarum USM8613 aids in wound healing and suppresses Staphylococcus aureus infection at wound sites. Probiotics Antimicrob Proteins. (2019) doi: 10.1007/s12602-018-9505-9
- Neu HC. The crisis in antibiotic resistance. Science. (1992) 257:1064–73. doi: 10.1126/science.257.5073.1064

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Silva-García, Valdez-Alarcón and Baizabal-Aguirre. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Bacterial Manipulation of Wnt Signaling: A Host-Pathogen Tug-of-Wnt

#### Madison R. Rogan<sup>1</sup>, LaNisha L. Patterson<sup>1</sup>, Jennifer Y. Wang<sup>1</sup> and Jere W. McBride<sup>1,2,3,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Pathology, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX, United States, <sup>2</sup> Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX, United States, <sup>3</sup> Center for Biodefense and Emerging Infectious Diseases, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX, United States, <sup>4</sup> Institute for Human Infections and Immunity, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, TX, United States

The host-pathogen interface is a crucial battleground during bacterial infection in which host defenses are met with an array of bacterial counter-mechanisms whereby the invader aims to make the host environment more favorable to survival and dissemination. Interestingly, the eukaryotic Wnt signaling pathway has emerged as a key player in the host and pathogen tug-of-war. Although studied for decades as a regulator of embryogenesis, stem cell maintenance, bone formation, and organogenesis, Wnt signaling has recently been shown to control processes related to bacterial infection in the human host. Wnt signaling pathways contribute to cell cycle control, cytoskeleton reorganization during phagocytosis and cell migration, autophagy, apoptosis, and a number of inflammation-related events. Unsurprisingly, bacterial pathogens have evolved strategies to manipulate these Wnt-associated processes in order to enhance infection and survival within the human host. In this review, we examine the different ways human bacterial pathogens with distinct host cell tropisms and lifestyles exploit Wnt signaling for infection and address the potential of harnessing Wnt-related mechanisms to combat infectious disease.

# OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Wanderley De Souza, Federal University of Rio de Janeiro, Brazil

#### Reviewed by:

Emile Santos Barrias, National Institute of Metrology, Quality and Technology, Brazil Arshad Khan, McGovern Medical School, University of Texas, United States

#### \*Correspondence: Jere W. McBride

jemcbrid@utmb.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 01 July 2019 Accepted: 23 September 2019 Published: 17 October 2019

#### Citation:

Rogan MR, Patterson LL, Wang JY and McBride JW (2019) Bacterial Manipulation of Wnt Signaling: A Host-Pathogen Tug-of-Wnt. Front. Immunol. 10:2390. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02390 Keywords: Wnt,  $\beta$ -catenin, bacteria, pathogen, innate immunity, immunoevasion

# INTRODUCTION

The innate immune response is the first, and in many successful cases, the primary barrier between bacterial invader and human host. Fine-tuned through co-evolution with microbial insults and largely evolutionarily conserved across the Metazoa, the innate immune system specializes in both pathogen recognition and the formation of a rapid response (1). At the foundation of the innate cellular antimicrobial response are families of germline-encoded pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) expressed by professional phagocytes, including Toll-like, C-type lectin, NOD-like, and RIG-I-like receptors (2, 3). Interaction of receptor and ligand, which include lipoproteins, polysaccharides, nucleic acids, and other conserved microbial molecular patterns, results in an inflammatory response involving cytokine, and chemokine gene transcription, pathogen clearance through various mechanisms such as lysosomes, antimicrobial peptides, or membrane attack complexes, and coordination of the adaptive immune response (2, 4). Unsurprisingly, bacterial pathogens have evolved an armament of immunoevasion mechanisms as carefully selected for as the immune system that defends the host. The very foundation of bacterial virulence is the ability to subvert host defenses in order to establish a replicative niche. This involves mechanisms beneficial

57

to pathogens that replicate in the extracellular niche, such as serum resistance, tissue adherence, and motility; mechanisms beneficial to the pathogens that replicate in an intracellular niche, such as controlling host cell fate and avoiding lysosomal destruction; and mechanisms employed by pathogens of both niches including competitive nutrient acquisition systems and secretion of effector proteins to modulate the host.

The means by which pathogens subvert the host innate immune responses have helped expand our knowledge regarding how eukaryotic cellular signaling pathways cooperate to modulate innate immunity. Often, these pathways moonlight as branches of the immune system, as they were originally discovered in the context of cell development or cancer. For example, eukaryotic Notch signaling is a well-characterized regulator of cell fate that is highly active in development and tissue homeostasis (5). This pathway has been shown to function within innate immunity through regulation of PRR expression. The obligately intracellular pathogen Ehrlichia chaffeensis utilizes a type 1 secretion system (T1SS) effector to activate Notch signaling which indirectly downregulates PU.1, a transcriptional activator of TLR2 and 4 (6). The discovery of xenophagy as a type of autophagy is another example of a moonlighting innate immune pathway. Years of research have demonstrated that a process originally thought only to function as a cellular starvation and stress response also functions within the innate immune system (7). Xenophagy is deployed against Group A Streptococcus as a method of bacterial clearance, while other pathogens express effector proteins to escape xenophagy, as is the case with Listeria monocytogenes expression of xenophagy evasion protein ActA (8, 9). As evidence linking conserved eukaryotic cell pathways to the immunosubversion of human pathogens continues to grow, as does our model of the innate immune system and the networks that comprise it.

Mounting research within the last two decades has demonstrated that the conserved eukaryotic signaling pathway Wnt is a significant part of the interplay between the human host and both extracellular and intracellular bacterial pathogens. The discovery of the Wnt pathway began with the identification of the murine oncogene int-1 that was found to be homologous with a Drosophila gene that controlled body segmentation during development (10, 11). Later renamed Wnt proteins, these gene products are a family of 19 highly conserved, secreted, lipidated glycoproteins that regulate metazoan development and tissue homeostasis (12). Wnt proteins participate in paracrine and autocrine signaling through binding of 1 of 10 homologs of the seven-pass transmembrane receptor Frizzled (Fzd1-10) and a cognate coreceptor expressed on the surface of the signal-receiving cell. The signal is transduced through the intracellular mediator Disheveled (Dvl) which, depending on its phosphorylation state, activates either canonical or noncanonical pathways (13). Canonical Wnt signaling, also known as  $\beta\text{-}catenin\text{-}dependent$  signaling, is the most well-studied Wnt pathway (**Figure 1**) (14). In the pathway off state, the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex consisting of Axin, adenomatous polyposis coli (APC), glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK3β), and casein kinase 1 (CK1) facilitates the phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -catenin by GSK3 $\beta$  which induces ubiquitination of  $\beta$ -catenin by the β-TrCP-SCF E3 RING-type ubiquitin ligase complex (β-TrCP) and subsequent proteasomal degradation. When Dvl is activated through interaction of a Wnt ligand with a Fzd receptor and the canonical pathway coreceptor lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5/6 (LRP5/6), the destruction complex is recruited to the Frizzled-Dvl complex at the plasma membrane, freeing β-catenin from degradation. Accumulation of the cytoplasmic pool of βcatenin induces its translocation into the nucleus where it binds with T-cell factor (TCF) transcription factor at the Wnt response element (WRE) DNA sequence and activates transcription of target genes involved in processes such as development (*SNAIL*, *ENGRAILED*, *SLUG*) and cell proliferation (*CMYC*, *CCND1*, and *MMP7*).

Non-canonical, *β*-catenin-independent signaling can be divided into two pathways: the Wnt/Ca<sup>2+</sup> pathway and the planar cell polarity (Wnt/PCP) pathway. In the Wnt/Ca<sup>2+</sup> pathway, Wnt ligands signal through Fzd and the coreceptor receptor tyrosine kinase-like orphan receptor 1/2 (ROR1/2) to induce Dvl-dependent phospholipase C (PLC) cleavage of phosphatidylinositol 4,5-biphosphate (PIP<sub>2</sub>), producing inositol triphosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) and diacyl glycerol (DAG) (Figure 2A) (15).  $IP_3$  acts on Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels at the endoplasmic reticulum resulting in a wave of cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$  that drives protein kinase C (PKC) and Ca<sup>2+</sup>/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CAMKII) activity. This controls nuclear translocation of nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) for target gene transcription and actin polymerization through the Rho GTPase CDC42. NFAT target genes have been most thoroughly researched in the context of osteoclast formation and T cell regulation. In the transcription-independent Wnt/PCP pathway, cell polarity and migration are regulated through the direct interaction of Dvl and Dvl-associated activator of morphogenesis (DAAM1), G protein activation of the small GTPase Rac, and Dvl activation of phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) (Figure 2B) (16). Noncanonical pathways demonstrate a high amount of crosstalk and together regulate events such as filopodia formation, cell movement, and establishment of cell polarity.

Pathogen manipulation of Wnt signaling as a mechanism of innate immune subversion takes advantage of three main outcomes of the signal cascade: cell fate determination (including maintenance of epithelia and endothelia), anti-inflammatory effects, and phagolysosome formation. In this review, we highlight mechanisms of Wnt pathway manipulation by several extracellular, and obligate intracellular pathogens, with a specific focus on the virulence factors involved and the consequences on innate immune subversion. **Table 1** summarizes the role of Wnt signaling in the pathogenesis of the bacteria reviewed herein. Ultimately, our understanding of host-pathogen interaction at the cellular and molecular levels will highlight potential targets for therapeutic intervention and expand our model of the many roles of Wnt signaling within the eukaryotic cell.

## **INTRACELLULAR PATHOGENS**

## Salmonella enterica

The Gram-negative, facultative intracellular bacillus Salmonella enterica causes typhoid fever or non-typhoidal salmonellosis in



binds  $\beta$ -catenin leading to its phosphorylation by GSK3 $\beta$  and subsequent ubiquitination by the E3 ubiquitin ligase complex  $\beta$ -TrCP which targets  $\beta$ -catenin for proteasomal degradation. Thus, the Wnt response element (WRE) located in the promoter region of Wnt pathway target genes remains bound by transcriptional repressor TLE. When a secreted Wnt ligand originating from the same or a nearby cell binds Fzd and the coreceptor LRP5/6, DvI is phosphorylated and sequesters the destruction complex, preventing the phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -catenin. Accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin is the cytoplasm leads to nuclear translocation of the protein where it binds with co-activator TCF at the WRE and drives expression of Wnt target genes.

humans. The bacteria are commonly foodborne pathogens but can also be transmitted fecal-orally (53). *Salmonella* establish infection in the gut where they replicate within the lumen until sufficient numbers induce their entry into M cells which is triggered by T3SS effectors. *S. enterica* are also phagocytosed by various phagocytic cells but can survive phagolysosome acidification and replicate within the intracellular vacuole. Dissemination to other organs is accompanied by a robust immune response and the potential for persistent infection within various cell types. Crossing of the gut barrier and infection of infiltrating immune cells including neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages are essential to dissemination.

Nearly two decades of research have created the model of *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium manipulation of canonical Wnt signaling to promote infection (**Figure 3A**). Curiously, *S.* Typhimurium suppresses Wnt signaling in intestinal epithelium and the underlying capillary endothelium but activates the pathway in intestinal stem cells in what appears to be a cell type- or temporally-specific mechanism. In transformed T84 colon carcinoma cells, wild type *S*. Typhimurium represses pathway activation as identified by significant suppression of  $\beta$ -catenin levels that correlates with decreased formation of the TCF- $\beta$ -catenin complex in the nucleus, dampened expression of the Wnt target gene *CMYC*, and suppression of cellular proliferation (17). This is contrasted with colonization by non-pathogenic *S*. Typhimurium strain PhoP<sup>C</sup> which possesses an attenuating, constitutively active PhoP-PhoQ two-component system and does not suppress  $\beta$ -catenin-TCF complex formation, implicating a role for this response regulator in suppression of Wnt signaling by pathogenic salmonellae in the colonic epithelium, both in cell culture and in a mouse model (18).

The effects of *S*. Typhimurium suppression of Wnt signaling in the intestines have created two models for



bacterial host manipulation by Wnt signaling modulation. First, Salmonella studies have revealed a mechanism behind the immunosuppressive effects of  $\beta$ -catenin signaling. IkB $\alpha$ negatively regulates NF-kB transcriptional activity through cytosolic sequestration of NF-KB. It has been shown that β-catenin associates with this complex, indirectly stabilizing IκBα through an unknown mechanism (19). Activation of the NF-kB pathway causes ubiquitination of IkBa by the ubiquitin E3 ligase  $\beta$ -TrCP, the same ligase that targets  $\beta$ -catenin for degradation to suppress Wnt pathway activity, which results in ubiquitin-dependent degradation of I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$  (54). Activation of this E3 ligase therefore results in silencing of Wnt signaling through loss of  $\beta$ -catenin and activation of NF- $\kappa$ B signaling through loss of IkBa repression, while suppression of  $\beta$ -TrCP has the opposite effect. During S. Typhimurium infection of colonic epithelial cells, the NF-KB target genes IL6, IL8, and TNFA are induced, corresponding with enhanced ubiquitination of IkBa as well as  $\beta$ -catenin degradation which demonstrates the reciprocal

activation of these two pathways by infection (18, 19). Infection

in the presence of lithium chloride, a  $\beta$ -catenin stabilizing agent, or a constitutively active  $\beta$ -catenin mutant  $CTNNB1^{-/\Delta 45}$  attenuates this effect. Activation of NF-  $\kappa$ B signaling through direct inhibition of  $\beta$ -catenin-dependent Wnt signaling induces the proinflammatory response which recruits dendritic cells and macrophages. While TNF- $\alpha$  is important for controlling replication and spread of bacteria, the cells producing it are also host cells for both replicative and persistent salmonellae, thereby supporting survival and dissemination of the bacteria (53, 55, 56).

Recently, another pathogenic mechanism was discovered by which salmonellae inhibit canonical Wnt signaling at the gutvascular barrier (GVB), a system of tight and adherens junctions in the capillaries underlying the gut epithelium that functions as a size-selective barrier to molecules traversing the gut barrier (20). Similar to the blood-brain barrier, the GVB is regulated by canonical Wnt signaling (20, 57). This protective barrier is impermeable to bacteria, but infection by *S*. Typhimurium results in downregulation of Wnt signaling in the endothelium

Pathogen	Pathway	Effect	Tissue/cell type	Bacterial determinants	Mechanism	Outcome	References
Salmonella enterica	Canonical	Inhibition	Intestinal epithelium	PhoP-PhoQ	Unknown	NF-kB activation; inflammation	(17–19)
			Intestinal capillaries	Spi2	Unknown	Gut-vascular barrier disruption	(20)
		Activation	Crypt-localized epithelial cells	AvrA	β-catenin deubiquitination	Cell proliferation; NF-κB inhibition	(21–23)
			Enterocytes	SopB	β-catenin de-phosphorylation	RANKL-mediated epithelial-mesenchymal transition	(24)
<i>Chlamydia</i> spp.	Canonical	Activation	Reproductive tract epithelium	Unknown	Adherens junction disruption	Host cell proliferation; <i>OLFM4</i> upregulation; chlamydiae development	(25, 26)
			Respiratory epithelium	Cpn1027	Caprin2, GSK3β sequestration	<i>BCL2</i> -mediated apoptosis inhibition	(27)
Rickettsia spp.	Canonical	Activation	Endothelium	Unknown	Adherens junction disruption; DKK1 inhibition	IL6, IL8 suppression	(28, 29)
Ehrlichia chaffeensis	Canonical	Activation	Monocytes	TRP120, TRP32, TRP47	Direct interaction with pathway components, target genes	Autophagy inhibition	(30–35)
	Wnt/PCP	Activation				Phagocytosis; lysosome biogenesis suppression; mTOR-mediated autophagy inhibition	
	Wnt/Ca <sup>2+</sup>	Activation				Phagocytosis	
	Canonical	Activation	Macrophages	Unknown	Wnt3a-Fzd1 signaling	Pro-inflammatory cytokine suppression	(36–38)
	Wnt/Ca <sup>2+</sup>	Activation		Unknown	Wnt5a-dependent PIAS1 and SOCS1 expression; Ca <sup>2+</sup> -regulation of phagocytosis	Inhibition of TLR signaling; inhibition of phagosome-lysosome fusion	(39, 40)
	Non- canonical	Activation		Unknown	Wnt6-G protein-ERK-induced MYC expression	Anti-inflammatory M2 macrophage phenotype	(41)
Clostridium difficile	Canonical	Inhibition	Colonic epithelium	TcdA	Inhibition of Rac1-mediated β-catenin nuclear transport; β-catenin degradation	Suppression of cell proliferation	(42)
				TcdB	Fzd binding	Intestinal epithelium weakening; inflammation	(43, 44)
Helicobacter pylori	Canonical	Activation	Gastric epithelium	CagA; T4SS (CagA- independent)	E-cadherin cleavage; methylation of Wnt antagonist genes	Cell proliferation; intestinal transdifferentiation	(45, 46)
	Wnt/Ca <sup>2+</sup>	Activation			Unknown	Intestinal transdifferentiation	(47)
Pseudomonas aeruginosa	Canonical	Inhibition	Intestinal epithelium	PAI	Adherens junction disruption	Epithelium weakening	(48, 49)
			Lung epithelium	LecB	β-catenin degradation	NF-κB activation; cell cycle arrest; delayed tissue recovery	
coli	Wnt/Ca <sup>2+</sup>	Inhibition	Bladder epithelium	Unknown	Wnt5a suppression	Cell Differentiation	(50–52, 153)
	Wnt/Ca <sup>2+</sup>	Activation		Unknown	EZH2-mediated Wnt5a expression	Cell proliferation	
	Canonical	Activation	Intestinal epithelium	Unknown	EZH2-mediated WIF1 repression	Crypt hyperplasia	
			Bladder epithelium	HlyA	β-catenin degradation	NF-κB inhibition; immunosuppression	

TABLE 1 | Summary of the role of Wnt signaling pathways and respective bacterial factors involved in the pathogenesis of representative bacteria.



FIGURE 3 | Canonical Wnt signaling manipulation during bacterial infection of epithelial cells. (A) *S. enterica* infection of intestinal epithelial cells inhibits Wnt signaling through an unknown mechanism (left). Activity of the E3 ubiquitin ligase β-TrCP, which targets both β-catenin and IkBα for proteasomal degradation, stabilizes NF-kB (Continued)

**FIGURE 3** | levels which causes nuclear translocation of the protein and expression of pro-inflammatory target genes. Wnt signaling is also inhibited in the GVB during infection, promoting bacterial access to vasculature by increasing vascular permeability. *S. enterica* secretes the T3SS effectors AvrA and SopB into intestinal M cells and crypt-localized epithelial cells which causes activation of canonical Wnt signaling (right). Deubiquitinase AvrA and phosphatase SopB induce pathway activation through reversal of  $\beta$ -catenin posttranslational modifications, promoting expression of  $\beta$ -catenin-dependent genes that drive EMT in M cells, induce intestinal stem cell proliferation, and inhibit NF- $\kappa$ B activity in stem cells. (**B**) *C. trachomatis* infection of reproductive tract epithelium induces breakdown of adherens junctions and accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin in the cytoplasm (left).  $\beta$ -catenin localizes to the chlamydial inclusion and translocates into the nucleus to activate transcription. Pathway activity promotes the bacterial developmental cycle through unknown mechanisms as well as drives expression of *OLFM4* which is known to inhibit NF- $\kappa$ B signaling. *C. pneumoniae* expresses inclusion membrane protein Cpn1027 during infection of respiratory epithelium (right). Cpn1027 recruits Caprin2, a scaffold protein of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex, as well as GSK3 $\beta$ , thereby reducing  $\beta$ -catenin turnover and allowing nuclear translocation for expression of target gene *BCL2* to inhibit host cell apoptosis.

which enhances vascular leakiness and promotes bacterial dissemination (20). In the presence of recombinant canonical pathway ligand Wnt3a, canonical signaling is activated and *S*. Typhimurium-induced leakiness is reduced. *S*. Typhimurium possess two pathogenicity islands (Spi1 and Spi2) that together encode the T3SS. A strain lacking Spi2 is unable to induce vascular permeability, indicating this pathogenic mechanism is Spi2-dependent. This model demonstrates how salmonellae permeabilize endothelial layers utilizing T3SS factors without directly manipulating cell-cell contacts, a mechanism that is employed by other endothelial pathogens such as *Rickettsia*. Whether this implicates activation of Wnt signaling as a potential therapeutic for *S. enterica* infection, and whether specific *S. enterica* pathogenicity island effectors are responsible for Wnt pathway inhibition remains to be investigated.

Studies using a Salmonella colitis mouse model have demonstrated that S. Typhimurium is able to stimulate Wnt signaling in intestinal stem cells in contrast to the inhibitory mechanism deployed in the epithelium and endothelium. The T3SS effector AvrA, a deubiquitinase, has been shown to activate canonical Wnt signaling in intestinal stem cells through deubiquitination and subsequent stabilization of βcatenin (21, 58). Additionally, AvrA alone, in the absence of infection, can activate pathway activity. In the colon of the Salmonella colitis mouse model, stem cells demonstrate βcatenin nuclear localization and expression of Wnt target genes MMP7 and CCND1 (22). Hyperactivation mediates pathological effects, and studies have shown that in mice with induced inflammation, infection with AvrA+ S. Typhimurium drives tumorigenesis (22). In addition to AvrA, T3SS effector SopB has tumorigenic properties through inducing cellular transformation of follicular-associated epithelial enterocytes into microfold cells (24). This has also been linked to a canonical Wnt-dependent mechanism. The phosphatase dephosphorylates  $\beta$ -catenin and Akt in primary rectal epithelial cells, resulting in β-catenindependent signaling and expression of target gene SLUG which activates RANKL expression, a critical cytokine for M cell development (24, 59). Indeed, increased M cells is a phenotype of S. enterica infection and proliferation of this cell type promotes S. Typhimurium invasion of the intestines for enhanced survival and dissemination.

S. Typhimurium has proven to be a model pathogen for understanding the role of canonical Wnt signaling in both gut tissue maintenance and suppression of inflammatory pathway signaling, physiological processes that are applicable to a range of pathogens that occupy a similar niche. Insight to *Salmonella*  inhibition of signaling to perturb the GVB brings to light the therapeutic potential of Wnt ligands to maintain endothelial barriers. R-spondin3, a Wnt homolog, has been shown to exhibit an anti-inflammatory effect in an ischemia/reperfusion mouse model and induces tightening of endothelial junctions and loss of vascular leakiness (60). Furthermore, understanding how effectors SopB and AvrA contribute to pathway manipulation during infection highlights the potential of such mechanisms as therapeutics for infection or other disease states mediated by dysregulated Wnt signaling.

## Chlamydia spp

Chlamydia trachomatis and Chlamydia pneumoniae are obligately intracellular, anaerobic pathogens that typically target the human genital and respiratory tract mucosal epithelial cells, respectively. Chlamydiae undergo a developmental cycle in which they transition between two ultrastructural forms at different phases of infection (61). The elementary body (EB) is the infectious form of the bacteria that triggers entry into the host cell. Once intracellular, the chlamydiae transition into the replicative reticulate body (RB) form within the inclusion, the membrane-bound microcolony. The intracellular chlamydiae interact with the host cell through both T3SS effector proteins as well as inclusion membrane-localized proteins that interface with the host cell cytoplasm. Environmental cues such as drug presence or immunological stress can induce the EB to enter a persistent form in which they evade immune detection by entering a dormant state within the inclusion (62). At the end of the infection cycle, the RB transition back into and EB and leave the cell through lysis or exocytosis to infect a neighboring cell.

C. trachomatis targets epithelial cells of the genital tract, including the endometrial and fallopian epithelium. Wnt/ $\beta$ catenin signaling is known to maintain epithelial cell homeostasis through regulating tissue renewal and cell proliferation, and through facilitating epithelial barrier integrity by the  $\beta$ -catenin-E-cadherin complex that constitutes adherens junctions (63-65). C. trachomatis infection in the fallopian tube has been shown to disrupt adherens junctions and cause redistribution of β-catenin from the plasma membrane to the chlamydial inclusion (25) (Figure 3B). It is unclear if disruption of these junctions amplifies  $\beta$ -catenin nuclear localization and target gene expression, but infected epithelium does demonstrate increased Wnt pathway activity evidenced by phosphorylationdependent inactivation of GSK3ß and redistribution of APC which indicates inactivation of the β-catenin destruction complex (25). Additionally, inhibition of Wnt signaling through either RNA silencing of  $\beta$ -catenin or a small molecule inhibitor reduces infectivity of the chlamydiae and impairs chlamydiae intracellular development (25, 26). Thus, signaling is beneficial to chlamydiae and may be synergistically activated through inhibition of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex and disruption of adherens junctions. The known beneficial phenotypes of Wnt signaling for the chlamydial niche are 2-fold. First, infection causes Wnt signaling-dependent host cell proliferation, a critical survival strategy for an obligately intracellular pathogen that can maintain persistent infection (25). Second, Wnt signaling upregulates the stem cell marker OLFM4 which is a suppressor of NOD1/2 and NF- $\kappa$ B-dependent pro-inflammatory cytokine expression (23). Therefore, Wnt signaling appears to be an active mechanism of pathogenesis by which *Chlamydia* establishes infection and suppresses NF-kB-mediated innate immune mechanisms.

C. pneumoniae inclusion protein Cpn1027 is the only chlamydial protein known to directly interface with the canonical Wnt pathway. During C. pneumoniae infection of respiratory epithelium, Cpn1027 directly binds the Caprin2, an adaptor protein within the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex (27, 66). GSK3 $\beta$  also localizes to the Cpn1027-Caprin2 complex and demonstrates decreased kinase activity. Consequently,  $\beta$ -catenin translocates to the nucleus and drives expression of the anti-apoptotic *BCL2* gene, linking the infection phenotype of apoptosis inhibition to manipulation of Wnt signaling for enhanced intracellular survival. This mechanism of pathway manipulation is unique to C. pneumoniae as Cpn1027 is not expressed by other species of the Chlamydia genus (67).

Several questions remain regarding the role of Wnt signaling during *Chlamydia* spp. infection. The consequence of  $\beta$ -catenin localization to the C. trachomatis inclusion concurrent with adherens junction disruption is unclear, as signaling is not inhibited in the host cell, and  $\beta$ -catenin is necessary for the chlamydial intracellular life cycle. The chlamydial deubiquitinase ChlaDub 1 has been shown to deubiquitinate NF-KB inhibitor IκBα in order to suppress the NF-κB-dependent expression of proinflammatory cytokines (68).  $\beta$ -catenin and IkB $\alpha$  are both substrates of the E3 ligase  $SCF^{\beta-TrCP}$ , raising the question of whether  $\beta$ -catenin localizes to the chlamydial inclusion to also serve as a ChlaDub 1 substrate which would lead to pathway activation (69). Identifying interactions between chlamydial secreted effectors or inclusion proteins and components of the Wnt pathway will define novel host-bacterial pathogenic interactions that can be targeted by therapeutics. In addition to understanding pathogenic mechanisms, further research will shed light on chlamydial mechanisms of cellular transformation. Chlamydia trachomatis is associated with cancer development through infection-induced degradation of p53 and dysregulated ROS production (70-72). It is well-known that canonical Wnt signaling is a driver of tumorigenesis in multiple human cancers, including cervical cancer (73). However, a model for cervical cancer development through C. trachomatis-induced hyperactivation of Wnt signaling has not been investigated.

#### Rickettsia spp

The *Rickettsia* genus comprises 27 species of obligately intracellular Gram-negative bacteria, over half of which are

human pathogens primarily transmitted by various arthropod vectors (74). *R. conorii* and *R. rickettsii* are both members of the spotted fever group of *Rickettsia* and causative agents of the human diseases Mediterranean spotted fever and Rocky Mountain spotted fever, respectively. These pathogens establish infection in the endothelium which induces an inflammatory response consisting of increased vascular permeability, recruitment and activation of natural killer cells and macrophages, and ROS- and cytokine-mediated vascular damage. The bacteria escape from their endocytic vesicle and replicate in the cytosol where they utilize actin-based motility for cell-to-cell spread. Robust production of cytokines IL-6 and IL-8 correlate with infection lethality, and clearance of the bacteria is typically mediated by PRR engagement (75).

Wnt signaling has a complex role in the endothelium, and activation of the pathway induces endothelial cell proliferation and enhanced interaction between endothelial cells and monocytes (76, 77). Additionally,  $\beta$ -catenin is present at endothelial adherens junctions, regulating cell-cell contacts (78). The Wnt signaling pathway controls neovascularization during development but demonstrates decreased activity in adult vasculature (79). However, activation in certain disease states including infection and cancer can induce Wnt-dependent vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) expression followed by angiogenesis (76). Activated endothelial cells also release DKK1, a member of the Dickkopf family of secreted Wnt signaling antagonists that exert their effect by outcompeting Wnt ligands for binding of coreceptor LRP5/6 (80). DKK1 is a β-catenin target gene that functions through feedback inhibition of Wnt signaling, thereby decreasing neovascularization induced by VEGF-A (81, 82).

In a HUVEC model of *R. conorii* infection,  $\beta$ -catenin rapidly localizes to the nucleus within 2 hpi, indicating activation of Wnt signaling early in infection (Figure 4) (28). It is unclear how the pathway is activated by rickettsiae, as other markers of signaling activity have not been investigated. In a HUVEC model of R. rickettsii infection, adherens junctions are disrupted and β-catenin is redistributed from primarily membrane-localized to diffuse localization throughout the cell (29). A correlation was identified between vascular permeability through loss of adherens junction integrity as well as increased expression of NF-kB-dependent inflammatory cytokines, but whether this is related to canonical Wnt signaling reciprocal regulation of the NF-kB signaling pathway is unknown. Increased nuclear entry of β-catenin during rickettsial infections has not been specifically investigated, but consistent with other models of infection-induced adherens junctions remodeling, it is likely that Rickettsia-induced cell contact disruption can activate canonical Wnt signaling through increasing the cytoplasmic pool of β-catenin.

In accordance with Wnt signaling activation, DKK1 secreted protein level is significantly reduced in a HUVEC model of *R. conorii* infection relative to uninfected controls from 5 to 180 hpi (28). Infection activates endothelial cells and causes significant increase in secreted protein levels of inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and IL-8. However, RNA-mediated silencing of DKK1 in infected HUVECs significantly reduces production



during infection in a DKK1-dependent manner.

of these cytokines, suggesting that DKK1 plays a role in modulating the inflammatory response. It is hypothesized that *R. conorii* suppresses DKK1 to prevent negative regulation of Wnt signaling, thereby keeping proinflammatory cytokine expression relatively low during infection.

These studies highlight a unique role of Wnt signaling feedback inhibitors in pathogenic mechanisms of infection. In seeking to augment Wnt signaling for its anti-inflammatory effect, Rickettsia may possess active mechanisms for reducing the activity of Wnt pathway antagonists like DKK1. A critical gap in this model is whether DKK1 is inhibited at the transcriptional, translational, or post-translation level. Evidence suggests Rickettsia may be inhibiting DKK secretion, although further studies are needed to confirm this. This research also presents the therapeutic potential of harnessing the Wnt pathway to mitigate disease. Recombinant DKK1 has been shown to reduce pathological Wnt signaling activation in a mouse model of neovascularization-induced blindness (81). DKK1 levels in R. conorii-infected patient sera indicate a decline in secreted DKK1 throughout infection, but whether this is a direct result of pathogen manipulation has not been investigated (28). Altogether, these results propose a complex model in which intracellular pathogens act on feedback inhibition mechanisms of Wnt signaling to interfere with pathway activity, and they propose a unique role for DKK1 in influencing the proinflammatory response to *Rickettsia*.

# Ehrlichia chaffeensis

Ehrlichia chaffeensis is the causative agent of the ticktransmitted disease human monocytic ehrlichiosis (HME). The pathogen is an obligately intracellular bacterium and infects mononuclear phagocytes including monocytes. E. chaffeensis enters the host cell through phagocytosis and replicates within a membrane-bound vacuole to form a microcolony known as a morula (83). The morula resembles an autophagosome, but through pathogenic mechanisms never fuses with the lysosome (31). Similar tochlamydiae, ehrlichiae undergo a biphasic developmental cycle within the host cell (84). The infectious dense-cored cell (DC) ehrlichiae invade the host cell and transition into replicating reticulate cells (RC) that divide through binary fission. The ehrlichiae complete their infection cycle by transitioning back into DC, rupturing the host cell, and spreading hematogenously to the next host cell. Throughout infection, ehrlichiae secrete a variety of T1SS and T4SS effectors,

including the TISS tandem repeat protein (TRP) effectors TRP32, TRP47, and TRP120 that induce pathogenesis through direct interactions with numerous host proteins and host DNA (34, 35, 85, 86). Through unknown mechanisms, the TRPs also localize to the surface of the ehrlichiae and decorate the outer membrane, facilitating interactions with the host cell leading to invasion (87, 88).

*E. chaffeensis* has emerged as a model organism for pathogenesis mediated by the hijacking of conserved cell signaling pathways including Wnt signaling (87). Both canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling are active early during infection and are necessary for enhancement of ehrlichial infection, as inhibitors or gene silencing of canonical and non-canonical pathway components significantly reduce *E. chaffeensis* survival within the monocyte (**Figure 5**) (30, 32). Of note, RNA silencing of antagonist DKK3 results in increased infection,

while RNA silencing of canonical and non-canonical pathway components such as CK1, CAMKII, NFAT, and β-catenin significantly reduces infection. E. chaffeensis enters the host cell via phagocytic pathways regulated by Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling and actin filamentation, and the morula labels with autophagosomal markers LC3 and beclin-1 even though autophagy appears to be inhibited and lysosomal marker LAMP2 never localizes to the morula (31, 89, 90). The Wnt pathway has been shown to involved in E. chaffeensis phagocytosis because microspheres coated in ehrlichial surface TRPs can stimulate phagocytosis by monocytes but are unable to do so in the presence of a small molecule inhibitor of Wnt signaling (30). Additionally, RNA silencing of Wnt receptors Fzd5 and Fzd9, and Wnt coreceptor LRP6, significantly reduces the number of intracellular bacteria, indicating a potential role for Fzds as E. chaffeensis receptors. The hypothesis that E. chaffeensis



**FIGURE 5** Canonical and non-canonical Wht signaling manipulation during *E. chaffeensis* infection of monocytes. (1) *E. chaffeensis* dense-cored cells express surface proteins TRP32 and TRP120 that stimulate phagocytosis in a Wht signaling-dependent manner, potentially through interaction with the Wht receptor complex and stimulation of non-canonical Wht pathways to induce cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup> flux and cytoskeletal reorganization. (2) Pathway activity during bacterial entry as well as T1SS secreted effectors TRP32 and TRP120 direct stimulation of PI3K-AKT signaling facilitates mTOR activation which prevents fusion of the bacterial replicative autophagosome with the lysosome. During infection, the secreted TRP effectors localize to the host cytoplasm where they interact with proteins involved in Wht signaling (3) as well as translocate to the nucleus where they bind host DNA within the promoter regions of Wht target genes or directly interact with transcriptional regulators of Wht target genes (4).

uses activation of non-canonical Wnt signaling to drive actin filamentation and bacterial uptake is supported by evidence demonstrating Wnt5-Fzd5-PI3K non-canonical Wnt signaling induces uptake of non-pathogenic E. coli without leading to bacterial killing, as well as the role of non-canonical Wnt signaling in cytoskeletal control (91-94). E. chaffeensis avoidance of lysosomal fusion was also found to be dependent on ehrlichial activation of Wnt-PI3K signaling, mediated by TRP32 and TRP120, to stimulate mTOR inhibition of autophagy as well as inhibition of TFEB-dependent lysosome synthesis genes (31). Accordingly, inhibition of Wnt signaling following E. chaffeensis infection in monocytes promotes colocalization of lysosomal marker LAMP2 with the ehrlichial cytoplasmic vacuole (31). β-catenin activation is known to repress the autophagy protein p62, indicating another potential mechanism by which ehrlichial activation of canonical Wnt signaling drives intracellular survival (95).

In addition to manipulation of Wnt pathway activation early during infection to facilitate phagocytosis and intracellular survival, E. chaffeensis maintains pathway activity throughout infection of the monocyte (30). Yeast-two-hybrid data identified multiple interactions between TRP32 or TRP120 and Wnt signaling pathway components and regulators in the host cytoplasm and nucleus, implicating intracellular pathway manipulation through direct interference with Wnt signaling regulators (85, 86). These interacting partners include pathway negative regulators CEP164 (96), KLHL12 (97), ILF3 (98), and LMO2 (99); and positive regulators PPP3R1 (100) and VPS29 (101). RNA-mediated knockdown of these interacting targets results in significant, differential regulation of THP-1 monocyte infection which demonstrates these TRP-host protein interactions are relevant to E. chaffeensis establishment of infection (32). TRPs also interact with nuclear proteins involved in Wnt target gene epigenetic modification and expression, including the Wnt response element transcriptional repressor TLE4 (102), co-activator DAZAP2 (103), and histone remodeling proteins ARID1B, KDM6B, and IRF2BP2 (104-106). Furthermore, TRP32, TRP47, and TRP120 DNA-binding motifs are within the promoter region of numerous Wnt target genes, indicating the TRPs may directly influence Wnt gene transcription through nucleomodulin activity (33-35). Although these specific interactions have not yet been investigated, it is likely that the nucleomodulin activity of TRP effectors or the recently discovered ubiquitin ligase activity of TRP120, plays a role in manipulation of these target proteins, facilitating Wnt pathway activity and ultimately enhancing E. chaffeensis intracellular survival (107).

*E. chaffeensis* stands out among human pathogens as a bacterium that targets Wnt signaling at both canonical and non-canonical levels and takes advantage of a wide range of pathway outcomes. Gaps that remain to be filled in the *E. chaffeensis* monocyte infection model include how both signaling branches are activated. The studies reviewed demonstrate that *E. chaffeensis* utilizes an extracellular mechanism of pathway activation, potentially through surface TRPs interaction with the Wnt receptor complex. While many bacteria use secreted effectors to activate Wnt signaling through manipulation of

midstream signaling components, ehrlichial TRPs are the only bacterial factors that are known to trigger entry into a cell in a Wnt-dependent mechanism which suggests the surface proteins mimic Wnt ligands and utilize Wnt control of the cytoskeleton for phagocytosis. *E. chaffeensis* demonstrates a potential for intracellular activation of signaling through the secretion of TRP effectors that interact with Wnt pathwayrelated proteins and DNA in the cytosol and nucleus. These dual modes of extra/intracellular pathway activation may be necessary for temporal regulation of signal activity to facilitate the bacterium's complex intracellular developmental cycle. Understanding the relevance of these vast interactions will shed light ehrlichial pathogenesis while also serving as a model for other intracellular bacteria that reprogram the host cell to establish a replicative niche.

## Mycobacterium tuberculosis

The causative agent of one of the most prevalent infectious diseases in the world, *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* establishes infection in the lower respiratory tract and infects alveolar macrophages as well as epithelial cells. The outcome of infection involves a delicate balance between the innate immune response control of intracellular bacterial killing early in infection and containment of infection by the adaptive immune response in lung granulomas to prevent dissemination. However, this can result in persistent infection with the ability to transition into an acute infection even decades after the initial exposure.

Canonical Wnt signaling in infected macrophages in the lung has been shown to be part of the innate immune response to M. tuberculosis and is regulated by the Wnt3a-Fzd1 signaling axis, with significant crosstalk from other Wnt ligands as well as TLR signaling. Although canonical signaling is involved in activation of macrophages, it has also been shown to lead to suppression of pro-inflammatory cytokine expression (36-38). It is hypothesized this anti-inflammatory effect contributes to tissue renewal following activation of the inflammatory response, but canonical pathway activation prior to complete clearance of the bacteria can also facilitate persistent infection. Several noncanonical pathways also play a part in *M. tuberculosis* infection, including Wnt/Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling which may be responsible for Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling that is necessary for recruitment of phagosome coat protein TACO which allows the bacterium to avoid the lysosomal pathway (39). Wnt5a signaling drives expression of PIAS1 and SOCS1 which inhibit TLR signaling, thereby controlling innate immune coordination (40). A non-canonical signaling pathway in which Wnt6 signals through G proteins to activate ERK and drive MYC expression has also been identified as a mechanism of induction of an anti-inflammatory M2 macrophage phenotype which may cooperate with canonical Wnt signaling suppression of inflammation to not only permit tissue renewal but also allow pathogen persistence.

Wnt signaling plays a large role in the processes that both permit and control mycobacterium survival. For further detail, the authors would like to direct the reader to a publication from 2017 that thoroughly reviews the mechanisms controlled by various Wnt ligands during *M. tuberculosis* infection (108).

# **EXTRACELLULAR PATHOGENS**

## **Clostridium difficile**

The anaerobic, Gram-positive bacterium Clostridium difficile is part of the human intestinal normal flora. It is the causative agent of pseudomembranous colitis (PMC), a severe inflammatory disease of the colon that arises from opportunistic infection by C. difficile typically following antibiotic-induced disturbances in the normal flora population proportions (109). The bacteria are transmitted fecal-orally in the form of spores and upon environmental triggers, such as exposure to bile acids, enter a vegetative state in the intestines. C. difficile pathogenesis is highly dependent on the expression of a family of exotoxins that includes toxin A (TcdA) and toxin B (TcdB) (110). The toxins are secreted from C. difficile through non-canonical secretion mechanisms and are endocytosed by target intestinal epithelial cells (111). These toxins are glucosyltransferases that glucosylate host small GTPases including Rho and Ras. Initially, TcdA, and TcdB together were thought to be responsible for symptoms of PMC. Alone, TcdA, but not TcdB, in small animal models can induce clinical signs of PMC including tissue damage, intestinal endothelial leakage, and inflammation (112). However, TcdA<sup>-</sup>/TcdB<sup>+</sup> clinically relevant strains have been isolated, demonstrating TcdB is sufficient for induction of PMC in humans (113).

TcdA and TcdB exert enterotoxigenic effects including weakening of the epithelial barrier through disruption of tight junctions caused by the glucosylation of small GTPases that regulate actin filamentation, and stimulation of epithelial cells to recruit immune cells and program a pro-inflammatory response (110). Additionally, C. difficile is known to inhibit cell proliferation within the intestinal epithelium, a process typically regulated by canonical Wnt signaling, through the direct inhibitory effect of TcdA and TcdB on the Wnt pathway (Figure 6A) (114). TcdA has been shown to induce β-catenin degradation in the presence of pathway stimulation by Wnt3a, as well as prevent stimulation of pathway activity following pretreatment of intestinal epithelial cells with Wnt3a. Consequently, CMYC transcription is suppressed resulting in cell cycle arrest (42). TcdA-mediated degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin is independent of the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex, as TcdA stimulation of cells expressing a GSK3β phosphorylationresistant β-catenin mutant cannot rescue pathway inhibition. It is speculated that TcdA glucosylation of Rac1 also inhibits canonical Wnt signaling as Rac1 expression is necessary for  $\beta$ -catenin nuclear translocation in certain cell types (115).



**FIGURE 6** Canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling manipulation by pathogens occupying an extracellular niche. (A) *C. difficile* secretes toxins TcdA and TcdB which are phagocytosed by host cells in the intestinal and colonic epithelia. TcdA glucosyltransferase activity inhibits small GTPases like RacA which may inhibit pathway activity through inhibiting nuclear translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin. TcdB interacts with Wnt pathway components LRP6, Wnt5a, and GSK3 $\beta$ , and Fzd1, 2, and 7. Direct binding of Fzds prevents binding of endogenous Wnt ligands and silences pathway activity. This promotes epithelium permeability and a pro-inflammatory state. (B) During *H. pylori* infection of gastric mucosa, CagA activates canonical Wnt signaling through the breakdown of adherens junctions, and non-canonical Wnt signaling through stimulation of CaN and NFAT nuclear translocation by an unknown mechanism. Canonical pathway signaling is also activated through unknown T4SS effectors that induce phosphorylation of LRP and DVL and inhibit GSK3 $\beta$ , promoting cytosolic accumulation of  $\beta$ -catenin and subsequent nuclear translocation to activate genes that drive cell proliferation. Furthermore, unknown mechanisms induce methylation of Wnt pathway inhibitory genes *SFRP1* and *DKK1* to hypothetically facilitate Wnt signaling activity during infection. (C) *P. aeruginosa* is decorated with lectin LecB which induces  $\beta$ -catenin degradation through an unknown extracellular mechanism, resulting in decreased cell proliferation. Coincidentally, NF-kB signaling is activated and inflammatory target genes *IL6*, *IL1B*, and *TNFA* are expressed. LecB as well as the quorum-sensing molecule PAI both induce disruption of adherens junction in infected epithelia, contributing to prolonged tissue damage in the host.

Recent studies have identified a unique role for TcdB in inhibition of Wnt signaling. Through sgRNA screening, TcdB has been shown to directly bind Fzd receptors in the intestinal epithelium, including Fzd1, Fzd2, and Fzd7 (43). This results in inhibition of LRP and Dvl phosphorylation, indicating a TcdB mechanism of Wnt inhibition through direct manipulation of the Wnt receptor complex. Wnt ligands interact with Fzd through two distinct binding sites, as well as hydrophobic interactions between a groove on the Fzd-CRD and the palmitoleic acid moiety (PAM) of Wnt (116). TcdB interacts with the Fzd-CRD as well, although the binding site is distinct from the Wnt binding sites as revealed by the co-crystallization of TcdB Fzd-binding domain and Fzd-CRD (44). In the pathway off state under normal physiological conditions, Fzd-CRD binds an endogenous lipid which becomes displaced by the Wnt PAM when the signal-initiating ligand binds. The endogenous lipid acts as coreceptor for TcdB that TcdB directly engages and locks in place, preventing displacement by the Wnt PAM and inhibiting pathway activation. It was also demonstrated that TcdB can bind Fzd when a Wnt ligand has already bound, with the Wnt PAM acting as a TcdB coreceptor, suggesting TcdB may have other inhibitory mechanisms including inhibition of receptor dimerization which has been shown to be stimulated through Wnt binding and necessary for signal transduction to occur (44, 117). This blockade of Wnt signaling is hypothesized to be a major underlying cause of weakening of the intestinal epithelium, tissue damage, and inflammation, hallmarks of PMC and C. difficile infection (44).

The unique inhibitory mechanisms of toxins TcdA and TcdB on Wnt signaling in host cells has expanded the model of pathogen manipulation of Wnt signaling through the identification of both intra- and extra-cellular molecular interactions that contribute to C. difficile pathogenesis. It remains to be discovered if TcdA glucosyltransferase activity modulates non-canonical Wnt signaling in the intestinal epithelium due to the major role of small GTPases in non-canonical pathways (118). Further investigation of TcdB interference with Fzd receptors will also lend insight into the critical interactions for Wnt pathway signaling initiation under normal physiological conditions. Of note, the canonical Wnt pathway components APC, GSK3β, Wnt5a, and LRP6 were also identified as potential targets of TcdB in an sgRNA screen (43). Whether the pool of TcdB that is endocytosed has a relevant role in Wnt signaling manipulation through interactions with these intracellular components remains to be determined. Of particular interest is the exploitation of TcdB-Fzd interaction for rational drug design. A recombinant TcdB mutant lacking Fzd-binding ability can induce significantly less swelling, epithelial damage, and infiltration of immune cells in a mouse cecum injection model, demonstrating that modulation of this toxin activity in the intestines has strong potential to reduce disease severity (44).

## Helicobacter pylori

*Helicobacter pylori* is a Gram-negative bacilli and most common infectious agent found in both adults and children worldwide. The bacterium is transmitted fecal-orally and oral-orally and replicates within the mucin layer in the stomach adhered to gastric epithelium. Pathogenic *H. pylori* strains possess the *cag* pathogenicity island, a genetic locus that consists of 31 genes including the effector CagA and the T4SS that secretes it. CagA is injected into gastric epithelial cells and directly interferes with cellular signaling pathways such as NF- $\kappa$ B and MAPK signaling, alters cell-cell contacts, and stimulates a proinflammatory response, thereby promoting the *H. pylori* replicative niche (119). CagA induction of the cell cycle and host survival pathways including canonical  $\beta$ -catenin-dependent Wnt signaling induce cellular transformation and replication which is why Cag<sup>+</sup> strains of *H. pylori* increase host predisposition to tumorigenesis and gastric carcinoma, and *H. pylori* is classified as a type I carcinogen (120, 121).

While it is well-documented that H. pylori infection activates β-catenin-dependent Wnt signaling in the gastric epithelium, the role of CagA in Wnt activation is controversial. An early observation in the field determined that during infection of human gastric epithelia, β-catenin is stabilized. This was associated with infection by  $CagA^+$  strains (Figure 6B) (122). The mechanism for activation of β-catenin has been shown to be in part mediated by CagA disruption of adherens junctions. CagA directly interacts with E-cadherin which causes β-catenin dissociation from the adherens junctions complex and subsequent translocation to the nucleus (45). CagA induction of β-catenin target gene CDX and transactivation of p21 links disruption of adherens junctions and Wnt pathway activation with H. pylori CagA carcinogenesis as these gene products are required for transformation of gastric epithelium to intestinal epithelium which is a critical event in the development of intestinal metaplasia. An earlier finding connected activation of non-canonical NFAT-dependent Wnt signaling with CagA induction of p21, demonstrating regulation of Wnt signaling by CagA at multiple levels during infection (47). In a mammary epithelium model of infection, adherens junctions proteins were shown to dissociate upon infection in a CagA-independent mechanism resulting in loss of junctional integrity (123). While this group demonstrates β-catenin is stabilized, they do not detect nuclear localization of the transcription factor, but rather propose the hypothesis some other factor is able to cleave E-cadherin and manipulation junctions (123). This could indicate CagA<sup>-</sup> strains of *H. pylori* stimulate  $\beta$ -catenin signaling through other mechanisms, or these results could suggest host factor-dependent predisposition to pathway hyperactivation.

Thus, a CagA-independent mechanism of Wnt activation may be active during *H. pylori* infection in addition to manipulation of the signaling pathway through interference with adherens junctions. LRP5/6 and Dvl are both phosphorylated in a Cagindependent, T4SS-dependent manner in a gastric epithelial infection model (124). H. pylori has also been shown to inhibit GSK3β activity which suppresses β-catenin degradation and is shown to induce Wnt pathway target gene CCND1 (125, 126). Intracellularly, β-catenin activation and Wnt target gene expression is linked to activation of PI3K and Akt which inhibit GSK3β during infection, but the role of the Wnt receptor complex protein LRP6 in this mechanism remains to be investigated. Ultimately, there may be cell type- and temporallyspecific deregulation of Wnt signaling during infection, as well as diverse effects of different effectors, that promote a tightly controlled differentiation vs. proliferation profile during H. pylori infection that ultimately serves to facilitate bacterial survival and dissemination.

*H. pylori* is well-known to modify target cell epigenetics which can also promote infection and tumorigenesis (127). A recent report linked *H. pylori* infection with modulation of Wnt signaling through epigenetic modification of Wnt pathwayrelated genes. Human *H. pylori*-positive gastric carcinoma samples display significantly increased methylation at the host genes *SFRP1* and *DKK1*, inhibitors of Wnt signaling (46). This corresponded with slight to moderate increases in  $\beta$ -catenin nuclear localization. Patient samples that demonstrated *H. pylori* eradication at a one-year follow-up did not have significantly altered epigenetic footprints, indicating *H. pylori* can induce long-lasting changes to host genomics and impact Wnt signaling activity in hosts post-eradication (46).

Understanding the connection between H. pylori secreted effectors and changes to host cell signaling pathways provides insight into potential avenues for therapeutics, infection or gastric cancer biomarkers, and pathogen-mediated tumorigenesis. Both CagA-dependent and -independent mechanisms are at play during infection to manipulate Wnt signaling and facilitate an environment within the host that supports bacterial replication. The role of LRP in activation of signaling and CagA cleavage of E-cadherin demonstrates H. pylori may utilize secreted proteins to manipulate Wnt signaling at the level of the receptor complex to induce pathway activity, a model of pathway activation applicable to intracellular and extracellular pathogens alike. Interestingly, pathways active during infection including PI3K-AKT and Wnt signaling both converge at the inactivation of GSK3β, indicating redundant mechanisms in place to ensure the different outcomes that are mediated by inhibition of the kinase. Further understanding of how the kinase activity of GSK3ß is a crux for infection may lead to the development of therapeutics that act on cellular signaling pathways and have the potential to delay pathogen-induced tumorigenesis.

#### Pseudomonas aeruginosa

*Pseudomonas aeruginosa* is a Gram-negative, opportunistic pathogen and a causative agent of microbial keratitis, burn wound infections, and hospital-acquired pneumonia. The bacteria is found in biofilms that are essential for host attachment and survival (128). *P. aeruginosa* utilizes quorum-sensing (QS) systems to sense bacterial population density and regulate biofilm development, mammalian host defense, host-microbe interactions, virulence and metabolite acquisition (129, 130) *P. aeruginosa* pathogenesis also encompasses disruption of epithelial barrier function, increased inflammatory response, and bacterial virulence factors.

Canonical Wnt signaling plays a major role in epithelial barrier integrity and proliferation during *P. aeruginosa* infection. Host response to *P. aeruginosa* infection leads to activation of the Wnt signaling pathway to regulate the pro-inflammatory response and promote bacterial clearance; therefore, inhibition of Wnt signaling is advantageous for persistent infection and survival. A recent study has shown that macrophages stimulated with Wnt3a conditioned media inhibits production of pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , MIP2, and TNF- $\alpha$ 

during P. aeruginosa infection. Wnt3a treatment also promotes apoptosis of macrophages at 12 and 24 hpi and enhances intracellular bacterial killing via upregulation of anti-microbial peptides CRAMP and BD1 (131). During P. aeruginosa infection inhibition of Wnt3a upregulates expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines, likely to delay tissue recovery and promote P. aeruginosa colonization (Figure 6C) (49). In a P. aeruginosa keratitis model of infection, melting of the cornea occurs due to bacterial proteases, activation of matrix metalloproteases, and deregulated immune response (132). β-catenin inhibits pro-inflammatory cytokines and decreases bacterial burden in the corneal stroma to reduce the severity of P. aeruginosa keratitis (133). Overexpression of  $\beta$ -catenin in B6 corneas results in suppression of IL1B, MIP2, and TNFA in phagocytes, but not in corneal epithelial cells, for host resistance of P. aeruginosa infection. Bacterial load is also decreased during overexpression of  $\beta$ -catenin in B6 corneas infected with *P. aeruginosa*. Collectively these studies suggest inhibition of Wnt signaling, specifically by downregulation of Wnt3a and β-catenin, increases bacterial burden and the inflammatory response during P. aeruginosa infection. Along with these findings, lithium chloride (LiCl) was shown to promote bacterial clearance. LiCl promotes canonical Wnt pathway activity through the inhibition of GSK3β (134). Various studies have determined that GSK3β is important in regulating inflammatory responses during bacterial infections (135). For example, Klebsiella pneumoniae-infected mice provided with LiCl-treated drinking water display increased survival and decreased liver injury due to a decrease in bacterial burden and cytokine production in blood and liver tissues (136). During P. aeruginosa infection, LiCl has been shown to inhibit proinflammatory cytokine TNF-a, enhance production of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10, and ultimately lead to host resistance against P. aeruginosa infection in the cornea (137). In correlation with previous listed studies, a reduction in inflammatory infiltration is observed in LiCl-treated cells, and increased apoptosis of phagocytes occurs. Taken together, P. aeruginosa-mediated inhibition of Wnt/β-catenin signaling is important for recruitment of infiltrating phagocytes and increased inflammatory response to promote dissemination and survival of the bacteria.

As previously described,  $\beta$ -catenin is a major contributor to the integrity of adherens junctions and may play an indirect role in the integrity of tight junctions and epithelial barrier during P. aeruginosa infection. P. aeruginosa contains two quorum-sensing systems which regulate specific signaling molecules that contribute to infection and survival (138). Adherens junctions integrity is decreased by a P. aeruginosa acyl-homoserine lactone (PAI) quorum-sensing molecule (48, 139). Treatment of CaCO-2 cells with the PAI results in a decrease in adherens junction-associated proteins Ecadherin and β-catenin expression during early infection. Hyperphosphorylation of occludin, ZO-1, E-cadherin and βcatenin are detected on tyrosine residues during early infection; however, occludin and β-catenin are dephosphorylated on serine and threonine residues. These outcomes are responsible for dissociation of E-cadherin-β-catenin complexes and association of ZO-1-occludin complexes ultimately leading to disassembly of adherens junctions (48). Of note, the expression levels of E-cadherin and  $\beta$ -catenin increase back to normal levels at later time points of infection (5–24 h), demonstrating a reversible effect of PAI during *P. aeruginosa* infection. Taken together, distinct phosphorylation events on adherens junction proteins, including  $\beta$ -catenin, play an important role in *P. aeruginosa* PAI-mediated tissue damage.

Along with P. aeruginosa PAI, soluble carbohydrate-binding lectin LecB is regulated by both las and rhl QS systems and reprograms the Wnt signaling pathway for infection and survival. LecB is one of two lectins expressed on the outer bacterial membrane of P. aeruginosa and is important for adhesion, biofilm formation, pilus biogenesis, and protease activity (140). LecB acts antagonistically to Wnt signaling through proteasomal degradation of β-catenin in a GSK3βdependent manner, resulting in a G1-S phase cell cycle arrest in lung epithelial cells (49). LecB reduces  $\beta$ -catenin at adherens junctions and causes accumulation of the protein at centrosomes expressing high levels of proteasomes. Furthermore, coincubation of Wnt3a and LecB repressed nuclear translocation of β-catenin, indicating infection actively suppresses canonical Wnt signaling activation. In addition, Ser536 phosphorylation of p65, a marker for increased transcriptional activity and acetylation of NF-KB, increases during P. aeruginosa infection, resulting in activation of NF-KB and subsequent elevation of downstream target genes TNFA, IL6, and IL1B which are linked to delayed tissue recovery (49). Taken together, these results indicate that *P. aeruginosa* manipulates the Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway via β-catenin degradation and NF-κB activation to delay tissue recovery and promote infection.

P. aeruginosa is an opportunistic pathogen that utilizes various approaches to cross the epithelium at cell-cell junctions, including disruption of the epithelial cell barrier via PAI induction of phosphorylation of E-cadherin-β-catenin complexes (141). P. aeruginosa PAI also modulates mechanisms of immune tolerance to provide a niche for bacterial survival (142). Targeting the quorum sensing abilities of P. aeruginosa has been explored as an antimicrobial strategy, so understanding the extent of PAI in manipulating the host cell may identify mechanisms by which anti-quorum sensing drugs can also target mechanisms involving Wnt signaling. As previously described, S. typhimurium infection results in simultaneous β-catenin degradation and increased NF-κB activity in a murine model (18). P. aeruginosa LecB degrades  $\beta$ -catenin to decrease proliferation of lung epithelial cells, ultimately leading to delayed tissue recovery and persistent infection. Further investigation of the role of LecB-mediated β-catenin degradation inducing activation of NF-kB should also be explored. LecB is localized to the outer membrane of P. aeruginosa and binds to host cell plasma membrane receptors stimulating changes to epithelial barrier function and increased inflammatory response (143). Therefore, LecB-dependent  $\beta$ -catenin degradation may be stimulated by direct binding to extracellular portions of the Wnt receptor complex or extracellular adherens junction components. Understanding the mechanisms utilized by LecB to manipulate Wnt signaling to decrease proliferation and tissue recovery of lung epithelial cells may serve as a potential therapeutic approach to P. aeruginosa infection.

## Escherichia coli

Uropathogenic Escherichia coli (UPEC) is an extraintestinal pathogenic isolate of Escherichia coli and the causative agent of 40% of hospital- and 80% of community-acquired urinary tract infections (144). UPEC infects the urothelium, a highly specialized epithelium lining the lower urinary tract that is composed of basal, intermediate, and superficial cell layers (145). The superficial apical cell layer provides the primary urinary barrier and is composed of large, hexagonal cells known as umbrella cells which are exfoliated and regenerated upon infection (145, 146). Upon infection, UPEC enters and ascends into the urinary tract, enters the urethra, and migrates into the bladder lumen where it engages with bladder umbrella cells by binding to mannose-containing glycoprotein receptors via the adhesin FimH (50). Engulfment into the host cell is followed by the formation of intracellular bacterial communities (IBCs) that demonstrate biofilm-like properties (147, 148). UPEC detach from the intracellular biofilm and establish intracellular colonization leading to eruption of bladder epithelial cells. Dissemination and detachment lead to UPEC mobilization to the bladder lumen which increases the risk of bacteremia and septicemia (148).

UPEC has evolved several molecular-based strategies to subvert the innate immune response for efficient colonization and persistent infection in the urinary tract. One mechanism of host response to UPEC infection is the process of exfoliation of bladder epithelial cells that are overwhelmed with bacteria (146, 147). To renew exfoliated superficial epithelium, genetic programs are activated for proliferation and differentiation of urothelial cells (149). Despite the role of exfoliation in bacterial clearance, this outcome also leads to exposure of immature bladder epithelial cells which are more susceptible to UPEC infection (50). Within these compartments, bacteria are in a quiescent state; however, as the immature urothelial cells differentiate into mature urothelial cells, UPEC replicates for recurrent infection (147). Modulation of Wnt signaling has been linked to differentiation and proliferation of basal/intermediate cells during UPEC infection. More specifically, expression of Wnt5a during UPEC infection leads to proliferation of basal/intermediate cells while suppression of Wnt5a expression results in differentiation (50). A recent study demonstrated suppression of Wnt5a/Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling promotes differentiation of basal/intermediate cells prior to exfoliation (50). Infection by FimH<sup>+</sup> UPEC results in a decrease in Wnt5a expression and subsequent decrease of non-canonical Wnt pathway targets PKC8 and CamKII8 up to relatively late infection timepoints (50). This suggests that prior to exfoliation, non-canonical Wnt signaling is suppressed to promote differentiation of umbrella cells upon initiation of UPEC infection. However, it has also been shown that UPEC induces infected cells to secrete paracrine factors that cause alterations in the expression of the epigenetic writer EZH2 which enhances Wnt5a expression, promoting proliferation of infected cells at relatively early infection time points (51). Further studies must be done to determine if there is temporal regulation of Wnt5a expression during UPEC infection. Despite these discrepancies, research suggests that modulation of Wnt signaling during UPEC infection promotes exfoliation
and cell proliferation for dissemination and survival, respectively. Consistent with these findings, EZH2 has been shown to be involved in Wnt-mediated proliferation in Citrobacter rodentium infection (52). C. rodentium is a Gram-negative, murine enteric bacterial pathogen and closely related to enteropathogenic (EPEC) and enterohaemorrhagic E. coli (EHEC) (150-152). EPEC, EHEC, and C. rodentium are members of the attaching and effacing (A/E) family of bacterial pathogens due to the destructive effect of colonization of the intestinal epithelium and enterocytes (150, 151). The natural host range and genetic make-up of C. rodentium makes it a good in vivo model for A/E pathogens. EZH2 represses Wnt inhibitory factor WIF1 resulting in activation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling and ultimately C. rodentium-induced crypt hyperplasia and tumorigenesis (52). Therefore, modulation of the Wnt signaling pathway by A/E pathogens would appear to be a useful regulatory mechanism by providing a niche for adaptation and survival in the host.

Along with a diverse range of adhesin molecules, UPEC utilizes a variety of toxins to increase invasiveness and facilitate virulence. Of these secreted toxins is a pore-forming, T1SS toxin a-hemolysin (HlyA). HlyA is inserted into epithelial and macrophage membranes and triggers rapid degradation of various host proteins involved in the proinflammatory response and cell-cell and cell-matrix interactions, including  $\beta$ -catenin (153). HlyA mediated degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin in infected BECs occurs simultaneously with loss of IkBa. Additionally, the NFκB subunit RelA (p65) is also degraded in HlyA-intoxicated bladder epithelial cells. HlyA-mediated degradation of RelA (p65) correlates with reduced IL6 expression (153). This study suggests a novel mechanism by which UPEC inhibits NF- $\kappa$ B-mediated inflammatory response via  $\beta$ -catenin degradation, and independent of IkBa-mediated proteasomal degradation. Similar results were shown with macrophages, demonstrating a significant role of HlyA in modulating phagocytes and epithelial cell function for UPEC survival. Investigation of the crossregulation of β-catenin and NF-κB signaling pathways during UPEC infection would demonstrate if UPEC utilizes Wnt signaling as a means of immunosuppression.

Several gaps in knowledge remain in reference to the role of Wnt signaling in subversion of innate immunity during UPEC infection. While exfoliation and proliferation are mechanisms of host response to UPEC infection, this response is beneficial for establishing a niche for persistent infection (153, 154). Identifying the role of Wnt signaling and possible UPEC effectors involved in pathway activation to induce exfoliation and proliferation for survival may allow for better understanding of how UPEC infections can persist in the face of host defenses. Inhibition of Wnt5a-induced non-canonical signaling and EZH2 may potentially inhibit proliferative processes necessary for UPEC infection and may therefore serve as potential therapeutic targets.

## CONCLUDING REMARKS—WINNING THE TUG-OF-WNT

Pathogens' respective niches and modes of dissemination shape how they avoid innate immune pressure during infection. Wnt

signaling is a host cell pathway targeted by both obligately intracellular and extracellular bacterial pathogens alike, demonstrating the breadth of the pathway's control over eukaryotic cellular processes. A consistent theme among the intracellular pathogens discussed in this review is activation of the pathway in the host cell. Evidence from Salmonella, Chlamydia, Rickettsia, and Mycobacteria demonstrates canonical pathway activation contributes to an anti-inflammatory state which mediates immunosuppression and may prolong infection. The former two pathogens also appear to stimulate canonical Wnt signaling to prolong host cell survival by inducing either proliferation or differentiation of the host cell. Ehrlichia is unique in that studies have shown the bacterium activates noncanonical pathways which govern cytoskeletal reorganization and autophagy regulation, permitting phagocytosis of the bacterium without destruction by the lysosome. Inhibition of the canonical Wnt pathway by Salmonella and C. difficile occurs in intestinal epithelium and the intestinal capillary endothelium for the former and in the colonic epithelium for the latter, and contributes to pathogen manipulation of tissue barriers, facilitating dissemination into the bloodstream. In the case of Salmonella, inhibition of Wnt signaling may also lead to an inflammatory response that recruits target cells for Salmonella and promotes dissemination. Studies have shown that C. difficile and P. aeruginosa utilize multiple effector molecules to interfere with canonical Wnt signaling activity of the surrounding tissue during infection. In both cases, viability of the cell within the infected tissue is reduced which may contribute to nutrient accumulation or dissemination for the bacteria. E. coli and H. pylori, contrastingly, activate canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling from their extracellular niches, resulting in increased proliferation or differentiation of cells in the surrounding epithelium. Although evidence is yet to demonstrate a clear phenotype, it is likely that pathway activation also contributes to an anti-inflammatory state in the bacterial replicative niche due to reciprocal regulation of the transcription factors NF-KB and  $\beta$ -catenin.

Studies have implicated a range of bacterial effectors with the capability to manipulate canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling, including T1,3,4SS effector proteins of S. enterica, C. pneumoniae, E. chaffeensis, E. coli, and H. pylori; lectins and quorum-sensing molecules of P. aeruginosa; two-component regulatory systems of S. enterica; and likely many more unknown factors. Shared mechanisms involve disassembly of adherens junctions as is the case for C. trachomatis, R. rickettsii, H. pylori, and P. aeruginosa which may be a means for increasing the amount of cytosolic β-catenin available to activate the Wnt response element, or a means of inactivating the protein and facilitating its degradation. Cpn1027 of C. pneumoniae and TcdB of C. difficile both inactivate pathway components through direct binding. Such may be the case for E. chaffeensis TRP32, 47, and 120, as many host-bacterial interactions between negative regulators of Wnt signaling and the TRPs have been identified for which mechanisms have yet to be described. Pathogens also deploy enzymes during infection to manipulate Wnt signaling components at the post-translation modification level, as is the case with C. difficile TcdA and S. enterica AvrA and SopB. Research identifying Wnt pathway regulatory mechanisms and foreign molecules that can interfere with the pathway has applications ranging from research tools to potential therapeutics.

As research detailing mechanisms of pathogenesis and bacteria-host interaction accumulates, our knowledge of how various cellular mechanisms participate in innate immune signaling expands. Wnt signaling regulates stem cell renewal, cell proliferation, and cellular morphology, but the ability of pathogens to usurp these processes to establish infection demonstrates that Wnt signaling is also a target for bacterial immunoevasion strategies. By drawing a parallel between pathway dysregulation during infection and dysregulation in "classical" diseases of Wnt signaling, we can identify targetable pathway components for drug intervention of infectious disease. One such strategy involves the use of the existing armaments of small molecule inhibitors and activators that target various components of canonical Wnt signaling thereby overriding the pathogen reprogramming strategy. Another approach is the use of antivirulence therapy to target the pathogen-host molecular interactions that are beneficial to bacterial virulence, thereby weakening the pathogen through impairing its ability to manipulate the Wnt pathway.

Multiple small molecules have been identified that modulate Wnt signaling activity through activation or inhibition of pathway components or regulators (14). Use of these drugs as an approach for infection control is most suitable for bacteria for which stimulation or repression of pathway activity significantly impairs establishment of infection or a damaging inflammatory response. GSK3 promotes Wnt signaling through inactivation of the destruction complex and a number of small molecules target GSK3 activity. These inhibitors have been used in mouse infection models for Streptococcus and Porphyromonas gingivalis and demonstrate efficacy in reducing bacterial burden or excessive inflammation (155-157). GSK3 represents an attractive target for drug design because of its suppressive effect on NFκB signaling, and upregulation of its kinase activity by different pathogens makes it a potential point for therapeutic intervention during infection (158). Modulators of extracellular components of Wnt signaling include pathway agonists that mimic Wnt ligands and neutralizing antibodies that target secreted pathway inhibitors (159-161). These types of drugs may be utilized when infection causes suppression of Wnt signaling which leads to tissue damage. Salmonella perturbation of the GVB represents a case in point-stimulation of Wnt signaling reverses infectioninduced endothelial weakening (20). The effectiveness of these potential Wnt-modulating therapeutics will be impacted by the particular points within the Wnt signal cascade that different pathogens exert manipulation, which prospective mechanismoriented studies should address. Ultimately, the vast amount of signaling proteins within the Wnt pathway suggests that while this cellular signal cascade can be targeted by drugs, such intervention should be thoroughly researched to anticipate offtarget and adverse side effects (162).

Studies of how pathogens interact with the host signalosome allows us to exploit this knowledge to target crucial interactions between bacterial and host factors that enable bacterial virulence (163). Antivirulence therapy has risen as a strategy to combat pathogenic bacteria by disarming them of virulence factors, and an in-depth understanding of the interplay between virulence factors and Wnt signaling enables the development of such therapeutic strategies. For example, C. difficile infection has been shown to be controlled by small molecules and monoclonal antibodies that target critical enzymatic or protein-protein interaction-mediating domains within TcdB (164, 165). The identification of a Fzd-binding domain within TcdB uncovers a target against which small molecules or neutralizing antibodies can be directed, thereby reducing the pathological effects of bacterial inhibition of Wnt signaling within the intestines. A similar strategy could be directed toward E. chaffeensis infection, as surface TRPs including TRP120 mediate phagocytosis of the bacterium through stimulation of Wnt pathway activity. As further research identifies the molecular determinants of such pathological events, interference with TRP-Wnt receptor complex could reduce the ability of E. chaffeensis to establish infection within monocytes. P. aeruginosa utilizes surface protein LecB to extracellularly modulate β-catenin activity. Antivirulence drugs in preclinical development that target LecB demonstrate how this protein can be manipulated to reduce infection, and suggest that the efficacy of these drugs is, at least in part, due to the disruption of P. aeruginosa modulation of Wnt signaling (166).

The era of Wnt signaling research has shifted from understanding the basic molecular biology of the pathway to identifying how the pathway is manipulated by infectious agents. The ultimate goal is to use this knowledge to repurpose or develop novel therapeutics for infectious disease that are relevant in the age of antibiotic resistance. Pathogens have coevolved with the human host and are master manipulators of signaling pathways that have been in place throughout the evolution of metazoans. Understanding the interactions that dictate how pathogens can usurp the Wnt signal cascade to benefit their survival and dissemination facilitates the development of counter-defense strategies that enable the host innate immune system to control and clear infection.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MR and JM conceived the work. MR gathered information and contributed all sections except for *P. aeruginosa* and *E. coli* which were contributed by LP. JW performed artwork. All authors participated in editing of the final draft.

## **FUNDING**

This work was supported by the National Institutes of Health grants AI126144, AI123610, and AI106859; by UTMB James B. McLaughlin Endowment Predoctoral Fellowship to MR and JW; and by Gates Millennium Foundation funding to LP.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all current and former laboratory members for their contributions to understanding the role of Wnt signaling in the molecular pathogenesis of *E. chaffeensis*.

### REFERENCES

- Christophides GK, Zdobnov E, Barillas-Mury C, Birney E, Blandin S, Blass C, et al. Immunity-related genes and gene families in *Anopheles gambiae*. *Science*. (2002) 298:159–65. doi: 10.1126/science.1077136
- Mogensen TH. Pathogen recognition and inflammatory signaling in innate immune defenses. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2009) 22:240–73. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00046-08
- Takeuchi O, Akira S. Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. *Cell.* (2010) 140:805–20. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.01.022
- Riera Romo M, Pérez-Martínez D, Castillo Ferrer C. Innate immunity in vertebrates: an overview. *Immunology*. (2016) 148:125–39. doi: 10.1111/imm.12597
- Siebel C, Lendahl U. Notch signaling in development, tissue homeostasis, and disease. *Physiol Rev.* (2017) 97:1235–94. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00005.2017
- Lina TT, Dunphy PS, Luo T, McBride JW. Ehrlichia chaffeensis TRP120 activates canonical notch signaling to downregulate TLR2/4 expression and promote intracellular survival. MBio. (2016) 7:e00672-16. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00672-16
- Levine B. Eating oneself and uninvited guests: autophagyrelated pathways in cellular defense. *Cell.* (2005) 120:159–62. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(05)00043-7
- Nakagawa I, Amano A, Mizushima N, Yamamoto A, Yamaguchi H, Kamimoto T, et al. Autophagy defends cells against invading group A *Streptococcus. Science*. (2004) 306:1037–40. doi: 10.1126/science.1103966
- Cheng MI, Chen C, Engström P, Portnoy DA, Mitchell G. Actin-based motility allows *Listeria monocytogenes* to avoid autophagy in the macrophage cytosol. *Cell Microbiol.* (2018) 20:1–13. doi: 10.1111/cmi.12854
- Nusse R, Varmus HE. Many tumors induced by the mouse mammary tumor virus contain a provirus integrated in the same region of the host genome. *Cell.* (1982) 31:99–109. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(82)90409-3
- Sharma RP, Chopra VL. Effect of the wingless (wg1) mutation on wing and haltere development in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Dev Biol*. (1976) 48:461–5. doi: 10.1016/0012-1606(76)90108-1
- 12. Ng LF, Kaur P, Bunnag N, Suresh J, Sung ICH, Tan QH, et al. WNT signaling in disease. *Cells.* (2019) 8:826. doi: 10.3390/cells8080826
- Gao C, Chen YG. Dishevelled: the hub of Wnt signaling. *Cell Signal.* (2010) 22:717–27. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2009.11.021
- Nusse R, Clevers H. Wnt/β-catenin signaling, disease, and emerging therapeutic modalities. *Cell.* (2017) 169:985–99. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.016
- De A. Wnt/Ca2+ signaling pathway: a brief overview. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin. (2011) 43:745–56. doi: 10.1093/abbs/gmr079
- Yang Y, Mlodzik M. Wnt-frizzled/planar cell polarity signaling: cellular orientation by facing the wind (Wnt). Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. (2015) 31:623–46. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100814-125315
- Sun J, Hobert ME, Neish AS, Madara JL. Bacterial activation of βcatenin signaling in human epithelia. *AJP Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* (2004) 287:G220–7. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00498.2003
- Duan Y, Liao AP, Kuppireddi S, Ye Z, Ciancio MJ, Sun J. β-Catenin activity negatively regulates bacteria-induced inflammation. *Lab Investig.* (2007) 87:613–24. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3700545
- Sun J, Hobert ME, Duan Y, Rao AS, HE T-C, Change EB, et al. Crosstalk between NFκB and β-catenin pathways in bacterial-colonized intestinal epithelial cells. *AJP Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* (2005) 289:G129–37. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00515.2004
- Spadoni I, Zagato E, Bertocchi A, Paolinelli R, Hot E, Di Sabatino A, et al. A gut-vascular barrier controls the systemic dissemination of bacteria. *Science*. (2015) 350:830–4. doi: 10.1126/science.aad0135
- Ye Z, Petrof EO, Boone D, Claud EC, Sun J. Salmonella effector AvrA regulation of colonic epithelial cell inflammation by deubiquitination. Am J Pathol. (2007) 171:882–92. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2007.0 70220
- 22. Lu R, Wu S, Zhang Y, Xia Y, Liu X, Zheng Y, et al. Enteric bacterial protein AvrA promotes colonic tumorigenesis and activates colonic  $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway. *Oncogenesis*. (2014) 3:e105–5. doi: 10.1038/oncsis.2014.20

- Liu W, Yan M, Liu Y, Wang R, Li C, Deng C, et al. Olfactomedin 4 downregulates innate immunity against *Helicobacter pylori* infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:11056–61. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1001269107
- Tahoun A, Mahajan S, Paxton E, Malterer G, Donaldson DS, Wang D, et al. Salmonella transforms follicle-associated epithelial cells into M cells to promote intestinal invasion. Cell Host Microbe. (2012) 12:645–56. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2012.10.009
- Kessler M, Zielecki J, Thieck O, Mollenkopf HJ, Fotopoulou C, Meyer TF. *Chlamydia trachomatis* disturbs epithelial tissue homeostasis in fallopian tubes via paracrine Wnt signaling. *Am J Pathol.* (2012) 180:186–98. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.09.015
- Kintner J, Moore CG, Whittimore JD, Butler M, Hall JV. Inhibition of Wnt signaling pathways impairs *chlamydia trachomatis* infection in endometrial epithelial cells. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2017) 7:501. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00501
- Flores R, Zhong G. The Chlamydia pneumoniae inclusion membrane protein Cpn1027 interacts with host cell Wnt signaling pathway regulator cytoplasmic activation/ proliferation-associated protein 2 (Caprin2). PLoS ONE. (2015) 10:e127909. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0127909
- Astrup E, Lekva T, Davì G, Otterdal K, Santilli F, Øie E, et al. A complex interaction between *Rickettsia conorii* and dickkopf-1 - potential role in immune evasion mechanisms in endothelial cells. *PLoS ONE*. (2012).7:e43638. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0043638
- Woods ME, Olano JP. Host defenses to *Rickettsia rickettsii* infection contribute to increased microvascular permeability in human cerebral endothelial cells. *J Clin Immunol.* (2008) 28:174–85. doi: 10.1007/s10875-007-9140-9
- Luo T, Dunphy PS, Lina TT, Mcbride JW. *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* exploits canonical and noncanonical host wnt signaling pathways to stimulate phagocytosis and promote intracellular survival. *Infect Immun.* (2016) 84:686–700. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01289-15
- Lina TT, Luo T, Velayutham T, Das S, McBride JW. *Ehrlichia* activation of Wnt-PI3K-mTOR signaling inhibits autolysosome generation and autophagic destruction by the mononuclear phagocyte. *Infect Immun.* (2017) 85:e00690–17. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00690-17
- Luo T, Dunphy PS, McBride JW. Ehrlichia chaffeensis tandem repeat effector targets differentially influence infection. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2017) 7:178. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00178
- 33. Kibler CE, Milligan SL, Farris TR, Zhu B, Mitra S, McBride JW. *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* TRP47 enters the nucleus via a MYND-binding domain-dependent mechanism and predominantly binds enhancers of host genes associated with signal transduction, cytoskeletal organization, and immune response. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e205983. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0205983
- Farris TR, Dunphy PS, Zhu B, Kibler CE, McBride JW. *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* TRP32 Is a nucleomodulin that directly regulates expression of host genes governing differentiation and proliferation. *Infect Immun.* (2016) 84:3182– 94. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00657-16
- 35. Zhu B, Kuriakose JA, Luo T, Ballesteros E, Gupta S, Fofanov Y, et al. *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* TRP120 binds a G+C-rich motif in host cell DNA and exhibits eukaryotic transcriptional activator function. *Infect Immun.* (2011) 79:4370–81. doi: 10.1128/IAI.05422-11
- 36. Wu X, Deng G, Hao X, Li Y, Zeng J, Ma C, et al. A caspase-dependent pathway is involved in Wnt/β-catenin signaling promoted apoptosis in bacillus Calmette-Guerin infected RAW264.7 macrophages. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2014) 15:5045–62. doi: 10.3390/ijms15035045
- Schaale K, Neumann J, Schneider D, Ehlers S, Reiling N. Wnt signaling in macrophages: Augmenting and inhibiting mycobacteriainduced inflammatory responses. *Eur J Cell Biol.* (2011) 90:553–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2010.11.004
- Neumann J, Schaale K, Farhat K, Endermann T, Ulmer AJ, Ehlers S, et al. Frizzled1 is a marker of inflammatory macrophages, and its ligand Wnt3a is involved in reprogramming *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected macrophages. *FASEB J.* (2010) 24:4599–612. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-160994
- Ferrari G, Langen H, Naito M, Pieters J. A coat protein on phagosomes involved in the intracellular survival of *Mycobacteria*. *Cell*. (1999) 97:435–47. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)80754-0
- 40. Trinath J, Holla S, Mahadik K, Prakhar P, Singh V, Balaji KN. The WNT signaling pathway contributes to dectin-1-dependent inhibition of toll-like

receptor-induced inflammatory signature. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2014) 34:4301–14. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00641-14

- Schaale K, Reiling N, Leitges M, Brandenburg J, Kispert A, Ehlers S. Wnt6 is expressed in granulomatous lesions of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected mice and is involved in macrophage differentiation and proliferation. J Immunol. (2013) 191:5182–95. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201819
- Bezerra Lima B, Faria Fonseca B, da Graça Amado N, Moreira Lima D, Albuquerque Ribeiro R, Garcia Abreu J, et al. *Clostridium difficile* toxin A attenuates Wnt/β-catenin Signaling in intestinal epithelial cells. *Infect Immun.* (2014) 82:2680–7. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00567-13
- Tao L, Zhang J, Meraner P, Tovaglieri A, Wu X, Gerhard R, et al. Frizzled proteins are colonic epithelial receptors for *C. difficile toxin B. Nature*. (2016) 538:350–5. doi: 10.1038/nature19799
- 44. Chen P, Tao L, Wang T, Zhang J, He A, Lam K, et al. Structural basis for recognition of frizzled proteins by *Clostridium difficile* toxin B. *Science*. (2018) 360:664–9. doi: 10.1126/science.aar1999
- 45. Murata-Kamiya N, Kurashima Y, Teishikata Y, Yamahashi Y, Saito Y, Higashi H, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* CagA interacts with E-cadherin and deregulates the β-catenin signal that promotes intestinal transdifferentiation in gastric epithelial cells. *Oncogene*. (2007) 26:4617–26. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210251
- Yang H-J, Kim SG, Lim JH, Choi JM, Kim WH, Jung HC. *Helicobacter pylori*-induced modulation of the promoter methylation of Wnt antagonist genes in gastric carcinogenesis. *Gastric Cancer.* (2018) 21:237–48. doi: 10.1007/s10120-017-0741-6
- 47. Yokoyama K, Higashi H, Ishikawa S, Fujii Y, Kondo S, Kato H, et al. Functional antagonism between *Helicobacter pylori* CagA and vacuolating toxin VacA in control of the NFAT signaling pathway in gastric epithelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:9661–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0502529102
- Vikström E, Bui L, Konradsson P, Magnusson KE. The junctional integrity of epithelial cells is modulated by *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* quorum sensing molecule through phosphorylation-dependent mechanisms. *Exp Cell Res.* (2009) 315:313–26. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2008.10.044
- 49. Cott C, Thuenauer R, Landi A, Kühn K, Juillot S, Imberty A, et al. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* lectin LecB inhibits tissue repair processes by triggering β-catenin degradation. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res.* (2016) 1863:1106–18. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2016.02.004
- 50. Mysorekar IU, Mulvey MA, Hultgren SJ, Gordon JI. Molecular regulation of urothelial renewal and host defenses during infection with uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. J Biol Chem. (2002) 277:7412–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110560200
- Ting K, Aitken KJ, Penna F, Samiei AN, Sidler M, Jiang JX, et al. Uropathogenic *E. coli* (UPEC) infection induces proliferation through enhancer of zeste homologue 2 (EZH2). *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0149118. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0149118
- Roy BC, Subramaniam D, Ahmed I, Jala VR, Hester CM, Greiner KA, et al. Role of bacterial infection in the epigenetic regulation of Wnt antagonist WIF1 by PRC2 protein EZH2. *Oncogene*. (2015) 34:4519–30. doi: 10.1038/onc.2014.386
- Kurtz JR, Goggins JA, McLachlan JB. Salmonella infection: interplay between the bacteria and host immune system. *Immunol Lett.* (2017) 190:42–50. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2017.07.006
- 54. Wertz IE, Dixit VM. Signaling to NF-κB: regulation by ubiquitination. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2010) 2:a003350. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a003350
- Nauciel C, Espinasse-Maes F. Role of gamma interferon and tumor necrosis factor alpha in resistance to Salmonella typhimurium infection. Infect Immun. (1992) 60:450–4. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4615-2854-8\_28
- Nix RN, Altschuler SE, Henson PM, Detweiler CS. Hemophagocytic macrophages harbor Salmonella enterica during persistent infection. *PLoS Pathog.* (2007) 3:1982–92. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.00 30193
- Engelhardt B, Liebner S. Novel insights into the development and maintenance of the blood-brain barrier. *Cell Tissue Res.* (2014) 355:687–99. doi: 10.1007/s00441-014-1811-2
- Liu X, Lu R, Wu S, Sun J. Salmonella regulation of intestinal stem cells through the Wnt/β-catenin pathway. FEBS Lett. (2010) 584:911–6. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2010.01.024

- Knoop KA, Kumar N, Butler BR, Sakthivel SK, Taylor RT, Nochi T, et al. RANKL is necessary and sufficient to initiate development of antigensampling m cells in the intestinal epithelium. *J Immunol.* (2009) 183:5738– 47. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901563
- Kannan L, Kis-Toth K, Yoshiya K, Thai T-H, Sehrawat S, Mayadas TN, et al. R-spondin3 prevents mesenteric ischemia/reperfusion-induced tissue damage by tightening endothelium and preventing vascular leakage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:14348–53. doi: 10.1073/pnas.13093 93110
- Elwell C, Mirrashidi K, Engel J. Chlamydia cell biology and pathogenesis. Nat Rev Microbiol. (2016) 14:385–400. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2016.30
- Hogan RJ, Mathews SA, Mukhopadhyay S, Summersgill JT, Timms P. Chlamydial persistence: beyond the biphasic paradigm. *Infect Immun.* (2004) 72:1843–55. doi: 10.1128/IAI.72.4.1843-1855.2004
- Clevers H, Loh KM, Nusse R. An integral program for tissue renewal and regeneration: Wnt signaling and stem cell control. *Science*. (2014) 346:1248012. doi: 10.1126/science.1248012
- Brembeck FH, Rosário M, Birchmeier W. Balancing cell adhesion and Wnt signaling, the key role of β-catenin. *Curr Opin Genet Dev.* (2006) 16:51–9. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2005.12.007
- 65. Vlad-Fiegen A, Langerak A, Eberth S, Müller O. The Wnt pathway destabilizes adherens junctions and promotes cell migration via βcatenin and its target gene cyclin D1. *FEBS Open Bio.* (2012) 2:26–31. doi: 10.1016/j.fob.2012.02.004
- Ding Y, Xi Y, Chen T, Wang J, Tao D, Wu Z-L, et al. Caprin-2 enhances canonical Wnt signaling through regulating LRP5/6 phosphorylation. J Cell Biol. (2008) 182:865–72. doi: 10.1083/jcb.200803147
- Flores R, Luo J, Chen D, Sturgeon G, Shivshankar P, Zhong Y, et al. Characterization of the hypothetical protein Cpn1027, a newly identified inclusion membrane protein unique to *Chlamydia pneumoniae*. *Microbiology*. (2007) 153:777–86. doi: 10.1099/mic.0.2006/002956-0
- 68. Le Negrate G, Krieg A, Faustin B, Loeffler M, Godzik A, Krajewski S, et al. ChlaDub1 of Chlamydia trachomatis suppresses NF-κB activation and inhibits IκBα ubiquitination and degradation. Cell Microbiol. (2008) 10:1879–92. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2008.01178.x
- Latres E, Chiaur DS, Pagano M. The human F box protein β-Trcp associates with the Cul1/Skp1 complex and regulates the stability of β-catenin. Oncogene. (1999) 18:849–54. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1202653
- Nadel B, Gorvel J-P, Neefjes J, Gagnaire A, Raoult D. Collateral damage: insights into bacterial mechanisms that predispose host cells to cancer. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2017) 15:109–28. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro.2016.171
- Eluf-Neto J, Herrero R, van den Brule AJC, Smith JS, Franceschi S, Peeling RW, et al. *Chlamydia trachomatis* and invasive cervical cancer: a pooled analysis of the IARC multicentric case-control study. *Int J Cancer*. (2004) 111:431–9. doi: 10.1002/ijc.20257
- Zhu H, Shen Z, Luo H, Zhang W, Zhu X. Chlamydia trachomatis infection-associated risk of cervical cancer. Medicine. (2016) 95:e3077. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000003077
- Bahrami A, Hasanzadeh M, ShahidSales S, Yousefi Z, Kadkhodayan S, Farazestanian M, et al. Clinical significance and prognosis value of wnt signaling pathway in cervical cancer. *J Cell Biochem.* (2017) 118:3028–33. doi: 10.1002/jcb.25992
- Fang R, Blanton LS, Walker DH. Rickettsiae as emerging infectious agents. *Clin Lab Med.* (2017) 37:383–400. doi: 10.1016/j.cll.2017.01.009
- 75. Sahni A, Fang R, Sahni SK, Walker DH. Pathogenesis of Rickettsial diseases: pathogenic and immune mechanisms of an endotheliotropic infection. *Annu Rev Pathol Mech Dis.* (2019) 14:127–52. doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathmechdis-012418-012800
- Masckauchán TNH, Shawber CJ, Funahashi Y, Li CM, Kitajewski J. Wnt/β-catenin signaling induces proliferation, survival and interleukin-8 in human endothelial cells. *Angiogenesis*. (2005) 8:43–51. doi: 10.1007/s10456-005-5612-9
- 77. Lee DK, Nathan Grantham R, Trachte AL, Mannion JD, Wilson CL. Activation of the canonical Wnt/β-catenin pathway enhances monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2006) 347:109– 16. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2006.06.082
- Dejana E, Orsenigo F. Endothelial adherens junctions at a glance. J Cell Sci. (2013) 126:2545–9. doi: 10.1242/jcs.124529

- Choi H-J, Park H, Lee H-W, Kwon Y-G. The Wnt pathway and the roles for its antagonists, DKKS, in angiogenesis. *IUBMB Life*. (2012) 64:724–31. doi: 10.1002/iub.1062
- Ueland T, Otterdal K, Lekva T, Halvorsen B, Gabrielsen A, Sandberg WJ, et al. Dickkopf-1 enhances inflammatory interaction between platelets and endothelial cells and shows increased expression in atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2009) 29:1228–34. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.189761
- Chen Y, Hu Y, Lu K, Flannery JG, Ma J-X. Very low density lipoprotein receptor, a negative regulator of the Wnt signaling pathway and choroidal neovascularization. *J Biol Chem.* (2007) 282:34420–8. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M611289200
- 82. Niida A, Hiroko T, Kasai M, Furukawa Y, Nakamura Y, Suzuki Y, et al. DKK1, a negative regulator of Wnt signaling, is a target of the  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF pathway. *Oncogene.* (2004) 23:8520–6. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1207892
- Rikihisa Y. Molecular pathogenesis of *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* infection. *Annu Rev Microbiol.* (2015) 69:283–304. doi: 10.1146/annurev-micro-091014-104411
- Zhang JZ, Popov VL, Gao S, Walker DH, Yu XJ. The developmental cycle of *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* in vertebrate cells. *Cell Microbiol.* (2007) 9:610–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2006.00812.x
- Luo T, McBride JW. *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* TRP32 interacts with host cell targets that influence intracellular survival. *Infect Immun.* (2012) 80:2297– 306. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00154-12
- Luo T, Kuriakose JA, Zhu B, Wakeel A, McBride JW. *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* TRP120 interacts with a diverse array of eukaryotic proteins involved in transcription, signaling, and cytoskeleton organization. *Infect. Immun.* (2011) 79:4382–91. doi: 10.1128/IAI.05608-11
- Lina TT, Farris T, Luo T, Mitra S, Zhu B, McBride JW. Hacker within! Ehrlichia chaffeensis effector driven phagocyte reprogramming strategy. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2016) 6:58. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2016.00058
- Mohan Kumar D, Yamaguchi M, Miura K, Lin M, Los M, Coy JF, et al. Ehrlichia chaffeensis uses its surface protein EtpE to bind GPI-anchored protein DNase X and trigger entry into mammalian cells. *PLoS Pathog.* (2013) 9:e1003666. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1003666
- Lin M, Zhu MX, Rikihisa Y. Rapid activation of protein tyrosine kinase and phospholipase cγ2 and increase in cytosolic free calcium are required by *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* for internalization and growth in THP-1 cells. *Infect Immun.* (2002) 70:889–98. doi: 10.1128/IAI.70.2.889-898.2002
- Kumar DM, Lin M, Xiong Q, Webber MJ, Kural C, Rikihisa Y. EtpE binding to DNase X induces ehrlichial entry via CD147 and hnRNP-K recruitment, followed by mobilization of N-WASP and actin. *MBio.* (2015) 6:1–12. doi: 10.1128/mBio.01541-15
- Maiti G, Naskar D, Sen M. The Wingless homolog Wnt5a stimulates phagocytosis but not bacterial killing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:16600–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1207789109
- 92. Winter CG, Wang B, Ballew A, Royou A, Karess R, Axelrod JD, et al. Drosophila Rho-associated kinase (Drok) links Frizzled-mediated planar cell polarity signaling to the actin cytoskeleton. Cell. (2001) 105:81–91. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(01)00298-7
- 93. Wang Q, Symes AJ, Kane CA, Freeman A, Nariculam J, Munson P, et al. A novel role for Wnt/Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling in actin cytoskeleton remodeling and cell motility in prostate cancer. *PLoS ONE*. (2010) 5:e10456. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010456
- Witze ES, Litman ES, Argast GM, Moon RT, Ahn NG. Wnt5a control of cell polarity and directional movement by polarized redistribution of adhesion receptors. *Science*. (2008) 320:365–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1151250
- Petherick KJ, Williams AC, Lane JD, Ordóñez-Morán P, Huelsken J, Collard TJ, et al. Autolysosomal β-catenin degradation regulates Wnt-autophagy-p62 crosstalk. *EMBO J.* (2013) 32:1903–16. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2013.123
- 96. Steere N, Chae V, Burke M, Li FQ, Takemaru KI, Kuriyama R. A Wnt/βcatenin pathway antagonist Chibby binds Cenexin at the distal end of mother centrioles and functions in primary cilia formation. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e41077. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0041077
- Angers S, Thorpe CJ, Biechele TL, Goldenberg SJ, Zheng N, MacCoss MJ, et al. The KLHL12–Cullin-3 ubiquitin ligase negatively regulates the Wnt– β-catenin pathway by targeting Dishevelled for degradation. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2006) 8:348–57. doi: 10.1038/ncb1381

- Nakadai T, Fukuda A, Shimada M, Nishimura K, Hisatake K. The RNA binding complexes NF45-NF90 and NF45-NF110 associate dynamically with the c-fos gene and function as transcriptional coactivators. *J Biol Chem.* (2015) 290:26832–45. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.688317
- 99. Liu Y, Huang D, Wang Z, Wu C, Zhang Z, Wang D, et al. LMO2 attenuates tumor growth by targeting the Wnt signaling pathway in breast and colorectal cancer. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:36050. doi: 10.1038/srep36050
- Rusnak F, Mertz P. Calcineurin: form and function. *Physiol Rev.* (2000) 80:1483–521. doi: 10.1152/physrev.2000.80.4.1483
- 101. Lorenowicz MJ, Macurkova M, Harterink M, Middelkoop TC, de Groot R, Betist MC, et al. Inhibition of late endosomal maturation restores Wnt secretion in *Caenorhabditis elegans* vps-29 retromer mutants. *Cell Signal.* (2014) 26:19–31. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2013.09.013
- Gasperowicz M, Otto F. Mammalian groucho homologs: redundancy or specificity? J Cell Biochem. (2005) 95:670–87. doi: 10.1002/jcb.20476
- 103. Lukas J, Mazna P, Valenta T, Doubravska L, Pospichalova V, Vojtechova M, et al. Dazap2 modulates transcription driven by the Wnt effector TCF-4. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2009) 37:3007–20. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkp179
- 104. Vasileiou G, Ekici AB, Uebe S, Zweier C, Hoyer J, Engels H, et al. Chromatinremodeling-factor ARID1B represses Wnt/β-catenin signaling. Am J Hum Genet. (2015) 97:445–56. doi: 10.1016/j.ajhg.2015.08.002
- 105. Jiang W, Wang J, Zhang Y. Histone H3K27me3 demethylases KDM6A and KDM6B modulate definitive endoderm differentiation from human ESCs by regulating WNT signaling pathway. *Cell Res.* (2013) 23:122–30. doi: 10.1038/cr.2012.119
- 106. Carneiro FRG, Ramalho-Oliveira R, Mognol GP, Viola JPB. Interferon regulatory factor 2 binding protein 2 is a new NFAT1 partner and represses its transcriptional activity. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2011) 31:2889–901. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00974-10
- 107. Zhu B, Das S, Mitra S, Farris TR, McBride JW. Ehrlichia chaffeensis TRP120 moonlights as a HECT E3 ligase involved in self- and host ubiquitination to influence protein interactions and stability for intracellular survival. Infect Immun. (2017) 85:e00290–17. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00290-17
- 108. Villaseñor T, Madrid-Paulino E, Maldonado-Bravo R, Urbán-Aragón A, Pérez-Martínez L, Pedraza-Alva G. Activation of the Wnt pathway by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: a Wnt-Wnt situation. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:50. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00050
- 109. Farooq PD, Urrunaga NH, Tang DM, von Rosenvinge EC. Pseudomembranous colitis. *Dis Mon.* (2015) 61:181–206. doi: 10.1016/j.disamonth.2015.01.006
- 110. Chandrasekaran R, Lacy DB. The role of toxins in *Clostridium difficile* infection. *FEMS Microbiol Rev.* (2017) 41:723–50. doi: 10.1093/femsre/fux048
- 111. Govind R, Dupuy B. Secretion of *Clostridium difficile* toxins A and B requires the holin-like protein TcdE. *PLoS Pathog.* (2012) 8:e1002727. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002727
- Lyerly DM, Saum KE, MacDonald DK, Wilkins TD. Effects of *Clostridium difficile* toxins given intragastrically to animals. *Infect. Immun.* (1985) 47:349–52.
- King AM, Mackin KE, Lyras D. Emergence of toxin A-negative, toxin B-positive *Clostridium difficile* strains: epidemiological and clinical considerations. *Fut Microbiol.* (2015) 10:1–4. doi: 10.2217/fmb.14.115
- 114. van der Flier LG, Clevers H. Stem cells, self-renewal, and differentiation in the intestinal epithelium. Annu Rev Physiol. (2009) 71:241–60. doi: 10.1146/annurev.physiol.010908.163145
- 115. Wu X, Tu X, Joeng KS, Hilton MJ, Williams DA, Long F. Rac1 activation controls nuclear localization of β-catenin during canonical Wnt signaling. *Cell.* (2008) 133:340–53. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2008.01.052
- 116. Janda CY, Waghray D, Levin AM, Thomas C, Garcia KC. Structural basis of Wnt recognition by frizzled. *Science*. (2012) 337:59–64. doi: 10.1126/science.1222879
- 117. Nile AH, Mukund S, Stanger K, Wang W, Hannoush RN. Unsaturated fatty acyl recognition by Frizzled receptors mediates dimerization upon Wnt ligand binding. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:4147–52. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1618293114
- Schlessinger K, Hall A, Tolwinski N. Wnt signaling pathways meet Rho GTPases. Genes Dev. (2009) 23:265–77. doi: 10.1101/gad.1760809

- Tohidpour A. CagA-mediated pathogenesis of *Helicobacter pylori. Microb* Pathog. (2016) 93:44–55. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2016.01.005
- IARC. Schistosomes, liver flukes and Helicobacter pylori. IARC Monogr. Eval Carcinog Risks Hum. (1994) 61:1–241.
- Peek RM, Blaser MJ. Helicobacter pylori and gastrointestinal tract adenocarcinomas. Nat Rev Cancer. (2002) 2:28–37. doi: 10.1038/ nrc703
- 122. Franco AT, Israel DA, Washington MK, Krishna U, Fox JG, Rogers AB, et al. Activation of β-catenin by carcinogenic *Helicobacter pylori. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:10646–51. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0504927102
- 123. Weydig C, Starzinski-Powitz A, Carra G, Löwer J, Wessler S. CagA-independent disruption of adherence junction complexes involves E-cadherin shedding and implies multiple steps in *Helicobacter pylori* pathogenicity. *Exp Cell Res.* (2007) 313:3459–71. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2007.07.015
- 124. Gnad T, Feoktistova M, Leverkus M, Lendeckel U, Naumann M. Helicobacter pylori-induced activation of  $\beta$ -catenin involves low density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 6 and Dishevelled. *Mol Cancer.* (2010) 9:31. doi: 10.1186/1476-4598-9-31
- 125. Sokolova O, Bozko PM, Naumann M. Helicobacter pylori suppresses glycogen synthase kinase 3β to promote β-catenin activity. J Biol Chem. (2008) 283:29367–74. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M801818200
- 126. Lee D-G, Kim HS, Lee YS, Kim S, Cha SY, Ota I, et al. *Helicobacter pylori* CagA promotes Snail-mediated epithelial-mesenchymal transition by reducing GSK-3 activity. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:4423. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5423
- Gorrell R, Kwok T. The *Helicobacter pylori* methylome: roles in gene regulation and virulence. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.* (2017) 400:105–27. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-50520-6\_5
- Huang JJ, Han JI, Zhang LH, Leadbetter JR. Utilization of Acylhomoserine lactone quorum signals for growth by a soil pseudomonad and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* PAO1. *Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2003) 69:5941–9. doi: 10.1128/AEM.69.10.5941-5949.2003
- Turkina MV, Vikström E. Bacteria-host crosstalk: sensing of the quorum in the context of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infections. *J Innate Immun.* (2019) 11:263–79. doi: 10.1159/000494069
- Smith RS, Iglewski BH. Pseudomonas aeruginosa quorum sensing as a potential antimicrobial target. J Clin Invest. (2003) 112:1460–5. doi: 10.1172/JCI200320364
- 131. Chen K, Fu Q, Li D, Wu Y, Sun S, Zhang X. Wnt3a suppresses *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*-induced inflammation and promotes bacterial killing in macrophages. *Mol Med Rep.* (2016) 13:2439–46. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2016.4869
- Marquart ME, O'Callaghan RJ. Infectious keratitis: secreted bacterial proteins that mediate corneal damage. J Ophthalmol. (2013) 2013:1–9. doi: 10.1155/2013/369094
- Chen K, Yin L, Nie X, Deng Q, Wu Y, Zhu M, et al. β-Catenin promotes host resistance against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* keratitis. J Infect. (2013) 67:584–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2013.07.025
- Voronkov A, Krauss S. Wnt/β-catenin signaling and small molecule inhibitors. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2013) 19:634–64. doi: 10.2174/138161213804581837
- 135. Wang H, Kumar A, Lamont RJ, Scott DA. GSK3β and the control of infectious bacterial diseases. *Trends Microbiol.* (2014) 22:208–17. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2014.01.009
- 136. Tsao N, Kuo CF, Chiu CC, Lin WC, Huang WH, Chen LY. Protection against *Klebsiella pneumoniae* using lithium chloride in an intragastric infection model. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (2015) 59:1525–33. doi: 10.1128/AAC.04261-14
- Chen K, Wu Y, Zhu M, Deng Q, Nie X, Li M, et al. Lithium chloride promotes host resistance against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* keratitis. *Mol Vis.* (2013) 19:1502–14. Available online at: http://www.molvis.org/molvis/v19/ 1502
- Chemani C, Imberty A, De Bentzmann S, Pierre M, Wimmerová M, Guery BP, et al. Role of LecA and LecB lectins in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*induced lung injury and effect of carbohydrate ligands. *Infect Immun.* (2009) 77:2065–75. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01204-08

- 139. Srinivasan B, Kolli AR, Esch MB, Abaci HE, Shuler ML, Hickman JJ. TEER measurement techniques for *in vitro* barrier model systems. *J Lab Autom.* (2015) 20:107–26. doi: 10.1177/2211068214561025
- Sonawane A, Jyot J, Ramphal R. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* LecB is involved in pilus biogenesis and protease IV activity but not in adhesion to respiratory mucins. *Infect Immun.* (2006) 74:7035–9. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00551-06
- 141. Golovkine G, Faudry E, Bouillot S, Elsen S, Attrée I, Huber P. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* transmigrates at epithelial cell-cell junctions, exploiting sites of cell division and senescent cell extrusion. *PLoS Pathog.* (2016) 12:1–22. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005377
- 142. Smith RS, Harris SG, Phipps R, Iglewski B. The *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* quorum-sensing molecule N-(3-Oxododecanoyl)homoserine lactone contributes to virulence and induces inflammation *in vivo. J Bacteriol.* (2002) 184:1132–9. doi: 10.1128/jb.184.4.1132-1139.2002
- 143. Imberty A, Wimmerová M, Mitchell EP, Gilboa-Garber N. Structures of the lectins from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*: Insights into the molecular basis for host glycan recognition. *Microbes Infect.* (2004) 6:221–8. doi: 10.1016/j.micinf.2003.10.016
- 144. Kulkarni R, Dhakal BK, Slechta ES, Kurtz Z, Mulvey MA, Thanassi DG. Roles of putative type II secretion and type IV pilus systems in the virulence of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli*. *PLoS ONE*. (2009) 4:e4752. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004752
- Birder LA. Urothelial signaling. Auton Neurosci Basic Clin. (2010) 153:33–40. doi: 10.1016/j.autneu.2009.07.005
- 146. Zhang Y, Atala A. Urothelial cell culture: stratified urothelial sheet and threedimensional growth of urothelial structure. In: Randell S, Fulcher M, editors. *Epithelial Cell Culture Protocols. Methods in Molecular Biology (Methods and Protocols)*, Vol. 945. Totowa, NJ: Humana Press (2012).
- 147. Lewis AJ, Richards AC, Mulvey MA. Invasion of host cells and tissues by uropathogenic bacteria. *Microbiol Spectr.* (2017) 4:1–18. doi: 10.1128/microbiolspec.UTI-0026-2016
- 148. Terlizzi ME, Gribaudo G, Maffei ME. UroPathogenic Escherichia coli (UPEC) infections: Virulence factors, bladder responses, antibiotic, and non-antibiotic antimicrobial strategies. Front Microbiol. (2017) 8:e01566. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.01566
- 149. Anderson GG, Palermo JJ, Schilling JD, Roth R, Heuser J, Hultgren SJ. Intracellular bacterial biofilm-like pods in urinary tract infections. *Science*. (2003) 301:105–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1084550
- 150. Maaser C, Housley MP, Iimura M, Smith JR, Vallance BA, Finlay BB, et al. Clearance of *Citrobacter rodentium* requires B cells but not secretory immunoglobulin A (IgA) or IgM antibodies. *Infect Immun.* (2004) 72:3315– 24. doi: 10.1128/IAI.72.6.3315-3324.2004
- 151. Alipour M, Lou Y, Zimmerman D, Bording-Jorgensen MW, Sergi C, Liu JJ, et al. A balanced IL-1β activity is required for host response to *Citrobacter rodentium* infection. *PLoS One.* (2013) 8:e080656. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0080656
- 152. Petty NK, Bulgin R, Crepin VF, Cerdeño-Tárraga AM, Schroeder GN, Quail MA, et al. The *Citrobacter rodentium* genome sequence reveals convergent evolution with human pathogenic Escherichia coli. *J Bacteriol.* (2010) 192:525–38. doi: 10.1128/JB.01144-09
- 153. Dhakal BK, Mulvey MA. The UPEC pore-forming toxin  $\alpha$ -hemolysin triggers proteolysis of host proteins to disrupt cell adhesion, inflammatory, and survival pathways. *Cell Host Microbe*. (2012) 11:58–69. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2011.12.003
- 154. Bower JM, Eto DS, Mulvey MA. Covert operations of uropathogenic Escherichia coli within the urinary tract. Traffic. (2005) 6:18–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0854.2004.00251.x
- 155. Chang Y-T, Chen C-L, Lin C-F, Lu S-L, Cheng M-H, Kuo C-F, et al. Regulatory role of GSK-3β on NF-κB, nitric oxide, and TNF-α in group A streptococcal infection. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2013) 2013:1–10. doi: 10.1155/2013/720689
- 156. Boren J, Shryock G, Fergis A, Jeffers A, Owens S, Qin W, et al. Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase  $3\beta$  blocks mesomesenchymal transition and attenuates *Streptococcus pneumonia*-mediated pleural injury in mice. *Am J Pathol.* (2017) 187:2461–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2017. 07.007

- Adamowicz K, Wang H, Jotwani R, Zeller I, Potempa J, Scott DA. Inhibition of GSK3 abolishes bacterial-induced periodontal bone loss in mice. *Mol Med.* (2012) 18:1190–6. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2012.00180
- Dugo L, Collin M, Thiemermann C. Glycogen synthase kinase 3β as a target for the therapy of shock and inflammation. *Shock*. (2007) 27:113–23. doi: 10.1097/01.shk.0000238059.23837.68
- Hoeppner LH, Secreto FJ, Westendorf JJ. Wnt signaling as a therapeutic target for bone diseases. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*. (2009) 13:485–96. doi: 10.1517/14728220902841961
- 160. Janda CY, Dang LT, You C, Chang J, de Lau W, Zhong ZA, et al. Surrogate Wnt agonists that phenocopy canonical Wnt and β-catenin signalling. *Nature*. (2017) 545:234–7. doi: 10.1038/nature22306
- 161. Brogi S, Maramai S, Brindisi M, Chemi G, Porcari V, Corallo C, et al. Activation of the Wnt pathway by small peptides: rational design, synthesis and biological evaluation. *ChemMedChem.* (2017) 12:2074–85. doi: 10.1002/cmdc.201700551
- Kahn M. Can we safely target the WNT pathway? Nat Rev Drug Discov. (2014) 13:513–32. doi: 10.1038/nrd4233
- Clatworthy AE, Pierson E, Hung DT. Targeting virulence: a new paradigm for antimicrobial therapy. *Nat Chem Biol.* (2007) 3:541–8. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.2007.24
- 164. Bender KO, Garland M, Ferreyra JA, Hryckowian AJ, Child MA, Puri AW, et al. A small-molecule antivirulence agent for treating

*Clostridium difficile* infection. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:306ra148. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac9103

- 165. Davies NL, Compson JE, MacKenzie B, O'Dowd VL, Oxbrow AKF, Heads JT, et al. A mixture of functionally oligoclonal humanized monoclonal antibodies that neutralize *Clostridium difficile* TcdA and TcdB with high levels of *in vitro* potency shows *in vivo* protection in a hamster infection model. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.* (2013) 20:377–90. doi: 10.1128/CVI.00625-12
- 166. Hauck D, Joachim I, Frommeyer B, Varrot A, Philipp B, Möller HM, et al. Discovery of two classes of potent glycomimetic inhibitors of *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa LecB with distinct binding modes. ACS Chem Biol. (2013) 8:1775– 84. doi: 10.1021/cb400371r

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Rogan, Patterson, Wang and McBride. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Wnt Signaling: Pathogen Incursion and Immune Defense

Suborno Jati<sup>1</sup>, Tresa Rani Sarraf<sup>1</sup>, Debdut Naskar<sup>2\*</sup> and Malini Sen<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Division of Cancer Biology and Inflammatory Disorder, Indian Institute of Chemical Biology, Kolkata, India, <sup>2</sup> Department of Biotechnology, Maulana Abul Kalam Azad University of Technology, Kolkata, India

What ligands interact with the transmembrane cell surface receptors Frizzled and ROR/RYK to initiate complex signaling cascades that are crucial for cell physiology and the proper functioning of the immune system. What signaling is instrumental in maintaining immune surveillance and during infections by pathogenic microbes helps mount host resistance to infection. Some pathogens, however, utilize What signaling to build a niche for their survival. The goal of this review is to summarize current and developing concepts about the tug of war between What signaling and pathogens for deployment of host resources, focusing mostly on macrophages and cytoskeletal actin dynamics. An additional objective is to outline the interrelation between What signaling and the host microbiota, which is vital for immune defense, discussing in the same perspective, how What signaling could be differentiating pathogen from non-pathogen.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

lan Marriott, University of North Carolina at Charlotte, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Jere W. McBride, University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston, United States Elsa Anes, University of Lisbon, Portugal Laurel L. Lenz, School of Medicine, University of Colorado Denver, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Debdut Naskar debdut1984@gmail.com Malini Sen msen648@gmail.com; msen@licb.res.in

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 24 June 2019 Accepted: 15 October 2019 Published: 29 October 2019

#### Citation:

Jati S, Sarraf TR, Naskar D and Sen M (2019) Wnt Signaling: Pathogen Incursion and Immune Defense. Front. Immunol. 10:2551. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02551 Keywords: Wnt, frizzled, pathogen, microbiota, actin, cytoskeleton, macrophage, immunity

## INTRODUCTION

Macrophages, major sentinels of immune defense utilize the Wnt signaling scheme to sustain immune homeostasis, maintain immune surveillance, and combat infections with several pathogens. Some microorganisms, however, outmaneuver Wnt signaling and exploit it to create a niche for their survival. Wnt associated cytoskeletal modulations and transcriptional programs partake of such host pathogen interactions (1–8). Wnt signaling is also linked with the colonization of distinct groups of microbiota, which coexist with the host and bolster immune defense by inhibiting the growth of pathogenic microbes (9, 10).

Wnt proteins constitute a family of about 19 different secreted cysteine-rich glycoproteins in mammals, which are highly conserved among different species. Nusse et al. first identified the mammalian counterpart of Drosophila Wingless and termed it Wnt1, which nomenclature wise is a combination of Drosophila Wingless and the mouse proto-oncogene Intl (11-13). The role of Wnt (Wingless) signaling was first documented during Drosophila development (11, 13-15). Subsequently, with the identification of Wnt homologs in mammals the importance of Wnt signaling was recognized in the context of different cellular functions ranging from cell proliferation and migration to cell polarity and tissue homeostasis (16). Wnt signaling initiates when Wnt ligands interact with the Frizzled and ROR or RYK family cell surface receptors. While the Frizzleds (about 12 in number) are transmembrane proteins resembling heterotrimeric G protein coupled receptors, ROR1, ROR2, and RYK resemble tyrosine kinases (12, 17-22). Due to considerable homology among different members of the Wnt and Frizzled families, it is possible for a particular Wnt ligand to interact with multiple Frizzled receptors (23). Thus, the outcome of Wnt-Frizzled signaling depends on the prevailing stoichiometry of the Wnt and Frizzled proteins and their mutual accessibility (24). Wnt-ROR/RYK signaling, mostly described as independent of Wnt-Frizzled signaling has also been shown to support Wnt-Frizzled signaling in some cases (21). A general scheme for Wnt signaling has been described in several review articles (25, 26).

79

Wnt signaling can be categorized into two main classescanonical (β-catenin dependent) and non-canonical (β-catenin independent). In canonical Wnt signaling, β-catenin, which accumulates in the cytoplasm, enters into the nucleus acting as a transactivator for LEF/TCF transcription factors to initiate expression of  $\beta$ -catenin responsive genes (27). In non-canonical Wnt signaling, transcriptional activation is mostly associated with transcription factors such as NFkB, NFAT, and AP1 (6, 28, 29), and cell polarity is linked with modulations of the cytoskeleton that involve actin and actin associated proteins (30-32). The ligands Wnt3A and Wnt5A are usually considered as representatives of the canonical and non-canonical modes of Wnt signaling, respectively (33). Since Wnt signaling is guided and controlled by fairly homologous receptors and intracellular signaling intermediates that may be shared by both canonical and non-canonical modes of Wnt signaling, overlap between these two signaling pathways is not uncommon. Quite interestingly, the intracellular adaptor molecule Disheveled and Daple are required for both modes of Wnt signaling (34-36). Disheveled utilizes cholesterol, and the heterotrimeric G proteins coupled to Frizzled receptors interact with Daple for switching between the canonical and non-canonical modes (37). It is important to know if cooperation of the heterotrimeric G proteins is required for Disheveled function during signaling (36, 38). Cell surface co-activator receptors such as Lipoprotein Receptor-like Protein (LRP) 5/6 are usually associated with only the canonical mode of Wnt signaling. Although LRP5/6 has been shown to interact with the non-canonical Wnt signaling ligand Wnt5A (24, 39), whether it is actually required for non-canonical Wnt signaling or acts to strike a balance between the canonical and non-canonical modes remains unsettled. A recent report suggests that Wnt can also signal by binding to TLR4/2 receptors (40). While Wnt-TLR signaling is important in view of the evolving role of Wnts in immunity to infections, the mode of this signaling pathway in relation to the already established intracellular signaling adaptors and intermediates remains to be documented.

Although it is now clear that Wnt signaling is closely associated with infection, sustenance of host microbiota and immune regulation (3–6, 9), interrelations between Wnt signaling and host immunity to different types of infection are complex and the molecular details therein are not yet settled. The goal of this review is to summarize current and developing concepts relating to the role of Wnt signaling in microbial infections with special emphasis on macrophages and cytoskeletal actin. The idea is to address unanswered yet important questions based on existing knowledge and paradigms to help bridge gaps in our understanding of the Wnt signaling scheme in the context of host immune defense programs.

## INTERRELATION BETWEEN WNT SIGNALING AND INFECTION WITH PATHOGENIC MICROBES

Wnt signaling in macrophages plays a crucial role in shaping the outcome of infections by different pathogens (3, 4, 41-43). While Wnt signaling facilitates elimination of certain infections by

disabling the causative pathogens, it also favors the progression of other infections by allowing the causative pathogen to build its niche within macrophages. It is expected that such interactions of host Wnt signaling with the encountered pathogens would involve actin cytoskeletal dynamics, an integral component of host pathogen interactions (32, 44, 45). We will focus on some representative microbial infections in this regard.

#### **Bacterial Infection**

Infection by bacterial pathogens such as Pseudomonas sp. and Streptococcus sp. is inhibited by Wnt signaling. Wnt induced bacterial clearance in macrophages occurs by phagocytosis and subsequent xenophagy through utilization of the host actin associated autophagy circuit. In this context, the function of Wnt5A, which mediates cytoskeletal actin modulations through activation of the actin associated proteins Rac1 and Disheveled holds considerable significance (3, 4, 36). It has been demonstrated that Wnt5A signaling in macrophages not only facilitates internalization of pathogenic Pseudomonas sp. and Streptococcus sp., but also enhances their killing. Wnt5A-Rac1/Disheveled dependent cytoskeletal actin rearrangements facilitate the formation of bacteria containing autophagosomes that are destined for lysosomal fusion, thus enabling bacterial clearance (3). Rac1 and Disheveled inhibitors, as well as Cytochalasin D which inhibits actin assembly, suppress Wnt5A mediated killing of Pseudomonas and Streptococcus. Signaling by Wnt3A and Wnt11 in macrophages and macrophage associated cells of the gut has also been linked with inhibition of infections by pathogenic Pseudomonas and Salmonella species (43, 46). It is important to know if cytoskeletal modulations as observed in the case of Wnt5A signaling are also associated with reduction of bacterial pathogen load by Wnt3A and Wnt11.

The Human Monocytotropic Ehrlichiosis (HME) causing bacterium Ehrlichia chaffeensis is yet another bacterial pathogen that interacts with Wnt signaling in macrophages. Unlike some of the other bacteria, E. chaffeensis utilizes both so called canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling intermediates for niche building and multiplication within macrophages. Infection by E. chaffeensis is accompanied by increase in activation of the Wnt signaling intermediates Rac1 and Disheveled (8). Blockade in expression of Wnt5A, its putative receptor Frizzled5 and Rac1 furthermore, leads to decrease in E. chaffeensis infection (8), suggesting that Wnt5A signaling is needed for promoting E. chaffeensis intracellular niche formation. Interestingly, blockade in Wnt5A signaling also inhibits infection by the non-pathogenic lab strain of *E. coli*, DH5- $\alpha$ , which gets internalized but not killed by activation of Wnt5A signaling (5). Wnt5A induced internalization of *E. coli* DH5- $\alpha$  is dependent upon alterations in actin assembly, which are not conducive to bacterial killing (5). Whether similar alterations in actin assembly are also associated with E. chaffeensis infection and niche formation will be important to decipher.

Wnt signaling in macrophages also regulates infection by different *Mycobacterium* species. Mycobacterial infections are associated with altered expression of several Wnts (47–51). While Wnt5A has been reported to promote both pro inflammatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine signatures in mycobacterium

infected macrophages, both Wnt3A and Wnt6 have been reported to skew the intracellular milieu of infected macrophages toward an anti-inflammatory cytokine signature (47, 49, 52, 53). Recently, Gao et al. has demonstrated that Wnt5A restricts niche formation in macrophages by both *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* and *Mycobacterium bovis* through activation of autophagy (54). In light of the documented role of Wnt5A signaling in cytoskeletal modulations and autophagy / xenophagy (3, 4, 30, 31), and the crucial involvement of actin and actin binding proteins during mycobacterial infections (55–57), it is important to examine how Wnt mediated cytoskeletal modulations regulate the sustenance vs. inhibition of mycobacterial infections.

#### **Parasitic and Fungal Infection**

Several lines of evidence indicate that Wnt signaling in macrophages regulates parasitic and fungal infections. Wnt5A signaling suppresses infection by the parasite Leishmania donovani, the causative agent of visceral leishmaniasis by blocking the sustenance of L. donovani containing parasitophorous vacuoles within macrophages. Transmission electron microscopy of L. donovani infected macrophages has revealed the predominance of degraded parasitophorous vacuoles in autophagosome like intracellular vesicles upon activation of Wnt5A signaling (4). Wnt5A mediated cytoskeletal alterations correlate with parasitophorous vacuole degradation and inhibition of infection. As in the case of bacterial infection, Wnt5A mediated inhibition of L. donovani infection is blocked by inhibitor of Rac1 activation, which is linked with Wnt5A mediated cytoskeletal alterations (4). Inhibition of Wnt5A production in vivo by intravenous administration of the inhibitor IWP2 into mice accordingly results in increased susceptibility to L. donovani infection (4). L. donovani infection in mice reportedly is sustained through a skewed hematopoiesis/myelopoiesis program marked by the predominant prevalence of inflammatory monocytes (58-60). Myelopoiesis and macrophage differentiation under normal conditions are supported by a complex Wnt signaling network that includes Wnt5A (6, 61-64). Thus, sustenance vs. inhibition of L. donovani infection is perhaps determined by the diverse traits of Wnt signaling in the context of the infection load. It is important to carry out a detailed evaluation of the role of Wnt5A in the context of other Wnts in this respect, especially in light of the documented antagonism of Wnt5A-actin network toward L. donovani infection (4).

The parasite *Trypanosoma cruzi*, which causes Chagas disease, unlike *L. donovani* exploits Wnt signaling for survival as is evident from the diminution of the intensity of *T. cruzi* infection through inhibition of transcriptional activation by  $\beta$ -catenin. *T. cruzi* infection increases expression of several Wnt ligands and Frizzled receptors, including Wnt5A, Wnt3A, Frizzled 4, Frizzled 8, Frizzled 9, and Frizzled 6 (7). Detailed analysis of Wnt-Frizzed signaling pathways in relation to *T. cruzi* infection should unveil the molecular mechanism of intracellular niche building by the parasite and the involvement of cytoskeletal actin therein.

Similar to *L. donovani* infection, and unlike *T. cruzi* infection, fungal infection of macrophages by *Aspergillus fumigatus* is inhibited by Wnt5A signaling. Migration and accumulation of

neutrophils caused by Erk1/2 and JNK mediated increase in production of Wnt5A after Dectin1/Lox1 assisted intracellular entry of the fungus have been identified as a cause for the fungal clearance (65). It is important to examine if secreted Wnt5A and actin alterations are directly involved in recruiting neutrophils and activating macrophages for phagocytic clearance of *A. fumigatus*.

#### **Overview of Wnt-Pathogen Interactions**

In summary, it appears from the cited examples of different host pathogen interactions that the effect of Wnt signaling on pathogen infection is dependent on the type of the pathogen. **Table 1** summarizes the different interrelations between Wnt signaling and pathogen infections. Although *Pseudomonas* sp. */Streptococcus* sp., *L. donovani* and *A. fumigatus* are genotypically dissimilar and exercise different modes of action to infect the host (66–68), activation of Wnt5A signaling inhibits initiation of infection by all of these pathogens independent of their genotypic differences perhaps by inducing alterations in actin assembly which are incompatible with pathogen survival. Wnt mediated cytoskeletal alterations may also be crucial for the regulation of infection by *T. cruzi* and *Mycobacterium*.

In light of reports of existing links between cytoskeletal modulation and transcription factor translocation in immune cells (69, 70), it remains to be seen if activation of immune response associated transcription factors such as NFkB, NFAT, or AP1 correlates with cytoskeletal actin alterations during pathogen clearance facilitated by Wnt signaling. Wnt5A signaling, nevertheless, has been described in separate studies to sustain nuclear translocation of NFkB in macrophages both in the steady state and in response to mycobacterial infection, thereby maintaining expression of NFkB responsive immune response genes as a potential means of host resistance (6, 50). The requirement of NFkB mediated gene transcription for immunity to bacterial infections has, furthermore, been independently documented (71-73). Wnt5A signaling can also influence transcriptional regulation of immune response genes such as TNF $\alpha$ , IFN $\gamma$ , and IL6, which have interrelation with actin dynamics and are known to work toward inhibition of pathogen infection (2, 5, 6, 74-77). It will be interesting to find out how cytokine associated actin dynamics directly links with inhibition of pathogen infection.

Cytoskeletal alterations and transcriptional networks associated with the interaction of pathogens with different degrees and types of Wnt signaling are clearly complex. Careful analyses of further in depth studies with special attention to the different study approaches used by different laboratories are needed in order to establish how the different Wnt molecules work to accommodate or annihilate different pathogens through diverse signaling pathways.

## INTERRELATION BETWEEN WNT SIGNALING AND THE HOST MICROBIOTA

Several anatomical locations in the human host serve as home to distinct congregations of bacteria (microbiota) that synchronize

#### TABLE 1 | Wnt signaling and host-pathogen interaction.

S.no.	Pathogen	Disease	Associated Wnt homolog	Host-pathogen interaction	References
1.	Pseudomonas sp., Streptococcus sp.	Respiratory diseases (e.g., COPD, sepsis etc.)	Wnt5a, Wnt3A	Wnt5a-RAC1-Disheveled mediated cytoskeletal actin rearrangement facilitates autophagy and containment of infection.	(3)
				Wnt3A mediated increase in antimicrobial peptides causes killing of <i>Pseudomonas</i> .	(46)
2.	Salmonella sp.	Inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), Typhoid	Wnt11	Wnt11 signaling protects the host from bacterial infection and inhibits apoptosis in intestinal cells.	(43)
3.	Ehrlichia chaffeensis	Human monocytotropic ehrlichiosis (HME)	Wnt5a, Wnt10, Wnt6	Wnt ligands and associated signaling pathway ( $\beta$ -catenin mediated, NFAT-C1 mediated and others) promotes survival of the pathogen inside the host.	(8)
4.	Mycobacterium tuberculosis	Tuberculosis	Wnt5a, Wnt3A, Wnt6	Mycobacterium infection promotes Wnt5A expression in human PBMC and blockade of Wnt5A signaling results in inhibition of IL-12p40 and IFNγ secretion. Mycobacterium infection downregulates Wnt5A expression in mouse lungs.	(47, 50)
				Enhanced IL36γ secretion during infection induces Wnt5A expression which aids in controlling infection through COX-2 mediated autophagy.	(54)
				Wnt3A promotes an anti-inflammatory effect in murine macrophages during infection in lungs.	(49, 52, 53)
				Mycobacterium infection induces Wnt6 expression and promotes anti-inflammatory phenotype of macrophages through Arginase-1 expression.	(47)
5.	Leishmania donovani	Visceral leishmaniasis (Kala azar)	Wnt5a	Wnt5A-Rac1-Rho mediated cytoskeletal alteration promotes enhanced fusion of parasitophorous vacuole with lysosome which helps in restraining infection.	(4)
6.	Trypanosoma cruzi	Chagas disease	Wnt3a, Wnt5a	<i>T. cruzi</i> early infection increases expression of Wnt5A, 3A, several Frizzled receptors, and Wnt signaling intermediates.	(7)
				Activation of $\beta$ -catenin promotes inhibition of inflammatory cytokine secretion and replication of parasite.	
7.	Aspergillus fumigatus	Fungal keratitis	Wnt5a	Host PRR activates Wnt5A expression through ERK and JNK pathway. Wnt5A attracts neutrophils for clearance of <i>Aspergillus fumigatus</i> .	(65)

with host immune programs against infections (78–81). In this context, the microbiota of the gut deserve special mention on account of their prominent prevalence in several niches of the gut especially the Peyer's patches and the *lamina propria* (82). These microbiota exist both in the gut lumen as well as in close proximity with different kinds of macrophages and contribute to immune regulation in the host. For instance, although not clearly understood how, gut microbiota are required for the maintenance of sIgA and a steady state cytokine milieu in the gut lumen, which can potentially serve to fight off pathogens (78, 83, 84). Gut microbiota are also known to secrete antibacterial peptides, which are required for immune defense (10, 85).

Wnt signaling is important for gut organogenesis (86, 87) and sustains intestinal homeostasis through maintenance of specific microflora. Several lines of evidence suggest that colonization of microbiota in specific gut regions correlates with differential expression of Wnts such as Wnt5A and Wnt3A, and Wnt signaling intermediates for example  $\beta$ -catenin (9). Wnt signaling components such as Axin and Disheveled on the other hand, have been shown to act synergistically with Synbindin, a syndecan-2 binding protein, to influence gut microbiota composition (88). How the apparent symbiosis between Wnt signaling and gut microbiota composition relates to immune defense, however remains undocumented. In view of the fact that Wnt signaling, in particular Wnt5A signaling facilitates internalization and destruction of several pathogens through its influence on the cytoskeletal dynamics and autophagy machinery of the host macrophage (3, 4), but coordinates with the resident host microbiota (9), it is quite evident that Wnt signaling is able to differentiate pathogen from non-pathogen. But, how does this happen? Although there is evidence that some microbiota are present within the resident phagocytes (89, 90), it is unclear if the microbial niche is created or promoted by Wnt signaling and how it relates to the cytoskeletal actin network. It also remains to be seen if host resident microbiota influences the phagocytosis and clearance of pathogenic microbes and whether such interrelation involves Wnt signaling.

#### **CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Complex Wnt signaling schemes that are intrinsically associated with macrophage mediated immune functions (e.g., phagocytosis, autophagy/xenophagy) conform to the in-built maneuvering of macrophages as they confront with different kinds of pathogens (1, 91). Several lines of evidence substantiate that Wnt signaling, in particular Wnt5A signaling,

is important for the cytoskeletal modulations and transcriptional programs inherent to macrophages during immune surveillance (3, 4, 6). While many pathogens are disabled through activation of Wnt5A signaling, some pathogens utilize it for their own survival within the host macrophage (3, 4, 7, 8, 65). Moreover, although not known exactly how, colonization of distinct microbiota within the lumen and macrophage associated niches within the gut and other anatomical locations correlate with differential expression of different Wnts and their signaling intermediates (9). The different nuances of Wnt signaling that annihilate some microbes, yet allow the growth and proliferation of others, at the same time sustaining the colonization of diverse microbiota, remain largely uncharacterized. In this regard one may come up with several explanations. In light of the fact that Wnt5A signaling alters actin assembly (3, 4, 30), a vital component of host pathogen interaction, it is possible that Wnt5A induced alterations in actin assembly influence different pathogens differently, depending on the nature of virulence factors, thereby either inhibiting or facilitating their survival. The situation perhaps is guided by the extent of Wnt5A signaling in macrophages, as we observed inhibition of infection by pathogenic microbes through activation of Wnt5A signaling and increased infection through its blockade (3, 4). The decision for pathogen destruction vis. a vis. survival is possibly based on the nature of the tussle between host induced and pathogen induced modulations (conformations) of actin and actin binding proteins in the very early stages of infection wherein host Wnt5A signaling plays a fundamental role. In this connection, knowledge of the status of the macrophage associated resident microbiota, in relation to Wnt signaling and cytoskeletal dynamics is vital.

In future, the influence of Wnt signaling on actin modulations at the initial stages of infection needs to be deciphered at the molecular level in the context of different microbes, ranging from virulent pathogens to the resident microbiota, which may

#### REFERENCES

- Gordon S. The macrophage: past, present and future. *Eur J Immunol.* (2007) 37:S9–17. doi: 10.1002/eji.200737638
- Guha I, Naskar D, Sen M. Macrophage as a mediator of immune response: sustenance of immune homeostasis. *Macrophage*. (2015) 2:1–9. doi: 10.14800/macrophage.709
- Jati S, Kundu S, Chakraborty A, Mahata SK, Nizet V, Sen M. Wnt5A signaling promotes defense against bacterial pathogens by activating a host autophagy circuit. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:679. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018. 00679
- Chakraborty A, Kurati SP, Mahata SK, Sundar S, Roy S, Sen M. Wnt5a signaling promotes host defense against *Leishmania donovani* infection. J Immunol. (2017) 199:992–1002. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601927
- Maiti G, Naskar D, Sen M. The wingless homolog Wnt5a stimulates phagocytosis but not bacterial killing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:16600–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1207789109
- Naskar D, Maiti G, Chakraborty A, Roy A, Chattopadhyay D, Sen M. Wnt5a-Rac1-NF- B homeostatic circuitry sustains innate immune functions in macrophages. J Immunol. (2014) 192:4386–97. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302817
- 7. Volpini X, Ambrosio LF, Fozzatti L, Insfran C, Stempin CC, Cervi L, et al. *Trypanosoma cruzi* exploits Wnt signaling pathway to promote its

be deemed as non-pathogens. Additionally, the potential links between the cytoskeletal actin dynamics and transcriptional programs need to be carefully assessed. In this connection, a good understanding of the cytokine milieu that correlates with the interaction of Wnt signaling with different microbial infections will be important, especially in view of its connection with the different stages of sepsis associated with pathogenic infections (92). A thorough evaluation of Wnt signaling in the context of microbial pathogenesis and colonization of resident microbiota may lead to the development of new modes of therapeutic interventions for the drug resistant refractory microbial infections.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MS organized the layout of the article and wrote the article. DN contributed to the layout organization and writing. SJ and TS worked on the table and references and assisted in writing.

#### FUNDING

This work was supported by funding from DBT, Govt. of India, Ministry of Science and Technology (BT/PR27125/BRB/10/1635/2017), and Institutional funding. SJ was supported by Research Scholar Fellowship from CSIR, Govt. of India, and by The Company of Biologists, Journal of Cell Biology. TRS was supported by Research Scholar Fellowship from CSIR, Govt. of India. DN was supported by DST-Inspire Faculty research scheme from DST, Govt. of India, Ministry of Science and Technology (DST/INSPIRE/04/2017/000675).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are thankful to G. Ghosh, UCSD for important suggestions and insightful comments during preparation of manuscript.

intracellular replication in macrophages. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:859. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00859

- Luo T, Dunphy PS, Lina TT, McBride JW. *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* exploits canonical and noncanonical host Wnt signaling pathways to stimulate phagocytosis and promote intracellular survival. *Infect Immun.* (2016) 84:686–700. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01289-15
- Neumann P-A, Koch S, Hilgarth RS, Perez-Chanona E, Denning P, Jobin C, et al. Gut commensal bacteria and regional Wnt gene expression in the proximal versus distal colon. *Am J Pathol.* (2014) 184:592–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.11.029
- Ubeda C, Djukovic A, Isaac S. Roles of the intestinal microbiota in pathogen protection. *Clin Transl Immunol.* (2017) 6:e128. doi: 10.1038/cti.2017.2
- Nusse R, van Ooyen A, Cox D, Fung YK, Varmus H. Mode of proviral activation of a putative mammary oncogene (int-1) on mouse chromosome 15. *Nature*. (1984) 307:131–6. doi: 10.1038/307131a0
- The Wnt Homepage. Available online at: https://web.stanford.edu/group/ nusselab/cgi-bin/wnt/ (accessed January 31, 2019).
- Nusse R, Varmus H. Three decades of Wnts: a personal perspective on how a scientific field developed. *EMBO J.* (2012) 31:2670–84. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2012.146
- Sharma RP, Chopra VL. Effect of the wingless (wg1) mutation on wing and haltere development in *Drosophila melanogaster*. *Dev Biol*. (1976) 48:461–5. doi: 10.1016/0012-1606(76)90108-1

- Babu P. Early developmental subdivisions of the wing disk in Drosophila. Molec Gen Genet. (1977) 151:289–94. doi: 10.1007/BF00268792
- Cadigan KM, Nusse R. Wnt signaling: a common theme in animal development. Genes Dev. (1997) 11:3286–305. doi: 10.1101/gad.11.24.3286
- Janda CY, Waghray D, Levin AM, Thomas C, Garcia KC. Structural basis of Wnt recognition by Frizzled. *Science*. (2012) 337:59–64. doi: 10.1126/science.1222879
- Sato A, Yamamoto H, Sakane H, Koyama H, Kikuchi A. Wnt5a regulates distinct signalling pathways by binding to Frizzled2. *EMBO J.* (2010) 29:41–54. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2009.322
- He X, Saint-Jeannet J-P, Wang Y, Nathans J, Dawid I, Varmus H. A member of the frizzled protein family mediating axis induction by Wnt-5A. *Science*. (1997) 275:1652–4. doi: 10.1126/science.275.5306.1652
- Schulte G, Bryja V. The Frizzled family of unconventional Gprotein-coupled receptors. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2007) 28:518–25. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2007.09.001
- Green J, Nusse R, van Amerongen R. The role of Ryk and Ror receptor tyrosine kinases in Wnt signal transduction. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2014) 6:a009175. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a009175
- 22. Green JL, Kuntz SG, Sternberg PW. Ror receptor tyrosine kinases: orphans no more. *Trends Cell Biol.* (2008) 18:536–44. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2008.08.006
- Dijksterhuis JP, Petersen J, Schulte G. International union of basic and clinical pharmacology review: WNT/Frizzled signalling: receptor–ligand selectivity with focus on FZD-G protein signalling and its physiological relevance: IUPHAR review 3. Br J Pharmacol. (2014) 171:1195–209. doi: 10.1111/bph.12364
- Mikels AJ, Nusse R. Purified Wnt5a protein activates or inhibits β-catenin– TCF signaling depending on receptor context. *PLoS Biol.* (2006) 4:e115. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0040115
- Sen M, Ghosh G. Transcriptional outcome of Wnt-Frizzled signal transduction in inflammation: evolving concepts. J Immunol. (2008) 181:4441–5. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.7.4441
- Gordon MD, Nusse R. Wnt signaling: multiple pathways, multiple receptors, and multiple transcription factors. J Biol Chem. (2006) 281:22429–33. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R600015200
- Clevers H. Wnt/β-catenin signaling in development and disease. Cell. (2006) 127:469–80. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.10.018
- Kühl M, Sheldahl LC, Park M, Miller JR, Moon RT. The Wnt/Ca2+ pathway: a new vertebrate Wnt signaling pathway takes shape. *Trends Genet*. (2000) 16:279–83. doi: 10.1016/S0168-9525(00)02028-X
- Gregory MA, Phang TL, Neviani P, Alvarez-Calderon F, Eide CA, O'Hare T, et al. Wnt/Ca2+/NFAT signaling maintains survival of Ph+ leukemia cells upon inhibition of Bcr-Abl. *Cancer Cell.* (2010) 18:74–87. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2010.04.025
- Witze ES, Litman ES, Argast GM, Moon RT, Ahn NG. Wnt5a control of cell polarity and directional movement by polarized redistribution of adhesion receptors. *Science*. (2008) 320:365–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1151250
- Witze ES, Connacher MK, Houel S, Schwartz MP, Morphew MK, Reid L, et al. Wnt5a directs polarized calcium gradients by recruiting cortical endoplasmic reticulum to the cell trailing edge. *Dev Cell.* (2013) 26:645–57. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2013.08.019
- Mostowy S, Shenoy AR. The cytoskeleton in cell-autonomous immunity: structural determinants of host defence. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2015) 15:559–73. doi: 10.1038/nri3877
- 33. Grumolato L, Liu G, Mong P, Mudbhary R, Biswas R, Arroyave R, et al. Canonical and noncanonical Wnts use a common mechanism to activate completely unrelated coreceptors. *Genes Dev.* (2010) 24:2517–30. doi: 10.1101/gad.1957710
- 34. Qi J, Lee H-J, Saquet A, Cheng X-N, Shao M, Zheng JJ, et al. Autoinhibition of Dishevelled protein regulated by its extreme C terminus plays a distinct role in Wnt/β-catenin and Wnt/planar cell polarity (PCP) signaling pathways. J Biol Chem. (2017) 292:5898–908. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.772509
- Lee H-J, Shi D-L, Zheng JJ. Conformational change of Dishevelled plays a key regulatory role in the Wnt signaling pathways. *Elife*. (2015) 4:e08142. doi: 10.7554/eLife.08142
- Aznar N, Midde KK, Dunkel Y, Lopez-Sanchez I, Pavlova Y, Marivin A, et al. Daple is a novel non-receptor GEF required for trimeric G protein activation in Wnt signaling. *Elife*. (2015) 4:e07091. doi: 10.7554/eLife.07091

- Sheng R, Kim H, Lee H, Xin Y, Chen Y, Tian W, et al. Cholesterol selectively activates canonical Wnt signalling over non-canonical Wnt signalling. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:4393. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5393
- Aznar N, Ear J, Dunkel Y, Sun N, Satterfield K, He F, et al. Convergence of Wnt, growth factor, and heterotrimeric G protein signals on the guanine nucleotide exchange factor Daple. *Sci Signal.* (2018) 11:eaa04220. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aao4220
- 39. Hara K, Kageji T, Mizobuchi Y, Kitazato KT, Okazaki T, Fujihara T, et al. Blocking of the interaction between Wnt proteins and their co-receptors contributes to the anti-tumor effects of adenovirus-mediated DKK3 in glioblastoma. *Cancer Lett.* (2015) 356:496–505. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2014.09.045
- Mehmeti M, Bergenfelz C, Källberg E, Millrud CR, Björk P, Ivars F, et al. Wnt5a is a TLR2/4-ligand that induces tolerance in human myeloid cells. *Commun Biol.* (2019) 2:176. doi: 10.1038/s42003-019-0432-4
- Chae W-J, Bothwell ALM. Canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling in immune cells. *Trends Immunol.* (2018) 39:830–47. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2018.08.006
- 42. Zhang Y, Wu S, Xia Y, Chen D, Petrof EO, Claud EC, et al. Axin1 prevents salmonella invasiveness and inflammatory response in intestinal epithelial cells. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e34942. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034942
- Liu X, Wu S, Xia Y, Li XE, Xia Y, Zhou ZD, et al. Wingless homolog Wnt11 suppresses bacterial invasion and inflammation in intestinal epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* (2011) 301:G992–1003. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00080.2011
- Acting on Actin During Bacterial Infection. IntechOpen. Available online at: https://www.intechopen.com/books/cytoskeleton-structure-dynamicsfunction-and-disease/acting-on-actin-during-bacterial-infection (accessed September 2, 2019).
- The Actin Cytoskeleton and Bacterial Infection. SpringerLink. Available online at: https://link.springer.com/book/10.1007/978-3-319-50047-8 (accessed September 2, 2019).
- Chen K, Fu Q, Li D, Wu Y, Sun S, Zhang X. Wnt3a suppresses *Pseudomonas* aeruginosa-induced inflammation and promotes bacterial killing in macrophages. *Mol Med Rep.* (2016) 13:2439–46. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2016.4869
- Schaale K, Brandenburg J, Kispert A, Leitges M, Ehlers S, Reiling N. Wnt6 is expressed in granulomatous lesions of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected mice and is involved in macrophage differentiation and proliferation. J Immunol. (2013) 191:5182–95. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201819
- Schaale K, Neumann J, Schneider D, Ehlers S, Reiling N. Wnt signaling in macrophages: augmenting and inhibiting mycobacteriainduced inflammatory responses. *Eur J Cell Biol.* (2011) 90:553–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2010.11.004
- Villaseñor T, Madrid-Paulino E, Maldonado-Bravo R, Urbán-Aragón A, Pérez-Martínez L, Pedraza-Alva G. Activation of the Wnt pathway by Mycobacterium tuberculosis: a Wnt-Wnt situation. Front Immunol. (2017) 8:50. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00050
- Blumenthal A, Ehlers S, Lauber J, Buer J, Lange C, Goldmann T, et al. The Wingless homolog WNT5A and its receptor Frizzled-5 regulate inflammatory responses of human mononuclear cells induced by microbial stimulation. *Blood.* (2006) 108:965–73. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-12-5046
- Chen D, Li G, Fu X, Li P, Zhang J, Luo L. Wnt5a deficiency regulates inflammatory cytokine secretion, polarization, and apoptosis in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected macrophages. *DNA Cell Biol.* (2017) 36:58–66. doi: 10.1089/dna.2016.3418
- Brandenburg J, Reiling N. The Wnt blows: on the functional role of Wnt signaling in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection and beyond. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:635. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00635
- Neumann J, Schaale K, Farhat K, Endermann T, Ulmer AJ, Ehlers S, et al. Frizzled1 is a marker of inflammatory macrophages, and its ligand Wnt3a is involved in reprogramming *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected macrophages. *FASEB J.* (2010) 24:4599–612. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-160994
- 54. Gao Y, Wen Q, Hu S, Zhou X, Xiong W, Du X, et al. IL-36γ promotes killing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* by macrophages via WNT5Ainduced noncanonical WNT signaling. *J Immunol.* (2019) 203:922–35. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1900169
- 55. Seto S, Tsujimura K, Koide Y. Coronin-1a inhibits autophagosome formation around *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-containing phagosomes and assists

mycobacterial survival in macrophages. *Cell Microbiol.* (2012) 14:710–27. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2012.01754.x

- Guérin I, de Chastellier C. Pathogenic mycobacteria disrupt the macrophage actin filament network. *Infect Immun.* (2000) 68:2655–62. doi: 10.1128/IAI.68.5.2655-2662.2000
- Song O-R, Queval CJ, Iantomasi R, Delorme V, Marion S, Veyron-Churlet R, et al. ArfGAP1 restricts *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* entry by controlling the actin cytoskeleton. *EMBO Rep.* (2018) 19:29–42. doi: 10.15252/embr.201744371
- Abidin BM, Hammami A, Stäger S, Heinonen KM. Infection-adapted emergency hematopoiesis promotes visceral leishmaniasis. *PLOS Pathog.* (2017) 13:e1006422. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006422
- Cotterell SEJ, Engwerda CR, Kaye PM. Leishmania donovani infection of bone marrow stromal macrophages selectively enhances myelopoiesis, by a mechanism involving GM-CSF and TNF-α. Blood. (2000) 95:1642–51. doi: 10.1182/blood.V95.5.1642.005k10\_1642\_1651
- Ali N, Hussain S. Leishmania donovani bodies in bone marrow. Clin Case Rep. (2014) 2:238–9. doi: 10.1002/ccr3.97
- Staal FJT, Clevers HC. WNT signalling and haematopoiesis: a WNT-WNT situation. Nat Rev Immunol. (2005) 5:21. doi: 10.1038/nri1529
- Famili F, Naber BAE, Vloemans S, Haas EFE de, Tiemessen MM, Staal FJT. Discrete roles of canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling in hematopoiesis and lymphopoiesis. *Cell Death Dis.* (2015) 6:e1981. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2015.326
- Nemeth MJ, Topol L, Anderson SM, Yang Y, Bodine DM. Wnt5a inhibits canonical Wnt signaling in hematopoietic stem cells and enhances repopulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2007) 104:15436–41. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0704747104
- Corrigan PM, Dobbin E, Freeburn RW, Wheadon H. Patterns of Wnt/Fzd/LRP gene expression during embryonic hematopoiesis. *Stem Cell Dev.* (2009) 18:759–72. doi: 10.1089/scd.2008.0270
- Che C, Li C, Lin J, Zhang J, Jiang N, Yuan K, et al. Wnt5a contributes to dectin-1 and LOX-1 induced host inflammatory response signature in *Aspergillus fumigatus* keratitis. *Cell Signal.* (2018) 52:103–11. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2018.08.020
- Kaye P, Scott P. Leishmaniasis: complexity at the host–pathogen interface. Nat Rev Microbiol. (2011) 9:604–15. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2608
- Classen A. Pseudomonas aeruginosa. Mechanisms of Pathogenicity. (2017) Available online at: https://mechpath.com/2017/12/08/pseudomonasaeruginosa/ (accessed May 30, 2019).
- Kobayashi GS. Disease mechanisms of fungi. In: Baron S, editor. Medical Microbiology. Galveston, TX: University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston. Available online at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK8103/ (accessed June 1, 2019).
- Olson EN, Nordheim A. Linking actin dynamics and gene transcription to drive cellular motile functions. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* (2010) 11:353–65. doi: 10.1038/nrm2890
- Huang Y, Haas C, Ghadiali SN. Influence of transmural pressure and cytoskeletal structure on NF-κB activation in respiratory epithelial cells. *Cell Mol Bioeng.* (2010) 3:415–27. doi: 10.1007/s12195-010-0138-7
- Sha WC, Liou HC, Tuomanen EI, Baltimore D. Targeted disruption of the p50 subunit of NF-kappa B leads to multifocal defects in immune responses. *Cell.* (1995) 80:321–30. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(95)90415-8
- Dev A, Iyer S, Razani B, Cheng G. NF-κB and innate immunity. In: Karin M. NF-kB in Health and Disease Current Topics in Microbiology and Immunology. Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg (2011). p. 115– 43. doi: 10.1007/82\_2010\_102
- Li Q, Verma IM. NF-κB regulation in the immune system. Nat Rev Immunol. (2002) 2:725. doi: 10.1038/nri910
- 74. Sen M, Chamorro M, Reifert J, Corr M, Carson DA. Blockade of Wnt-5A/Frizzled 5 signaling inhibits rheumatoid synoviocyte activation. *Arthritis Rheum*. (2001) 44:772–81. doi: 10.1002/1529-0131(200104)44:4<772::AID-ANR133>3.0.CO;2-L
- 75. Campos SB, Ashworth SL, Wean S, Hosford M, Sandoval RM, Hallett MA, et al. Cytokine-induced F-actin reorganization in endothelial cells involves RhoA activation. *Am J Physiol.* (2009) 296:F487. doi: 10.1152/ajprenal.00112.2008
- 76. Ostler N, Britzen-Laurent N, Liebl A, Naschberger E, Lochnit G, Ostler M, et al. Gamma interferon-induced guanylate binding protein 1 is a novel

actin cytoskeleton remodeling factor. Mol Cell Biol. (2014) 34:196–209. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00664-13

- 77. Wojciak-Stothard B, Entwistle A, Garg R, Ridley AJ. Regulation of TNFalpha-induced reorganization of the actin cytoskeleton and cell-cell junctions by Rho, Rac, and Cdc42 in human endothelial cells. *J Cell Physiol*. (1998) 176:150–65. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1097-4652(199807)176:1<150::AID-JCP17>3. 0.CO;2-B
- Lycke NY, Bemark M. The role of Peyer's patches in synchronizing gut IgA responses. *Front Immunol.* (2012) 3:329. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2012.00329
- Belkaid Y, Hand T. Role of the microbiota in immunity and inflammation. Cell. (2014) 157:121–41. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.011
- Chu H, Mazmanian SK. Innate immune recognition of the microbiota promotes host-microbial symbiosis. *Nat Immunol.* (2013) 14:668–75. doi: 10.1038/ni.2635
- Levy M, Thaiss CA, Elinav E. Metabolites: messengers between the microbiota and the immune system. *Genes Dev.* (2016) 30:1589–97. doi: 10.1101/gad.284091.116
- Jung C, Hugot J-P, Barreau F. Peyer's patches: the immune sensors of the intestine. Int J Inflam. (2010) 2010:823710. doi: 10.4061/2010/ 823710
- Rey J, Garin N, Spertini F, Corthésy B. Targeting of secretory IgA to Peyer's patch dendritic and T cells after transport by intestinal M cells. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:3026–33. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.5.3026
- Breedveld A, van Egmond M. IgA and FcαRI: pathological roles and therapeutic opportunities. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:553. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00553
- Zipperer A, Konnerth MC, Laux C, Berscheid A, Janek D, Weidenmaier C, et al. Human commensals producing a novel antibiotic impair pathogen colonization. *Nature*. (2016) 535:511–6. doi: 10.1038/nature18634
- Verzi MP, Shivdasani RA. Wnt signaling in gut organogenesis. Organogenesis. (2008) 4:87–91. doi: 10.4161/org.4.2.5854
- Swafford D, Shanmugam A, Ranganathan P, Hussein MS, Koni PA, Prasad PD, et al. Canonical Wnt signaling in CD11c+ APCs regulates microbiotainduced inflammation and immune cell homeostasis in the colon. *J Immunol.* (2018) 200:3259–68. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1701086
- Ai L, Ren Y, Li Y, Chen H, Qian Y, Lu S, et al. Synbindin deficiency inhibits colon carcinogenesis by attenuating Wnt cascade and balancing gut microbiome. *Int J Cancer*. (2019) 145:206–20. doi: 10.1002/ijc. 32074
- Morikawa M, Tsujibe S, Kiyoshima-Shibata J, Watanabe Y, Kato-Nagaoka N, Shida K, et al. Microbiota of the small intestine is selectively engulfed by phagocytes of the lamina propria and Peyer's patches. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0163607. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0163607
- Rios D, Wood MB, Li J, Chassaing B, Gewirtz AT, Williams IR. Antigen sampling by intestinal M cells is the principal pathway initiating mucosal IgA production to commensal enteric bacteria. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2016) 9:907–16. doi: 10.1038/mi.2015.121
- Gordon S. Phagocytosis: an immunobiologic process. *Immunity*. (2016) 44:463–75. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.026
- 92. Gatica-Andrades M, Vagenas D, Kling J, Nguyen TTK, Benham H, Thomas R, et al. WNT ligands contribute to the immune response during septic shock and amplify endotoxemia-driven inflammation in mice. *Blood Adv.* (2017) 1:1274–86. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2017006163

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer JM declared their collaboration with one of the authors MS as co-editors in the Research Topic and confirmed the absence of any other collaboration to the handling editor.

Copyright © 2019 Jati, Sarraf, Naskar and Sen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Functions of the WNT Signaling Network in Shaping Host Responses to Infection

Johanna K. Ljungberg, Jessica C. Kling, Thao Thanh Tran<sup>†</sup> and Antje Blumenthal\*

The University of Queensland Diamantina Institute, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD, Australia

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Linda F. Van Dyk, University of Colorado Denver, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Arshad Khan, McGovern Medical School at UTHealth, United States Eva Kaufmann, McGill University Health Centre, Canada

> \*Correspondence: Antje Blumenthal a.blumenthal@uq.edu.au

#### <sup>†</sup>Present address:

Thao Thanh Tran, Biology Department, School of Education, Can Tho University, Can Tho, Vietnam

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Microbial Immunology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 01 July 2019 Accepted: 10 October 2019 Published: 08 November 2019

#### Citation:

Ljungberg JK, Kling JC, Tran TT and Blumenthal A (2019) Functions of the WNT Signaling Network in Shaping Host Responses to Infection. Front. Immunol. 10:2521. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02521 It is well-established that aberrant WNT expression and signaling is associated with developmental defects, malignant transformation and carcinogenesis. More recently, WNT ligands have emerged as integral components of host responses to infection but their functions in the context of immune responses are incompletely understood. Roles in the modulation of inflammatory cytokine production, host cell intrinsic innate defense mechanisms, as well as the bridging of innate and adaptive immunity have been described. To what degree WNT responses are defined by the nature of the invading pathogen or are specific for subsets of host cells is currently not well-understood. Here we provide an overview of WNT responses during infection with phylogenetically diverse pathogens and highlight functions of WNT ligands in the host defense against infection. Detailed understanding of how the WNT network orchestrates immune cell functions will not only improve our understanding of the fundamental principles underlying complex immune response, but also help identify therapeutic opportunities or potential risks associated with the pharmacological targeting of the WNT network, as currently pursued for novel therapeutics in cancer and bone disorders.

Keywords: WNT signaling, antigen presenting cells (APCS), infection, inflammation, anti-microbial defense

## THE WNT SIGNALING NETWORK

The WNT signaling network is a central regulator of embryonic development and tissue homeostasis. WNT proteins are phylogenetically highly conserved secreted, cysteine-rich glyco-lipoproteins (1). Nineteen individual WNT proteins have thus far been described in mammals (2). Best known functions of WNT proteins include regulation of cell cycle, cellular differentiation, cell motility, cellular polarity, and cell death (3). WNT proteins act as directional growth factors that orchestrate patterning, expansion and differentiation of tissues in the organized formation of body plans, and are central regulators of stem and progenitor cell development and maintenance both during embryogenesis and adult homeostasis (4, 5). Dysregulation of WNT signaling is implicated in a multitude of diseases, including cancer, fibrosis, bone density disorders, metabolic and neurodegenerative diseases (6).

WNT proteins are highly hydrophobic due to post-translational modification by palmitoleic and palmitic acid at conserved cysteine residues. This is afforded through action of the acyltransferase Porcupine (PORCN) in the endoplasmic reticulum (**Figure 1**). WNT acylation has been shown to be required for the release, receptor interactions, and functions of WNTs (1). The chaperone Wntless (WLS) facilitates transport of acylated WNT ligands to the plasma membrane and aids in

86



WNT release (14). WNT proteins act as morphogens in a concentration-dependent manner through the formation of gradients within tissues. How the hydrophobic WNT ligands act at short distances as well as at longer ranges is incompletely understood. Multiple mechanisms that facilitate WNT transport beyond the boundaries of the producing cell have been described, including chaperones, lipoproteins, exosomes, and cytonemes (1). Macrophages infected by viruses or intracellular bacterial pathogens release exosomes and microvesicles that contain pathogen-derived components alongside host membrane proteins (e.g., MHC-I, MHC-II) and immune mediators (e.g., cytokines) that modulate functions of bystander cells (15-18). Observations of elevated WNT5A protein levels in serum of patients with severe sepsis (19) highlights the possibility that WNT proteins produced in response to infection may act not only locally but also systemically, and thereby shape immune cell differentiation and functions at distant sites.

WNT ligands initiate intracellular signaling by binding to cell surface-expressed WNT receptors and co-receptors, including Frizzled (FZD) 7-transmembrane domain receptors, low-density lipoprotein-related proteins (LRP5, LRP6), as well as receptor tyrosine kinases ROR and RYK (20). Cytoplasmic scaffolding proteins of the disheveled family (DVL) are central to initiating intracellular signaling downstream of FZD receptors (21). The functional outcome of WNT interactions with target cells is decided at the level of receptor engagement. Depending on the receptor context, WNT ligands activate distinct intracellular pathways, which can be grouped into  $\beta$ -catenin-dependent and β-catenin-independent signaling events (Figure 2). Individual modalities of β-catenin-dependent and β-catenin-independent WNT signaling have been reviewed in detail elsewhere (3, 5, 20). Briefly, β-catenin-dependent WNT signaling is mediated by cytoplasmic stabilization of β-catenin, which is controlled by the  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex. The destruction complex



**FIGURE 2** | WNT signaling pathways. (A) WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling. The destruction complex is comprised of APC, AXIN1, CK1, and GSK3 $\beta$ . Phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -catenin by CK1 and GSK3 $\beta$  within the destruction complex results in  $\beta$ -catenin ubiquitination mediated by  $\beta$ -TrCP resulting in proteasomal degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin (22, 23) The transcriptional repressor Groucho suppresses expression of genes controlled by TCF/LEF transcription factors. Binding of WNT ligands to Frizzled (FZD) receptors and LRP co-receptors promotes recruitment and clustering of DVL, forming signalosomes (21, 24), facilitating recruitment of the destruction complex and stabilization of cytoplasmic  $\beta$ -catenin. Nuclear translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin enables its functions as a transcriptional co-activator for transcription factors of the TCF/LEF family (3). (B) WNT/JNK signaling via FZD, alone or in conjunction with co-receptors (e.g., ROR RYK) activates the small GTPases RAC1 and RHOA engaging the actin cytoskeleton, as well as JNK MAP kinase activation (25–27). (C) WNT/Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling downstream of FZD receptors is mediated by phospholipase C (PLC) activation leading to enhanced levels of cytosolic Ca<sup>2+</sup>, resulting in calmodulin/calmodulin-dependent kinase II activation and NF-AT-regulated transcriptional responses (28), and engagement of the actin cytoskeleton. RYK has been implicated as a co-receptor for WNT/Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling. Figure created with Biorender.com.

is comprised of scaffolding proteins adenomatous polyposis coli (APC), axis inhibition protein (Axin), and the kinases casein kinase 1 (CK1) and glycogen synthase kinase 3β (GSK3<sub>β</sub>). In the absence of WNT ligand binding to FZD and LRP co-receptors, phosphorylation of β-catenin by CK1 and GSK3 $\beta$  within the destruction complex results in  $\beta$ catenin ubiquitination by beta-transducin repeat-containing E3 ubiquitin protein ligase ( $\beta$ TrCP), fueling continuous degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin by the proteasome (Figure 2A). Binding of WNT ligands to FZD/LRP results in recruitment of DVL and the destruction complex, inhibiting GSK3B and CK1 activity and stabilization of cytoplasmic β-catenin. This enables nuclear translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin where it functions as transcriptional co-activator for transcription factors of the TCF/LEF family (Figure 2A). WNT/JNK- [described as planar cell polarity (PCP) pathway in Drosophila] and WNT/Ca2+-signaling are modes of β-catenin-independent WNT signaling. WNT/JNK signaling results in FZD/DVL-mediated activation of the small GTPases RAC1 and RHOA, directing cytoskeletal rearrangements, cell polarization and motility. Activation of JNK can drive c-Jun- and AP-1-controlled transcription (Figure 2B). WNT/Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling downstream of FZD receptors and DVL leads to phospholipase C (PLC) activation and enhanced levels of cytosolic  $Ca^{2+}$ , which activates calmodulin/calmodulin-dependent kinase II and NFATregulated transcriptional responses (Figure 2C).

Tight regulation and precise targeting of WNT signaling is essential, as emphasized by the evolutionary investment in multiple layers and modes of WNT pathway modulation. WNT signaling is negatively regulated by secreted Frizzledrelated proteins (sFRP) and WNT inhibitory factor 1 (WIF-1), which directly bind WNT proteins interfering with receptor interactions (3). The palmitoleoyl-protein carboxylesterase Notum was shown to facilitate serine de-palmitoleoylation of WNT ligands, thereby negatively regulating WNT functions (29). Members of the Dickkopf (DKK) and Sclerostin/SOST families, as well as the glycoprotein Dorsal Inhibitory Axon Guidance Protein (DRAXIN) interact with LRP5/6 and interfere with WNT binding (30-32). FZD receptor surface availability is regulated through the E3 ubiquitin ligases, Zinc and Ring Finger 3 (ZNRF3) and Ring Finger protein 43 (RFN43), which ubiquitinate FZD receptors destining them for proteasomal degradation (33). ZNFR3 and RFN43 serve as negative feedback regulators for WNT signaling, as they themselves are encoded by WNT target genes (5).

## WNT RESPONSES TO INFECTION

Early studies identified *WNT5A* as a highly responsive gene in human macrophages upon microbial encounter (19, 34). *WNT5A* has also been found to be highly expressed by tumor-associated macrophages (35), synoviocytes in rheumatoid arthritis (36), macrophages in atherosclerotic plaques (37), and adipose tissueresident macrophages in obesity (38). This has directed initial attention toward elucidating immune functions of WNT5A. However, it is increasingly evident that the host response to infection encompasses differential expression of multiple WNT ligands, receptors and regulators (39–43). Thus, detailed understanding of how the concerted actions of WNT ligands and potentially concurrent WNT signaling events define host responses to infection is key to firmly establishing immune functions of the WNT signaling network.

## **Bacterial Infections**

#### Gram-Negative Bacteria

WNT responses to infection have been studies in the context of experimental infection with a limited number of Gram-negative bacterial pathogens (Table 1). WNT pathway activation and functions in the context of Salmonella infection have largely been focused on in a model of gastroenteritis in antibiotic-pretreated mice, as well as in epithelial cell lines in vitro. Salmonella (S.) enterica serovar Typhimurium infection of streptomycinpretreated mice increased mRNA expression of Wnt3, Wnt6, Wnt9a, and protein expression of Wnt2 and Wnt11 in intestinal tissues (43, 50, 56). In vitro studies indicated that colonization of murine intestinal epithelial cells with S. Typhimurium induced elevated mRNA expression of Wnt2 and Wnt11 (also confirmed at protein level), Fzd2, Fzd4, Fzd6, Fzd7, Fzd8, Fzd9, with limited or no effects on the expression of other Wnt and Fzd genes (50, 56). Induction of Wnt2 and Wnt11 expression was attributed at least in part to Salmonella AvrA (50, 56), a bacterial effector that has been implicated in the regulation of  $\beta$ -catenin ubiquitination and stabilization (64-67). With an increasing understanding of the complex WNT response in Salmonella infection, future studies should explore WNT network activation in macrophages, innate immune cells that are important in the host control of Salmonella infection. Thus far, it has been noted that Wnt5a and Fzd4 expression in S. Typhimurium-infected murine peritoneal macrophages was modestly increased, albeit the impact on the expression of other WNT signaling components was not explored in this study (44).

*Ehrlichia* (*E.*) *chaffeensis* infection of human THP-1 macrophage-like cells transiently increased mRNA expression of *WNT6, WNT10A, FZD5,* and *FZD9,* while decreasing expression of *WNT5B, WNT7B,* and *FZD7,* as determined by pathway-specific qPCR arrays (42). Expression of WNT regulators such as *DKK3* and *sFRP2* was suppressed or enhanced, respectively, and a significant number of WNT-target genes were differentially expressed (42).

WNT responses upon encounter of pathogenic and nonpathogenic *Escherichia* (*E.*) coli have been investigated to some extent in mouse models in vivo. Mono-colonization of mice with *E. coli* F18 enhanced expression of Wnt2 in the intestine compared to germ-free mice (50). Bladder infection with uropathogenic *E. coli* (UPEC) induced rapid downregulation of Wnt5a expression in the urothelium of infected mice, which was partially attributed to the bacterial virulence and adhesion factor, FimH (58). This observation seems to contrast a small increase of WNT5A expression described in a human urothelial cell line infected with UPEC in vitro (59). Yet, exposure of mouse thioglycolate-elicited peritoneal macrophages exhibited a marked decrease in Wnt5a mRNA expression when exposed to a non-pathogenic *E. coli* strain, while expression of all other WNT ligands remained unaltered at the time point

Ljungberg et al.

	Mycobacterium sp.	S. aureus	S. pneumoniae	E. chaffeensis	E. coli	P. aeruginosa	S. Typhimurium	LPS
WNT1	↑ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) unaffected mRNA <i>M. bovis</i> BCG mPM (44)	↓ mRNA mom-2 C. elegans IEC (45) unaffected mRNA mPM (44) unaffected L. vannamei HP, LO, HT (46)	-	n.d. mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	-	↓protein HCT116 (47)	↑ protein THP-1 (48) ↑ mRNA mBMDM (40) ↓ mRNA fetal ovine lungs (49) n.d. mRNA murine spleen (39)
WNT2	↓ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) unaffected mRNA <i>M. bovis</i> BCG mPM (44)	↑ mRNA <i>cwn-2 C. elegans</i> IEC (45) unaffected mRNA mPM (44) unaffected <i>L. vannamei</i> HP, LO, HT (46)	-	n.d. mRNA THP-1 (42)	↑ mRNA and protein CMT93 (50) unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	_	↑ mRNA and protein IEC-18 (50)	n.d. mRNA murine spleen (39) ↓ mRNA fetal ovine lungs (49)
WNT2B	↓ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) unaffected mRNA <i>M. bovis</i> BCG mPM (44)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	↓ mRNA murine <i>S. pneumoniae</i> Δpep27 lung tissue (51)	unaffected mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	-	unaffected mRNA IEC-18 (50)	↑ mRNA mBMDM (40) n.d. mRNA murine spleen (39)
WNT3	unaffected mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40)	-	↓ mRNA murine S. <i>pneumoniae</i> ∆pep27 lung tissue (51)	unaffected mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	-	↑ mRNA mIEC (43)	↑ mRNA hMDM (52) unaffected mRNA murine spleen (39)
WNT3A	↓ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) unaffected mRNA <i>M. bovi</i> s BCG mPM (44)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	-	n.d. mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	-	unaffected mRNA IEC-18 (50)	n.d. mRNA mBMDM (40) ↑ mRNA BEAS-2B (53) n.d. mRNA murine spleen (39)
WNT4	↓ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) ↓ mRNA <i>M. marinum</i> infected zebrafish (54) unaffected mRNA <i>M. bovis</i> BCG mPM (44)	↑ mRNA <i>D.</i> melanogaster (55) unaffected mRNA mPM (44) unaffected <i>L. vannamei</i> HP, LO, HT (46)	↑ mRNA murine S. pneumoniae Δpep27 lung tissue (51)	unaffected mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	_	unaffected mRNA IEC-18 (56)	↓ mRNA fetal ovine lungs (49) unaffected mRNA murine spleen (39)
WNT5A	↑ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> hMDM (34) ↓ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) ↑ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> hPBMC and <i>M. bovis</i> (BCG) mPM (44) ↑ mRNA <i>M. marinum</i> zebrafish (54) WNT5A expressing macrophages in human tuberculosis granulomas (34)	↑ mRNA mPM (44) ↑ mRNA ( <i>LvWnt5</i> ) <i>L. vannamei</i> HP, LO, HT (46)	↓ protein RAW264.7 (57)	n.d. mRNA THP-1 (42)	<ul> <li>↓ mRNA mPM (44)</li> <li>↓ mRNA murine</li> <li>urothelium (58)</li> <li>↑ mRNA human</li> <li>urothelium (59)</li> </ul>	↓ protein RAW264.7 (57)	↑ mRNA mPM (44) unaffected mRNA IEC-18 (56)	<ul> <li>↑ mRNA hMDM (34)</li> <li>↑ mRNA BEAS-28 (53)</li> <li>↑ mRNA hPBMC and</li> <li>hBMDM during sepsis (19)</li> <li>↑ mRNA THP-1 (60) ↑</li> <li>mRNA primary human</li> <li>monocytes (61)</li> <li>↑ mRNA RAW264.7 (37)</li> <li>unaffected mRNA murine</li> <li>spleen (39)</li> <li>unaffected mBMDM (40)</li> </ul>

(Continued)

WNT Responses in the Host Control of Infection

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

	Mycobacterium sp.	S. aureus	S. pneumoniae	E. chaffeensis	E. coli	P. aeruginosa	S. Typhimurium	LPS
WNT5B	↓ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) unaffected mRNA <i>M. bovi</i> s BCG mPM (44)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44) ↑ mRNA ( <i>LvWnt5</i> ) <i>L. vannamei</i> HP, LO, HT (46)	↑ mRNA murine <i>S. pneumoniae</i> Δpep27 lung tissue (51)	↓ mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	_	unaffected mRNA IEC-18 (56)	↑ mRNA mBMDM (40) ↑ mRNA murine spleen (39)
WNT6	↑ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> mBMDM (40) unaffected mRNA <i>M. bovis</i> BCG mPM (44)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44) ↑ mRNA <i>L. vannamei</i> HP, unaffected LO, HT (46)	↓ mRNA murine <i>S. pneumoniae</i> ∆pep27 lung tissue (51)	↑ mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	-	↑ mRNA mIEC (43)	↓ mRNA murine spleen (39) ↑ mRNA mBMDM (40)
WNT7A	↓ <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) unaffected mRNA <i>M. bovis</i> BCG mPM (44)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44) unaffected mRNA ( <i>LvWnt7</i> ) <i>L. vannamei</i> HP, LO, HT (46)	↑ mRNA murine <i>S. pneumoniae</i> Δpep27 lung tissue (51)	n.d. mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	-	-	n.d. mRNA mBMDM (40) n.d. mRNA murine spleen (39)
WNT7B	unaffected mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) unaffected mRNA <i>M. bovis</i> BCG mPM (44)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44) unaffected mRNA ( <i>LvWnt7</i> ) <i>L. vannamei</i> HP, LO, HT (46)	↑ mRNA murine <i>S. pneumoniae</i> Δpep27 lung tissue (51)	↓ mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	-	-	n.d. mRNA mBMDM (40) ↑ mRNA fetal ovine lungs (49) n.d. mRNA murine spleen (39)
WNT8A	↓ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) unaffected mRNA <i>M. bovi</i> s BCG mPM (44)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44) unaffected mRNA ( <i>LvWnt8) L. vannamei</i> HP, LO, HT (46)	-	unaffected THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	-	-	n.d. mRNA mBMDM (40) n.d. mRNA murine spleen (39)
WNT8B	↓ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) unaffected mRNA <i>M. bovi</i> s BCG mPM (44)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44) unaffected mRNA ( <i>LvWnt8</i> ) <i>L. vannamei</i> HP, LO, HT (46)	-	n.d. mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	-	-	n.d. mRNA murine spleen (39)
WNT9A	↓ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) unaffected mRNA <i>M. bovi</i> s BCG mPM (44)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44) ↑ mRNA ( <i>LvWnt9</i> ) <i>L. vannamei</i> lymphoid organ (46) unaffected mRNA ( <i>LvWnt9</i> ) <i>L. vannamei</i> HP, LO, HT (46)	↓ mRNA murine <i>S. pneumoniae</i> Δpep27 lung tissue (51)	unaffected mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	_	↑ mRNA mIEC (43)	n.d. mRNA murine spleen (39)
WNT9B	↓ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) unaffected mRNA <i>M. bovis</i> BCG mPM (44)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44) ↑ mRNA ( <i>LvWnt9</i> ) <i>L. vannamei</i> lymphoid organ (46) unaffected mRNA ( <i>LvWnt9</i> ) <i>L. vannamei</i> HP, LO, HT (46)	↓ mRNA murine S. <i>pneumoniae</i> Δpep27 lung tissue (51)	n.d. mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	-	-	n.d. mRNA murine spleen (39)

(Continued)

WNT Responses in the Host Control of Infection

<u> </u>
ŋ
g
0.6
Ð
a
-

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

	Mycobacterium sp.	S. aureus	S. pneumoniae	E. chaffeensis	E. coli	P. aeruginosa	S. Typhimurium	LPS
WNT10A	↑ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) ↓ mRNA <i>M. marinum</i> zebrafish (54)	unaffected mRNA ( <i>LvWnt10</i> ) <i>L. vannamei</i> HP, LO, HT (46)	-	↑ mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	-	-	↑ mRNA murine spleen (39) unaffected mRNA mBMDM (40)
WNT10B	↓ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) unaffected mRNA <i>M. bovis</i> BCG mPM (44)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44) unaffected mRNA ( <i>LvWnt10</i> ) <i>L. vannamei</i> HP, LO, HT (46)	-	n.d. mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	-	unaffected mRNA IEC-18 (50)	↑ mRNA murine spleen (39) ↑ mRNA mBMDM (40)
WNT11	unaffected mRNA <i>M. bovis</i> BCG mPM (44)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44) unaffected mRNA <i>L. vannamei</i> HP, LO, HT (46)	-	unaffected mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	-	↑ mRNA and protein IEC-18 (56)	unaffected mBMDM (40) ↑ mRNA murine spleen (39)
WNT16	↓ mRNA <i>Mtb</i> murine lung tissue (40) ↓ mRNA <i>M. marinum</i> zebrafish (54)	unaffected mRNA <i>L. vannamei</i> HP, LO, HT (46)	-	n.d. mRNA THP-1 (42)	unaffected mRNA mPM (44)	-	-	unaffected mRNA murine spleen (39)
Effects not specific to individual WNT proteins	<ul> <li>↑ <i>Fzd1 Mtb</i> murine lung tissue and mBMDM (41)</li> <li>↑ <i>Fzd4</i>, <i>Lrp5</i>, β-catenin stabilization through GSK3 phosphorylation in <i>M. bovis</i> BCG mPM (44)</li> <li>↓ <i>Axin2</i>, <i>Dvl3</i>, <i>Fzd8</i>,9, 10 ↑ <i>Dvl2</i></li> <li><i>M. marinum</i> zebrafish (54)</li> </ul>	↓ mom-5, mig-1 (FZD homologues) C. elegans IEC (45) ↑ Fzd4 m. PM (44) ↑ mRNA LvWntA L. vannamei HP, LO (46)	↓ β-catenin activity murine lung tissue (62)	↓ <i>FZD</i> 7 ↑ <i>FZD</i> 5, 9 ↓ <i>DKK3</i> ↑ <i>sFRP</i> 2 THP-1 (42)	-	↓ <i>Ctnnb1</i> RAW264.7 (63)	β-catenin degradation IEC-18 (64) ↑ <i>Fzd4, 6, 9, Fzd3, 10</i> unaffected IEC-18 (50) ↑ <i>FZD2, 7, 8 FZD5</i> unaffected HCT116 (56) ↑ <i>Fzd4</i> mPM (44)	<ul> <li><i>Fzd1, 5, Wisp1, β-catenin</i></li> <li><i>Fzd7, 8 Fzd3, 6, 9,</i> and 10</li> <li>unaffected murine spleen</li> <li>(39)</li> <li><i>Ctnnb1</i> fetal ovine lungs</li> <li>(49)</li> <li>LRP6 phosphorylation</li> <li>BEAS-2B (53)</li> <li><i>DVL3</i> hMDM (34)</li> </ul>

mRNA or protein expression of WNT ligands and signaling components in response to infection or LPS exposure.  $\uparrow$ , upregulation;  $\downarrow$ , downregulation; -, indicative of no data; n.d., not detectable; protein, protein expression; mRNA, mRNA expression; m, murine; h, human; PM, peritoneal macrophages; BMDM, bone marrow-derived macrophages; IEC, intestinal epithelial cells; MDM, monocyte-derived macrophages; PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; SMC, spleen mononuclear cells; HP, hepatopancreas; LO, lymphoid organs; HT, hemocytes; Mtb, Mycobacterium tuberculosis.

analyzed (44). Decreased Wnt5a protein and decreased *Ctnnb1* mRNA expression in the mouse macrophage cell line RAW264.7 have also been reported upon infection with *Pseudomonas* (*P.*) *aeruginosa* (57) (63).

While several studies reported WNT5A expression to be responsive to macrophage encounter with Gram-negative bacterial pathogens, it remains to be defined whether opposing directions of the regulation of WNT5A expression reflect pathogen-specific responses, cell-type-dependent variations, or species-specific differences between humans and mice. Some indication that the latter apect might indeed be of importance comes from studies of macrophages stimulated with lipopolysaccharide (LPS), a major cell wall component of Gram-negative bacteria. Increased WNT5A expression has been noted in LPS-stimulated human monocytes, the human monocytic THP-1 cell line, as well as human bronchial epithelial BEAS-2B cells (19, 34, 53, 60, 61). LPS-induced WNT5A expression in human macrophages occured downstream of Toll-like receptor signaling and nuclear factor kappa B (NF-κB) activation, and was amplified by inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and interferon  $\gamma$  (IFN $\gamma$ ) (19, 34, 60). In contrast, LPS stimulation did not significantly increase the relatively low Wnt5a mRNA expression of mouse bone marrow-derived macrophages (40), yet LPS stimulation did enhance Wnt5a mRNA expression by mouse RAW264.7 macrophages (37). Nevertheless, the amplitude of the WNT5A response might also be governed by the nature of the invading bacterial pathogen as suggested by observations that Porphyromonas gingivalis LPS induced WNT5A mRNA expression in THP-1 cells to a greater extent compared to E. coli-derived LPS (60).

Importantly, however, the LPS-induced WNT response encompasses more than WNT5A. LPS stimulation elevated expression of WNT3 in human monocyte-derived macrophages (52), and WNT1 in differentiated human THP-1 cells and murine bone marrow-derived macrophages (40, 48). The latter cells also displayed increased expression of Wnt2b, Wnt5b, Wnt6, and Wnt10b upon LPS stimulation, whereas expression of Wnt5a, Wnt10a, and Wnt11 remained unchanged, and expression of the remaining Wnt genes was below the detection limit (40). Systemic challenge of mice with a sub-lethal dose of LPS in vivo induced rapid elevation of Wnt5b, Wnt10a, Wnt10b, Wnt11, Fzd1, and Fzd5 mRNA expression in spleen tissue, accompanied by elevated expression of the WNT target gene Wisp1. In contrast, expression of Wnt6, Fzd7, and Fzd8 was decreased, whereas Wnt3, Wnt4, Wnt5a, Wnt16, Fzd3, Fzd6, Fzd9, and Fzd10 were not differentially expressed (39). In an ovine model of fetal intra-amniotic LPS exposure, elevated expression of Wnt7b, and reduced mRNA expression of Wnt1, Wnt2, Wnt4, and Ctnnb1 were observed in fetal lung tissue (49).

With patterns beginning to emerge in the WNT response to Gram-negative bacteria (e.g., WNT5A expression by macrophages), more detailed insight is required to delineate the impact of cell type-, species-, and pathogen-specific contributions to the amplitude and composition of infection-associated WNT responses.

#### Gram-Positive Bacteria

WNT responses upon infection with Gram-positive bacteria are just beginning to be explored (Table 1). Staphylococcus (S.) aureus infection of Drosophila melanogaster led to enhanced expression of Wnt4 (55). Expression of other WNT ligands was not determined in this study, leaving it to be determined how S. aureus, and other pathogens, affect WNT expression in Drosophila. S. aureus infection of Caenorhabditis elegans induced elevated expression of the WNT2 homolog cwn-2, and suppressed expression of the WNT1 homolog mom-2 and the FZD homolog mom-5 (45). A comprehensive analysis of WNT expression in the Pacific white shrimp Litopenaeus vannamei revealed pronounced upregulation of the mRNA expression of multiple WNT ligands, including LvWnt5, LvWnt6, LvWnt9, and LvWntA in different organs upon S. aureus infection (46). Expression of Wnt5a and Fzd4 by murine macrophages marginally increased upon infection with S. aureus (44). In contrast, infection of RAW264.7 mouse macrophages with Streptococcus (S). pneumoniae has been reported to suppress Wnt5a protein expression (57). Sequencing analyses of lung tissue of mice vaccinated intranasally with S. pneumoniae deficient for the autolysis-inducing factor pep27 revealed enhanced expression of Wnt4, Wnt5b, Wnt7a, and Wnt7b, and impaired Wnt2b, Wnt3, Wnt6, Wnt9a, and Wnt9b mRNA expression (51). Kinase activity profiling in mouse lung tissue of S. pneumoniae-infected mice indicated a reduction in β-cateninstabilizing signals associated with a decrease in β-catenin protein expression (62). Thus, due to the paucity of information it is currently largely unknown if host cell encounter with pathogenic Gram-positive bacteria directly modulates WNT responses and signaling capabilities.

#### Mycobacteria

Mycobacterial infections induce significant alterations in the expression of WNT signaling components in infected tissues of a variety of host organisms (Table 1). Macrophage-associated WNT5A expression was initially described in tuberculosis lung granulomas (34), and WNT5A and FZD4 mRNA expression was significantly elevated in peripheral blood mononuclear cells of tuberculosis patients (44). Mycobacterium (M.) tuberculosis infection of C57BL/6 mice enhanced lung mRNA expression of Wnt1, Wnt6, Wnt10a, Fzd1, and Fzd5, while reducing expression of Wnt2, Wnt2b, Wnt3a, Wnt4, Wnt5a, Wnt7a, Wnt8a, Wnt10b, as well as Fzd3, Fzd7, Fzd8, Fzd9, and Fzd10 (40, 41). M. marinum infection of zebrafish enhanced expression of wnt5a, yet suppressed expression of multiple other WNT ligands, receptors and WNT pathway regulators (54). Regulation into opposing directions was noted for some WNT network components, depending on the virulence of the infecting M. marinum strain (54). Macrophages are major host cells for mycobacteria and have been identified as a significant source of WNT expression during mycobacterial infection. In vitro studies showed that infection of monocytes and macrophages of human and mouse origin with mycobacteria across a virulence spectrum (M. tuberculosis, M. avium, M. bovis Bacillus Calmette-Guérin) greatly enhanced expression of WNT5A (34, 44). Importantly, expression and induction of WNT5A in human macrophages

was more pronounced compared to mouse cells. In *M. tuberculosis*-infected mice, expression of Wnt6 was localized to macrophages in lung granulomas, and *Wnt6* mRNA expression was significantly elevated in murine bone marrow derived macrophages infected with *M. tuberculosis* or *M. avium* (40). Taken together, the experimental evidence to date suggests that upregulation of WNT5A by mycobacteria-infected macrophages may be evolutionarily conserved between humans, mice and possibly other species. Nevertheless, expression of other WNT ligands by infected macrophages remains to be explored more systematically across species. Moreover, WNT/WNT receptor expression in infected tissues requires cellular context for more detailed understanding of where WNT responses occur upon encounter of pathogenic mycobacteria.

## Toward Defining Patterns in the Host WNT Response to Bacterial Infections

A WNT response consistently reported for human, and to some extent murine, macrophages to diverse microbial challenges appears to be regulation of WNT5A expression. Yet, as it becomes clear that host WNT responses to bacterial infection reach well beyond differential expression of WNT5A, it will be essential to delineate whether patterns of WNT pathway activity are stereotypical responses of distinct host cell types and tissues to microbial insult, and/or how these responses are defined by the nature of the invading pathogen. With increasing insights into WNT responses to infection arises the need to understand WNT responses in human disease. Studies in patients with severe sepsis and septic shock highlight the complex nature of the host WNT response to microbial insult. Comparisons of blood gene expression patterns in patients with septic shock compared to healthy controls, revealed elevated expression of WNT5B and WNT11, whereas the expression of WNT1, WNT2B, WNT3, WNT6, WNT7A, WNT9A, WNT10A, WNT10B, and WNT16 was significantly reduced (39). Patients with severe sepsis had elevated WNT5A serum levels, and patients with sepsis-associated acute respiratory distress syndrome displayed elevated WNT5A protein expression in lung tissue (19, 68, 69). An increase of WNT5A protein serum concentrations appeared to correlate with disease progression, whereas a decrease was associated with recovery in critically ill sepsis patients (68). However, WNT5A mRNA expression in whole blood was very low and not significantly different between healthy controls and septic shock patients, whereas alterations in the expression of other WNT ligands was more readily detectable (39). Whether dynamic changes in the expression of WNT pathway components accompanying severe acute infections can be exploited for the development of easily assessible biomarkers remains to be determined. Signatures that might enable patient stratification or rapidly identify classes of causative bacteria are worth exploring.

#### **Protozoal and Fungal Infections**

WNT responses to infections with protozoa and fungi are less well-explored (**Table 2**). In mice intraperitoneally inoculated with the protozoan parasite *Trypanosoma* (*T.*) *cruzi*, protein expression of Wnt3a, Wnt5a, and  $\beta$ -catenin in splenic mononuclear cells increased with disease progression

(74). Similar patterns were observed for Wnt3a and Wnt5a mRNA and protein expression in murine bone marrow-derived macrophages (BMDMs) (74). In vitro experiments indicated enhanced expression of Wnt3a and Wnt5a, Fzd4, Fzd6, Fzd8, and Fzd9 upon T. cruzi infection of murine BMDMs. In contrast, Leishmania donovani infection of mouse RAW264.7 macrophages resulted in diminished expression of Wnt5a, whereas other WNT ligands and sigaling components were not assessed (80). In human corneas infected with the fungus Aspergillus (A.) fumigatus, WNT5A expression was found to be significantly higher than in uninfected corneal tissues. WNT5A mRNA and protein expression were also enhanced by A. fumigatus infection of human THP-1 macrophages (78). Murine peritoneal macrophages infected with Candida albicans, A. fumigatus, or A. flavus or stimulated with the fungal and bacterial cell wall component Curdlan displayed elevated Wnt5a expression (79). More comprehensive profiling of the WNT network will be required to assess the quality of WNT responses by protozoal and fungal infections and determine to what extent WNT expression and signaling are defined by the host cell vs. the nature of the encountered pathogen.

## **Viral Infections**

WNT responses to viral infections have been studied in the context of a limited number of viral infections (Table 2). HIV infection elevated WNT2B and WNT10B expression by human primary astrocytes (71), whereas expression of WNT1, WNT3, WNT5B, WNT9A, WNT9B, and WNT16 remained unaffected, and WNT2, WNT3A, WNT4, WNT5A, WNT6, WNT7A, WNT7B, WNT8A, WNT8B, WNT10A, and WNT11 expression was below the detection limit of the assay (71). HIV infection of mouse neuronal cells of the spinal dorsal horn elevated Wnt5a mRNA expression (77). WNT5A expression was also upregulated in Epstein Barr virus (EBV)- infected nasopharyngeal carcinoma epithelial cells (75). Influenza A infection of mice resulted in impaired expression of Wnt2, Wnt3a, Wnt10b, Fzd2, Lrp4, and Tcf3 in infected lung tissues (72). Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) infection of human foreskin fibroblasts was associated with WNT5A and WNT5B downregulation (76), whereas HCMV infection elevated WNT2 expression in human mesenchymal stem cells (73). HCMV infection of dermal fibroblasts, placental extravillous trophoblasts, and foreskin fibroblasts was associated with degradation of  $\beta$ -catenin (83). In contrast, β-catenin stabilization was observed in human B cells infected with EBV (86), vaccinia virus-infected HEK293T cells (87), hepatitis B virus-infected Huh7 cells (84), and hepatitis C virus-infected HEK293T cells (85). These reports indicate responsiveness of the WNT signaling network to viral infections. Modulation of β-catenin stabilization might be indicative of viral exploitation of host cell replication and apoptosis. Yet, the WNT responses associated with viral infection noted thus far show no discernible patterns, likely due to the paucity of comprehensive analyses. Systematic comparisons of host cells and different viral classes are required to assess whether there are WNT network signatures that are indicative of a viral infection.

## WNT FUNCTIONS IN THE HOST RESPONSE TO INFECTION

The realization that the WNT network is responsive to infections has driven significant interest in delineating its roles in host defense and immune responses. There is increasing evidence that WNT ligands (and other ligands for WNT receptors) contribute to the host control of phylogenetically diverse pathogens in non-vertebrates and vertebrates (57, 74, 80, 88, 89). Some associations between polymorphisms in WNT network genes, and susceptibility and quality of the immune response to infection have been suggested (90-93). Professional antigen-presenting cells (APCs) such as macrophages and dendritic cells have been studied intensively as sources and targets of WNT ligands (19, 40, 44, 94, 95). Roles for WNT ligands in orchestrating phagocytosis, antimicrobial defense and inflammatory cytokine responses have been indicated (Figure 3, Table 3) (48, 98, 100). WNT ligands have also been implicated in the cellular differentiation and functional polarization of APCs and T cells, bridging of innate and adaptive immune responses (34, 94), and shaping lymphocyte functions (107–112).

## **Considerations for Experimentation**

Experimental approaches to deciphering WNT ligand-driven immune functions include utilization of mouse models with

genetic deletion of individual WNT ligands or receptors. Use of cell-specific deletion (95, 113) or heterozygous mice (40, 57) is often indicated due to the deleterious impact of global deletion of individual WNT ligands on embryonic development. SiRNA-mediated knock-down of endogenous WNT components (104, 114), interference with WNT/WNT receptor interactions using neutralizing antibodies and recombinant WNT regulators (e.g., sFRPs, DKK) (34, 115), as well as plasmid-based overexpression of WNT ligands, receptors and regulators (63, 116) are commonly utilized, in particular in in vitro cellbased studies. Conditioned media from WNT-overexpressing cells and recombinant WNT proteins have also been proven as valuable tools for deciphering WNT functions. Of note, some biological responses of innate immune cells observed upon exposure to recombinant WNT protein preparations have been attributed to Toll-like receptor activation, rather than known WNT receptors (61, 117). The biological importance of this requires further clarification.

As it becomes increasingly evident that multiple WNT ligands are differentially expressed in response to microbial insults, and that WNT ligands are likely to arise from different cellular sources during infection, strategies that broadly target the WNT response as opposed to individual WNT ligands are increasingly employed. Cell-targeted conditional deletion of WLS and PORCN in mouse models, and the use of small molecule





TABLE 2 | WNT responses induced by viral, fungal, and protozoal infection in experimental systems.

	Viruses	Fungi	Protozoa
WNT1	↑ mRNA HepC Huh7 (70) unaffected mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT2	↓ mRNA IVA murine lungs (72) ↑ mRNA HCMV hMSC (73) n.d. mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT2B	↑ mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT3	unaffected mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT3A	↓ mRNA IVA murine lungs (72) n.d mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	↑ protein <i>T. cruzi</i> mSMC and mBMDM (74 ↑ mRNA <i>T. cruzi</i> mBMDM (74)
WNT4	n.d. mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT5A	↑ mRNA EBV hNC (75) ↓ mRNA HCMV hFF (76) ↑ mRNA HIV mSDH (77) n.d mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	<ul> <li>↑ mRNA, protein A. fumigatus THP-1 and human corneas (78)</li> <li>↑ mRNA C. albicans, A. flavus,</li> <li>A. fumigatus, Curdlan mPM (79)</li> </ul>	↓ mRNA <i>L. donovani</i> RAW264.7 (80) ↑ protein <i>T. cruzi</i> mSMC, mBMDM (74) ↑ mRNA <i>T. cruzi</i> mBMDM (74)
WNT5B	↓ mRNA HCMV hFF (76) unaffected mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT6	n.d mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT7A	n.d mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT7B	n.d mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT8A	n.d mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT8B	n.d mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT9A	unaffected mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT9B	unaffected mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT10A	n.d mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT10B	↓ mRNA IVA murine lungs (72) ↑ mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT11	n.d mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
WNT16	↑ mRNA HPV18 HaCat (81) unaffected mRNA HIV hPdA (71)	-	-
Effects not specific to individual WNT proteins	<ul> <li>↓<i>Fzd2</i>, <i>Lrp4</i>, <i>Tcf-3</i> mRNA IVA murine lungs (72)</li> <li>↑ WNT/β-catenin signaling Rift Valley fever virus HEK293T (82)</li> <li>↑ β-catenin degradation HCMV hDF and hPET (83)</li> <li>↑ β-catenin protein HepB Huh7 (84)</li> <li>β-catenin stabilization HepC HEK293T (85),</li> <li>EBV hB-cells (86), Vaccinia virus HEK293T (87)</li> <li>↓ protein β-catenin, no effect on DVL2,3 HCMV hFF (76)</li> </ul>	-	↑ β-catenin protein <i>T. cruzi</i> mSMC and mBMDM (74) ↑ <i>Fzd4, 6, 8, 9</i> mRNA <i>T. cruzi</i> mBMDM (74)

mRNA and protein expression of WNT signaling molecules in response to infection.  $\uparrow$ , upregulation;  $\downarrow$ , downregulation; -, indicative of no data; n.d., not detectable; protein, protein expression; mRNA, mRNA expression; m, murine; h, human; MSC, mesenchymal stem cells; PdA, primary-derived astrocytes; SMC, spleen mononuclear cells; BMDM, bone marrow-derived macrophages; NC, nasopharyngeal carcinoma; FF, foreskin fibroblasts; SDH, spinal dorsal horn; DF, dermal fibroblasts; PET, placental extravillous trophoblasts.

inhibitors targeting PORCN activity have proven useful for *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies (39, 42, 80, 98, 112, 118). Similarly, genetic and pharmacologic interference with  $\beta$ -catenin functions as a transcriptional co-activator have been employed to delineate functions of  $\beta$ -catenin-mediated WNT signaling (39, 112, 119). It is important to note, however, that  $\beta$ -catenin stabilization is not exclusively indicative of WNT/WNT receptor engagement, and that microbial ligands and growth factors can induce  $\beta$ -catenin stabilization (120–122). Thus, here we chose to focus mainly on studies that link WNT ligands, their receptors and regulators with host defense to infection.

## Phagocytosis

WNT-induced engagement of the actin cytoskeleton suggests that WNT ligands may play an active role in phagocytosis. Indeed,

the *D. melanogaster* glypican dally is a co-receptor in wingless signaling and has been implicated in promoting phagocytosis of a non-pathogenic virus (white spot syndrome virus) by S2 phagocytes. Functional interactions of dally with frizzled 2 and wnt2 in this process were deduced from gene expression analyses (96). In mouse RAW264.7 macrophage-like cells, it has been reported that exposure to Wnt5a-conditioned medium or recombinant Wnt5a enhanced uptake of non-pathogenic *E. coli* DH5 $\alpha$ , as well as latex beads. In contrast, Wnt3a-conditioned medium did not enhance phagocytosis (80, 98). Fzd5, as well as Rac-1, PI3K and IKK signaling were implicated in mediating the Wnt5a-driven phagocytic activity. Treatment with liposome-encapsulated Inhibitor of WNT Production-2 (IWP-2), a small-molecule PORCN inhibitor (123), impaired macrophage uptake of *E. coli* DH5 $\alpha$  (98). A follow-up study

#### TABLE 3 | WNT functions in shaping host cell defense mechanism.

	Phagocytosis	Autophagy	ROS	NOS	Antimicrobial peptides	Inflammatory cytokines
WNT1	-	-	-	↑ iNOS LPS stimulated THP-1 (48)	-	↑ IL-6 ↑ TNF LPS stimulated THP-1 (48)
WNT2	↑ virus uptake D. <i>melanogaster</i> S2 (96)	-	-	-	-	_
WNT2B	-	-	-	-	-	↓ Sendai virus-induced <i>IFN</i> β1 HEK293T (97)
WNT3A	unaffected <i>E. coli</i> DH5α RAW264.7 (98)	↓ <i>M. bovis</i> BCG RAW.264.7 (99)	unaffected <i>P. aeruginosa</i> RAW264.7 (100) ↑ NADPH oxidase and hydrogen peroxide HUVEC (101)	-	↑ mRNA β-defensin 1 and CRAMP <i>P. aeruginosa</i> RAW264.7 (100)	↓ TNF, IL-6, IL-1β <i>P. aeruginosa</i> RAW264.7 (100)
WNT5A	<ul> <li>↑ E. coli DH5α</li> <li>RAW264.7 (98)</li> <li>↑ latex beads</li> <li>RAW264.7 (80)</li> <li>↑ S. pneumoniae and</li> <li>P. aeruginosa</li> <li>RAW264.7 (57)</li> <li>unaffected L. donovani</li> <li>RAW264.7 (80)</li> <li>unaffected Mtb</li> <li>hMDM (102)</li> </ul>	↑ <i>P. aeruginosa</i> and <i>S. pneumoniae</i> RAW264.7 (57) ↑ <i>Mtb</i> infected hMDM (102) ↓ <i>M. bovis</i> BCG, <i>S. flexneri, L.</i> <i>monocytogenes</i> , but not <i>K. pneumoniae</i> , <i>S. aureus</i> or <i>E. coli</i> (IFNγ-induced autophagy) RAW264.7 (103)	↑NADPH oxidase-mediated ROS production RAW264.7 (80) ↑ ROS ↑ Wnt5a mPM and RAW264.7 (79)	-	-	$\label{eq:constraint} \begin{array}{l} \uparrow mycobacteria-induced \\ \text{IL-12 and IFNy in PPD and } \\ mycobacteria-stimulated \\ \text{PBMC (34)} \\ \uparrow \text{TNF, IL-6, but not IL-10} \\ \text{RAW264.7 } \pm \textit{E. coli} \ (98) \\ \uparrow \text{TNF, IL-6, IFN\beta \textit{E. coli} } \\ \text{RAW264.7 (104) and } \\ \text{hPBMC (19)} \\ \downarrow \text{IFN}\beta \text{ Chandipura virus } \\ \text{Wnt5a^{KD}} \text{ RAW264.7 (104)} \\ \uparrow \text{ IL-8, IL-6, IL-1}\beta \text{ in hPBMC } \\ (19) \\ \uparrow \text{ IL-10 hMDM, } \uparrow \text{IL-10} \\ \text{promotor RAW264.7 (105)} \\ \uparrow \text{ IL-6, IL-8, IL-1}\beta \\ \text{hPBMC (19)} \end{array}$
WNT6	-	-	-	-	-	↓ TNF <i>Mtb</i> mBMDM (40)
WNT7A	↓ <b>mMDM (</b> 106)	-	-	-	-	↓ IL-10, IL-12 ↑IL-6 mMDM (106)
WNT9B	-	-	-	-	-	↓ <i>IFNβ1</i> Sendai virus HEK293T (97)
WNT11	-	-	-	-	-	↓IL-8 mIEC (56)

↑, upregulation; ↓, downregulation; –, indicative of no data; protein, protein expression; mRNA, mRNA expression; m, murine; h, human; HUVEC, human umbilical vein endothelial cells; MDM, monocyte-derived macrophages; PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cells; BMDM, bone marrow-derived macrophages; IEC, intestinal epithelial cells; MIM, myocardial infarct macrophages; Mtb, Mycobacterium tuberculosis.

described that exogenously added recombinant Wnt5a also enhanced RAW264.7 cell phagocytosis of S. pneumoniae (Grampositive) and P. aeruginosa (Gram-negative) mediated by Rac-1 and Dvl (57). Mice pre-treated with IWP-2 displayed enhanced bacterial burden within peritoneal cells at 2h postintraperitoneal infection, and within lung homogenates 5 h after intranasal infection with P. aeruginosa. Similarly, more viable P. aeruginosa were recovered from peritoneal cell lysates of  $Wnt5a^{+/-}$  mice compared to  $Wnt5a^{+/+}$  mice (57). These observations further suggest a role for Wnt5a, and potentially other WNT ligands in host cell uptake of P. aeruginosa. However, treatment of RAW264.7 cells with recombinant Wnt5a did not alter internalization of L. donovani (80), and siRNAmediated knock-down of endogenous WNT5A did not impair phagocytosis of M. tuberculosis by human monocyte-derived macrophages (102). Thus, the effects of WNT5A on phagocytosis of bacterial pathogens requires further investigation, including

comparisons of extracellular alongside intracellular pathogens and macrophages of different origins.

*E. chaffeensis* is an obligate intracellular pathogen that infects mononuclear cells through caveolae-mediated endocytosis and resides in intracellular vesicles that retain characteristics of early endosomes (124). *E. chaffeensis* tandem repeat proteins (TRPs) are secreted effectors of *E. chaffeensis* that have been shown to interact with host cell proteins, including components of the WNT signaling network (125, 126). Phagocytosis of TRP120coated microspheres by human monocytic THP-1 cells was impaired by small molecules targeting intracellular signaling components that are also part of the WNT signaling network, such as  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF interactions (FH535), CamKII (KN93), and Rac-1 (NSC23766) (42). In contrast, a PORCN inhibitor (IWP-2) did not impair TRP120-microsphere phagocytosis, suggesting that secreted WNT proteins may not have been directly involved in driving this process. In contrast to phagocytic cells, WNT11 over-expression, but not WNT2 overexpression, by human intestinal epithelial HCT116 cells has been suggested to decrease invasion by *Salmonella enterica* Typhimurium (50, 56). The cellular mechanisms facilitating this protection are unknown and it remains to be established how induction of WNT11 expression by *Salmonella* infection might contribute to pathogenesis *in vivo*.

## Autophagy

Several studies have begun to address how WNT ligands might affect the ability of host cells to control pathogenic bacteria. In the case of non-pathogenic E. coli DH5α, exogenous addition of Wnt5a enhanced phagocytosis, but did not alter the ability of RAW264.7 macrophages to rapidly kill the engulfed bacteria (98). In contrast, RAW264.7 macrophages exposed to recombinant Wnt5a displayed a more rapid decline in viable intracellular S. pneumoniae and P. aeruginosa within the first 2-3 h of infection. Wnt5a-induced killing within the first hours of infection was suggested to be mediated by Rac-1 and Dvl. Mechanistically, the authors implicated enhanced autophagy as the mechanism of Wnt5a-induced enhanced control of engulfed S. pneumoniae and P. aeruginosa (57). While S. pneumoniae is targeted by autophagy in non-phagocytic cells (127), the contribution of autophagy in macrophages to controlling this bacterium had not been reported previously. In contrast, the contributions of autophagy to macrophage control of P. aeruginosa require further clarification as beneficial effects for the host as well as the bacteria have been suggested (63, 128-131). It is noteworthy, however, that after the sharp initial decline of viable intracellular S. pneumoniae and P. aeruginosa in Wnt5a-treated RAW264.7 macrophages, from day 1 onwards the intracellular bacterial burden declined more slowly and at a similar rate in both Wnt5aand control-treated cells (57). Thus, the cellular mechanisms accelerating the initial bacterial killing might be transient, and could be specific to some pathogens as they did not affect macrophage killing of non-pathogenic E. coli DH5a (98). With Wnt5a expression reported to be suppressed by S. pneumoniae and P. aeruginosa infection of macrophages (57), roles of other WNT ligands responsive to infection (e.g., Wnt4, Wnt5b, Wnt7a, Wnt7b) (51) and the net-outcome of WNT signaling in infected cells will need further exploration. Of note, overexpression of β-catenin in RAW264.7 macrophages has been reported to accelerate killing of engulfed P. aeruginosa, which was associated with suppression of autophagy (63).

Beneficial or detrimental impact of WNT-autophagy-crosstalk might be defined by a pathogen's ability to exploit intracellular niches for replication and survival. Intracellular bacterial burden in *E. chaffeensis*-infected THP-1 cells was diminished when cells were exposed to IWP-2, as well as the  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF-1 inhibitor FH535, or the CamKII inhibitor KN93. Small interfering RNAmediated knock-down of WNT pathway components, including *WNT5A*, *FZD5*, *FZD9*, *LRP6*, *CTNNB1*, and *DVL2* diminished intracellular bacterial burden over 1-2 days of infection, further supporting the notion that intracellular survival of *E. chaffeensis* in this cell line was facilitated by the action of endogenous WNT ligands (42). A subsequent study indicated that DVL signaling suppressed autophagy and phago-lysosomal maturation in *E*. chaffeensis-infected cells (132). WNT pathway activation (e.g., by Wnt5a) upon infection with M. bovis BCG has been reported to interfere with IFNy-induced activation of autophagy in mouse macrophages, a process facilitated by arachidonate lipoxygenase. The same mechanisms have also been implicated for Shigella flexneri and Listeria monocytogenes infection (103). A recent study suggested that in human monocyte-derived macrophages infected with M. tuberculosis, WNT5A contributed to enhancing autophagy resulting in a small decrease in intracellular bacterial burden. In this study, WNT5A-mediated autophagy was suggested as an effector mechanism of IL-36y (102). However, as WNT5A expression in human macrophages is rapidly induced by *M. tuberculosis* infection (34), this mechanism might represent an amplification of the WNT5A response of these cells as indicated for other cytokines such as TNF (19). Exogenous addition of Wnt3a conditioned medium suppressed association of intracellular M. bovis BCG with autophagy machinery in RAW264.7 macrophages, which was associated with impaired mRNA expression of autophagy effectors (e.g., Atg5, Atg7, Atg12, p62) (99). With evidence for bi-directional regulation between WNT signaling and autophagy (133-135), and the notion that some pathogens might exploit this for their intracellular survival, the functional consequences of this crosstalk for pathogen control is an area for future pursuit.

#### **Reactive Radicals**

Additional cell-intrinsic host defense mechanisms that may be regulated by WNT signaling include the formation of reactive radicals. Treatment of RAW264.7 macrophages with recombinant Wnt5a induced NADPH oxidase-mediated ROS production, which has been suggested to contribute to the macrophage control of L. donovani (80). Exogenous addition of recombinant Wnt3a or Wnt3a-conditioned medium to human umbilical vein endothelial cells induced elevated expression of endothelial NADPH oxidase and production of hydrogen peroxide (101), and GSK3β has been implicated as a negative regulator of LPS-induced NADPH-oxidase 1 expression and production of reactive oxygen species production by macrophages (136). These observations could implicate β-catenin-stabilizing WNTs as drivers of ROS production. Yet, treatment of RAW264.7 macrophages with Wnt3aconditioned medium did not affect ROS production upon P. aeruginosa infection (100). Thus, contributions of WNT ligands, in particular endogenously expressed WNTs to ROS production as an anti-microbial defense mechanism require further investigation.

*Wls*-deficiency in BMDMs of *Wls*<sup>fl/fl</sup>-Lyz2-Cre mice has been reported to significantly increase mRNA expression of inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS, encoded by *Nos2*) (137), a phenotype also observed in macrophages isolated from myocardial infarct tissue of *cfms-icre Wls*<sup>fl/fl</sup> mice (138). This may be reflective of suppression of iNOS expression by autocrine/paracrine WNT signaling. The human iNOS promoter has TCF-4 binding sites and *Nos2* expression and nitric oxide production were shown to be positively regulated by  $\beta$ -catenin and TCF-4 (139). These observations suggest that the balance of  $\beta$ -catenin-dependent and -independent WNT signaling could be important for fine-tuning iNOS expression and activity. Whether this bears consequences for pathogen control needs to be investigated. Nevertheless, enhanced iNOS expression by *Wls*-deficient macrophages may indicate compensatory mechanisms associated with the inability to release WNT proteins from producing cells and significant elevation of WNT gene expression observed in these cells (137). However, such alterations in WNT expression may be cell specific as F4/80<sup>+</sup> liver macrophages of *Wls*<sup>fl/fl</sup>-Lyz2-Cre mice did not show significant differences in *Wnt4* and *Wnt6* expression (118).

With some indication that WNT ligands may determine a cell's ability for production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species, there is also evidence that ROS and NO produced in response to microbial insult may regulate WNT responses. For example, peritoneal macrophages isolated from  $Nos2^{-/-}$  mice showed lower induction of Wnt5a, Fzd4, and Lrp5 mRNA expression upon *M. bovis* BCG infection compared to wild type control cells. Treatment with an NO-donor restored Wnt5a, Fzd4, and Lrp5 expression in Nos2-deficient macrophages (44), implicating reactive nitrogen species as potentiators of WNT signaling initiation. Dectin-1/Syk-mediated ROS production by murine RAW264.7 macrophages contributed to  $\beta$ -catenin stabilization (79), although how this might intersect with WNT-driven cellular activation remains to be explored.

#### **Antimicrobial Peptides**

Beta-catenin-stabilizing WNT ligands may also play a role in the expression of antimicrobial peptides. A recent study reported that Wnt3a-conditioned medium elevated the P. aeruginosa-induced mRNA expression of cathelicidin-related antimicrobial peptide (CRAMP) and  $\beta$ -defensin 1 in RAW264.7 mouse macrophages, which correlated with a small increase in bacterial killing by these cells (100). Stabilization of  $\beta$ -catenin has also been linked to production of the α-defensins cryptdin-1 and cryptdin-6 by murine intestinal crypts (140). In C. elegans, it has been shown that expression of the antimicrobial peptide clec-60 (human homolog RegIIIy) upon S. aureus infection is dependent upon the  $\beta$ -catenin homolog *bar-1* (45). These observations implicate  $\beta$ catenin in the transcriptional control of a range of antimicrobial peptides. This encourage analyses on the potential roles of infection-responsive endogenous WNTs in the expression of antimicrobial peptides by infected cells.

## Tryptophan Metabolism

Indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase (IDO) catalyzes the first ratelimiting step in the catabolism of the tryptophan for the formation of active metabolites (141). IDO activity is essential for host resistance to some infections where IDO activity limits the pathogen's access to the essential amino acid tryptophan (142, 143). The PORCN inhibitor IWP-L6 and the  $\beta$ -catenin inhibitor iCRT14 enhanced IDO expression and activity in *T. cruzi*-infected murine macrophages, which was associated with enhanced control of intracellular parasites (74). This suggests that endogenous WNT expression and associated  $\beta$ -catenin stabilization in *T. cruzi*-infected macrophages suppressed IDO expression in this context. It will be interesting to explore whether induction of WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling by *T. cruzi* is an active strategy of subverting host defense mechanisms. Importantly,  $\beta$ -catenin activity in CD11c<sup>+</sup> APCs has been associated with induction of IDO expression and the attainment of a tolerogenic phenotype in DCs (144, 145). Whether these apparent differences are reflective of the cellular context (macrophages vs. CD11c<sup>+</sup> dendritic cells) or the immune responses (parasite infection vs. sterile inflammation) are worth further investigations.

## Anti-viral State and Type I Interferon Responses

GSK3β activity and β-catenin functions have been implicated in the positive or negative regulation of type I interferon (IFN) responses associated with protection or susceptibility of cells to viral infection (82, 97, 146-152). In some studies, direct contributions of endogenous WNT ligands has been confirmed. For example, siRNA-mediated knock-down of Wnt5a in mouse bone marrow-derived macrophages and RAW264.7 cells impaired Chandipura virus-induced IFNB production associated with enhanced viral load in infected cell cultures (104). WNT2B and WNT9B were identified as negative regulators of Sendai virus-induced interferon beta ( $IFN\beta 1$ ) expression, and inhibition of GSK3β-controlled virus-induced type I IFN responses in a β-catenin-dependent manner in a range of human cell lines and primary cells (97). SiRNA-mediated knockdown experiments in human bronchio-epithelial cells (HBECs) identified WNT5A and DKK1 as positive, and FZD5, DVL3, SFRP5, WNT7B, WNT9B as negative regulators of influenza A PR8 replication (114). Knock-down of WNT2 and WNT3 (but not WNT1, CTNNB1, or LEF1) impaired infection of HeLa cells by Dengue virus (153). Enhanced control of flaviviruses was associated with enhanced type I IFN signaling via interferon regulatory factor (IRF)-3 activation and interferon response gene expression. It was proposed that this was facilitated by crossregulation and physical interactions between TANK-binding kinase-1 (TBK-1, which phosphorylates IRF-3) and GSK3β (153). However, examples of  $\beta$ -catenin-stabilizing WNTs not affecting virus-induced interferon responses also exist (154).

#### Inflammation

WNT signaling has been ascribed both pro-inflammatory and immune-regulatory properties. The paradigm developed over the past decade or so suggests that WNT ligands triggering  $\beta$ -catenin-independent signaling exert pro-inflammatory functions, whereas WNT ligands driving  $\beta$ -catenin stabilization have anti-inflammatory or immune-modulatory effects. These emerging concepts of WNT ligands orchestrating inflammation and immune cell functions have been reviewed and commented on extensively over time (19, 120, 155–163). Here we have chosen to specifically focus on examples for pro-inflammatory and regulatory effects of endogenous WNT ligands.

It is increasingly recognized that the WNT response upon infection or microbial challenge comprises complex changes across multiple WNT ligands, receptors and regulators (**Tables 1**, **2**). Moreover, WNT receptors exhibit a degree of promiscuity for WNT ligands (164, 165). Thus, the concerted action of WNT ligands and the consequences for local and systemic inflammation in the context of infection require careful

consideration. Use of small molecule inhibitors of PORCN (e.g., IWP-2) indicated net pro-inflammatory roles of WNT ligands in mouse models of LPS-induced endotoxemia and E. coli-induced bacterial peritonitis (39, 98). Moreover, two studies utilizing small molecule inhibitors of β-catenin functions as transcriptional co-activator (ICG001, iCRT3) independently revealed pro-inflammatory functions of β-catenin in LPSinduced endotoxemia and cecal ligation and puncture (CLP)induced peritonitis (39, 119). This challenged the current paradigm of anti-inflammatory roles of  $\beta$ -catenin stabilization and urges further studies to understand the contributions of βcatenin in different (immune) cells to inflammatory responses in vivo. Moreover, which of the individual WNT ligands responsive to infection are responsible for the pro-inflammatory functions in vivo, and what role selective downregulation of regulatory WNTs might play in this context remains to be explored in more detail.

Significant focus by some of the earliest studies has been on WNT5A, a WNT family member implicated in driving proinflammatory cytokine responses by myeloid cells via β-cateninindependent signaling (19, 34-36, 166). Endogenous WNT5A has been shown to positively contribute to pro-inflammatory cytokine production by monocytes and macrophages in the context of Mycobacterium and E. coli infection, as well as LPS stimulation (19, 34, 104). Knockdown of WNT5A in primary human bone marrow stromal cell also impaired basal and LPSinduced release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines (167). Inhibition of endogenous Wnt5a in a mouse model of HIV-induced neuroinflammation reduced gp120-induced proinflammatory cytokine responses in vivo (77). However, Wnt5a has also been implicated in impairing dendritic cell functions and creating an immune suppressive environment in a mouse melanoma model. Importantly, this was attributed to Wnt5a mediated  $\beta$ -catenin stabilization (168), which contrasts the proinflammatory roles of Wnt5a affected by β-catenin-independent signaling upon microbial challenge. This highlights that the receptor/signaling context rather than the WNT ligand might guide the functional outcome of WNT signaling.

Evidence for net anti-inflammatory functions of WNT ligands can be deduced from enhanced pro-inflammatory cytokine release and decreased release of regulatory TGF- $\beta$  by *T. cruzi*infected murine macrophages in the presence of PORCN (IWP-L6) and  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF inhibitors (iCRT14) (74). In this study, it was noted that neither PORCN nor  $\beta$ -catenin inhibitors affected *T. cruzi*-induced IL-10 production by infected macrophages *in vitro* (74). Similar results were observed in an *in vivo* LPSinduced endotoxemia model (39). These observations highlight that IL-10 may not be susceptible to WNT regulation in all contexts.

An example of infection-induced expression of a specific endogenous WNT ligand being associated with suppression of pro-inflammatory cytokine responses comes from *M. tuberculosis*-infected mouse macrophages. Bone marrow-derived macrophages from *Wnt6*-deficient mice displayed elevated TNF expression and secretion upon *M. tuberculosis* infection (40). That immune-suppressive roles of individual WNT ligands could be vital for host survival upon bacterial infection has been demonstrated for WntD in *Drosophila*. WntD-deficiency rendered flies more susceptible to *L. monocytogenes* infection and this was attributed to WntD curbing lethal inflammation by negatively regulating expression of the inflammatory mediator edin via suppression of Dorsal, an NF- $\kappa$ B family member (88). Inhibition of intracellular cell signaling cascades that drive pro-inflammatory cytokine expression (e.g., NF- $\kappa$ B) has been implicated as one of the mechanisms by which  $\beta$ -cateninstabilizing WNT ligands negatively regulate inflammation (169, 170). Evidence on how this contributes to shaping cellular immune responses and inflammation during infection in complex *in vivo* settings will be invaluable to further affirm this regulatory feedback mechanism.

## FUNCTIONAL FATE OF MACROPHAGES AND DENDRITIC CELLS WITH IMPLICATIONS FOR T-CELL RESPONSES

WNT ligands have been implicated in defining the functional polarization and differentiation of macrophages and dendritic cells. These innate immune cells are critical in shaping inflammation and antimicrobial defense, and in instructing adaptive immune responses in their role as professional antigen presenting cells (APCs).

#### Macrophage Polarization

Macrophages exhibit functional plasticity along a multidimensional spectrum directed by external and internal stimuli such as microbial products, cytokines, oxygen availability and cellular metabolism (171, 172). Accordingly, phenotypic classification of macrophages based on relative induction or suppression of the transcription of individual genes has limitations. Nevertheless, expression of iNOS is commonly associated with (M1-type) inflammatory macrophages, whereas elevation of arginase 1 (Arg1) expression has been associated with (M2-type) alternatively activated macrophages. Nevertheless, Arg1 activity is also found in M1 macrophages regulating NO production by iNOS (171). Wls deletion in resting mouse bone marrow-derived macrophages was accompanied by elevated expression of Nos2, Tnf, and Il6, and reduced expression of the M2-associated gene Mrc1 (macrophage mannose receptor), without affecting Arg1 expression (137). This suggests that basal Wls activity (and by inference the net impact of released WNT ligands) contributed toward M2 polarization of these macrophages. In contrast, several studies indicated that Arg1 expression is regulated by WNT ligands in macrophages upon pathogen encounter. For example, the PORCN inhibitor IWP-L6, but not the  $\beta$ -catenin inhibitor iCRT14, decreased Arg1 expression in T. cruzi-infected mouse macrophages, yet without impacting production of reactive nitrogen intermediates (74). Wnt6-deficient macrophages expressed less Nos2 and Arg1 in response to M. tuberculosis infection, yet reactive nitrogen production was not impaired relative to wild type controls (40). Exogenous addition of Wnt3a-conditioned medium promoted the expression of Arg1 in M. tuberculosis-infected murine BMDMs (41). sFrp1-overexpression, which was accompanied by impaired  $\beta$ -catenin signaling, led to reduced expression of *Arg1* and macrophage mannose receptor, CD206 (173). Albeit not evident of endogenous WNT ligands contributing to macrophage polarization, it is worth considering that *in vitro* exposure of macrophages to recombinant WNT ligands (including Wnt1, Wnt3a, Wnt5a, Wnt7a) have returned varying results on their ability to elicit phenotypic changes indicative of alternatively activated macrophages or macrophages tolerized against LPS activation (61, 105, 106, 117).

#### **Dendritic Cell Maturation and Functions**

The impact of exogenously added or endogenously released WNT ligands and contributions of  $\beta$ -catenin signaling on the expression of functional surface markers of DCs (e.g., MHC-I and MHC-II, co-stimulatory molecules, PD-L1, PD-L2) and DC endocytic capacity has been analyzed in a number of studies returning varying results (115, 137, 174–182). Such variability is likely governed by the use of cells from different species; differentiation and culture conditions; use of exogenous modulation through recombinant WNTs, conditioned media, WNT regulators vs. perturbation of endogenous WNT ligands and signaling events, for example by using small molecule inhibitors or genetic perturbations. Moreover, the utility of recombinant proteins and the possibility of alternative receptors interacting with WNT ligands requires further validation (61, 95, 117, 183, 184).

Nevertheless, β-catenin activity in myeloid cells has emerged as a rheostat in immune-regulation and tolerance, specifically elucidated in in vivo models of autoimmunity, gut mucosal homeostasis and cancer (95, 120, 162, 183-185). Recent studies implicate direct roles for WNT ligands that act via engagement of LRP co-receptors in this regulatory mechanism. Selective deletion of LRP5/6 in CD11c<sup>+</sup> APCs (which includes DC and macrophage populations in the intestinal mucosa) rendered mice more susceptible to dextran sodium sulfate (DSS)-induced colitis (95, 144). This was associated with elevated expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (e.g., TNF, IL-6, IL-1β) and reduced expression of anti-inflammatory/regulatory effectors (e.g., IL-10, IDO), and functional bias toward fostering Th1 and Th17 responses at the detriment of T regulatory cells (Tregs). The microbiome has been implicated as a driver of inflammation in mice with LRP5/6-deficient CD11c<sup>+</sup> APCs with expression of a stabilized form of β-catenin specifically in CD11c<sup>+</sup> APCs ameliorating disease pathology and proinflammatory responses in the DSS colitis model (144). Similar experimental approaches confirmed a regulatory role for  $\beta$ -catenin expression in CD11c<sup>+</sup> APCs in mouse models of experimental autoimmune encephalitis (EAE), collageninduced arthritis, and tumorigenesis (94, 183-185). It is interesting to note that the adjuvant utilized in the EAE model contains mycobacterial antigens and that LRP5/6-deficient DCs exhibited reduced pro-inflammatory and enhanced regulatory cytokine responses upon mycobacterial stimulation in vitro (94), suggesting that infection-associated WNT responses might direct APC functions in Treg vs. Th1 and Th17 differentiation. In an OVA-expressing tumor model, Wnt1-overexpression by DCs was associated with reduced T cell receptor stimulation, granzyme B secretion and cytotoxicity by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (186), whereas conditional knockout of LRP5/LRP6 in CD11c<sup>+</sup> cells resulted in an increase in granzyme B production by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (185). Thus, WNT-mediated activation of APCs also bears consequences for subsequent T cell functionality. Of note, there is some evidence indicating that WNT-mediated  $\beta$ -catenin signaling also orchestrates the differentiation of plasmacytoid DCs (187–190), but consequences for pDC functions remain to be explored.

The aforementioned studies support the view that  $\beta$ catenin-stabilizing WNT signaling engaging LRP5/6 co-receptors can mediate an immune-regulatory profile of DC functions. In contrast, inducible deletion of Wnt5a and one of its receptors, Ror2, rendered mice more resistant to DSS-induced colitis (113). This was accompanied by diminished proinflammatory cytokine responses, including IL-12 expression, and selective impairment in the differentiation of IFNyproducing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, without impact on IL-17- and IL-10producing CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (113). It was implicated that Wnt5a in this context arose from non-hematopoietic cells such as fibroblasts, whereas Ror2 signaling occurred in the hematopoietic compartment including DCs. Nevertheless, cultured Wnt5adeficient and Ror2-deficient colonic DCs showed impaired proinflammatory cytokine profiles upon LPS stimulation including enhanced IL-12 production and increased responsiveness to IFNy (113). These observations support the notion of proinflammatory roles of Wnt5a expressed by myeloid cells. They also align with data indicating that myeloid cell-derived WNT5A, and likely other WNT ligands, bridge innate and adaptive immunity by perpetuating the IL-12-IFNy axis in T cell and natural killer T (NKT) cell responses (34, 112, 174). Importantly, however, the roles Wnt5a plays in shaping DC functions may be defined by the receptor/signaling output. This is highlighted by findings that melanoma-derived Wnt5a effected a metabolic shift in DCs from glycolysis to oxidative phosphorylation, which was attributed to β-cateninand PPARy-mediated cellular activation. This resulted in tolerogenic DCs that promoted IDO activity and regulatory T cell differentiation. Relevance of this mechanism was translated into an in vivo melanoma model in mice (145). It will be important to delineate whether factors specific to the pathophysiological context (e.g., immune regulatory molecules, cytokine milieu) explain the apparently opposing outcomes of WNT exposure on DC functions in melanoma vs. inflammatory disorders.

## **T Cell Functions During Infection**

Genetic deletion of  $\beta$ -catenin in CD11c<sup>+</sup> cells was associated with only a small increase in the frequency of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, but no significant changes in the frequency of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, TCRy\delta<sup>+</sup> T cells, NKT cells, Tregs, or T follicular helper cells were observed (183, 191). These findings suggest that  $\beta$ -catenin functions in CD11c<sup>+</sup> myeloid cells define the quality of T cell responses

due to the functional capabilities of APCs, rather than by significantly affecting lymphocyte differentiation. Nevertheless,  $\beta$ -catenin and TCF activation play distinct roles in the development, differentiation and function of innate-like and adaptive lymphocytes, and direct contributions of WNT ligands to these processes have been shown (110, 192, 193).

In a mouse model of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) infection, TCF-1-deficiency had no effect on the expansion and functions (e.g., IFNy production and cytolysis) of effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (194, 195), whereas others reported an increase in effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells associated with enhanced IFNy and TNF expression (196). In contrast to the apparently opposing observations for effector T cells, these studies consistently showed reduced numbers of memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, reduced IL-2 expression, and impaired expansion of memory cells upon rechallenge (194-196). However, it was suggested that these TCF-1-mediated effects may not be attributable to βcatenin functions, as conditional knockout of β-catenin in mature T cells did not affect memory T cell numbers or functions upon LCMV and L. monocytogenes infection (197). Yet, in a transgenic mouse model of constitutively activated βcatenin/TCF-1-signaling, an increased proportion of memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and increased IFNy expression during LCMV, vaccinia virus and L. monocytogenes infection were reported (198). These studies indicate that TCF-1 is likely required for CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell memory formation and functions after infection. The role  $\beta$ -catenin might play in this and whether WNT ligands have a direct contribution to these signaling events requires further investigation.

In an in vitro system, depletion of WNT1, 2B, 3 and 5B from astrocyte-conditioned medium reduced the differentiation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells toward a CD4<sup>dim</sup>CD8<sup>bright</sup> T phenotype in cultures of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. CD4<sup>dim</sup>CD8<sup>bright</sup> T cells in the central nervous system are thought to be effector memory T cells important in the control of HIV (71). While this study implicated direct involvement of WNT ligands in the formation of this CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell subset, it remains to be determined whether WNT ligands mediated this differentiation by acting on the CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, or indirectly via APCs (e.g., by shaping the cytokine milieu). To our knowledge, there are thus far only very few links between WNT ligands and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell functions during infection. In a susceptible mouse model of Leishmania major infection, an inhibitor of Dkk1, which should increase WNT/β-catenin signaling, exhibited reduced numbers of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in the draining lymph node, with subsequent reduced IL-4 and IL-10 expression after ex vivo stimulation (199). An in vitro study utilizing neutralizing antibodies against WNT5A and FZD5 showed impaired antigen-specific IFNy production by human PBMCs of antigen-experienced donors re-stimulated with M. tuberculosis antigen. As human T cells expressed FZD5, it was hypothesized that WNT signaling can facilitate memory T cell activation (34). However, these studies did not demonstrate that these effects were driven directly by WNT signaling in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, nor did they exclude WNT effects on APC functions. Detailed analyses of the WNT receptor and WNT regulator repertoire of different T cell lineages and subsets should guide targeted interventions with WNT signaling events to delineate the roles infection-associated WNT responses play in shaping T cell effector and memory formation and functions.

## CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

The WNT signaling network has been firmly established as an evolutionary conserved integral component of host responses to infection. In-depth understanding of how WNT ligands define immune cell functions is beginning to offer mechanistic insights into the contributions of WNT responses to pathogen control and inflammation. Experiments establishing how infectionassociated endogenous WNT responses shape immune cell functionality in vivo will be key to deciphering WNT functions in shaping complex immune responses. Thus far, macrophages and DCs, as well as T cells have been a major focus of delineating WNT-mediated immune functions. Knowledge of how WNT ligands shape the functions of other immune cells, including neutrophils, mast cells, natural killer cells, natural killer T cells, innate lymphoid cells, B cells, etc. is required to begin to understand the complexity of immune-related WNT responses.

Considering that the WNT signaling outcome is largely decided by the cellular context at the level of receptor engagement (20), functional redundancy of WNT ligands, or lack thereof, in orchestrating cellular responses of functionally diverse cells in complex tissue environments is an important factor. With a clearer understanding of the WNT receptor and WNT regulator repertoire expressed by different immune- and nonimmune cells in responses to infection, it will be important to determine if there are species-specific differences in the consequences of WNT exposure of functionally similar cells. This is especially critical when investing in utilizing animal models for understanding human pathology and calls for systematic analyses of WNT responses in infected tissues across different species. Reporter mice for WNT ligand and receptor expression as well as WNT signaling activity (200, 201) will be invaluable for the temporal and spatial documentation of WNT responses in complex in vivo settings, including infections. Comparisons with human specimens, wherever possible, will be critical.

While some consistent patterns of WNT responses begin to arise (e.g., WNT5A regulation in human macrophages), it remains largely unclear whether stereotypical WNT responses to infection exist regardless of the invading pathogen, or whether the nature of the pathogen dictates the WNT response. Comparative studies using phylogenetically diverse pathogens covering spectra of virulence and pathogenesis mechanisms will be essential to distinguish stereotypical and selective responses to microbial infection. In depth understanding of the molecular drivers and regulators of WNT ligand and receptor expression during infection will be invaluable in delineating which microbial factors drive WNT responses. Whereas our understanding of WNT responses and functions during viral and bacterial infections is taking shape, WNT contributions to parasitic and fungal infections remain to be explored in more breadth and depth. Knowledge of the investment of pathogens into actively manipulating the WNT signaling network (202–204) will inform our understanding of pathogenesis mechanisms and roles of WNT signaling in the host defense against infection. Such insights will be essential when exploring WNT response patterns as biological indicators supporting diagnosis, prognosis and choices for clinical management of infectious diseases (205).

Due to the central role of WNT signaling in maintaining tissue homeostasis, including epithelial barrier functions, consequences of immune-related WNT responses reach beyond leukocyte functions. Indications that WNT/WNT receptor interactions shape chemokine responses (186) and cellular metabolism (145) deserve particular attention in the context of immune responses to infection and beyond. Aberrant WNT expression and/or WNT signaling underlying carcinogenesis, fibrosis, and osteoporosis has generated considerable interest in pharmacologically targeting the WNT signaling network (206–209). Understanding the functional nature and temporal regulation of WNT responses in the host response to infection, and other immune settings, is essential for identifying therapeutic opportunities, but also potential risks of pharmacologically targeting the WNT signaling network.

#### REFERENCES

- Routledge D, Scholpp S. Mechanisms of intercellular Wnt transport. *Development.* (2019). 146: dev176073. doi: 10.1242/dev. 176073
- 2. Clevers H, Nusse R. Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling and disease. Cell. (2012) 149:1192–205. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.05.012
- Nusse R, Clevers H. Wnt/β-catenin signaling, disease, and emerging therapeutic modalities. *Cell.* (2017) 169:985–99. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.016
- Logan CY, Nusse R. The Wnt signaling pathway in development and disease. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. (2004). 20:781–810. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.20.010403.113126
- Steinhart Z, Angers S. Wnt signaling in development and tissue homeostasis. Development. (2018). 145:dev146589. doi: 10.1242/dev.146589
- Ring A, Kim YM, Kahn M. Wnt/catenin signaling in adult stem cell physiology and disease. *Stem Cell Rev.* (2014) 10:512–25. doi: 10.1007/s12015-014-9515-2
- Willert K, Brown JD, Danenberg E, Duncan AW, Weissman IL, Reya T, et al. Wnt proteins are lipid-modified and can act as stem cell growth factors. *Nature*. (2003) 423:448–52. doi: 10.1038/nature01611
- Janda CY, Waghray D, Levin AM, Thomas C, Garcia KC. Structural basis of Wnt recognition by Frizzled. *Science*. (2012) 337:59–64. doi: 10.1126/science.1222879
- Kurayoshi M, Yamamoto H, Izumi S, Kikuchi A. Post-translational palmitoylation and glycosylation of Wnt-5a are necessary for its signalling. Biochem J. (2007) 402:515–23. doi: 10.1042/BJ20061476
- Banziger C, Soldini D, Schutt C, Zipperlen P, Hausmann G, Basler K. Wntless, a conserved membrane protein dedicated to the secretion of Wnt proteins from signaling cells. *Cell.* (2006) 125:509–22. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.049
- Bartscherer K, Pelte N, Ingelfinger D, Boutros M. Secretion of Wnt ligands requires Evi, a conserved transmembrane protein. *Cell.* (2006) 125:523–33. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.04.009
- 12. Goodman RM, Thombre S, Firtina Z, Gray D, Betts D, Roebuck J, et al. Sprinter: a novel transmembrane protein required for Wg

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

JL, JK, and AB wrote the manuscript. TT contributed sections to the manuscript. JL and AB conceived and designed figures and tables. All authors read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors acknowledge funding support for primary research projects related to the topic of this review by the Australian National Health and Medical Research Council (GNT1142456 AB), Australian Infectious Diseases Research Centre at The University of Queensland (AB), The University of Queensland Postgraduate Scholarship (JL), Postgraduate Scholarship through the Australia Awards Scholarships (TT), The University of Queensland Postdoctoral Research Fellowship (JK), The University of Queensland Early Career Researcher Grant (JK). **Figures 1**, **2** were created using Biorender.com.

We apologize to colleagues whose primary research work was not integrated into this review due to space constrains or whose contributions to this immense and rapidly growing field was inadvertently overlooked.

secretion and signaling. *Development*. (2006) 133:4901-11. doi: 10.1242/dev. 02674

- Gasnereau I, Herr P, Chia PZ, Basler K, Gleeson PA. Identification of an endocytosis motif in an intracellular loop of Wntless protein, essential for its recycling and the control of Wnt protein signaling. *J Biol Chem.* (2011) 286:43324–33. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.307231
- Langton PF, Kakugawa S, Vincent JP. Making, exporting, and modulating Wnts. Trends Cell Biol. (2016) 26:756–65. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2016.05.011
- Kadiu I, Narayanasamy P, Dash PK, Zhang W, Gendelman HE. Biochemical and biologic characterization of exosomes and microvesicles as facilitators of HIV-1 infection in macrophages. *J Immunol.* (2012) 189:744–54. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102244
- Singh PP, Smith VL, Karakousis PC, Schorey JS. Exosomes isolated from mycobacteria-infected mice or cultured macrophages can recruit and activate immune cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. J Immunol. (2012) 189:777–85. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103638
- Giri PK, Schorey JS. Exosomes derived from M. Bovis BCG infected macrophages activate antigen-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *PLoS ONE*. (2008). 3:e2461. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002461
- Bhatnagar S, Shinagawa K, Castellino FJ, Schorey JS. Exosomes released from macrophages infected with intracellular pathogens stimulate a proinflammatory response *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Blood*. (2007) 110:3234–44. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-03-079152
- Pereira C, Schaer DJ, Bachli EB, Kurrer MO, Schoedon G. Wnt5A/CaMKII signaling contributes to the inflammatory response of macrophages and is a target for the antiinflammatory action of activated protein C and interleukin-10. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2008) 28:504–10. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.157438
- Niehrs C. The complex world of WNT receptor signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2012) 13:767–79. doi: 10.1038/nrm3470
- Mlodzik M. The dishevelled protein family: still rather a mystery after over 20 years of molecular studies. *Curr Top Dev Biol.* (2016). 117:75–91. doi: 10.1016/bs.ctdb.2015.11.027
- Aberle H, Bauer A, Stappert J, Kispert A, Kemler R. beta-catenin is a target for the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. *EMBO J.* (1997) 16:3797–804. doi: 10.1093/emboj/16.13.3797

- Kitagawa M, Hatakeyama S, Shirane M, Matsumoto M, Ishida N, Hattori K, et al. An F-box protein, FWD1, mediates ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis of beta-catenin. *EMBO J.* (1999) 18:2401–10. doi: 10.1093/emboj/18.9.2401
- Acebron SP, Niehrs C. β-catenin-independent roles of Wnt/LRP6 signaling. *Trends Cell Biol.* (2016) 26:956–967. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2016.07.009
- 25. Jaffe AB, Hall A. Rho GTPases: biochemistry and biology. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol.* (2005). 21:247–69. doi: 10.1146/annurev.cellbio.21.020604.150721
- Takai Y, Sasaki T, Matozaki T. Small GTP-binding proteins. *Physiol Rev.* (2001) 81:153–208. doi: 10.1152/physrev.2001.81.1.153
- Sedgwick AE, D'Souza-Schorey C. Wnt signaling in cell motility and invasion: drawing parallels between development and cancer. *Cancers*. (2016) 8:E80. doi: 10.3390/cancers8090080
- De A. Wnt/Ca2+ signaling pathway: a brief overview. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin. (2011) 43:745–56. doi: 10.1093/abbs/gmr079
- Kakugawa S, Langton PF, Zebisch M, Howell S, Chang TH, Liu Y, et al. Notum deacylates Wnt proteins to suppress signalling activity. *Nature*. (2015) 519:187–92. doi: 10.1038/nature14259
- Niehrs C. Function and biological roles of the Dickkopf family of Wnt modulators. Oncogene. (2006) 25:7469–81. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210054
- Cruciat CM, Niehrs C. Secreted and transmembrane wnt inhibitors and activators. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2013). 5:a015081. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a015081
- Hutchins EJ, Bronner ME. Draxin acts as a molecular rheostat of canonical Wnt signaling to control cranial neural crest EMT. J Cell Biol. (2018). 217:3683–97. doi: 10.1083/jcb.201709149
- Hao HX, Jiang X, Cong F. Control of Wnt receptor turnover by R-spondin-ZNRF3/RNF43 signaling module and its dysregulation in cancer. *Cancers*. (2016). 8:E54. doi: 10.3390/cancers8060054.
- Blumenthal A, Ehlers S, Lauber J, Buer J, Lange C, Goldmann T, et al. The wingless homolog WNT5A and its receptor Frizzled-5 regulate inflammatory responses of human mononuclear cells induced by microbial stimulation. *Blood.* (2006) 108:965–73. doi: 10.1182/blood-2005-12-5046
- Pukrop T, Klemm F, Hagemann T, Gradl D, Schulz M, Siemes S, et al. Wnt 5a signaling is critical for macrophage-induced invasion of breast cancer cell lines. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2006) 103:5454–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0509703103
- Sen M, Lauterbach K, El-Gabalawy H, Firestein GS, Corr M, Carson DA. Expression and function of wingless and frizzled homologs in rheumatoid arthritis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2000) 97:2791–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.050574297
- Christman MA II, Goetz DJ, Dickerson E, McCall KD, Lewis CJ, Benencia F, et al. Wnt5a is expressed in murine and human atherosclerotic lesions. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol.* (2008). 294:H2864–70. doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00982.2007
- Ouchi N, Higuchi A, Ohashi K, Oshima Y, Gokce N, Shibata R, et al. Sfrp5 is an anti-inflammatory adipokine that modulates metabolic dysfunction in obesity. *Science*. (2010) 329:454–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1188280
- Gatica-Andrades M, Vagenas D, Kling J, Nguyen TK, Benham H, Thomas R, et al. WNT ligands contribute to the immune response during septic shock and amplify endotoxemia-driven inflammation in mice. *Blood Adv.* (2017) 1:1274–86. doi: 10.1182/bloodadvances.2017006163
- Schaale K, Brandenburg J, Kispert A, Leitges M, Ehlers S, Reiling N. Wnt6 is expressed in granulomatous lesions of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected mice and is involved in macrophage differentiation and proliferation. J Immunol. (2013) 191:5182–95. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1201819
- 41. Neumann J, Schaale K, Farhat K, Endermann T, Ulmer AJ, Ehlers S, et al. Frizzled1 is a marker of inflammatory macrophages, and its ligand Wnt3a is involved in reprogramming *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected macrophages. *FASEB J.* (2010) 24:4599–612. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-160994
- Luo T, Dunphy PS, Lina TT, McBride JW. *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* exploits canonical and noncanonical host wnt signaling pathways to stimulate phagocytosis and promote intracellular survival. *Infect Immun.* (2015) 84:686–700. doi: 10.1128/IAI.01289-15
- Liu X, Lu R, Wu S, Sun J. Salmonella regulation of intestinal stem cells through the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway. *FEBS Lett.* (2010) 584:911–6. doi: 10.1016/j.febslet.2010.01.024

- Bansal K, Trinath J, Chakravortty D, Patil SA, Balaji KN. Pathogen-specific TLR2 protein activation programs macrophages to induce Wnt-beta-catenin signaling. J Biol Chem. (2011) 286:37032–44. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M111.260414
- Labed SA, Wani KA, Jagadeesan S, Hakkim A, Najibi M, Irazoqui JE. Intestinal epithelial Wnt signaling mediates acetylcholine-triggered host defense against infection. *Immunity*. (2018) 48:963–978.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.04.017
- Du J, Zhang X, Yuan J, Zhang X, Li F, Xiang J. Wnt gene family members and their expression profiling in *Litopenaeus vannamei*. *Fish Shellfish Immunol*. (2018). 77:233–43. doi: 10.1016/j.fsi.2018.03.034
- Wang J, Lu R, Fu X, Dan Z, Zhang YG, Chang X, et al. Novel regulatory roles of wnt1 in infection-associated colorectal cancer. *Neoplasia*. (2018) 20:499–509. doi: 10.1016/j.neo.2018.03.001
- Zhao W, Sun Z, Wang S, Li Z, Zheng L. Wnt1 participates in inflammation induced by lipopolysaccharide through upregulating scavenger receptor A and NF-kB. *Inflammation*. (2015) 38:1700–6. doi: 10.1007/s10753-015-0147-8
- Kuypers E, Willems MG, Collins JJ, Wolfs TG, Nitsos I, Jane Pillow J, et al. Altered canonical Wingless-Int signaling in the ovine fetal lung after exposure to intra-amniotic lipopolysaccharide and antenatal betamethasone. *Pediatr Res.* (2014) 75:281–7. doi: 10.1038/pr.2013.226
- Liu X, Lu R, Wu S, Zhang YG, Xia Y, Sartor RB, et al. Wnt2 inhibits enteric bacterial-induced inflammation in intestinal epithelial cells. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2012) 18:418–29. doi: 10.1002/ibd.21788
- Kim GL, Lee S, Kim SJ, Lee SO, Pyo S, Rhee DK. Pulmonary colonization resistance to pathogens via noncanonical Wnt and interleukin-17A by Intranasal pep27 mutant immunization. *J Infect Dis.* (2018) 217:1977–86. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiy158
- 52. Loilome W, Bungkanjana P, Techasen A, Namwat N, Yongvanit P, Puapairoj A, et al. Activated macrophages promote Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling in cholangiocarcinoma cells. *Tumour Biol.* (2014) 35:5357–67. doi: 10.1007/s13277-014-1698-2
- Jang J, Jung Y, Kim Y, Jho EH, Yoon Y. LPS-induced inflammatory response is suppressed by Wnt inhibitors, Dickkopf-1 and LGK974. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:41612. doi: 10.1038/srep41612
- 54. van der Sar AM, Spaink HP, Zakrzewska A, Bitter W, Meijer AH. Specificity of the zebrafish host transcriptome response to acute and chronic mycobacterial infection and the role of innate and adaptive immune components. *Mol Immunol.* (2009) 46:2317–32. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2009.03.024
- 55. Di Cara F, Sheshachalam A, Braverman NE, Rachubinski RA, Simmonds AJ. Peroxisome-mediated metabolism is required for immune response to microbial infection. *Immunity*. (2017) 47:93–106.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.06.016
- Liu X, Wu S, Xia Y, Li XE, Xia Y, Zhou ZD, et al. Wingless homolog Wnt11 suppresses bacterial invasion and inflammation in intestinal epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* (2011). 301:G992–1003. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00080.2011
- Jati S, Kundu S, Chakraborty A, Mahata SK, Nizet V, Sen M. Wnt5A signaling promotes defense against bacterial pathogens by activating a host autophagy circuit. *Front Immunol.* (2018). 9:679. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00679
- Mysorekar IU, Mulvey MA, Hultgren SJ, Gordon JI. Molecular regulation of urothelial renewal and host defenses during infection with uropathogenic *Escherichia coli. J Biol Chem.* (2002) 277:7412–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M110560200
- Ting K, Aitken KJ, Penna F, Samiei AN, Sidler M, Jiang JX, et al. Uropathogenic *E. coli* (UPEC) infection induces proliferation through enhancer of zeste homologue 2 (EZH2). *PLoS ONE.* (2016). 11:e0149118. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0149118
- Nanbara H, Wara-aswapati N, Nagasawa T, Yoshida Y, Yashiro R, Bando Y, et al. Modulation of Wnt5a expression by periodontopathic bacteria. *PLoS ONE*. (2012). 7:e34434. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034434
- Mehmeti M, Bergenfelz C, Kallberg E, Millrud CR, Bjork P, Ivars F, et al. Wnt5a is a TLR2/4-ligand that induces tolerance in human myeloid cells. *Commun Biol.* (2019). 2:176. doi: 10.1038/s42003-019-0432-4

- Hoogendijk AJ, Diks SH, van der Poll T, Peppelenbosch MP, Wieland CW. Kinase activity profiling of pneumococcal pneumonia. *PLoS ONE*. (2011). 6:e18519. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018519
- 63. Fu Q, Chen K, Zhu Q, Wang W, Huang F, Miao L, et al. β-catenin promotes intracellular bacterial killing via suppression of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*-triggered macrophage autophagy. J Int Med Res. (2017) 45:556– 69. doi: 10.1177/0300060517692147
- Duan Y, Liao AP, Kuppireddi S, Ye Z, Ciancio MJ, Sun J. beta-Catenin activity negatively regulates bacteria-induced inflammation. *Lab Invest.* (2007) 87:613–24. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3700545
- Sun J, Hobert ME, Rao AS, Neish AS, Madara JL. Bacterial activation of betacatenin signaling in human epithelia. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* (2004). 287:G220–7. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00498.2003
- 66. Ye Z, Petrof EO, Boone D, Claud EC, Sun J. Salmonella effector AvrA regulation of colonic epithelial cell inflammation by deubiquitination. Am J Pathol. (2007) 171:882–92. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2007.070220
- Liao AP, Petrof EO, Kuppireddi S, Zhao Y, Xia Y, Claud EC, et al. Salmonella type III effector AvrA stabilizes cell tight junctions to inhibit inflammation in intestinal epithelial cells. *PLoS ONE.* (2008). 3:e2369. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002369
- Schulte DM, Kragelund D, Muller N, Hagen I, Elke G, Titz A, et al. The wingless-related integration site-5a/secreted frizzled-related protein-5 system is dysregulated in human sepsis. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2015) 180:90–7. doi: 10.1111/cei.12484
- Villar J, Cabrera-Benitez NE, Ramos-Nuez A, Flores C, Garcia-Hernandez S, Valladares F, et al. Early activation of pro-fibrotic WNT5A in sepsis-induced acute lung injury. *Crit Care.* (2014). 18:568. doi: 10.1186/s13054-014-0568-z
- Fukutomi T, Zhou Y, Kawai S, Eguchi H, Wands JR, Li J. Hepatitis C virus core protein stimulates hepatocyte growth: correlation with upregulation of wnt-1 expression. *Hepatology*. (2005) 41:1096–105. doi: 10.1002/hep.20668
- Richards MH, Narasipura SD, Kim S, Seaton MS, Lutgen V, Al-Harthi L. Dynamic interaction between astrocytes and infiltrating PBMCs in context of neuro AIDS. *Glia.* (2015) 63:441–51. doi: 10.1002/glia.22763
- Forero A, Tisoncik-Go J, Watanabe T, Zhong G, Hatta M, Tchitchek N, et al. The 1918 influenza virus PB2 protein enhances virulence through the disruption of inflammatory and Wnt-mediated signaling in mice. *J Virol.* (2015) 90:2240–53. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02974-15
- 73. Li Q, Yu P, Wang W, Zhang P, Yang H, Li S, et al. Gene expression profiles of various cytokines in mesenchymal stem cells derived from umbilical cord tissue and bone marrow following infection with human cytomegalovirus. *Cell Mol Biol Lett.* (2014) 19:140–57. doi: 10.2478/s11658-014-0187-3
- Volpini X, Ambrosio LF, Fozzatti L, Insfran C, Stempin CC, Cervi L, Motran CC. *Trypanosoma cruzi* exploits Wnt signaling pathway to promote its intracellular replication in macrophages. *Front Immunol.* (2018). 9:859. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00859
- Yap LF, Ahmad M, Zabidi MM, Chu TL, Chai SJ, Lee HM, et al. Oncogenic effects of WNT5A in Epstein-Barr virusassociated nasopharyngeal carcinoma. *Int J Oncol.* (2014) 44:1774–80. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2014.2342
- Kapoor A, He R, Venkatadri R, Forman M, Arav-Boger R. Wnt modulating agents inhibit human cytomegalovirus replication. *Antimicrob Agents Chemother*. (2013) 57:2761–7. doi: 10.1128/AAC.00029-13
- 77. Li B, Shi Y, Shu J, Gao J, Wu P, Tang SJ. Wingless-type mammary tumor virus integration site family, member 5A (Wnt5a) regulates human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) envelope glycoprotein 120 (gp120)-induced expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines via the Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II (CaMKII) and c-Jun Nterminal kinase (JNK) signaling pathways. J Biol Chem. (2013) 288:13610–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.381046
- Che C, Li C, Lin J, Zhang J, Jiang N, Yuan K, et al. Wnt5a contributes to dectin-1 and LOX-1 induced host inflammatory response signature in *Aspergillus fumigatus* keratitis. *Cell Signal.* (2018). 52:103–11. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2018.08.020
- Trinath J, Holla S, Mahadik K, Prakhar P, Singh V, Balaji KN. The WNT signaling pathway contributes to dectin-1-dependent inhibition of toll-like receptor-induced inflammatory signature. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2014) 34:4301–14. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00641-14
- Chakraborty A, Kurati SP, Mahata SK, Sundar S, Roy S, Sen M. Wnt5a Signaling promotes host defense against *Leishmania donovani*

infection. J Immunol. (2017) 199:992-1002. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.16 01927

- Fragoso-Ontiveros V, Maria Alvarez-Garcia R, Contreras-Paredes A, Vaca-Paniagua F, Alonso Herrera L, Lopez-Camarillo C, et al. Gene expression profiles induced by E6 from non-European HPV18 variants reveals a differential activation on cellular processes driving to carcinogenesis. *Virology.* (2012) 432:81–90. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2012.05.029
- Harmon B, Bird SW, Schudel BR, Hatch AV, Rasley A, Negrete OA. A Genome-wide RNA interference screen identifies a role for Wnt/β-catenin signaling during rift valley fever virus infection. J Virol. (2016) 90:7084–97. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00543-16
- Angelova M, Zwezdaryk K, Ferris M, Shan B, Morris CA, Sullivan DE. Human cytomegalovirus infection dysregulates the canonical Wnt/β-catenin signaling pathway. *PLoS Pathog.* (2012). 8:e1002959. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002959
- 84. Hsieh A, Kim HS, Lim SO, Yu DY, Jung G. Hepatitis B viral X protein interacts with tumor suppressor adenomatous polyposis coli to activate Wnt/β-catenin signaling. *Cancer Lett.* (2011) 300:162–72. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2010.09.018
- 85. Liu J, Ding X, Tang J, Cao Y, Hu P, Zhou F, et al. Enhancement of canonical Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling activity by HCV core protein promotes cell growth of hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *PLoS ONE.* (2011). 6:e27496. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0027496
- Jang KL, Shackelford J, Seo SY, Pagano JS. Up-regulation of beta-catenin by a viral oncogene correlates with inhibition of the seven in absentia homolog 1 in B lymphoma cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:18431–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0504054102
- Maluquer de Motes C, Smith GL. Vaccinia virus protein A49 activates Wnt signalling by targetting the E3 ligase beta-TrCP. J Gen Virol. (2017) 98:3086–92. doi: 10.1099/jgv.0.000946
- Gordon MD, Dionne MS, Schneider DS, Nusse R. WntD is a feedback inhibitor of Dorsal/NF-kappaB in Drosophila development and immunity. *Nature*. (2005) 437:746–9. doi: 10.1038/nature04073
- Papapietro O, Teatero S, Thanabalasuriar A, Yuki KE, Diez E, Zhu L, et al. R-spondin 2 signalling mediates susceptibility to fatal infectious diarrhoea. *Nat Commun.* (2013). 4:1898. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2053
- Hu X, Zhou J, Chen X, Zhou Y, Song X, Cai B, et al. Pathway analyses identify novel variants in the WNT signaling pathway associated with tuberculosis in Chinese population. *Sci Rep.* (2016). 6:28530. doi: 10.1038/srep28530
- Zhao Z, Peng W, Hu X, Zhang J, Shang M, Zhou J, et al. SFRP1 variations influence susceptibility and immune response to *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in a Chinese Han population. *Infect Genet Evol.* (2016). 37:259– 65. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2015.11.031
- Liu Y, El-Serag HB, Jiao L, Lee J, Moore D, Franco LM, et al. WNT signaling pathway gene polymorphisms and risk of hepatic fibrosis and inflammation in HCV-infected patients. *PLoS ONE*. (2013). 8:e84407. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084407
- Huang H, Fujii H, Sankila A, Mahler-Araujo BM, Matsuda M, Cathomas G, et al. Beta-catenin mutations are frequent in human hepatocellular carcinomas associated with hepatitis C virus infection. *Am J Pathol.* (1999) 155:1795–801. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)65496-X
- Suryawanshi A, Manoharan I, Hong Y, Swafford D, Majumdar T, Taketo MM, et al. Manicassamy S, Canonical wnt signaling in dendritic cells regulates Th1/Th17 responses and suppresses autoimmune neuroinflammation. *J Immunol.* (2015) 194:3295–304. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1402691
- Manicassamy S, Reizis B, Ravindran R, Nakaya H, Salazar-Gonzalez RM, Wang YC, et al.Activation of beta-catenin in dendritic cells regulates immunity versus tolerance in the intestine. *Science*. (2010) 329:849–53. doi: 10.1126/science.1188510
- Zhu F, Zhang X. The Wnt signaling pathway is involved in the regulation of phagocytosis of virus in Drosophila. *Sci Rep.* (2013) 3:2069. doi: 10.1038/srep02069
- Baril M, Es-Saad S, Chatel-Chaix L, Fink K, Pham T, Raymond VA, et al. Genome-wide RNAi screen reveals a new role of a WNT/CTNNB1 signaling pathway as negative regulator of virus-induced innate immune responses. *PLoS Pathog.* (2013). 9:e1003416. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.10 03416

- Maiti G, Naskar D, Sen M. The Wingless homolog Wnt5a stimulates phagocytosis but not bacterial killing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:16600–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1207789109
- 99. Wu X, Zhang J, Ma C, Li W, Zeng J, Wang Y, et al. A role for Wnt/β-catenin signalling in suppressing Bacillus Calmette-Guerininduced macrophage autophagy. *Microb Pathog.* (2019). 127:277–87. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2018.12.016
- 100. Chen K, Fu Q, Li D, Wu Y, Sun S, Zhang X. Wnt3a suppresses *Pseudomonas aeruginosa-*induced inflammation and promotes bacterial killing in macrophages. *Mol Med Rep.* (2016) 13:2439–46. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2016.4869
- 101. Vikram A, Kim YR, Kumar S, Naqvi A, Hoffman TA, Kumar A, et al. Canonical Wnt signaling induces vascular endothelial dysfunction via p66Shc-regulated reactive oxygen species. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2014) 34:2301–9. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.114.304338
- 102. Gao Y, Wen Q, Hu S, Zhou X, Xiong W, Du X, et al. IL-36γ promotes killing of *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* by macrophages via WNT5Ainduced noncanonical WNT signaling. J Immunol. (2019) 203:922–35. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1900169
- 103. Holla S, Kurowska-Stolarska M, Bayry J, Balaji KN. Selective inhibition of IFNG-induced autophagy by Mir155- and Mir31-responsive WNT5A and SHH signaling. Autophagy. (2014) 10:311–30. doi: 10.4161/auto.27225
- 104. Naskar D, Maiti G, Chakraborty A, Roy A, Chattopadhyay D, Sen M. Wnt5a-Rac1-NF-kappaB homeostatic circuitry sustains innate immune functions in macrophages. J Immunol. (2014) 192:4386–97. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1302817
- 105. Bergenfelz C, Medrek C, Ekstrom E, Jirstrom K, Janols H, Wullt M, et al. Wnt5a induces a tolerogenic phenotype of macrophages in sepsis and breast cancer patients. *J Immunol.* (2012) 188:5448–58. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103378
- 106. Wallace J, Lutgen V, Avasarala S, St Croix B, Winn RA, Al-Harthi L. Wnt7a induces a unique phenotype of monocyte-derived macrophages with lower phagocytic capacity and differential expression of proand anti-inflammatory cytokines. *Immunology.* (2018) 153:203–213. doi: 10.1111/imm.12830
- Aoukaty A, Tan R. Role for glycogen synthase kinase-3 in NK cell cytotoxicity and X-linked lymphoproliferative disease. J Immunol. (2005) 174:4551–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.8.4551
- 108. Deng ZB, Zhuang X, Ju S, Xiang X, Mu J, Wang Q, et al. Intestinal mucusderived nanoparticle-mediated activation of Wnt/β-catenin signaling plays a role in induction of liver natural killer T cell anergy in mice. *Hepatology*. (2013) 57:1250–61. doi: 10.1002/hep.26086
- 109. Carr T, Krishnamoorthy V, Yu S, Xue HH, Kee BL, Verykokakis M. The transcription factor lymphoid enhancer factor 1 controls invariant natural killer T cell expansion and Th2-type effector differentiation. *J Exp Med.* (2015) 212:793–807. doi: 10.1084/jem.20141849
- 110. Kling JC, Blumenthal A. Roles of WNT, NOTCH, Hedgehog signaling in the differentiation and function of innate and innate-like lymphocytes. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2017) 101:827–40. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1MR0616-272R
- 111. van Loosdregt J, Coffer PJ. The role of WNT signaling in mature T cells: T cell factor is coming home. J Immunol. (2018) 201:2193–2200. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1800633
- 112. Kling JC, Jordan MA, Pitt LA, Meiners J, Thanh-Tran T, Tran LS, et al. Temporal regulation of natural killer T cell interferon gamma responses by beta-catenin-dependent and -independent Wnt signaling. Front Immunol. (2018). 9:483. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00483
- 113. Sato A, Kayama H, Shojima K, Matsumoto S, Koyama H, Minami Y, et al. The Wnt5a-Ror2 axis promotes the signaling circuit between interleukin-12 and interferon-gamma in colitis. *Sci Rep.* (2015). 5:10536. doi: 10.1038/srep 10536
- 114. Shapira SD, Gat-Viks I, Shum BO, Dricot A, de Grace MM, Wu L, et al. A physical and regulatory map of host-influenza interactions reveals pathways in H1N1 infection. *Cell.* (2009) 139:1255–67. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009. 12.018
- 115. Mohammadpour H, Pourfathollah AA, Nikougoftar Zarif M, Tahoori MT. Effects of DKK-3, a Wnt signaling inhibitor, on dendritic cell phenotype and T cell polarization. *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol.* (2015) 37:481–7. doi: 10.3109/08923973.2015.1089274

- 116. Fuerer C, Nusse R. Lentiviral vectors to probe and manipulate the Wnt signaling pathway. *PLoS ONE.* (2010). 5:e9370. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009370
- 117. Yu CH, Nguyen TT, Irvine KM, Sweet MJ, Frazer IH, Blumenthal A. Recombinant Wnt3a and Wnt5a elicit macrophage cytokine production and tolerization to microbial stimulation via Toll-like receptor 4. *Eur J Immunol.* (2014) 44:1480–90. doi: 10.1002/eji.201343959
- Irvine KM, Clouston AD, Gadd VL, Miller GC, Wong WY, Melino M, et al. Deletion of Wntless in myeloid cells exacerbates liver fibrosis and the ductular reaction in chronic liver injury. *Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair*. (2015) 8:19. doi: 10.1186/s13069-015-0036-7
- Sharma A, Yang WL, Ochani M, Wang P. Mitigation of sepsis-induced inflammatory responses and organ injury through targeting Wnt/β-catenin signaling. Sci Rep. (2017). 7:9235. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-08711-6
- 120. Suryawanshi A, Tadagavadi RK, Swafford D, Manicassamy S. Modulation of inflammatory responses by Wnt/β-catenin signaling in dendritic cells: a novel immunotherapy target for autoimmunity and cancer. *Front Immunol.* (2016). 7:460. doi: 10.3389/fmmu.2016.00460
- 121. Monga SP. Role and regulation of beta-catenin signaling during physiological liver growth. *Gene Expr.* (2014) 16:51–62. doi: 10.3727/105221614X13919976902138
- Valenta T, Hausmann G, Basler K. The many faces and functions of betacatenin. *EMBO J.* (2012) 31:2714–36. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2012.150
- 123. Chen B, Dodge ME, Tang W, Lu J, Ma Z, Fan CW, et al.. Small moleculemediated disruption of Wnt-dependent signaling in tissue regeneration and cancer. Nat Chem Biol. (2009) 5:100–7. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.137
- Rikihisa Y. Anaplasma phagocytophilum and *Ehrlichia chaffeensis*: subversive manipulators of host cells. *Nat Rev Microbiol.* (2010) 8:328–39. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro2318
- 125. Luo T, Kuriakose JA, Zhu B, Wakeel A, McBride JW. *Ehrlichia chaffeensis* TRP120 interacts with a diverse array of eukaryotic proteins involved in transcription, signaling, and cytoskeleton organization. *Infect Immun.* (2011) 79:4382–91. doi: 10.1128/IAI.05608-11
- 126. Zhu B, Kuriakose JA, Luo T, Ballesteros E, Gupta S, Fofanov Y, McBride JW. Ehrlichia chaffeensis TRP120 binds a G+C-rich motif in host cell DNA and exhibits eukaryotic transcriptional activator function. Infect Immun. (2011) 79:4370–81. doi: 10.1128/IAI.05422-11
- 127. Ogawa M, Matsuda R, Takada N, Tomokiyo M, Yamamoto S, Shizukusihi S, et al. Molecular mechanisms of *Streptococcus pneumoniae*-targeted autophagy via pneumolysin, Golgi-resident Rab41, and Nedd4-1-mediated K63-linked ubiquitination. *Cell Microbiol.* (2018). 20:e12846. doi: 10.1111/cmi.12846
- 128. Li X, He S, Zhou X, Ye Y, Tan S, Zhang S, et al. Lyn Delivers Bacteria to Lysosomes for Eradication through TLR2-Initiated Autophagy Related Phagocytosis. *PLoS Pathog.* (2016). 12:e1005363. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005363
- 129. Deng Q, Wang Y, Zhang Y, Li M, Li D, Huang X, et al. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* triggers macrophage autophagy to escape intracellular killing by activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. *Infect Immun.* (2016) 84:56–66. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00945-15
- Yuan K, Huang C, Fox J, Laturnus D, Carlson E, Zhang B, et al. Autophagy plays an essential role in the clearance of *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* by alveolar macrophages. *J Cell Sci.* (2012). 125:507–15. doi: 10.1242/jcs.094573
- 131. Wu Y, Li D, Wang Y, Chen K, Yang K, Huang X, et al. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* promotes autophagy to suppress macrophage-mediated bacterial eradication. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2016). 38:214–22. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2016.04.044
- 132. Lina TT, Luo T, Velayutham TS, Das S, McBride JW. Ehrlichia activation of Wnt-PI3K-mTOR signaling inhibits autolysosome generation and autophagic destruction by the mononuclear phagocyte. *Infect Immun.* (2017). 85:e00690-17. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00690-17
- 133. Gao C, Cao W, Bao L, Zuo W, Xie G, Cai T, et al. Autophagy negatively regulates Wnt signalling by promoting Dishevelled degradation. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2010) 12:781–90. doi: 10.1038/ncb2082
- 134. Jia Z, Wang J, Wang W, Tian Y, Xiang Wei W, Chen P, et al. Autophagy eliminates cytoplasmic beta-catenin and NICD to promote the cardiac differentiation of P19CL6 cells. *Cell Signal.* (2014) 26:2299–305. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2014.07.028

- Yang Z, Zhao T, Liu H, Zhang L. Ginsenoside Rh2 inhibits hepatocellular carcinoma through beta-catenin and autophagy. *Sci Rep.* (2016). 6:19383. doi: 10.1038/srep19383
- 136. Kim JS, Yeo S, Shin DG, Bae YS, Lee JJ, Chin BR, et al. Glycogen synthase kinase 3beta and beta-catenin pathway is involved in toll-like receptor 4mediated NADPH oxidase 1 expression in macrophages. *FEBS J.* (2010) 277:2830–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1742-4658.2010.07700.x
- 137. Jiang A, Okabe H, Popovic B, Preziosi ME, Pradhan-Sundd T, Poddar M, et al. Loss of Wnt secretion by macrophages promotes hepatobiliary injury after administration of 3,5-diethoxycarbonyl-1, 4-dihydrocollidine diet. *Am J Pathol.* (2019) 189:590–603. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2018.11.010
- Palevski D, Levin-Kotler LP, Kain D, Naftali-Shani N, Landa N, Ben-Mordechai T, et al. Loss of macrophage Wnt secretion improves remodeling and function after myocardial infarction in mice. *J Am Heart Assoc.* (2017) 6:e004387. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.116.004387
- 139. Du Q, Park KS, Guo Z, He P, Nagashima M, Shao L, et al. Regulation of human nitric oxide synthase 2 expression by Wnt beta-catenin signaling. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:7024–31. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-4110
- 140. van Es JH, Jay P, Gregorieff A, van Gijn ME, Jonkheer S, Hatzis P, et al. Wnt signalling induces maturation of Paneth cells in intestinal crypts. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2005) 7:381–6. doi: 10.1038/ncb1240
- 141. Wu H, Gong J, Liu Y. Indoleamine 2, 3-dioxygenase regulation of immune response (Review). Mol Med Rep. (2018) 17:4867–73. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2018.8537
- 142. Knubel CP, Martinez FF, Acosta Rodriguez EV, Altamirano A, Rivarola HW, Diaz Lujan C, et al. 3-Hydroxy kynurenine treatment controls *T. cruzi* replication and the inflammatory pathology preventing the clinical symptoms of chronic Chagas disease. *PLoS ONE.* (2011). 6:e26550. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0026550
- 143. Knubel CP, Martinez FF, Fretes RE, Diaz Lujan C, Theumer MG, Cervi L, et al. Indoleamine 2,3-dioxigenase (IDO) is critical for host resistance against *Trypanosoma cruzi. FASEB J.* (2010) 24:2689–701. doi: 10.1096/fj.09-150920
- 144. Swafford D, Shanmugam A, Ranganathan P, Hussein MS, Koni PA, Prasad PD, et al. Canonical Wnt signaling in CD11c(+) APCs regulates microbiotainduced inflammation and immune cell homeostasis in the colon. *J Immunol.* (2018) 200:3259–68. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1701086
- 145. Zhao F, Xiao C, Evans KS, Theivanthiran T, DeVito N, Holtzhausen A, et al. Paracrine Wnt5a-β-catenin signaling triggers a metabolic program that drives dendritic cell tolerization. *Immunity.* (2018) 48:147–60.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.12.004
- 146. Yang P, An H, Liu X, Wen M, Zheng Y, Rui Y, et al. The cytosolic nucleic acid sensor LRRFIP1 mediates the production of type I interferon via a beta-catenin-dependent pathway. *Nat Immunol.* (2010) 11:487–94. doi: 10.1038/ni.1876
- 147. Hillesheim A, Nordhoff C, Boergeling Y, Ludwig S, Wixler V. β-catenin promotes the type I IFN synthesis and the IFN-dependent signaling response but is suppressed by influenza A virus-induced RIG-I/NF-kappaB signaling. *Cell Commun Signal.* (2014). 12:29. doi: 10.1186/1478-811X-12-29
- Wang JT, Chang LS, Chen CJ, Doong SL, Chang CW, Chen MR. Glycogen synthase kinase 3 negatively regulates IFN regulatory factor 3 transactivation through phosphorylation at its linker region. *Innate Immun.* (2014) 20:78– 87. doi: 10.1177/1753425913485307
- 149. Lei CQ, Zhong B, Zhang Y, Zhang J, Wang S, Shu HB. Glycogen synthase kinase  $3\beta$  regulates IRF3 transcription factor-mediated antiviral response via activation of the kinase TBK1. *Immunity.* (2010) 33:878–89. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010.11.021
- 150. Khan KA, Do F, Marineau A, Doyon P, Clement JF, Woodgett JR, et al. Fine-Tuning of the RIG-I-like receptor/interferon regulatory factor 3-dependent antiviral innate immune response by the glycogen synthase kinase 3/β-catenin pathway. Mol Cell Biol. (2015) 35:3029–43. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00344-15
- Zhu J, Coyne CB, Sarkar SN. PKC alpha regulates Sendai virus-mediated interferon induction through HDAC6 and beta-catenin. *EMBO J.* (2011) 30:4838–49. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2011.351
- 152. Marcato V, Luron L, Laqueuvre LM, Simon D, Mansuroglu Z, Flamand M, et al.  $\beta$ -catenin upregulates the constitutive and virus-induced transcriptional capacity of the interferon beta promoter through T-cell factor binding sites. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2016) 36:13–29. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00641-15

- 153. Smith JL, Jeng S, McWeeney SK, Hirsch AJ. A MicroRNA screen identifies the Wnt signaling pathway as a regulator of the interferon response during flavivirus infection. J Virol. (2017). 91:e02388-16. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02388-16
- 154. Hancock AS, Stairiker CJ, Boesteanu AC, Monzon-Casanova E, Lukasiak S, Mueller YM, et al. Transcriptome analysis of infected and bystander type 2 alveolar epithelial cells during influenza A virus infection reveals *in vivo* Wnt pathway downregulation. *J Virol.* (2018). 92:e01325-18. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01325-18
- 155. Villasenor T, Madrid-Paulino E, Maldonado-Bravo R, Urban-Aragon A, Perez-Martinez L, Pedraza-Alva G. Activation of the Wnt pathway by *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*: a Wnt-Wnt situation. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:50. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00050
- 156. Brandenburg J, Reiling N. The Wnt blows: on the functional role of Wnt signaling in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infection and beyond. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:635. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016.00635
- 157. Shao Y, Zheng Q, Wang W, Xin N, Song X, Zhao C. Biological functions of macrophage-derived Wnt5a, its roles in human diseases. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:67674–67684. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.11874
- 158. Silva-Garcia O, Valdez-Alarcon JJ, Baizabal-Aguirre VM. The Wnt/βcatenin signaling pathway controls the inflammatory response in infections caused by pathogenic bacteria. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2014). 2014:310183. doi: 10.1155/2014/310183
- 159. George SJ. Wnt pathway: a new role in regulation of inflammation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. (2008) 28:400–2. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.107.160952
- 160. van Zuylen WJ, Rawlinson WD, Ford CE. The Wnt pathway: a key network in cell signalling dysregulated by viruses. *Rev Med Virol.* (2016) 26:340–55. doi: 10.1002/rmv.1892
- 161. Schaale K, Neumann J, Schneider D, Ehlers S, Reiling N. Wnt signaling in macrophages: augmenting and inhibiting mycobacteriainduced inflammatory responses. *Eur J Cell Biol.* (2011) 90:553–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2010.11.004
- 162. Swafford D, Manicassamy S. Wnt signaling in dendritic cells: its role in regulation of immunity and tolerance. *Discov Med.* (2015) 19:303–10.
- 163. Bhatt PM, Malgor R. Wnt5a: a player in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and other inflammatory disorders. *Atherosclerosis*. (2014) 237:155–62. doi: 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.08.027
- 164. Lehoczky JA, Tabin CJ. Rethinking WNT signalling. *Nature*. (2018) 557:495– 6. doi: 10.1038/d41586-018-04820-y
- 165. Jiang X, Cong F. Novel regulation of Wnt signaling at the proximal membrane level. *Trends Biochem Sci.* (2016) 41:773–783. doi: 10.1016/j.tibs.2016.06.003
- 166. Sen M, Chamorro M, Reifert J, Corr M, Carson DA. Blockade of Wnt-5A/frizzled 5 signaling inhibits rheumatoid synoviocyte activation. Arthritis Rheum. (2001) 44:772–81. doi: 10.1002/1529-0131(200104)44:4<772::AID-ANR133>3.0.CO;2-L
- 167. Rauner M, Stein N, Winzer M, Goettsch C, Zwerina J, Schett G, et al. WNT5A is induced by inflammatory mediators in bone marrow stromal cells and regulates cytokine and chemokine production. *J Bone Miner Res.* (2012) 27:575–85. doi: 10.1002/jbmr.1488
- 168. Holtzhausen A, Zhao F, Evans KS, Tsutsui M, Orabona C, Tyler DS, et al. Melanoma-derived Wnt5a promotes local dendritic-cell expression of IDO and immunotolerance: opportunities for pharmacologic enhancement of immunotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2015) 3:1082–95. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0167
- 169. Zhang Y, Pizzute T, Pei M. A review of crosstalk between MAPK and Wnt signals and its impact on cartilage regeneration. *Cell Tissue Res.* (2014) 358:633–49. doi: 10.1007/s00441-014-2010-x
- 170. Du Q, Geller DA. Cross-regulation between Wnt and NF-κB signaling pathways. *For Immunopathol Dis Therap.* (2010) 1:155–81.
- 171. Murray PJ. Macrophage polarization. *Annu Rev Physiol.* (2017). 79:541–66. doi: 10.1146/annurev-physiol-022516-034339
- 172. Murray PJ, Rathmell J, Pearce E. SnapShot: immunometabolism. *Cell Metab.* (2015) 22:190.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2015.06.014
- 173. Chen D, Li G, Fu X, Li P, Zhang J, Luo L. Wnt5a deficiency regulates inflammatory cytokine secretion, polarization, and apoptosis in *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*-infected macrophages. *DNA Cell Biol.* (2017) 36:58–66. doi: 10.1089/dna.2016.3418
- 174. Valencia J, Martinez VG, Hidalgo L, Hernandez-Lopez C, Canseco NM, Vicente A, et al. Wnt5a signaling increases IL-12 secretion by human dendritic cells and enhances IFN-γ production by CD4+ T cells. *Immunol Lett.* (2014). 162:188–99. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2014. 08.015
- 175. Valencia J, Hernandez-Lopez C, Martinez VG, Hidalgo L, Zapata AG, Vicente A, et al. Wnt5a skews dendritic cell differentiation to an unconventional phenotype with tolerogenic features. *J Immunol.* (2011) 187:4129–39. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101243
- Oderup C, LaJevic M, Butcher EC. Canonical and noncanonical Wnt proteins program dendritic cell responses for tolerance. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:6126–34. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1203002
- 177. Bergenfelz C, Janols H, Wullt M, Jirstrom K, Bredberg A, Leandersson K. Wnt5a inhibits human monocyte-derived myeloid dendritic cell generation. *Scand J Immunol.* (2013) 78:194–204. doi: 10.1111/sji.12075
- 178. Xu WD, Wang J, Yuan TL, Li YH, Yang H, Liu Y, et al. Interactions between canonical Wnt signaling pathway and MAPK pathway regulate differentiation, maturation and function of dendritic cells. *Cell Immunol.* (2016). 310:170–7. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2016.09.006
- 179. Luo L, Li Z, Luo G, Zhao Y, Yang J, Chen H. Role of Wnt3a expressed by dendritic cells in the activation of canonical Wnt signaling and generation of memory T cells during primary immune responses. *Cell Immunol.* (2016). 310:99–107. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2016.08.005
- Zhou J, Cheng P, Youn JI, Cotter MJ, Gabrilovich DI. Notch and wingless signaling cooperate in regulation of dendritic cell differentiation. *Immunity*. (2009) 30:845–59. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.03.021
- 181. Fu C, Liang X, Cui W, Ober-Blobaum JL, Vazzana J, Shrikant PA, et al. β-Catenin in dendritic cells exerts opposite functions in cross-priming and maintenance of CD8+ T cells through regulation of IL-10. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:2823–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1414167112
- 182. Beckert H, Meyer-Martin H, Buhl R, Taube C, Reuter S. The canonical but not the noncanonical wnt pathway inhibits the development of allergic airway disease. J Immunol. (2018) 201:1855–64. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1800554
- 183. Alves CH, Ober-Blobaum JL, Brouwers-Haspels I, Asmawidjaja PS, Mus AM, Razawy W, et al. Dendritic cell-specific deletion of β-catenin results in fewer regulatory T-cells without exacerbating autoimmune collagen-induced arthritis. *PLoS ONE*. (2015). 10:e0142972. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0142972
- 184. Hong Y, Manoharan I, Suryawanshi A, Majumdar T, Angus-Hill ML, Koni PA, et al. β-catenin promotes regulatory T-cell responses in tumors by inducing vitamin A metabolism in dendritic cells. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:656–665. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2377
- 185. Hong Y, Manoharan I, Suryawanshi A, Shanmugam A, Swafford D, Ahmad S, et al. Deletion of LRP5 and LRP6 in dendritic cells enhances antitumor immunity. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016). 5:e1115941. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1115941
- 186. Kerdidani D, Chouvardas P, Arjo AR, Giopanou I, Ntaliarda G, Guo YA, et al. Wnt1 silences chemokine genes in dendritic cells and induces adaptive immune resistance in lung adenocarcinoma. *Nat Commun.* (2019). 10:1405. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09370-z
- Ichii M, Frank MB, Iozzo RV, Kincade PW. The canonical Wnt pathway shapes niches supportive of hematopoietic stem/progenitor cells. *Blood*. (2012) 119:1683–92. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-07-369199
- 188. Malhotra S, Baba Y, Garrett KP, Staal FJ, Gerstein R, Kincade PW. Contrasting responses of lymphoid progenitors to canonical and noncanonical Wnt signals. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:3955–64. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.6.3955
- Valencia J, Hernandez-Lopez C, Martinez VG, Hidalgo L, Zapata AG, Vicente A, et al. Transient beta-catenin stabilization modifies lineage output from human thymic CD34+CD1a-progenitors. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2010) 87:405– 14. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0509344
- 190. Cohen SB, Smith NL, McDougal C, Pepper M, Shah S, Yap GS, et al. Beta-catenin signaling drives differentiation and proinflammatory function of IRF8-dependent dendritic cells. *J Immunol.* (2015) 194:210–22. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402453
- 191. Manoharan I, Hong Y, Suryawanshi A, Angus-Hill ML, Sun Z, Mellor AL, et al. TLR2-dependent activation of beta-catenin pathway in dendritic cells induces regulatory responses and attenuates autoimmune inflammation. J Immunol. (2014) 193:4203–13. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400614

- 192. Staal FJ, Luis TC, Tiemessen MM. WNT signalling in the immune system: WNT is spreading its wings. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2008) 8:581–93. doi: 10.1038/nri2360
- 193. Famili F, Wiekmeijer AS, Staal FJ. The development of T cells from stem cells in mice and humans. *Future Sci OA*. (2017). 3:FSO186. doi: 10.4155/fsoa-2016-0095
- 194. Jeannet G, Boudousquie C, Gardiol N, Kang J, Huelsken J, Held W. Essential role of the Wnt pathway effector Tcf-1 for the establishment of functional CD8 T cell memory. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:9777–82. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0914127107
- 195. Boudousquie C, Danilo M, Pousse L, Jeevan-Raj B, Angelov GS, Chennupati V, et al. Differences in the transduction of canonical Wnt signals demarcate effector and memory CD8 T cells with distinct recall proliferation capacity. J Immunol. (2014) 193:2784–91. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400465
- 196. Tiemessen MM, Baert MR, Kok L, van Eggermond MC, van den Elsen PJ, et al. T cell factor 1 represses CD8+ effector T cell formation and function. J Immunol. (2014) 193:5480–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1303417
- Prlic M, Bevan MJ. Cutting edge: beta-catenin is dispensable for T cell effector differentiation, memory formation, and recall responses. *J Immunol.* (2011) 187:1542–6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1100907
- Zhao DM, Yu S, Zhou X, Haring JS, Held W, Badovinac VP, et al. Constitutive activation of Wnt signaling favors generation of memory CD8 T cells. J Immunol. (2010) 184:1191–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0901199
- 199. Chae WJ, Ehrlich AK, Chan PY, Teixeira AM, Henegariu O, Hao L, et al. The Wnt antagonist dickkopf-1 promotes pathological type 2 cell-mediated inflammation. *Immunity*. (2016) 44:246–58. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.01.008
- 200. Farin HF, Jordens I, Mosa MH, Basak O, Korving J, Tauriello DV, et al. Visualization of a short-range Wnt gradient in the intestinal stem-cell niche. *Nature*. (2016) 530:340–3. doi: 10.1038/nature16937
- 201. de Roo JJD, Breukel C, Chhatta AR, Linssen MM, Vloemans SA, Salvatori D, et al. Axin2-mTurquoise2: A novel reporter mouse model for the detection of canonical Wnt signalling. *Genesis*. (2017) 55:e23068. doi: 10.1002/dvg.23068
- 202. Tao L, Zhang J, Meraner P, Tovaglieri A, Wu X, Gerhard R, et al. Frizzled proteins are colonic epithelial receptors for C. difficile toxin B. *Nature*. (2016) 538:350–5. doi: 10.1038/nature19799
- 203. Chen P, Tao L, Wang T, Zhang J, He A, Lam KH, et al. Structural basis for recognition of frizzled proteins by *Clostridium difficile* toxin B. *Science*. (2018) 360:664–9. doi: 10.1126/science.aar1999
- 204. Hayward SD, Liu J, Fujimuro M. Notch and Wnt signaling: mimicry and manipulation by gamma herpesviruses. *Sci STKE.* (2006). 2006:re4. doi: 10.1126/stke.3352006re4
- 205. Houschyar KS, Chelliah MP, Rein S, Maan ZN, Weissenberg K, Duscher D, et al. Role of Wnt signaling during inflammation and sepsis: a review of the literature. *Int J Artif Organs.* (2018) 41:247–53. doi: 10.1177/0391398818762357
- Takahashi-Yanaga F, Kahn M. Targeting Wnt signaling: can we safely eradicate cancer stem cells? *Clin Cancer Res.* (2010) 16:3153–62. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-2943
- 207. Polakis P. Drugging Wnt signalling in cancer. *EMBO J.* (2012) 31:2737–46. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2012.126
- Baron R, Gori F. Targeting WNT signaling in the treatment of osteoporosis. *Curr Opin Pharmacol.* (2018) 40:134–41. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2018. 04.011
- Madan B, Virshup DM. Targeting Wnts at the source-new mechanisms, new biomarkers, new drugs. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2015) 14:1087–94. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-14-1038

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Ljungberg, Kling, Tran and Blumenthal. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Wnt Signaling and Its Significance Within the Tumor Microenvironment: Novel Therapeutic Insights

#### Sonal Patel<sup>1†</sup>, Aftab Alam<sup>2†</sup>, Richa Pant<sup>1†</sup> and Samit Chattopadhyay<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> National Centre for Cell Science, Savitribai Phule Pune University, Pune, India, <sup>2</sup> Department of Cancer Biology and Inflammatory Disorder, Indian Institute of Chemical Biology, Kolkata, India

What signaling is one of the central mechanisms regulating tissue morphogenesis during embryogenesis and repair. The pivot of this signaling cascade is the Wnt ligand, which binds to receptors belonging to the Frizzled family or the ROR1/ROR2 and RYK family. This interaction governs the downstream signaling cascade (canonical/non-canonical), ultimately extending its effect on the cellular cytoskeleton, transcriptional control of proliferation and differentiation, and organelle dynamics. Anomalous Wht signaling has been associated with several cancers, the most prominent ones being colorectal, breast, lung, oral, cervical, and hematopoietic malignancies. It extends its effect on tumorigenesis by modulating the tumor microenvironment via fine crosstalk between transformed cells and infiltrating immune cells, such as leukocytes. This review is an attempt to highlight the latest developments in the understanding of Wnt signaling in the context of tumors and their microenvironment. A dynamic process known as immunoediting governs the fate of tumor progression based on the correlation of various signaling pathways in the tumor microenvironment and immune cells. Cancer cells also undergo a series of mutations in the tumor suppressor gene, which favors tumorigenesis. What signaling, and its crosstalk with various immune cells, has both negative as well as positive effects on tumor progression. On one hand, it helps in the maintenance and renewal of the leucocytes. On the other hand, it promotes immune tolerance, limiting the antitumor response. Wnt signaling also plays a role in epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT), thereby promoting the maintenance of Cancer Stem Cells (CSCs). Furthermore, we have summarized the ongoing strategies used to target aberrant Wht signaling as a novel therapeutic intervention to combat various cancers and their limitations.

Keywords: immune response, signaling, immunotherapy,  $\beta$ -catenin, anti-tumor response

# INTRODUCTION

Tumorigenesis is a multifaceted process largely occurring due to the accumulation of mutations in the tumor suppressor genes and oncogenes. These mutations lead to uncontrolled proliferation and resistance to cell death. The sustenance and fate of a tumor is dictated by the tumor microenvironment, which fulfills the needed requirements of energy, growth-factors, chemokines, cytokines, and autocrine/paracrine signals, thereby attracting a wide variety of cell types (1). The tumor microenvironment consists of fibroblasts, immune cells, endothelial cells, and the extracellular matrix. The fine balance between these cells and the transformed cells is decided

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Dennis A. Carson, University of California, San Diego, United States

#### Reviewed by:

Carlos Alfaro, Independent Researcher, Pamplona, Spain Kawaljit Kaur, University of California, Los Angeles, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Samit Chattopadhyay samit@iicb.res.in

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 21 July 2019 Accepted: 22 November 2019 Published: 16 December 2019

#### Citation:

Patel S, Alam A, Pant R and Chattopadhyay S (2019) Wht Signaling and Its Significance Within the Tumor Microenvironment: Novel Therapeutic Insights. Front. Immunol. 10:2872. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02872

109

by the variety of signaling pathways; one such critical pathway is the WNT signaling cascade. Wnt signaling controls a plethora of functions with the help of 19 Wnt proteins, 2co-receptors, 10 Frizzled (Fzd) receptors, and various non-Fzd receptors, for example the Receptor Tyrosine Kinase-like Orphan Receptor and the Ryk Receptor-like Tyrosine Kinase (2). Wnt ligands are secreted lipid-modified glycoproteins and have varied functions that include hematopoietic stem cell maintenance, cell migration, cancer stem cell survival and maintenance, and inflammation and immune tolerance (3-5). These ligand-receptor interactions activates various signaling cascades that are important for cellular homeostasis, oncogenic transformation, tumor progression, and metastasis (3, 6). The Wnt signaling pathway is known to be critical in T cell and dendritic cell development and maturation, which are the epicenter of the adaptive immune response, making it a vital signaling pathway for fighting various pathophysiological disorders (5). Due to its involvement in diverse functions, any aberration or de-regulation of this pathway causes several types of cancers and/or developmental defects. It regulates the anticancer immune response and has shown correlation with poor prognosis and survival of cancer patients. The tumor microenvironment (TME) is a source of both canonical and non-canonical Wnt ligands and can induce aberrant signaling pathways in the cancer cells and immune cells, leading to EMT and altered immune response (7, 8). For several years, it has been established that the Wnt/β-catenin pathway is indispensable for cancer cell survival and maintenance, making it a lucrative target for an anticancer therapy regimen. Various Wnt inhibitors are undergoing clinical trials for therapeutic purposes (alone or in combination with other anti-cancer drugs). This review highlights the role of Wnt/β-catenin signaling cascade in tumor microenvironment and its effects in cancer progression and survival. We conclude by accentuating the potential of Wnt/β-catenin inhibitors in the harnessing of new anticancer therapeutics by targeting cancer microenvironment.

# WNT SIGNALING

In 1973, thewingless gene was discovered during a mutagenesis screening for temperature-sensitive mutants in *Drosophila melanogaster* (9). Consequently, many other genetic components involved in embryonic pattern formation were identified (10). The foundation research for Wnt signal transduction was carried out in the 1980s and 1990s, and it was established that the gene products of the Drosophila wingless (wg) and murine proto-oncogene Int1 (now called Wnt1) are orthologous (11). The term "Wnt1" is an amalgamation of *wingless* and *Int1* (12).

WNTs are a large family of secreted, hydrophobic, and Cys-rich glycolipoproteins that direct developmental processes, stem cell proliferation, and tissue homeostasis throughout the metazoans (13, 14). As a result, any abnormality in the Wnt signaling pathway causes pathological conditions such as birth defects, cancers, and other diseases (15). In humans, there are 19 genes encoding WNTs that connect to various receptors and stimulate different intracellular signal transduction pathways (16). Based on different studies, these pathways have been roughly divided into either canonical ( $\beta$ -catenin dependent) or non-canonical ( $\beta$ -catenin independent) signaling pathways (16), as is described in the subsequent section. Depending upon their potential to induce morphological transformation in a murine mammary epithelial cell line (C57MG), the Wnt family has been categorized into different types (17). Wnt1, Wnt3, Wnt3a, and Wnt7a fall under the category of highly transforming members, and Wnt2, Wnt4, Wnt5a, Wnt5b, Wnt6, Wnt7b, and Wnt11 are grouped under intermediately transforming or non-transforming members (13). In general, Frizzled proteins function as common receptors for both canonical as well as non-canonical pathways (16).

# **Canonical Wnt Signaling**

The canonical Wnt signaling pathway is a well-studied pathway that is activated by the interaction of Wnt with a Frizzled (Fz) receptor and LRP5/LRP6, where LRP stands for lipoprotein receptor-related protein (which is a single-span trans-membrane receptor) (16). Once bound by Wnt, the Fz/LRP co-receptor complex stimulates the canonical signaling pathway. Upon activation, Fz can interact with a cytoplasmic protein called Disheveled (Dsh), which acts upstream of β-catenin GSK3β (15). Research studies have identified Axin as a protein that interacts with the intracellular domain of LRP5/6 through five phosphorylated PPPSP motifs in the cytoplasmic tail of LRP (18, 19). GSK3 phosphorylates PPPSP motifs, whereas Casein kinase 1- $\gamma$  (CK-1 $\gamma$ ) phosphorylates multiple sites within LRP5/6, which in turn promote the recruitment of Axin to LRP5/6. CK-1y isoforms within the CK-1 family carry putative palmatoylation sites at the carboxy terminal (20).

In unstimulated situations when Wnt is inactive, the transcriptional co-activator β-catenin is rendered inactive due to its phosphorylation by GSK-3. Inactivation of β-catenin is characterized by the formation of a "destruction complex" that comprises of GSK3, adenomatosis polyposis coli (APC), Axin, and casein kinase Ia (CKIa) (16). This destruction complex leads to the ubiquitination of  $\beta$ -catenin by an E3 ubiquitin ligase called β-TrCP and targets it for proteasomal degradation (21). As a result,  $\beta$ -catenin is not translocated to the nucleus and the repressor complex containing Tcell specific factor (TCF)/lymphoid enhancer-binding factor (LEF) and transducing-like enhancer protein(TLE)/Grouche binds and represses the activity of the target gene (14, 22, 23). Following the binding of Wnt to Frizzled-Axin-LRP-5/6 complex, cytosolic GSK-3ß (Glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta) is sequestered, and the phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -catenin is blocked. The accumulation of hypo-phosphorylated β-catenin in the cytosol allows its migration to the nucleus, where it regulates target gene expression by interacting with the TCF/LEF family of transcription factors (Figure 1). This signaling is implicated in the regulation of cell differentiation and proliferation (3, 24).

# **Non-Canonical Wnt Signaling**

The  $\beta$ -catenin-independent pathway does not involve  $\beta$ -catenin-TCF or  $\beta$ -catenin-LEF components but utilizes alternative means of downstream signaling, which may elicit a transcriptional response. These pathways are categorized



depending on the type of Wnt receptor and co-receptor they employ and the downstream receptors they pair with (16). The non-canonical signaling majorly activates PCP, RTK, or Ca<sup>+2</sup> signaling cascades through FZD and/or ROR1/ROR2/RYK co-receptors (25). The typical example of the  $\beta$ -catenin independent pathway is the PCP signaling pathway. Human non-canonical WNTs generally include Wnt5A, Wnt5B, and Wnt11, which transduce PCP (Planar Cell Polarity) signals through the receptors; FZD3 or FZD6; and co-receptors ROR1, ROR2, or PTK7 (26). In the PCP pathway, the Frizzled receptor activates a cascade involving a small Rho family of GTPases (Rho, Rac, and Cdc42) and Jun-N-terminal kinase (JNK) [Figure 2; (27, 28)]. The PCP pathway is involved in regulating cell polarity during morphogenesis. Another example of  $\beta$ -catenin-independent signaling is the Wnt-Ca<sup>+2</sup> pathway. NFAT (nuclear factor of activated T cells) and TAK1-induced Nemo-like Kinase (NLK) are calcium regulated transcription factors of the non-canonical pathway (29, 30). The binding of Wnt ligand to a Fz receptor results in the activation of phospholipase C, which is located on the plasma membrane of the cell. This, in turn, stimulates the production of certain signaling molecules, such as diacylglycerol (DAG) and 1, 4, 5-triphosphate (IP3). IP3 triggers the intracellular release of Ca<sup>+2</sup> ions and activation of effector molecules like protein kinase C (PKC), calmodulin-dependent kinase II (CAMKII), and calcineurin. This consequently activates the transcriptional regulator NFAT (**Figure 2**). The Wnt/Ca<sup>+2</sup> pathway is implicated in cancer, inflammation, and neurodegenerative diseases (31).

# TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT

The cooperative interaction between cells and their microenvironment is imperative for normal tissue homeostasis as well as for tumor growth (32). The tumor microenvironment (TME) has a pivotal role in modulating the metastatic properties of cancer cells and, thus, cancer progression. A range of stromal cells in the adjoining environment are recruited to tumors and facilitate the metastatic distribution to even the most remote organs (33). Solid tumors are not just the arbitrary combination of cells and the extracellular matrix (ECM), they also include adjoining blood vessels, i.e., vasculature and multiple cell types (fibroblasts, endothelial, immune cells, etc.), signaling molecules, and ECM components, which develop complex interactions and start utilizing processes that are similar to those used by developing organs (34). In addition to the abovementioned components of TME, some other components also exist; for example, adipose cells and neuroendocrine cells within the tumor microenvironment also have an important role in tumor aggression and invasiveness. Recent developments in tumor



immunology and immunotherapy have described IL-8 as a potent biomarker in different tumors (35, 36). This may have a profound effect on the tumor microenvironment as IL-8 receptor expression is not only found in cancer cells but also in endothelial cells, TAMs, and neutrophils (37). The function of different cells and their markers, along with the aforementioned components, are compiled in the tabular form (**Table 1**).

# Wnt Signaling and the Tumor Microenvironment

The epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) is an indispensable process throughout morphogenesis in which epithelial cells lose cell-cell contact, polarity, and other properties of epithelial cells and acquire the properties that are distinctive of mesenchymal cells (like increased motility). Characteristic features of EMT include the loss of E-cadherin at the plasma membrane, the gain of vimentin and fibronectin, and the increased accumulation of nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin. The transition from an epithelial to mesenchymal cell type requires a range of interor intra-cellular changes. In addition to performing normal developmental processes, EMT also plays a key role in tumor growth and progression if it goes unchecked (53, 54). The tumor microenvironment (TME) plays a crucial role in assisting cancer metastasis by inducing EMT in the tumor cells. Many different signaling pathways are known to be involved in EMT, such as TGF- $\beta$ , NF- $\kappa$ B, Notch, Wnt, and receptor tyrosine kinase (55). In this section, we discuss the role of TME in the activation of the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway and, thus, epithelial to mesenchymal transition.

Besides Wnt ligands, the growth factors secreted by stromal cells of TME are also responsible for the activation of Wnt signaling in the nucleus (56). For example, stimulation of hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) in colorectal cancer cells (CRCs) promotes phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -catenin in tyrosine residue and its dissociation from Met (HGFR is encoded by proto-oncogene MET) and thus upregulates  $\beta$ -catenin expression via the PI3-K pathway. Moreover, augmented HGF levels enhance the activity of the  $\beta$ -catenin-regulated TCF family of transcription factors. Studies suggest that Met and  $\beta$ -catenin also assist the entry of cells into cell cycle and prevent them from undergoing apoptosis. For example, c-Met overexpression is significantly correlated with cervical cancer progression (57). Therefore, the crosstalk between HGF released from TME and Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin in CRCs encourages tumor growth and invasion (58).

Another growth factor responsible for the activation of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling is the platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF). A study by Yang et al. suggests that PDGF treatment led to the phosphorylation of p68 (a member of the DEAD box family of RNA helicases) at Y593 residue in the cell nucleus (59). Y593 phosphorylated p68 promotes the nuclear translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin by blocking its phosphorylation by GSK-3 $\beta$  and dislodging axin from  $\beta$ -catenin. Subsequently,  $\beta$ -catenin interacts with LEF/TCF in the nucleus and initiates the EMT process (59). Likewise, EGF and TGF- $\beta$  also induce p68 phosphorylation at

S. no.	Component of TME	Main markers	Key functions	Reference(s)
1	Vasculature	Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), CD31, CD34, Placental growth factor (PIGF), Platelet derived growth factor- $\beta$ (PDGF- $\beta$ ), TGF $\alpha$	Blood vessel formation and nutrient and oxygen supply. Evacuate metabolic waste and CO <sub>2</sub> . Help to escape immune surveillance	(38–40)
2	Cancer associated fibroblasts (CAFs)	Epidermal growth factor (EGF), Fibroblast growth factor (FGF), MMP2, CXCL12, CXCL14, Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), VEGF, PDGF, stromal cell derived factor-1 (SDF-1) and constituents of ECM (OPN)	Integrate collagen and protein to form the Extracellular matrix (ECM), participate in wound healing, and angiogenesis. Regulate inflammation and escape damage to tissues.	(38, 40–42)
3	Inflammatory cells	HMGB1, Foxp3+, TNF-1α, IL-10, IL-12, IL-6, TGF-β, CD163+, KIR, PD-1+, IL-8, IL-4, IL-19, IL-17	Sustained immunosuppression, clearing cellular debris, and treatment of wound healing and infection. Expression of PD-L1 in TME and activation of NK cells and T lymphocytes	(35, 36, 40, 43–45)
4	Extracellular matrix (ECM)	Collagen, fibronectin, proteaglycans, laminin, laminin, vitronectin, tenascin-C, SPARC	Provides mechanical strength. Makes it difficult for drug to penetrate tumor	(46, 47)
5	Tumor associated endothelial cells (TECs)	VEGFR, EGFR, VEGF, PGE <sub>2</sub> , TGF- $\beta$ , IL-6 and IL-10, IL-8	Increased proliferation and migration properties, angiogenesis, and immune suppression	(35–37, 48–50)
6	Adipose cells	Aromatase inhibitors (Als), methyl-CpG-binding protein 6 (MBD6)	Produce circulatory blood estrogen, vasculogenesis, inflammation, fibrosis, source of adipokines (leptin, adiponectin), remodeling ECM, recruitment of immune cells, IL-6, IL-8, CCL2, and COX2	(40, 51)
7	Neuroendocrine cells	Ki-67, IL-2, KE108, Delta-like canonical notch ligand 3 (DLL3), EGF, Chromogranin A (CgA)	Regulate secretion and motility, inflammation, and angiogenesis	(40, 52)

TABLE 1 | Components of the tumor microenvironment: main markers and their key functions.

tyrosine and require p68 for EMT initiation. Therefore, the p-68- $\beta$ -catenin axis may correspond to a common output for various signaling pathways (54).

The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) is another growth factor that is regarded as the archetype molecule in malignant phenotype (38). VEGF expression and microvessel density are regarded as the prognostic factors for poor outcomes in various cancers (60). For instance, the overexpression of VEGFA in aggressive oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC) may serve a vital prognostic factor for this kind of cancer (61). In addition to VEGF, a transcription factor known as the ETS-related gene (ERG) belonging to ETS (E26 transformation-specific) family is also implicated in angiogenesis and vascular development. Overexpression of ERG in a mouse model reduces the vascular permeability and increases VEGF-dependent angiogenesis through Wnt/β-catenin signaling. This happens because ERG controls the transcription of Fzd4 receptors and stabilizes  $\beta$ -catenin levels in endothelial cells (62).

Cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs) are also known to play a vital role in shaping the immunosuppressive environment within the tumor, specifically in oral squamous cell carcinoma (OSCC), wherein CAF-educated cells suppress the T cell population more efficiently than the control cells (63). CAFs are also considered to be a main source of Wnt2 in colorectal cancer where FZD8 acts as a putative receptor of Wnt2 and is responsible for tumor growth, invasions, and metastasis (64).

Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) is an effective mitogen that is secreted by TECs of the tumor microenvironment. It activates  $\beta$ -catenin signaling and help in the proliferation of colon cancer cells. Once stimulated, PGE2 can trigger EP2 receptors linked to the heterotrimeric G protein of Gs family. The

activated  $\alpha$ -subunit of Gs binds to the RGS domain of axin and promotes the dissociation of GSK-3 $\beta$  from its complex with axin. Consequently, free  $\beta\gamma$  subunits stimulate the activity of PI3K and Akt, thereby resulting in phosphorylation and inactivation of GSK-3 $\beta$ . All these processes lead to translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin to the nucleus and stimulation of growth-promoting genes and, thus, cancer progression (65).

The interaction of inflammatory cells with cancer cells is wellstudied. In colorectal cancer, the infiltrating macrophages express high levels of Wnt2 and Wnt5a in progression from normal colorectal adenoma to carcinoma. In-situ hybridization studies showed that transcripts of Wnt2 and Wnt5a were majorly present in the lamina propria/stroma region within the macrophages. This suggests that paracrine Wnt activation by macrophages may result in cancer progression (66). Wnt7b is another Wnt ligand that is produced by macrophages residing in the tumor (67). One study proposed a mechanism wherein macrophages produced Wnt7b and initiated canonical the Wnt signaling pathway in vascular endothelial cells (VECs) expressing LRP5 and Frizzled in a paracrine fashion. This ultimately lead to the stabilization of  $\beta$ -catenin and entry of VECs in the cell cycle. In the absence of death/apoptotic signal to VECs, this provided a mechanism for the stimulation of VECs via macrophages and tumor angiogenesis (68). Also, Wnt ligands secreted by tumor cells could stimulate the polarization of TAMs to M2 subtype via the canonical Wnt signaling pathway, resulting in tumor growth and migration (69). Moreover, macrophage-derived soluble factors also induced canonical Wnt signaling pathway and promoted tumor growth and metastasis. For example, tumor cells induced the release of IL-1 $\beta$  from macrophages, thereby inducing the phosphorylation of GSK3β and stabilizing β-catenin. This results in higher expression of Wnt target genes in cancer cells. The constitutive expression of STAT1 in macrophages is required for activation of IL-1 $\beta$ , which is essential in order for these macrophages to induce Wnt signaling (70).

Components of the extracellular matrix (ECM) also regulate tumor cells, particularly of the colon. Wnt ligands are expressed in both epithelial and mesenchymal cells of the colon. Moreover, aberrant Wnt signaling is also associated with the development of colorectal cancer (71). Mesenchymal forkhead transcription factors, *Foxf1* and *Foxf2*, can promote ECM production in the gut and can limit paracrine Wnt signaling. A study by Ormestad et al. suggested a crosstalk between stromal cells and parenchymal cells, which involves Wnt signaling. According to their findings, deletion of *Foxf1* and *Foxf2* resulted in the enhanced expression of Wnt5a in the mesenchymal cells and nuclear translocation of  $\beta$ -catenin in epithelial cells. This resulted in over-proliferation of intestinal cells, which are also resistant to apoptosis (72).

Altogether, these studies bring about the crucial role of different components of the tumor microenvironment in activation of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling and, therefore, tumor invasion and metastasis. The effect of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling on tumor immunomodulation is depicted in **Figure 3**.

# WNT SIGNALING IN HAEMATOPOIESIS AND IMMUNE CELL MAINTENANCE

WNT signaling works in a context-dependent manner. Under different physiological conditions, it can positively or negatively regulate immunosurveillance mechanisms in the tumor





microenvironment. Wnt signaling is an important pathway for immune cell maintenance and renewal. It regulates the progenitor cell homeostasis, thereby controlling hematopoiesis. Various Wnt ligands such as Wnt5a, Wnt10b, and Wnt16 have been reported in regulating hematopoiesis (73-75). Apart from Wnt ligands, downstream molecules of Wnt signaling also control the development and differentiation of various hematopoietic cells. B-catenin is one of the most indispensable molecules for both canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling and has been shown to positively regulate hematopoiesis, which confers an increased population of hematopoietic stem cells both in-vitro and in-vivo (76). GSK-3β inhibitors activates Wnt signaling by blocking degradation of β-catenin in murine and human HSCs. In-vivo administration of GSK-3ß inhibitors has shown potential effects in enhancing the HSCs engraftment during bone marrow transplantation models (77). Besides its role in hematopoiesis, Wnt signaling is also demonstrated to play a role in thymocyte development where it helps in proliferation of immature thymocytes (78). Wnt signaling is involved in consecutive thymic selection events leading to maturation of naive T cells. Wnt inactivation by Dickkopfrelated protein 1 (DKK1) in postnatal mice resulted in the loss of progenitor thymic epithelial cells and thymic degeneration (79), highlighting the importance of the presence of Wnt in the microenvironment. Wnt signaling also plays a crucial role in the B-cell development where it controls proliferation and survival of progenitor B-cells. Lef-1-deficient mice showed defects in progenitor B-cell proliferation and survival (80). Recently, it has been shown that the canonical and non-canonical Wnt signaling could contribute to the maintenance and differentiation of B-1 cells, a subpopulation of B cells localized in the peritoneum (81). Thus, Wnt signaling plays a pivotal role in maintenance of hematopoiesis and renewal of immune cells in circulation and thereby positively regulates the anticancer immune response.

# Wnt Signaling Dampens the Antitumor Immune Response in the Tumor Microenvironment

Wnt signaling also play a crucial role in dampening antitumor immune response in tumor microenvironment. There are several reports, which suggest that Wnt signaling encourages tumor progression by promoting tolerance and the immune-escape mechanism. The cumulative anti-tumor immune response mediated by T cells, dendritic cells, B cells, macrophages, neutrophils, and NK cells results in tumor regression caused by elimination of cancer cells (82). Mutations and epigenetic changes developed by tumors due to continuous stimulation by carcinogens or the environmental factors alter the signaling cascade in the tumor microenvironment (1). These changes alter the phenotypic expression of chemokines, cytokines, and some important ligands for the immune cells in the tumor microenvironment resulting in tolerance and immune escape. Recognition and elimination of the cancer cells is largely dependent on antigen presenting cells (APCs), such as dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, and B cells, which have the ability to present tumor associated antigens (TAAs) (83). Suppressor

cells present in the tumor microenvironment, such as Treg, myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSC), DC suppressor cells, etc., induce tolerance and tumor progression (84, 85). Wnt signaling has shown a contradictory role in the regulation of MDSCs; on one hand it inhibits MDSC maturation, but, on the other hand, it promotes VEGF expression, which positively regulates MDSCs (86, 87). Also Wnt 5a induces IL12 expression by the dendritic cells altering the suppressive function of MDSCs (88, 89). Despite MDSCs suppression by Wnt signaling, its presence in the Wnt active tumor microenvironment is highly contradictory. This was partially explained with the presence of Dkk1 secreted by the tumor stroma, which inhibits Betacatenin in MDSCs (90). To understand this puzzle of interplay between Wnt signaling and MDSCs, further study is needed that can correlate various driving factors working in different context. Wnt signaling shows a negative correlation with TAA presentation. Tumor-induced β-catenin signaling functions in DCs to execute an exhaustive immune-effector phenotype in the infiltrating antitumor CTLs (91). Wnt3a regulates canonical βcatenin signaling in DCs, whereas the non-canonical signaling cascade is regulated by Wnt5a, leading to a tolerogenic DC phenotype (92, 93). Canonical Wnt signaling can potentially regulate DC activation and maturation (94). It has been shown that  $\beta$ -catenin deletion in DCs increased the surface expression of co-stimulatory markers CD80 and CD86 and decreased surface expression of co-inhibitory molecules like PDL1 and PDL2 (95). This phenotype of DC exhibits a positive correlation with antitumor immunity. On the contrary,  $\beta$ -catenin-active tumors do not react to anti-CTLA-4/anti-PD-1 immunotherapy (96). Therefore, a combinatorial therapy of the Wnt inhibitor specifically targeting DCs along with PD1 and CTLA4 immune therapy can work better for patients not responding to cancer immune therapy.

# WNT-β-CATENIN PATHWAY: A TARGET FOR THERAPEUTIC INTERVENTIONS IN CANCER

Apart from playing a vital role in various cellular activities like organogenesis and stem cell regeneration, the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway is also associated with cancers, such as colorectal, cervical, breast, lung, oral squamous cell carcinoma, and hematopoietic malignancies and their recurrence. In this context, targeting aberrant Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling as a therapeutic intervention to combat the abovementioned cancers seems a lucrative approach. However, the challenge here lies in identifying effective agents that can target the Wnt pathway without tampering the normal cellular functions like tissue repair and homeostasis, the renewal of stem cells, and survival. The detailed action of Wnt signaling in both canonical and non-canonical pathway has been summarized in the prior sections.

Wnt pathway is observed to be upregulated in cancers. Activation of Wnt leads to the loss of function of APC, which is a negative regulator of cell proliferation. Inhibitors of the Wnt signaling pathway can therefore have therapeutic values in cancer treatment, and multiple such targets have been identified wherein inhibitors act at different steps of Wnt signaling pathway. Broadly, these inhibitors can be classified into two categories: 1. Inhibitors of Wnt-receptor complex, and 2.  $\beta$ -catenin destruction complex inhibitors. The detailed mechanism of action of these inhibitors and their subtypes has been briefed below. Also, a list summarizing such drugs and their clinical trial status has been appended in **Table 2**.

# Inhibitors of the Wnt-Receptor Complex Porcupine Inhibitors

Porcupine, abbreviated as PORCN, is an O-acyltransferase (MBOAT) and plays a crucial role in Wnt ligand secretion by providing the Wnt proteins with a palmitoyl group. It recently became a highly druggable target for inhibiting Wnt signaling pathways (97, 98). Moreover, PORCN is the only enzyme specific to the Wnt cascade that is found to be upregulated in mouse cancer models, and it is often regarded as a poor prognosis marker for head and neck squamous cell cancers (99). In-vivo studies have shown that selectively inhibiting PORCN by using LGK974 blocks Wnt signaling and subsequently tumor growth (100). Independent study has shown effectiveness of LGK974 invitro on head and neck cancer cells with NOTCH1 mutations. This molecule is now undergoing phase 1 and phase 2 clinical trials. Another promising molecule for PORCN inhibition is an oral, selective small molecule inhibitor, ETC-159, of porcupine, which has shown favorable results in preclinical studies and has now entered phase 1 of clinical trials (99).

# Antibodies Against Wnt Family Proteins

Several tumors have been marked to be overexpressing Wnt ligands and/or their receptors. This specific interaction is also an attractive target, and many groups are working on antibodies that can act at this point and lead to the inhibition of further downstream signaling. Monoclonal antibodies (MAbs) designed to bind Wnt1 and Wnt2 have shown to lead to tumor suppression in a plethora of malignancies, including, but not limited to, melanoma, colorectal cancers, and non-small cell lung carcinoma (101).

OncoMed Pharmaceuticals/Bayer manufactured a MAb that can target 5 Frizzled receptors and named it as OMP-18R5 or Vantictumab (101). Its safety and efficacy in many cancers are being evaluated alone or combined with other chemotherapeutic regimes. A phase Ib study of a combination of OMP-18R5 with other drugs was carried out in patients with stage IV pancreatic adenocarcinoma and metastatic HER2-negative breast cancer (102, 103). Another recombinant fusion protein that blocks the Wnt signaling is OMP-54F28 (or Ipafricept). A first-in-human phase I study of this decoy receptor for Wnt ligands is presently being carried out in patients with advanced stages of solid tumors (104). It binds to the Wnt ligand through the adomain present in the extracellular part of the human Frizzled 8 receptor (fused to a human IgG1 Fc fragment). This also binds to Wnt ligands and blocks the downstream signaling. In xenograft models of ovarian cancer, Ipafricept has shown a reduction in the frequency of stem cells, suppressed tumor formation, and stimulate differentiation. Also in a combinatorial approach, treatment with OMP-54F28 prior to taxane chemotherapy displays synergy and, therefore, superior antitumor efficacy (105).

S. no.	Name	Company	Target	Disease	Clinical phase
1.	OMP18R5 (vantictumab)	OncoMed Pharmaceuticals	frizzled	Solid tumors	Phase I (dose escalation study)
2.	OMP-54F28	OncoMed pharmaceuticals/bayer	Wnt	Solid tumors	Phase I
3.	LGK974	Novartis pharmaceuticals	Porcupine	Melanoma, breast cancer, and pancreatic adenocarcinoma	Phase I
4.	CWP232291	JW pharmaceutical	β-catenin	Acute myeloid leukemia	Phase I
5.	PRI-724	Prism/Eisai pharmaceuticals	$\beta$ -catenin/CBP	Advanced myeloid malignancies	Phase I (dose escalation study)
6.	IWR1	Tocris bioscience	Tankyrases 1, 2 inhibitor	Osteosarcoma	Preclinical
7.	XAV939	Novartis	Tankyrases 1, 2 inhibitor	Neuroblastoma	Preclinical
8.	NSC668036	Tocris bioscience	Disheveled	Fibrotic lung disease	Preclinical
9.	ICG-001	Prism pharma	CREB binding protein/ CBP	Acute myeloid leukemia Chronic myeloid leukemia	Phase I Phase II
10.	DKN-01	Leap therapeutics	DKK, dickkopf-related protein	Multiple Myeloma	Phase I, II

**TABLE 2** | List of drugs for specific diseases under clinical trials and their targets.

### β-Catenin-Destruction Complex Inhibitors Tankyrase or PARP5 Inhibitors

The Wnt/β-catenin pathway is associated with the PARP [Poly (ADP-ribose) polymerases] family of proteins. Of the PARP family, two isoforms, namely PARP5a (Tankyrase 1) and PARP5b (Tankyrase 2), are known to degrade the axin by the ubiquitin-proteasome dependent pathway (106). Inhibitors of these isoforms, XAV939 and IWR-1, help in maintaining the optimum Axin levels. Another inhibitor- NVP-TNKS656 used in murine xenografts models and colorectal cancer patient-derived sphere culture studies showed a high  $\beta$ -catenin level even in the presence of AKT and PI3K inhibitors signifying that the tankyrase inhibitor could overcome resistance to AKT and PI3K inhibitors. It was also associated with high FOXO3A (Forkhead box O3) activity. The setback of this study lies in the trepidations of gastrointestinal toxicity associated with these inhibitors, and further studies are needed to verify their safety and efficacy. Selective tankyrase inhibitors, MN-64 and CMP8, with the capacity to bind to the nicotinamide subsite of tankyrases are amongst the best inhibitors and have demonstrated nanomolar potencies (107).

#### **Disheveled Inhibitors**

Disheveled binds to the frizzled receptor on its C-terminal region via its PDZ domain. This Frizzled-disheveled interaction is a target for some notable inhibitors like NSC668036, FJ9, and 3289–8625, leading to inhibition of the Wnt signal transduction pathway and thereby causing cancer regression (108). Sulindac is a FDA approved disheveled inhibitor which can inhibit the proliferation of lung cancer A549 cells (108, 109).

### Inhibitors of Transcription Complex

Wnt signaling involves a plethora of intermediate steps, and there is therefore a constantly evolving pursuit to find agents that can target the downstream steps of this pathway. A highthroughput ELISA-based screening was carried out to shortlist small molecules that could possibly target the interaction between  $\beta$ -catenin and the transcription factor TCF4. Eight inhibitors were identified to be effective in perturbing the  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF complex in a dose-dependent manner. LF3, a 4-thioureidobenzenesulfonamide derivative, possesses the capacity to perturb this interaction in colon cancer (110). However, this interaction is not very specific, causing many off-target effects.

#### Antagonists of Wnt Co-activator

The prerequisite step for Wnt activation is the interaction of  $\beta$ -catenin with its transcriptional co-activator CBP. Small molecule antagonists that have the capacity to inhibit this interaction can serve as a potential therapeutic agent. CBPPRI-724 is a first-in-class antagonist that acts in line with this approach. This molecule has shown promising results in the preclinical stage with pancreatic cancer cells. It has been proven to promote differentiation of CSCs, inhibition of stroma formation, and decrease the metastatic potential of cancer cells (111).

#### Wnt5a Mimetics

Wnt5a acts as a tumor suppressor in various cancers, and its downregulation is often associated with lower disease-free survival in primary breast cancers and also in hematopoietic, prostate, and colon cancers. Foxy-5 is a hexapeptide mimic of Wnt5a which is synthesized to possess Wnt5a-like properties that can impair cancer cell migration. After a successful phase 1 study in colon/breast/prostate cancer patients showing no toxicity, phase 1b trials are ongoing and expected to show promising therapeutic value (112). Also, peptides derived by modifying the Wnt5a ligand sequence have shown the capability to mimic the Wnt5a molecule. It can bind to the Fzd-5 receptor in a human breast tumor cell line and impair metastatic ability (113).

### Gamma Secretase Inhibitor

Wnt signaling has now been shown to be closely associated with other pathways, like the Notch signaling pathway, and Notch1 is thought to be acting as a connecting link between them. Treatment of CSCs with GSI agents leads to the induction of apoptosis and inhibition of tumor sphere formation of CD44<sup>+</sup> CSCs. MK-0752 in combination with ridaforolimus (MK-8669) is currently in phase I trial of patients with solid tumors (114). MK-0752 with docetaxel has entered phase II trials in breast cancer patients (115). Another selective GSI, PF-03084014, showed a reduction in tumor cell migration and mammosphere formation *in vitro*, and a marked decrease in tumor cell self-renewal ability *in vivo* (116). The phase I trials in triple negative breast cancer patients in combination with docetaxel, however, showed gastrointestinal toxicity.

### **Hedgehog Inhibitors**

Another pathway involved in crosstalk with the Wnt pathway is the sonic hedgehog pathway with sFRP-1 being the mediator between them. FDA-approved SMO (Smoothened) inhibitor-Vismodegib binds directly to SMO and inhibits the progression of advanced basal cell cancers (117). It is also being studied in the context of other cancers, like gastric and prostate cancer, and is currently undergoing phase I and II trials. Another FDA-approved SMO antagonist is NVP-LDE225 (Erismodegib or sonidegib), used for advanced cases of basal cell carcinomas (118). Erismodegib is also being studied in phase I and II clinical trials for other cancer types.

Apart from different chemical inhibitors, many natural compounds have shown to target the Wnt pathway directly or indirectly. For example Indole-3-carbinol (I3C), a natural compound present in broccoli can inhibit WWS1-mediated proteasomal degradation of PTEN, which has a direct interaction with the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway, leading to tumor regression



thereby inhibiting cancer proliferation. The targets that are showing promising results are highlighted in the figure. Several therapeutic molecules, such as anti-Frizzled antibodies, mimetics of Wnt molecules, disheveled inhibitors, tankyrase inhibitors, axin stabilizers, and inhibitors of TCF/CBP interactions are being evaluated in different phases of clinical studies.

both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (119, 120). Also, there are various repressor proteins reported to downregulate  $\beta$ -catenin. One such protein is SMAR1, a tumor suppressor known to be downregulated in higher grades of cancer and that inhibits  $\beta$ -catenin transcription (121, 122). It inhibits  $\beta$ -catenin transcription as well as negatively regulate mir371-373, which is known to target DKK1—an inhibitor of Wnt signaling (121, 123, 124). Aberrant Wnt signaling or CDC20 mediated degradation, downregulate SMAR1 expression thereby promoting tumorigenesis and cancer progression (125). Compounds such as I3C (119) and putative SMAR1 stabilizing compounds can be potential therapeutic targets to inhibit Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway in different types of cancer cells, thereby regressing tumors.

To conclude, Wnt signaling can be targeted at various steps to develop potential therapy against cancer, and this is summarized in **Figure 4**.

#### **Challenges of Wnt Inhibition-Based Therapies**

Inhibiting cancer by targeting the Wnt signaling pathway has been a hotspot for the last four decades. Various molecules involved in this pathway have been studied in depth and proposed as innovative targets for anti-tumor therapy, and some have also found uses in the treatment of neurodegenerative disease, such as Parkinson's disease. Despite showing promising results, no such drugs have been approved for clinical use. This may be attributed to the fact that  $Wnt/\beta$  catenin signaling is crucial for stem cell pool maintenance and also in the regeneration of tissues and organs. Thus, tweaking this pathway can also affect the normal Wnt-dependent activities. Some of the drugs targeting Wnt signaling have shown dose-limiting gastrointestinal toxicity and upregulation of markers for bone formation and growth. Apart from direct roles, Wnt signaling is also known to cross functions with other pathways that are involved in cell signaling. A better understanding of these crosstalks and the development of combination therapy that can target specific molecules without disrupting normal cellular functions or using natural compounds may be the choice of future research.

# CONCLUDING REMARKS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Tumor cells require a milieu of growth factors, secretory molecules, and crosstalk between different cells present in the

# REFERENCES

- Casey SC, Vaccari M, Al-Mulla F, Al-Temaimi R, Amedei A, Barcellos-Hoff MH, et al. The effect of environmental chemicals on the tumor microenvironment. *Carcinogenesis*. (2015) 36:S160–83. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgv035
- Gattinoni L, Ji Y, Restifo NP. Wnt/β- catenin signaling in T-cell immunity and cancer immunotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2010) 16:4695–701. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0356
- Zhan T, Rindtorff N, Boutros M. Wnt signaling in cancer. Oncogene. (2017) 36:1461–73. doi: 10.1038/onc.2016.304

tumor microenvironment for their growth and proliferation. An increasing amount of evidence suggests that Wnt signaling acts as bridge between tumor cells and the tumor microenvironment for their preferential growth and progression. Stromal cells and inflammatory cells present in the extracellular matrix of the tumor microenvironment secrete Wnt ligands that promote tumor invasion, metastasis, and tolerance. Although Wnt signaling is important for hematopoiesis and immune cell development and proliferation, the larger picture suggest that a context-dependent regulation of Wnt signaling in the tumor microenvironment renders immune cells tolerance toward immune escape by inhibiting tumor antigen presentation. Various reports unanimously support the hypothesis that both the canonical and non-canonical Wnt pathway in the tumor microenvironment induce a signaling cascade, leading to EMT, metastasis, and cancer stem cell maintenance. With the advent of new high throughput technologies, we are in a better state of understanding of the mechanism of both the canonical and noncanonical Wnt signaling pathway. This understanding is the basis of translational research targeting the important molecules of this pathway and their downstream effectors in cancer and leveraging this knowledge toward designing personalized medicine. Several Wnt/β-catenin inhibitors that have the potential for use in anticancer therapies have been recognized. Clinical trials for these drugs are in various stages, and some of them are showing immense potential for future anticancer therapy. Further, these inhibitors, in combination with existing immune therapy or using natural compounds, can do wonders in eliminating higher grades of cancer and metastatic tumors. However, there remains a scope for further study to investigate and counter the side effects of harnessing the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling, as it is important for cellular homeostasis.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

Conception of idea was done by SC, AA, and SP. Manuscript writing and editing was done by all the authors.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are thankful to the Council of Industrial and Scientific Research-Indian Institute of Chemical Biology, Kolkata and the National Centre for Cell Science, Pune for providing infrastructure facilities, as well as the Department of Biotechnology-System Medicine Cluster for the funding support.

- de Sousa E, Melo F, Vermeulen L. Wnt signaling in cancer stem cell biology. *Cancers.* (2016) 8:E60. doi: 10.3390/cancers8 070060
- Suryawanshi A, Tadagavadi RK, Swafford D, Manicassamy S. Modulation of inflammatory responses by Wnt/β-catenin signaling in dendritic cells: a novel immunotherapy target for autoimmunity and cancer. *Front Immunol.* (2016) 7:460. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2016. 00460
- Endo M, Nishita M, Fujii M, Minami Y. Insight into the role of Wnt5ainduced signaling in normal and cancer cells. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol.* (2015) 314:117–48. doi: 10.1016/bs.ircmb.2014.10.003

- Staal FJT, Luis TC, Tiemessen MM. WNT signalling in the immune system: WNT is spreading its wings. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2008) 8:581–93. doi: 10.1038/nri2360
- 8. Swafford D, Manicassamy S. Wnt signaling in dendritic cells: its role in regulation of immunity and tolerance. *Discov Med.* (2015) 19:303–10.
- Jenny FH, Basler K. Powerful Drosophila screens that paved the wingless pathway. *Fly.* (2014) 8:218–25. doi: 10.4161/19336934.2014. 985988
- Nüsslein-Volhard C, Wieschaus E. Mutations affecting segment number and polarity in Drosophila. *Nature*. (1980) 287:795–801. doi: 10.1038/287795a0
- Rijsewijk F, Schuermann M, Wagenaar E, Parren P, Weigel D, Nusse R. The Drosophila homolog of the mouse mammary oncogene int-1 is identical to the segment polarity gene wingless. *Cell.* (1987) 50:649–57. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(87)90038-9
- 12. van Amerongen R, Nusse R. Towards an integrated view of Wnt signaling in development. *Development*. (2009) 136:3205-14. doi: 10.1242/dev.033910
- Kikuchi A, Yamamoto H, Sato A, Matsumoto S. New insights into the mechanism of Wnt signaling pathway activation. *Int Rev Cell Mol Biol.* (2011) 291:21–71. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-386035-4.00002-1
- MacDonald BT, Tamai K, He X. Wnt/β-catenin signaling: components, mechanisms, and diseases. *Dev Cell.* (2009) 17:9. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2009.06.016
- Clevers H. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling in development and disease. Cell. (2006) 127:469–80. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.10.018
- Niehrs C. The complex world of WNT receptor signalling. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2012) 13:767–79. doi: 10.1038/nrm3470
- Wong GT, Gavin BJ, McMahon AP. Differential transformation of mammary epithelial cells by Wnt genes. *Mol Cell Biol.* (1994) 14:6278–86. doi: 10.1128/MCB.14.9.6278
- Tamai K, Zeng X, Liu C, Zhang X, Harada Y, Chang Z, et al. A mechanism for Wnt coreceptor activation. *Mol Cell.* (2004) 13:149–56. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(03)00484-2
- Mao J, Wang J, Liu B, Pan W, Farr GH, Flynn C, et al. Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-5 binds to Axin and regulates the canonical Wnt signaling pathway. *Mol Cell.* (2001) 7:801–9. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(01)00224-6
- Davidson G, Wu W, Shen J, Bilic J, Fenger U, Stannek P, et al. Casein kinase 1 γ couples Wnt receptor activation to cytoplasmic signal transduction. *Nature*. (2005) 438:867–72. doi: 10.1038/nature04170
- Krishnamurthy N, Kurzrock R. Targeting the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway in cancer: update on effectors and inhibitors. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2018) 62:50–60. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2017.11.002
- Levanon D, Goldstein RE, Bernstein Y, Tang H, Goldenberg D, Stifani S, et al. Transcriptional repression by AML1 and LEF-1 is mediated by the TLE/Groucho corepressors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1998) 95:11590–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.20.11590
- Brantjes H, Roose J, van De Wetering M, Clevers H. All Tcf HMG box transcription factors interact with Groucho-related co-repressors. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2001) 29:1410–9. doi: 10.1093/nar/29.7.1410
- 24. Gordon MD, Nusse R. Wnt signaling: multiple pathways, multiple receptors, and multiple transcription factors. *J Biol Chem.* (2006) 281:22429–33. doi: 10.1074/jbc.R600015200
- Katoh M. Canonical and non-canonical WNT signaling in cancer stem cells and their niches: cellular heterogeneity, omics reprogramming, targeted therapy and tumor plasticity (Review). *Int J Oncol.* (2017) 51:1357–69. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2017.4129
- Katoh M. WNT/PCP signaling pathway and human cancer (Review). Oncol Rep. (2005) 14:1583–8. doi: 10.3892/or.14.6.1583
- Tao W, Pennica D, Xu L, Kalejta RF, Levine AJ. Wrch-1, a novel member of the Rho gene family that is regulated by Wnt-1. *Genes Dev.* (2001) 15:1796–807. doi: 10.1101/gad.894301
- Boutros M, Paricio N, Strutt DI, Mlodzik M. Dishevelled activates JNK and discriminates between JNK pathways in planar polarity and wingless signaling. *Cell.* (1998) 94:109–18. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(00)81226-X
- Ishitani T, Kishida S, Hyodo-Miura J, Ueno N, Yasuda J, Waterman M, et al. The TAK1-NLK mitogen-activated protein kinase cascade functions in the Wnt-5a/Ca(2+) pathway to antagonize Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2003) 23:131–9. doi: 10.1128/MCB.23.1.131-139.2003

- Dejmek J, Safholm A, Kamp Nielsen C, Andersson T, Leandersson K. Wnt-5a/Ca2+-induced NFAT activity is counteracted by Wnt-5a/Yes-Cdc42-Casein Kinase 1 signaling in human mammary epithelial cells. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2006) 26:6024–36. doi: 10.1128/MCB.02354-05
- De A. Wnt/Ca2+ signaling pathway: a brief overview. Acta Biochim Biophys Sin. (2011) 43:745–56. doi: 10.1093/abbs/gmr079
- 32. Quail DF, Joyce JA. Microenvironmental regulation of tumor progression and metastasis. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:1423–37. doi: 10.1038/nm.3394
- Joyce JA, Pollard JW. Microenvironmental regulation of metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer. (2009) 9:239–52. doi: 10.1038/nrc2618
- Egeblad M, Nakasone ES, Werb Z. Tumors as organs: complex tissues that interface with the entire organism. *Dev Cell.* (2010) 18:884–901. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2010.05.012
- Alfaro C, Sanmamed MF, Rodríguez-Ruiz ME, Teijeira Á, Oñate C, González Á, et al. Interleukin-8 in cancer pathogenesis, treatment and follow-up. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2017) 60:24–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2017.08.004
- 36. Gonzalez-Aparicio M, Alfaro C. Influence of Interleukin-8 and neutrophil extracellular trap (NET) formation in the tumor microenvironment: is there a pathogenic role? *J Immunol Res.* (2019) 2019:6252138. doi: 10.1155/2019/6252138
- Waugh DJJ, Wilson C. The interleukin-8 pathway in cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2008) 14:6735–41. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4843
- Wu T, Dai Y. Tumor microenvironment and therapeutic response. Cancer Lett. (2017) 387:61–8. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2016.01.043
- Klemm F, Joyce JA. Microenvironmental regulation of therapeutic response in cancer. *Trends Cell Biol.* (2015) 25:198–213. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2014.11.006
- Wang M, Zhao J, Zhang L, Wei F, Lian Y, Wu Y, et al. Role of tumor microenvironment in tumorigenesis. J Cancer. (2017) 8:761–73. doi: 10.7150/jca.17648
- Östman A, Augsten M. Cancer-associated fibroblasts and tumor growth bystanders turning into key players. *Curr Opin Genet Dev.* (2009) 19:67–73. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2009.01.003
- Paraiso KHT, Smalley KSM. Fibroblast-mediated drug resistance in cancer. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2013) 85:1033–41. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2013. 01.018
- Gabrilovich DI, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Bronte V. Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2012) 12:253–68. doi: 10.1038/nri3175
- 44. Balkwill F, Mantovani A. Inflammation and cancer: back to Virchow? *Lancet*. (2001) 357:539–45. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)04046-0
- Jiang X, Wang J, Deng X, Xiong F, Ge J, Xiang B, et al. Role of the tumor microenvironment in PD-L1/PD-1-mediated tumor immune escape. *Mol Cancer.* (2019) 18:1–17. doi: 10.1186/s12943-018-0928-4
- Kim S-H, Turnbull J, Guimond S. Extracellular matrix and cell signalling: the dynamic cooperation of integrin, proteoglycan and growth factor receptor. J Endocrinol. (2011) 209:139–51. doi: 10.1530/JOE-10-0377
- Netti PA, Berk DA, Swartz MA, Grodzinsky AJ, Jain RK. Role of extracellular matrix assembly in interstitial transport in solid tumors. *Cancer Res.* (2000) 60:2497–503.
- De Sanctis F, Ugel S, Facciponte J, Facciabene A. The dark side of tumor-associated endothelial cells. *Semin Immunol.* (2018) 35:35–47. doi: 10.1016/j.smim.2018.02.002
- Talmadge JE, Gabrilovich DI. History of myeloid-derived suppressor cells. Nat Rev Cancer. (2013) 13:739–52. doi: 10.1038/nrc3581
- Mulligan JK, Day TA, Gillespie MB, Rosenzweig SA, Young MRI. Secretion of vascular endothelial growth factor by oral squamous cell carcinoma cells skews endothelial cells to suppress T-cell functions. *Hum Immunol.* (2009) 70:375–82. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2009.01.014
- Duong MN, Geneste A, Fallone F, Li X, Dumontet C, Muller C. The fat and the bad: mature adipocytes, key actors in tumor progression and resistance. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:57622–41. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.18038
- Corti A. Chromogranin A and the tumor microenvironment. Cell Mol Neurobiol. (2010) 30:1163–70. doi: 10.1007/s10571-010-9587-8
- Thiery JP, Sleeman JP. Complex networks orchestrate epithelialmesenchymal transitions. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2006) 7:131–42. doi: 10.1038/nrm1835
- 54. He X. Unwinding a path to nuclear  $\beta\text{-catenin.}$  Cell. (2006) 127:40–2. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.09.016

- Jing Y, Han Z, Zhang S, Liu Y, Wei L. Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in tumor microenvironment. *Cell Biosci.* (2011) 1:29. doi: 10.1186/2045-3701-1-29
- Fodde R, Brabletz T. Wnt/β-catenin signaling in cancer stemness and malignant behavior. *Curr Opin Cell Biol.* (2007) 19:150–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ceb.2007.02.007
- 57. Baykal C, Ayhan A, Al A, Yüce K, Ayhan A. Overexpression of the c-Met/HGF receptor and its prognostic significance in uterine cervix carcinomas. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2003) 88:123–9. doi: 10.1016/S0090-8258(02)00073-2
- 58. Rasola A, Fassetta M, De Bacco F, D'Alessandro L, Gramaglia D, Di Renzo MF, et al. A positive feedback loop between hepatocyte growth factor receptor and  $\beta$ -catenin sustains colorectal cancer cell invasive growth. *Oncogene.* (2007) 26:1078–87. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1209859
- Yang L, Lin C, Liu Z-R. P68 RNA Helicase mediates PDGF-induced epithelial mesenchymal transition by displacing Axin from β-Catenin. *Cell.* (2006) 127:139–55. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.08.036
- Des Guetz G, Uzzan B, Nicolas P, Cucherat M, Morere J-F, Benamouzig R, et al. Microvessel density and VEGF expression are prognostic factors in colorectal cancer. Meta-analysis of the literature. *Br J Cancer*. (2006) 94:1823–32. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6603176
- Sales CBS, Buim MEC, de Souza RO, de Faro Valverde L, Mathias Machado MC, Reis MG, et al. Elevated VEGFA mRNA levels in oral squamous cell carcinomas and tumor margins: a preliminary study. J Oral Pathol Med. (2016) 45:481–5. doi: 10.1111/jop.12398
- 62. Birdsey GM, Shah AV, Dufton N, Reynolds LE, Osuna Almagro L, Yang Y, et al. The endothelial transcription factor ERG promotes vascular stability and growth through Wnt/β-catenin signaling. *Dev Cell.* (2015) 32:82–96. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2014.11.016
- Takahashi H, Sakakura K, Kudo T, Toyoda M, Kaira K, Oyama T, et al. Cancer-associated fibroblasts promote an immunosuppressive microenvironment through the induction and accumulation of protumoral macrophages. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:8633–47. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.14374
- 64. Kramer N, Schmöllerl J, Unger C, Nivarthi H, Rudisch A, Unterleuthner D, et al. Autocrine WNT2 signaling in fibroblasts promotes colorectal cancer progression. *Oncogene.* (2017) 36:5460–72. doi: 10.1038/onc.2017.144
- Castellone MD, Teramoto H, Williams BO, Druey KM, Gutkind JS. Prostaglandin E2 promotes colon cancer cell growth through a Gs-Axin- -catenin signaling axis. *Science*. (2005) 310:1504–10. doi: 10.1126/science.1116221
- 66. Smith K, Bui TD, Poulsom R, Kaklamanis L, Williams G, Harris AL. Up-regulation of macrophage wnt gene expression in adenoma-carcinoma progression of human colorectal cancer. Br J Cancer. (1999) 81:496–502. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6690721
- Ojalvo LS, Whittaker CA, Condeelis JS, Pollard JW. Gene expression analysis of macrophages that facilitate tumor invasion supports a role for Wnt-signaling in mediating their activity in primary mammary tumors. J Immunol. (2010) 184:702–12. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902360
- Rao S, Lobov IB, Vallance JE, Tsujikawa K, Shiojima I, Akunuru S, et al. Obligatory participation of macrophages in an angiopoietin 2-mediated cell death switch. *Development*. (2007) 134:4449–58. doi: 10.1242/dev.012187
- 69. Yang Y, Ye Y-C, Chen Y, Zhao J-L, Gao C-C, Han H, et al. Crosstalk between hepatic tumor cells and macrophages via Wnt/β-catenin signaling promotes M2-like macrophage polarization and reinforces tumor malignant behaviors. *Cell Death Dis.* (2018) 9:793. doi: 10.1038/s41419-018-0818-0
- Kaler P, Augenlicht L, Klampfer L. Macrophage-derived IL-1β stimulates Wnt signaling and growth of colon cancer cells: a crosstalk interrupted by vitamin D3. Oncogene. (2009) 28:3892–902. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.247
- Gregorieff A, Pinto D, Begthel H, Destrée O, Kielman M, Clevers H. Expression pattern of Wnt signaling components in the adult intestine. *Gastroenterology*. (2005) 129:626–38. doi: 10.1016/j.gastro.2005.06.007
- Ormestad M, Astorga J, Landgren H, Wang T, Johansson BR, Miura N, et al. Foxf1 and Foxf2 control murine gut development by limiting mesenchymal Wnt signaling and promoting extracellular matrix production. *Development*. (2006) 133:833–43. doi: 10.1242/dev.02252
- Austin TW, Solar GP, Ziegler FC, Liem L, Matthews W. A role for the Wnt gene family in hematopoiesis: expansion of multilineage progenitor cells. *Blood.* (1997) 89:3624–35. doi: 10.1182/blood.V89.10.3624. 3624\_3624\_3635

- Cheng X, Huber TL, Chen VC, Gadue P, Keller GM. Numb mediates the interaction between Wnt and Notch to modulate primitive erythropoietic specification from the hemangioblast. *Development*. (2008) 135:3447–58. doi: 10.1242/dev.025916
- Clements WK, Kim AD, Ong KG, Moore JC, Lawson ND, Traver D. A somitic Wnt16/Notch pathway specifies haematopoietic stem cells. *Nature*. (2011) 474:220–4. doi: 10.1038/nature10107
- Reya T, Duncan AW, Ailles L, Domen J, Scherer DC, Willert K, et al. A role for Wnt signalling in self-renewal of haematopoietic stem cells. *Nature*. (2003) 423:409–14. doi: 10.1038/nature01593
- Trowbridge JJ, Xenocostas A, Moon RT, Bhatia M. Glycogen synthase kinase-3 is an *in vivo* regulator of hematopoietic stem cell repopulation. *Nat Med.* (2006) 12:89–98. doi: 10.1038/nm1339
- Rothenberg EV, Moore JE, Yui MA. Launching the T-cell-lineage developmental programme. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2008) 8:9–21. doi: 10.1038/nri2232
- Osada M, Jardine L, Misir R, Andl T, Millar SE, Pezzano M. DKK1 Mediated inhibition of Wnt signaling in postnatal mice leads to loss of TEC progenitors and thymic degeneration. *PLoS ONE*. (2010) 5:e9062. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009062
- Reya T, O'Riordan M, Okamura R, Devaney E, Willert K, Nusse R, et al. Wnt signaling regulates B lymphocyte proliferation through a LEF-1 dependent mechanism. *Immunity*. (2000) 13:15–24. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)00004-2
- Osugui L, de Roo JJ, de Oliveira VC, Sodré ACP, Staal FJT, Popi AF. B-1 cells and B-1 cell precursors prompt different responses to Wnt signaling. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0199332. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0199332
- Marcus A, Gowen BG, Thompson TW, Iannello A, Ardolino M, Deng W, et al. Recognition of tumors by the innate immune system and natural killer cells. *Adv Immunol.* (2014) 122:91–128. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800267-4.00003-1
- Escors D. Tumour immunogenicity, antigen presentation, and immunological barriers in cancer immunotherapy. New J Sci. (2014) 2014:1–25. doi: 10.1155/2014/734515
- Marvel D, Gabrilovich DI. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells in the tumor microenvironment: expect the unexpected. *J Clin Invest.* (2015) 125:3356–64. doi: 10.1172/JCI80005
- Lanitis E, Dangaj D, Irving M, Coukos G. Mechanisms regulating T-cell infiltration and activity in solid tumors. *Ann Oncol.* (2017) 28:xii18-xii32. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx238
- Capietto AH, Kim S, Sanford DE, Linehan DC, Hikida M, Kumosaki T, et al. Down-regulation of PLCγ2-β-catenin pathway promotes activation and expansion of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in cancer. *J Exp Med.* (2013) 210:2257–71. doi: 10.1084/jem.20130281
- Olsen JJ, Pohl SÖ, Deshmukh A, Visweswaran M, Ward NC, Arfuso F, et al. The role of Wnt signalling in angiogenesis. *Clin Biochem Rev.* (2017) 38:131– 42.
- Valencia J, Martínez VG, Hidalgo L, Hernández-López C, Canseco NM, Vicente Á, et al. Wnt5a signaling increases IL-12 secretion by human dendritic cells and enhances IFN-γ production by CD4+ T cells. *Immunol Lett.* (2015) 162:188–99. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2014.08.015
- Steding CE, Wu ST, Zhang Y, Jeng MH, Elzey BD, Kao C. The role of interleukin-12 on modulating myeloid-derived suppressor cells, increasing overall survival and reducing metastasis. *Immunology*. (2011) 133:221–38. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2011.03429.x
- D'Amico L, Mahajan S, Capietto AH, Yang Z, Zamani A, Ricci B, et al. Dickkopf-related protein 1 (Dkk1) regulates the accumulation and function of myeloid derived suppressor cells in cancer. *J Exp Med.* (2016) 213:827–40. doi: 10.1084/jem.20150950
- Luke JJ, Bao R, Sweis RF, Spranger S, Gajewski TF. WNT/β-catenin pathway activation correlates with immune exclusion across human cancers. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2019) 25:3074–83. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-1942
- Valencia J, Hernández-López C, Martínez VG, Hidalgo L, Zapata AG, Vicente Á, et al. Wnt5a skews dendritic cell differentiation to an unconventional phenotype with tolerogenic features. *J Immunol.* (2011) 187:4129–39. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101243
- Oderup C, LaJevic M, Butcher EC. Canonical and noncanonical Wnt proteins program dendritic cell responses for tolerance. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:6126–34. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1203002

- Manicassamy S, Pulendran B. Dendritic cell control of tolerogenic responses. *Immunol Rev.* (2011) 241:206–27. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2011.01015.x
- Hong Y, Manoharan I, Suryawanshi A, Majumdar T, Angus-Hill ML, Koni PA, et al. β-catenin promotes regulatory T-cell responses in tumors by inducing vitamin A metabolism in dendritic cells. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:656– 65. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2377
- 96. Spranger S, Bao R, Gajewski TF. Melanoma-intrinsic β-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. *Nature*. (2015) 523:231–5. doi: 10.1038/nature14404
- Jiang J, Lan C, Li L, Yang D, Xia X, Liao Q, et al. A novel porcupine inhibitor blocks WNT pathways and attenuates cardiac hypertrophy. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis.* (2018) 1864:3459–67. doi: 10.1016/j.bbadis.2018.07.035
- Ho SY, Keller TH. The use of porcupine inhibitors to target Wnt-driven cancers. *Bioorg Med Chem Lett.* (2015) 25:5472–6. doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2015.10.032
- Waterman ML, Lyou Y, Habowski AN, Chen GT. Inhibition of nuclear Wnt signalling: challenges of an elusive target for cancer therapy. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2017) 174:4589. doi: 10.1111/bph.13963
- 100. Liu J, Pan S, Hsieh MH, Ng N, Sun F, Wang T, et al. Targeting Wnt-driven cancer through the inhibition of Porcupine by LGK974. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2013) 110:20224–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1314239110
- 101. You L, He B, Xu Z, Uematsu K, Mazieres J, Fujii N, et al. An anti-Wnt-2 monoclonal antibody induces apoptosis in malignant melanoma cells and inhibits tumor growth. *Cancer Res.* (2004) 64:5385–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-1227
- 102. Mita MM, Becerra C, Richards DA, Mita AC, Shagisultanova E, Osborne CRC, et al. Phase 1b study of WNT inhibitor vantictumab (VAN, human monoclonal antibody) with paclitaxel (P) in patients (pts) with 1st- to 3rd-line metastatic HER2-negative breast cancer (BC). J Clin Oncol. (2016) 34:2516. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.34.15\_suppl.2516
- 103. Davis SL, Cardin DB, Shahda S, Lenz H-J, Dotan E, O'Neil B, et al. A phase Ib dose escalation study of vantictumab (VAN) in combination with nab-paclitaxel (Nab-P) and gemcitabine (G) in patients with previously untreated stage IV pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol. (2019) 37:249. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2019.37.4\_suppl.249
- 104. Jimeno A, Gordon M, Chugh R, Messersmith W, Mendelson D, Dupont J, et al. A first-in-human phase I study of the anticancer stem cell agent Ipafricept (OMP-54F28), a decoy receptor for Wnt ligands, in patients with advanced solid tumors. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:7490–7. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-2157
- 105. Fischer MM, Cancilla B, Yeung VP, Cattaruzza F, Chartier C, Murriel CL, et al. WNT antagonists exhibit unique combinatorial antitumor activity with taxanes by potentiating mitotic cell death. *Sci Adv.* (2017) 3:e1700090. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1700090
- 106. Kim MK. Novel insight into the function of tankyrase. Oncol Lett. (2018) 16:6895–902. doi: 10.3892/ol.2018.9551
- 107. Haikarainen T, Krauss S, Lehtio L. Tankyrases: structure, function and therapeutic implications in cancer. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2014) 20:6472–88. doi: 10.2174/1381612820666140630101525
- 108. Yang K, Wang X, Zhang H, Wang Z, Nan G, Li Y, et al. The evolving roles of canonical WNT signaling in stem cells and tumorigenesis: implications in targeted cancer therapies. *Lab Investig.* (2016) 96:116–36. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2015.144
- 109. Lee H-J, Wang NX, Shi D-L, Zheng JJ. Sulindac inhibits canonical Wnt signaling by blocking the PDZ domain of the protein dishevelled. Angew Chemie Int Ed. (2009) 48:6448–52. doi: 10.1002/anie.200902981
- 110. Fang L, Zhu Q, Neuenschwander M, Specker E, Wulf-Goldenberg A, Weis WI, et al. A small-molecule antagonist of the -Catenin/TCF4 interaction blocks the self-renewal of cancer stem cells and suppresses tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res.* (2016) 76:891–901. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1519
- 111. Ko AH, Chiorean EG, Kwak EL, Lenz H-J, Nadler PI, Wood DL, et al. Final results of a phase Ib dose-escalation study of PRI-724, a CBP/beta-catenin modulator, plus gemcitabine (GEM) in patients with advanced pancreatic adenocarcinoma (APC) as second-line therapy after FOLFIRINOX or FOLFOX. *J Clin Oncol.* (2016) 34:e15721. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.34.15\_suppl.e15721

- 112. Canesin G, Evans-Axelsson S, Hellsten R, Krzyzanowska A, Prasad CP, Bjartell A, et al. Treatment with the WNT5A-mimicking peptide Foxy-5 effectively reduces the metastatic spread of WNT5A-low prostate cancer cells in an orthotopic mouse model. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0184418. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0184418
- 113. Säfholm A, Leandersson K, Dejmek J, Nielsen CK, Villoutreix BO, Andersson T. A formylated hexapeptide ligand mimics the ability of Wnt-5a to impair migration of human breast epithelial cells. *J Biol Chem.* (2006) 281:2740–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M508386200
- 114. Piha-Paul SA, Munster PN, Hollebecque A, Argilés G, Dajani O, Cheng JD, et al. Results of a phase 1 trial combining ridaforolimus and MK-0752 in patients with advanced solid tumours. *Eur J Cancer.* (2015) 51:1865–73. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2015.06.115
- 115. Schott AF, Landis MD, Dontu G, Griffith KA, Layman RM, Krop I, et al. Preclinical and clinical studies of gamma secretase inhibitors with docetaxel on human breast tumors. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2013) 19:1512–24. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-3326
- 116. Kummar S, O'Sullivan Coyne G, Do KT, Turkbey B, Meltzer PS, Polley E, et al. Clinical activity of the γ-secretase inhibitor PF-03084014 in adults with desmoid tumors (aggressive fibromatosis). J Clin Oncol. (2017) 35:1561–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.71.1994
- 117. Atwood SX, Whitson RJ, Oro AE. Advanced treatment for basal cell carcinomas. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med.* (2014) 4:a013581. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a013581
- 118. D'Amato C, Rosa R, Marciano R, D'Amato V, Formisano L, Nappi L, et al. Inhibition of Hedgehog signalling by NVP-LDE225 (Erismodegib) interferes with growth and invasion of human renal cell carcinoma cells. *Br J Cancer.* (2014) 111:1168–79. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2014.421
- 119. Lee Y-R, Chen M, Lee JD, Zhang J, Lin S-Y, Fu T-M, et al. Reactivation of PTEN tumor suppressor for cancer treatment through inhibition of a MYC-WWP1 inhibitory pathway. *Science.* (2019) 364:eaau0159. doi: 10.1126/science.aau0159
- 120. Persad A, Venkateswaran G, Hao L, Garcia ME, Yoon J, Sidhu J, et al. Active  $\beta$ -catenin is regulated by the PTEN/PI3 kinase pathway: a role for protein phosphatase PP2A. *Genes Cancer.* (2017) 7:368–82. doi: 10.18632/genesandcancer.128.
- 121. Taye N, Alam A, Ghorai S, Chatterji DG, Parulekar A, Mogare D, et al. SMAR1 inhibits Wnt/β-catenin signaling and prevents colorectal cancer progression. Oncotarget. (2018) 9:21322–36. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.25093
- 122. Singh K, Mogare D, Giridharagopalan RO, Gogiraju R, Pande G, Chattopadhyay S. p53 target gene SMAR1 is dysregulated in breast cancer: its role in cancer cell migration and invasion. *PLoS ONE.* (2007) 2:e660–75. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000660
- 123. Zhou A-D, Diao L-T, Xu H, Xiao Z-D, Li J-H, Zhou H, et al. β-Catenin/LEF1 transactivates the microRNA-371-373 cluster that modulates the Wnt/β-catenin-signaling pathway. Oncogene. (2012) 31:2968–78. doi: 10.1038/onc.2011.461
- 124. Mathai J, Mittal SPKK, Alam A, Ranade P, Mogare D, Patel S, et al. SMAR1 binds to T(C/G) repeat and inhibits tumor progression by regulating miR-371-373 cluster. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:33779. doi: 10.1038/srep33779
- 125. Paul D, Ghorai S, Dinesh US, Shetty P, Chattopadhyay S, Santra MK. Cdc20 directs proteasome-mediated degradation of the tumor suppressor SMAR1 in higher grades of cancer through the anaphase promoting complex. (2017) 8:e2882. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2017.270

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Patel, Alam, Pant and Chattopadhyay. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# WNT Signaling in Tumors: The Way to Evade Drugs and Immunity

Elena Martin-Orozco<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Ana Sanchez-Fernandez<sup>1</sup>, Irene Ortiz-Parra<sup>1</sup> and Maria Ayala-San Nicolas<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (B) and Immunology, School of Medicine, University of Murcia, Murcia, Spain, <sup>2</sup> Biomedical Research Institute of Murcia (IMIB), ARADyAL, Murcia, Spain

WNT/β-catenin signaling is involved in many physiological processes. Its implication in embryonic development, cell migration, and polarization has been shown. Nevertheless, alterations in this signaling have also been related with pathological events such as sustaining and proliferating the cancer stem cell (CSC) subset present in the tumor bulk. Related with this, WNT signaling has been associated with the maintenance, expansion, and epithelial-mesenchymal transition of stem cells, and furthermore with two distinctive features of this tumor population: therapeutic resistance (MDR, multidrug resistance) and immune escape. These mechanisms are developed and maintained by WNT activation through the transcriptional control of the genes involved in such processes. This review focuses on the description of the best known WNT pathways and the molecules involved in them. Special attention is given to the WNT cascade proteins deregulated in tumors, which have a decisive role in tumor survival. Some of these proteins function as extrusion pumps that, in the course of chemotherapy, expel the drugs from the cells; others help the tumoral cells hide from the immune effector mechanisms. Among the WNT targets involved in drug resistance, the drug extrusion pump MDR-1 (P-GP, ABCB1) and the cell adhesion molecules from the CD44 family are highlighted. The chemokine CCL4 and the immune checkpoint proteins CD47 and PD-L1 are included in the list of WNT target molecules with a role in immunity escape. This pathway should be a main target in cancer therapy as WNT signaling activation is essential for tumor progression and survival, even in the presence of the anti-tumoral immune response and/or antineoplastic drugs. The appropriate design and combination of anti-tumoral strategies, based on the modulation of WNT mediators and/or protein targets, could negatively affect the growth of tumoral cells, improving the efficacy of these types of therapies.

Keywords: WNT, β-catenin, ABCB1, PD-L1, CD47, multidrug resistance (MDR), immunity escape, cancer

# INTRODUCTION

Tumors consist of a heterogeneous mix of cellular populations composed of a small number of cancer stem cells, stromal cells, and tumor infiltrating immune cells, among others. Supporting this idea, several observations have indicated that each specific tumor contains subclones with a wide assortment of gene mutations and promoter hypermethylation in all the cells that constitute the tumor and its microenvironment (1-3).

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Nicola Giuliani, University of Parma, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Magdalena Joanna Lorenowicz, University Medical Center Utrecht, Netherlands Alessandro Poggi, San Martino Hospital (IRCCS), Italy

> \*Correspondence: Elena Martin-Orozco emartin@um.es

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 01 July 2019 Accepted: 20 November 2019 Published: 20 December 2019

#### Citation:

Martin-Orozco E, Sanchez-Fernandez A, Ortiz-Parra I and Ayala-San Nicolas M (2019) WNT Signaling in Tumors: The Way to Evade Drugs and Immunity. Front. Immunol. 10:2854. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02854

Currently, two proposals seek to explain tumor heterogeneity. The clonal evolution model proposes that arbitrary mutations in each tumor could generate clones with acquired advantages under adverse selection requirements such as oxygen and/or nutrients. Such clones will expand while the others, less adapted to these conditions, will disappear. Different requirements for tumor growth may be present in different areas of the tumor or at different times or, furthermore, clones with better resistance mechanisms could became advantageous after therapy application. With this proposal, all the cells within a tumor could regenerate the tumor in a different location. The cancer stem cell (CSC) model assumes that only the subset of cancer stem cells on each tumor possesses the capacity to initiate and maintain tumor growth (4). Thus, CSCs are responsible for tumor heterogeneity by generating a variety of cell types that can be reverted, since the terminally differentiated cells can go back and gain CSCs properties under specific conditions. This concept of cellular plasticity unifies the two current models proposed (5-10).

Normal stem or differentiated cells could originate CSCs through a process of consecutive mutations that lead to the acquisition of characteristic cancer stem cell properties of selfrenewal, pluripotency, tumor reconstitution capacity, chemoresistance, low immunogenicity, and/or immune escape capacity. Drug resistance could be mediated by several mechanisms such as the acquisition of quiescence, improved DNA repair, drug efflux capacity, decreased apoptosis, and interaction with the microenvironment (11). Low immunogenicity and/or immunity evasion could be acquired by different strategies such as the production of immunosuppressive molecules; the recruitment of regulatory cells of the immune system; the expression of inhibitory molecules of the anti-tumoral immune response; the loss of tumor antigen expression, the downregulation of major histocompatibility complex I and II (MHC-I and MHC-II) expression, and/or the inhibition of co-stimulatory molecules on antigen presenting cells. These characteristics, mean that the CSCs are the main players in tumor initiation, progression, invasion, metastasis, drug-resistance, and recurrence (11).

The oncogenic properties of CSCs require a number of developmental pathways previously associated to the regulation of normal stem cells (12). Among them, the WNT pathway is deregulated in epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) and CSCs (13). Mutations in WNT signaling components, such as APC, AXIN,  $\beta$ -catenin, and WNT ligands were first observed in colorectal cancers, but have also been reported in other solid tumors (14–21) and hematological malignancies, including leukemia and Multiple Myeloma (MM) (22–24).

There are different WNT pathways interconnected with each other which have been classified as canonical ( $\beta$ -catenin-dependent) and non-canonical signaling pathways. In general, it is assumed that the canonical WNT cascade is responsible for self-renewal, proliferation, or differentiation of progenitor cells, and that the non-canonical cascade participates in the maintenance of stem cells, cell movement, or inhibition of the canonical pathway (25).

# WNT SIGNALING COMPONENTS AND PATHWAYS

# WNT Ligands, Receptors, and Co-receptors

The WNT ligands family is constituted by 19 secreted glycoproteins that can participate in one or several WNT signaling pathways in a manner that can be autocrine or paracrine. They exhibit specific expression patterns and functions and are highly conserved from invertebrates to mammals (26, 27). All WNT ligands become glycosylated in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER); and also acylated by the O-acetyltransferase Porcupine (PRCN) (28–31). Next, lipid-modified WNT ligands bind to the transmembrane protein Evenness interrupted WNTless (Evi/WIs) and are transported to the plasma membrane *via* the Golgi apparatus with the assistance of the p24 proteins (32–34). Finally, the transportation of WNT ligands on the extracellular space occurs in membrane enclosed vesicles such as exosomes (28, 31, 35).

The family of Frizzled (FZD) receptors interacts with WNT ligands and with the co-receptor's low-density lipoprotein receptor-related proteins 5,6 (LRP5/6). While the complex consisting of WNT, FZD, and LRP proteins activates the canonical WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling cascade, the complex formed by FZD and/or ROR1/ROR2/RYK (Receptor tyrosine kinase-like orphan receptor) receptors activates non-canonical WNT signaling cascades (WNT/PCP or planar cell polarity and the WNT/Ca2+ signaling cascades). The complex WNT-FZD-LRP also activates the WNT/STOP (stabilization of proteins) route which is a subtype of the non-canonical WNT signaling pathway which decelerates protein degradation when cells prepare to divide during mitosis (36–38).

# WNT Canonical Pathway: On and Off

The central point of this pathway is the activation of the protein  $\beta$ -catenin, which can be found in the cell in different forms and locations. Thus, at the cytoplasmic membrane,  $\beta$ -catenin remains associated with E-cadherin and, through  $\alpha$ -catenin, connects actin filaments to form the cytoskeleton (**Figure 1A**, left panel); in the cytoplasm,  $\beta$ -catenin levels are strictly controlled; and in the nucleus this protein regulates transcriptional activation and chromatin remodeling.

In the absence of ligands, the WNT pathway is inactive (**Figure 1A**, left panel) and  $\beta$ -catenin is continuously synthesized, ubiquitinated, and degraded in the cytosol by a destruction complex constituted by the two scaffold proteins, adenomatous polyposis coli (APC) and axis inhibition protein 1 (AXIN1), Ser/Thr kinases such as casein kinase 1 (CK1 $\alpha$ ,  $\epsilon$  y  $\delta$ ) and glycogen synthase kinase 3 $\beta$  (GSK3 $\beta$ ), and two transcriptional regulators (YAP/TAZ; Yes-associated protein/transcriptional co-activator with a PDZ-binding domain) of the Hippo pathway (37–39). Thus,  $\beta$ -catenin will not be available for nuclear transport and transcriptional regulation.

On the contrary, when WNT binds to the FZD receptor, the canonical WNT pathway becomes active (**Figure 1A**, right panel)



FIGURE 1 | A schematic illustration representing different WNT signaling pathways. (A) Canonical WNT signaling. Left panel shows inactive pathway. In the absence of WNT ligands, β-catenin is phosphorylated by the destruction complex, constituted by the scaffolding proteins APC and AXIN and the kinases GSK3β and CK1α. Then, β-catenin is ubiquitinated and targeted for proteasomal degradation by the complex containing β-TrCP, FBXW7, NEDDL4, and WTX proteins. Thus, β-catenin degradation prevents its presence in the nucleus where a complex formed by TCF/LEF and TLE/Groucho binds HDACs to inhibit transcription of target genes. Right panel shows canonical WNT signaling active. The binding of WNT ligands to FZD receptors and LRP co-receptors activates WNT signaling. LRP receptors are phosphorylated by CK1a and GSK3B. Then, DVL proteins polymerize and are activated at the plasma membrane inhibiting the destruction complex. This results in stabilization and accumulation of β-catenin in the cytosol and its subsequent translocation into the nucleus where it displaces TLE/Groucho repressors forming an active complex with TCF/LEF proteins that bind co-activators such as CBP/p300, BRG1, BCL9, and PYGO. An alternative way of  $\beta$ -catenin signaling includes the disruption of epithelial E-cadherin interactions, which breaks the binding of β-catenin to the cytoplasmic domain of cadherin and leads to the accumulation of β-catenin first in the cytosol, and later in the nucleus. (B) Schematic illustration representing the main non-canonical WNT pathways. Left panel shows the WNT/PCP pathway. WNT ligands bind to the FZD receptor and the co-receptors ROR 1/2 (or RYK). Then, DVL is recruited and activated followed by VANGL activation. Then DVL binds to the small GTPase RHO A with the collaboration of the cytoplasmic protein DAAM1. The small GTPases RAC1 and RHO activate ROCK and JNK. This leads to rearrangements of the cytoskeleton and/or transcriptional responses via for example, ATF2 and/or NFAT. Right panel shows the WNT/Ca2+ pathway. The signaling is initiated when WNT ligands bind to the FZD receptor and the co-receptor ROR 1/2 (or RYK). Then, DVL is recruited and activated and binds to the small GTPase which activates phospholipase C leading to intracellular calcium fluxes and downstream calcium dependent cytoskeletal and/or transcriptional responses. APC, adenomatous polyposis coli; BCL9, B-cell CLL/lymphoma 9 protein; β-TrCP, β-Transducin repeat-containing protein; BRG1, Brahma related gene 1; CAMKII, calmodulin-dependent protein kinase II; CBP, CREB-binding protein; CDC42, cell division control protein 42; CELSR, cadherin EGF LAG seven-pass G-type receptor; CK1α,ε,δ, casein kinase 1α,ε,δ; DAAM1, DVL associated activator of morphogenesis; DAG, diacylglycerol; DVL, disheveled; FBXW7, F box/WD repeat-containing protein 7; FZD, Frizzled; GSK3β, glycogen synthase kinase 3β; IP3, inositol 1,4,5 triphosphate; JNK, JUN kinase; LGR5, Leucine-rich repeat-containing G-protein-coupled receptor 5; LRP5/6, low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5/6; NEDD4L, neural precursor cell expressed, developmentally downregulated 4-like; NFAT, nuclear factor of activated T cells; NF-kB, nuclear factor kappa B; PK, Prickle; PKC, protein kinase C; PLC, Phospholipase C; p300, E1A Binding Protein p300; RAC, Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin substrate; RHOA, Ras homolog gene family member A; ROCK, Rho kinase; ROR1/2, bind tyrosine kinase-like orphan receptor 1 or 2; RYK, receptor-like tyrosine kinase; TBP, TATA-binding protein; PRCN, Porcupine; PYGO, Pygopus; RNF43, Ring finger protein 43; RSPO, R-spondin; TCF/LEF, T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor; TLE, Transducin-Like Enhancer of Split proteins; VANGL, Van Gogh-like; WTX, Wilms tumor suppressor protein complex; YAP/TAZ, Yes-associated protein/Transcriptional co-activator with a PDZ-binding domain; ZNRF3, Zinc and Ring Finger 3. Created with BioRender.com.

and the recruitment of co-receptors LRP5/6 changes AXIN conformation, impairing its interaction with  $\beta$ -catenin and preventing the phosphorylation of this protein (40, 41). Alternatively, Li et al. (42) propose a model in which the destruction complex can bind and phosphorylate  $\beta$ -catenin, but the absence of  $\beta$ -TrCP within the complex prevents ubiquitination and degradation of the protein (38, 43), so that  $\beta$ -catenin accumulates in the cytosol and travels to the nucleus, where it induces the transcription of specific genes (**Figure 1A**, right panel) (40, 43–46) (listed in http://www.stanford.edu/Brnusse/WNTwindow.html).

# Non-canonical or Alternative WNT Signaling Pathways

Non-canonical WNT pathways do not require  $\beta$ -catenin stabilization and the signal initiates through the binding of WNT to the FZD receptor without LRP co-receptor participation. Although several non-canonical WNT pathways have been identified, the best known are the WNT/PCP and the WNT/Ca2+ pathways (**Figure 1B**).

WNT/PCP signaling is implicated in the establishment of cell polarity and cell migration (31). In this pathway (**Figure 1B**, left panel), the binding of the WNT ligand initiates a cascade in which

ROR/RYK helps to transmit the signal to VANGL2 and induces its phosphorylation (47–50). Additionally, RHOA and RAC activate JUN kinase (JNK), which can induce gene transcription through the activation of AP1 (jun-ATF-2) and the nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT) (**Figure 1B**, left panel). A crosstalk exists between WNT/PCP and the canonical WNT pathway as it has been shown that VANG-1/VANGL negatively regulates the WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling by a mechanism dependent on DVL (51).

The WNT/Ca2+ signaling pathway (**Figure 1B**, right panel) is activated by the binding of the WNT ligands to the FZD family of proteins, which in turn activates phospholipase C (PLC). The secondary messengers induce the release of intracellular calcium and then calcium dependent kinases such as calpain-1 and calcineurin (Cn) are activated. These kinases activate the expression of transcription factors such as NFAT and nuclear factor kappa B (NF $\kappa$ B). This pathway is fundamental in the regulation of cell adhesion, cell migration, and embryonic development (25).

# Modulators of WNT Signaling: RNF43/ZNRF3, RSPO, YAP/TAZ, and VANGL

RNF43 (Ring finger protein 43) and its homolog ZNRF3 (Zinc and Ring Finger 3) promote poly-ubiquitination of lysines in the cytoplasmic sequence of FZDs proteins (52, 53) inducing endocytosis and the destruction of these receptors at the lysosome (**Figure 1A**) (28).

Another WNT regulator is Leucine-rich repeat-containing Gprotein-coupled receptor 5 (LGR5), a protein that binds to the R-spondin ligand family members (RSPO) and maintains WNT signaling through the neutralization of the RNF43/ZNF3 ligases (**Figure 1A**) (36, 37, 54, 55). YAP/TAZ are also WNT regulators and compete with LRP5/6 for the same binding domain of AXIN. Thus, the association of AXIN to YAP/TAZ is incompatible with its association to LRP5/6 (**Figure 1A**, right panel) (56). Finally, Van Gogh-like (VANGL) and Prickle (PK) are two crucial components of the planar cell polarity pathway and antagonists to the canonical WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway (**Figure 1B**, left panel). Therefore, the absence of VANGL1/2 decreases the response threshold to WNT3a, without initiating activation of canonical WNT signaling however (51).

# WNT SIGNALING ACTIVATION IN HEALTHY IMMUNE RESPONSE AND IN TUMOR CELL SURVIVAL

WNT signaling should be considered a multifactorial pathway which regulates the transcription of genes that participate in most of the mechanisms used by healthy cells to differentiate and survive. Supporting this, WNT signaling plays a main role in cellular homeostasis, regulating immune cell development and function. Thus, the non-canonical WNT pathway inhibits the differentiation of quiescent HSCs by controlling  $\beta$ -catenin activation (57, 58). Conversely, canonical WNT signaling promotes T cell lymphopoiesis (5, 59–61). The role of WNT

signaling in immunity also includes the regulation of peripheral T cell activation and differentiation. As evidence of this, TCF activity has been shown to play crucial roles in the differentiation of memory CD8+ T cells as well as in inducing specific TH subset responses (59, 61). In this sense, the non-canonical WNT signaling by WNT5A induces the secretion of IL-12, by dendritic cells favoring TH1 responses (59, 61-63). However, activation of the canonical pathway promotes TH2 polarization. Specifically, TCF1 inhibits differentiation of naive CD4+ T cells into TH1 and TH17 cells and promotes differentiation into the TH2 and TFH (T follicular helper cells) subsets. Regulatory T (Tr) cell survival is also promoted by the canonical WNT pathway, whilst the effector function and development of TH17 cells are inhibited. Nevertheless, TCF1 also limits the suppressive activity exerted by regulatory T cells in the effector T cell population. Finally, TCF1 is essential for the development of innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) natural killer (NK) cells and DC differentiation (Figure 2) (59, 61, 64, 65).

Since WNT signaling is crucial to immune homeostasis, alterations of this pathway in pathologies such as cancer can also be associated with the profound dysregulation of protective antitumoral immune responses [reviewed in (45, 66, 67)]. In fact, WNT signaling is associated with the onset of many types of solid and liquid tumors. As an example, mutations involved in the WNT signaling pathway were found in more than 90% of carcinomas of the colon and rectum [reviewed in (68)]. Related to that, it is broadly accepted that the first step in the progression to CRC frequently consists of APC gene mutations associated with the activation of the canonical WNT pathway. Supporting this, adenoma regression was observed in a murine model when APC function was recovered. Additionally, activating mutations in  $\beta$ -catenin, mediated or not by APC mutations, were observed in 80% of cases of CRC (69). RNF43 mutations causing WNT signaling activation were found in over 18% of colorectal and endometrial cancers (70, 71) which were extremely dependent on the WNT pathway. Since RNF43 mutations make the PDAC cell lines sensitive to treatment with Porcupine inhibitors, the growth of these tumors also relies on WNT ligand secretion. Conversely, induction of DKK1, a WNT antagonist, or treatment with an FZD-specific antibody delays PDAC development (72). Additionally, RSPO translocations are described in 4-18% of patients with gastric, ovarian, and endometrial cancer and about 9% of colorectal cancers (70). Recently, ROR1 and ROR2 co-receptor upregulation was associated to the two different melanoma states: proliferative and invasive. These phenotypes are in part the result of the balance between canonical and non-canonical WNT activation. The treatment of proliferative melanoma cells, expressing ROR1, with WNT5a induced ROR1 degradation, increased ROR2 expression and high invasiveness in vivo. (65). WNT signaling activation is also observed in  $\sim$ 50% of patients with breast cancer and is associated with a decrease in overall survival. Although only a small percentage of tumors carry mutations of the main WNT pathway regulators, canonical WNT ligands and receptors are frequently overexpressed, whereas antagonists are downregulated. Among all the WNT regulators, high LGR4 expression was correlated with low patient survival. In Lgr4-deficient mouse models,



researchers found a significant delay in mammary tumor development, proliferation, and the occurrence of metastasis. Further molecular analysis demonstrated that LGR4 knockdown inhibited WNT/β-catenin signaling, and the expression of epithelial-mesenchymal transition (EMT) mediators. Finally, there was a 90% decline in the number of CSCs in human breast-cancer cells and in the mouse mammary tumor virus (MMTV)-WNT1 transgenic mouse model. Thus, WNT signaling is implicated in the maintenance of mammary stem cells and breast-cancer stem cells (73-76). Supporting these results, in non-small cell lung cancer it has been shown that maintaining the lung cancer stem cell population requires the degradation of the WNT negative regulators, increasing β-catenin mediated WNT activity (77). Furthermore, WNT signaling plays a critical role in the maintenance and propagation of ovarian cancer stem cells (78); it is critical in desmoid tumor formation (79), and in head and neck squamous carcinomas (HNSCC), where researchers have shown CSC elimination after WNT/β-catenin signaling was downregulated.

WNT signaling deregulation also plays an important role in the development of hematological tumors. WNT ligands

and receptors are expressed in the hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) and are present in the bone marrow (59). Thus, the WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway is highly activated in AML (80–82), CML (83, 84), Multiple myeloma (MM), and other types of leukemia. In fact, in mouse models of AML, the WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway is required for leukemia stem cells (LSCs) self-renewal (85). Similarly, a high expression of  $\beta$ -catenin and WNT pathway associated genes has been observed in LSCs in CML (86). Deregulation of the WNT pathway is also associated with abnormal expression of LGR4 in cells isolated from MM patients (87, 88).

WNT signaling has been involved not only in tumor development but also in the capacity of tumoral cells to escape different types of cellular stresses, such as drug treatments and the host immune response. In this sense, many attempts have been made to find the connection between drug resistance and immune evasion (89), and common pathways controlling both processes have been explored. Within the WNT signaling pathways, many molecules have been described as being the main drivers of the transcriptional activation of the genes involved in the two mechanisms (90–94).

# WNT Signaling in Tumors Drug Resistance

Cancer stem cells develop several resistance mechanisms, which protect the cells from drug damage and make them resistant to chemotherapeutic drugs (11, 12). In parallel with the models explaining tumor heterogeneity, two different proposals account for the existence of cancer drug resistance. According to the clonal evolution model, a population of tumor cells can acquire drug resistance by sequential genetic modifications. After chemotherapy, only the drug-resistant cells within the tumor survive and proliferate, regenerating the tumor bulk made up of the drug-resistant cells progeny. Thus, all tumoral cells became drug resistant. By contrast, the CSC model postulates that after drug exposure, only CSCs (which harbor intrinsic resistance mechanisms) survive. These stem cells then divide and regenerate the tumor mass that will be constituted by stem and differentiated cells, reestablishing the tumoral heterogeneity. The acquisition of drug resistance seems to have features from both models.

Generally, cancer drug resistance involves the participation of a variety of cellular mechanisms, including: drug target mutations; oncogene/onco-suppressor deregulations; activation of pathways blocking the drug action; increased DNA damage repair; overexpression of drug efflux pumps (ABC-transporters); and the induction of cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance, originating due to the crosstalk between tumor and stromal cells. Some of these resistance mechanisms, specifically the over-expression of ABCB1 and CD44 molecules among others, develop because of WNT signaling pathway deregulation in the cancer stem cell subset (**Table 1**) (104).

# WNT Signaling and Extrusion of Chemotherapeutic Drugs: ABCB1

The superfamily of ABC transporters mediates the efflux or uptake of specific substrates through cellular membranes (plasma membrane, endoplasmic reticulum, Golgi apparatus, peroxisomes, and mitochondria). The number and nature of the substrates is varied and includes physiological and xenobiotic molecules. These transporters are highly conserved and present in prokaryotes and eukaryotes. The ABC transporters are characterized by two transmembrane (TMs) and two nucleotidebinding domains (NBs) or ATP binding cassettes. Human ABC transporters include 48 functional genes classified into seven subfamilies (from A to G) based on different characteristics: similarity in gene structure, order, and sequence homology in the NB and TM domains.

ABCB1 (ATP-binding cassette B1, also known as MDR-1 or P-GP) was the first cloned human ABC transporter. Physiologically, this protein, and other members of the family, transports hydrophobic, and hydrophilic compounds across the placenta, intestine, and other locations and contribute to the blood-brain barrier. Furthermore, this and other transporters actively efflux xenobiotics to protect the cells from cytotoxic agents (11). This includes the capacity to expel a variety of drugs outside the cancer cells, thus inducing chemoresistance in numerous solid tumors and hematological malignancies (13, 109, 110). In that way, ABCB1 contributes to the acquisition of a multidrug resistant (MDR) phenotype since it can bind and extrude a huge repertoire of drugs, thus leading to treatment failure and tumor relapse. Other roles attributed to these proteins include the transport of ABC proteins to intracellular (e.g., cytoplasmic vesicles) or extracellular (e.g., exosomes) compartments to improve drug sequestration (111, 112); tumor cell proliferation, invasion, and deregulation of the pathways involved in apoptosis or complement-mediated cytotoxicity (109, 110, 113–116).

Stem cells, including CSC, exhibit high expression levels of the two main MDR genes, ABCB1 and ABCG2 (ATP-binding cassette G2) (11). In addition, since the promoter of the ABCB1 gene in humans contains several TCF4/LEF binding motifs, this protein is a target gene of the  $\beta$ -catenin/TCF4 transcriptional regulators. In fact, activation of  $\beta$ -catenin augments ABCB1 expression, which confirms the direct connection between the WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway and chemoresistance. In fact, several studies have demonstrated the existence of this connection in tumor cells which have, in this way, acquired a multidrug resistant phenotype (**Figure 3**) (117, 118).

Frizzled receptors and ABCB1-mediated multidrug resistance FZD1 was reported to upregulate ABCB1 expression through WNT/β-catenin signaling in solid tumors and hematological malignancies. Both FZD1 and ABCB1 locate in the same region within the 7q21 chromosome. Knockdown of FZD1 induces a significant decrease of ABCB1 protein expression in a human myelogenous leukemia cell line and the recovery of chemosensitivity to antineoplastic drugs by those cells. Either way, the knockdown of ABCB1 using antisense oligonucleotides restored drug sensitivity in the previously resistant cell line (95). Downregulation of FZD1 also resulted in β-catenin degradation and therefore the absence of this protein in the nucleus. Moreover, it has been shown that the knockdown of FZD1 triggers also a decrease in the proliferative capacity of MDR leukemic cells through the WNT/β-catenin cascade. In fact, in cells from patients with acute myeloid leukemia (AML), elevated FZD1 expression at diagnosis was associated with more problems in achieving remission, and a tendency to recurrence. Thus, in patients with relapse, increased FZD1, rather than ABCB1 expression, induced high proliferation and chemoresistance in leukemic cells (96).

WNT/β-catenin signaling deregulation, specifically FZD1 overexpression, has also been observed in neuroblastoma multidrug resistant cell lines. After silencing FZD1 in MDR cells there was inhibition of β-catenin translocation to the nucleus. Consequently, ABCB1 expression and efflux activity were reduced, causing the reversal of the MDR phenotype in those cancer cells (97, 98). Another study explored the role of miR-27a in the modulation of ABCB1-mediated MDR in hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) using the sensitive cell line BEL-7402 and its resistant counterpart, BEL-7402/5-fluorouracil. The increase in miR-27a levels was associated with enhanced sensitivity of these cells to 5-fluorouracil (5-FU), higher 5-FUinduced apoptosis and downregulation of MDR1/P-glycoprotein expression. That study showed that miR-27a reverses the ABCB1mediated MDR by downregulation of FZD7 and the inhibition of the WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway (99).

Furthermore, methylation of SFRPs (secreted frizzlerelated protein), which inhibits WNT/β-catenin signaling,

#### TABLE 1 | Role of WNT components in drug resistance.

WNT component	Role in drug resistance	Type of cancer	References
ZD1 increase	Increased ABCB1 expression	Solid and hematological tumors Human myelogenous leukemia	(95, 96)
ZD1 increase	Increased ABCB1 expression and efflux activity	Neuroblastoma	(97, 98)
ZD7 increase	Increased ABCB1 expression	Hepatocellular carcinoma	(99)
SFRPs methylation	Increased ABCB1 expression	Several types of leukemia Ovarian cancer Cervical cancer Breast cancer	(100)
_GR5 increase	Increased ABCB1 expression	Colorectal cancer	(101)
YAP/TAZ increase	Increased drug resistance	Breast cancer Melanoma	(102, 103)
PYGO2 overexpression	Increased ABCB1 expression	Breast cancer	(104)
APC mutations	Increased CD44v6 expression	Colorectal cancer	(105)
CK1a and GSK3a/b inactivation	Increased drug resistance	Multiple myeloma	(106, 107)
Jndefined WNT mediators	Increased CD44 expression	Multiple myeloma	(108)



SNA11, HIF-1, and other transcription factors, promotes the transcription of genes involved in mechanisms supporting tumor cells survival such as deregulation of molecules involved in drug resistance. (B) ABCB-1 and (C) CD44. Overexpression of ABCB1 and/or CD44 favor the extrusion of chemotherapeutic drugs out of the cell. ABCB1, ATP-binding cassette B1; ERM, Ezrin, Radixin, Moesin; HA, Hyaluronan; HIF-1, Hypoxia inducible factor 1; LRP5/6, Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5/6; NF-kB, nuclear factor kappa B; MYC, Myelocytomatosis oncogene cellular homolog; SNAIL, Zinc finger protein SNAI1; TCF/LEF, T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor. Created with BioRender.com.

was reported in several types of leukemia, and associated with resistance to cisplatin in ovarian cancer and with a poor prognosis in cervical and breast cancers. In fact, overexpression of  $\beta$ -catenin was observed in leukemia cells from patients with methylated *SFRP5*, and a demethylation compound recovered SFRP5 protein expression and reduced ABCB1 protein levels. Thus, altered *SFRP5* gene methylation may participate in the development and/or progression of different types of cancers through WNT signaling pathway activation (100).

#### LGR5 and ABCB1-mediated drug resistance

*LGR5* is another target gene of the WNT pathway as well as a marker of colorectal carcinoma CSCs. Several studies have associated higher LGR5 levels with a poor response of colorectal cancer patients to 5-fluoracil-based treatment. In addition, LGR5 positively modulates the ABCB1 expression in CRC cells. That study, as well as others, demonstrated that in cancer cells, LGR5 promotes stem cell properties such as chemoresistance through the positive regulation of the extrusion pump ABCB1 (101).

#### YAP/TAZ and ABCB1-mediated drug resistance

Like other WNT regulators, the activation of YAP/TAZ supports the survival of CSCs treated with conventional chemotherapy, protecting cancer cells against DNA damage. Thus, YAP/TAZ activation protects breast CSCs from paclitaxel, doxorubicin, cisplatin, and radiations and favors resistance to therapies targeting certain molecules in tumor cells with specific oncogenic alterations. Lin et al. reported that YAP confers resistance to inhibitors of RAF and MEK signaling pathways in tumoral cell lines containing activating mutations in *BRAF*, *KRAS* or *NRAS* genes (102). Conversely, the decrease of YAP enhanced RAF and MEK inhibitor efficacy in mutant cells resistant to monotherapy with those inhibitors. Furthermore, the YAP mechano-transduction pathway is involved in resistance in melanoma and breast cancer (103).

#### Pygopus and ABCB1-mediated drug resistance

PYGO2 is overexpressed in several types of cancer (breast, ovarian, lung, glioma, and esophageal squamous cell carcinoma), and plays a decisive role in the carcinogenesis of these tumors. In fact, PYGO2 was the most upregulated gene in chemo-resistant breast cancer cells. Experimental results indicated that PYGO2 upregulated ABCB1 expression in resistant cells through the WNT/β-catenin cascade. As expected, PYGO2 inhibition restored drug sensitivity in MDR cells by decreasing ABCB1 expression, reducing the breast cancer stem cell subset following chemotherapy. Furthermore, RNA samples from tumors extracted by surgery from 64 paired patients significantly increased PYGO2 and/or ABCB1 expression after chemotherapy, thus underlining a crucial role for the WNT/β-catenin pathway mediated by PYGO2 in the clinical chemoresistance of breast cancer (104).

#### WNT and Activation of Cell Adhesion-Mediated Drug Resistance (CAM-DR): CD44

The constant interaction between the tumor and the surrounding microenvironment influences the cellular fate of CSCs. The protein CD44 is especially important in this communication process since it constitutes a platform for signaling that incorporates cellular microenvironmental information. This molecule integrates signals from growth factors, cytokines and others, and sends them to cytoskeletal proteins associated to the membrane or the nucleus where gene expression is regulated. CD44 upregulates the expression of cell cycle proteins inhibitors, anti-apoptotic proteins, and ABC transporters, and others, thus inducing a form of drug resistance known as cell adhesion-mediated drug resistance (CAM-DR).

The CD44 family is constituted by single-pass, glycosylated class-I transmembrane proteins of 85–90 kDa. The extracellular N-terminal portion of CD44 proteins binds to the glycosaminoglycan hyaluronan (HA), among other ligands, while the C-terminal cytoplasmic tail binds the cytoskeletal linker proteins ezrin, radixin, moesin (ERM), and ankyrin (119), and F-actin (120–122).

The different members of the CD44 family are originated by the alternative splicing of 10 exons which codified for the extracellular domain of the protein. This domain can be completely deleted, generating CD44s or giving rise to various combinations encoding CD44 variant members (CD44v). Although CD44 is found in many normal cell types, it is used as a surface marker for CSCs from several types of tumors (11).

CD44 is a positive regulator of the WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway through the control of LRP5/6 phosphorylation and its location at the plasma membrane (105). Therefore, the ability of CD44 to bind to the cytoskeleton might provide a platform necessary for the interaction between LRP5/6 and kinases such as GSK3 $\beta$  and CK1. Furthermore, the shuttle of LRP5/6-charged vesicles from the Golgi to the membrane might use the F-actin tracks anchored to the plasma membrane through the complex CD44-ERM (123).

Several articles have been published supporting a role for CD44 in CAM-DR. Thus, overexpression of CD44v6 associates with colorectal cancer in advanced stages and is characterized by mutations in the WNT pathway (e.g., APC mutations) (105). Additionally, it was reported that the degree of cell adhesion in MM showed a negative correlation with the sensitivity of these cells to doxorubicin (106). Furthermore, long term exposure of human multiple myeloma cell lines (HMCLs) to lenalidomide increased the level of resistance to this molecule (107) and the expression and activity of  $\beta$ -catenin with enhanced transcription of the WNT target genes cyclin-D1 and myelocytomatosis oncogene cellular homolog (MYC). These effects were the consequence of CK1a suppression, and GSK $3\alpha/\beta$  inactivation, since an increase in the phosphorylation of the inhibitory residues of this protein was observed. In another study in MM, CD44 was identified as the main effector molecule of lenalidomide resistance mediated by the WNT cascade. Overexpression of this protein was observed in lenalidomideresistant human multiple myeloma cell lines (HMCLs), and in correlation with that, increased adhesion to bone marrow (BM) stromal cells was detected, indicative of CAM-DR. Inhibition of CD44 reduced the adhesion of MM cells and reversed the resistance to lenalidomide (108).

CD44 associates with ABC pumps (124, 125) such as the ABCB1 protein and regulates its gene expression (**Figure 3**). The process requires the activation of CD44 by HA binding, which promotes PI3K activation and stimulates HA production and ABCB1 expression (126). Alternatively, the binding of HA to CD44 induces the expression and activation of the transcription factor p300 which, together with  $\beta$ -catenin and NF $\kappa$ B-p65, sustains *ABCB1* transcription (127). Engagement of CD44 and

activation of specific transcription factors in EMT can also induce apoptosis resistance. Thus, it was demonstrated that the CD44– HA interaction to PKCε induced transport of Nanog to the nucleus, leading to miR-21 synthesis and upregulation of ABCB1 and apoptosis inhibitors (128, 129).

The association between ABCB1/P-GP and CD44 has also been demonstrated by experiments of co-immunoprecipitation and co-localization within the plasma membrane, and further confirmed in a yeast two-hybrid system. In another study, the examination of primary and metastatic tumor samples from osteosarcoma patients showed that a high expression of CD44 was associated with osteosarcoma metastasis and recurrence and CD44 was considered as a solid predictor for chemotherapy response and overall survival in osteosarcoma patients. The results in osteosarcoma cell lines with constitutive knockout of CD44 gene by CRISPR/Cas9 system verified that CD44 mediates migration, invasion, proliferation and drug resistance to doxorubicin in osteosarcoma cells. In another study, the downregulation of CD44 protein by siRNA in cancer cells from patients with ovarian carcinoma confirmed that the mRNA levels of CD44 and ABCB1 correlate positively. In summary, numerous studies support the hypothesis that CD44 may contribute to tumor drug resistance by regulating ABCB1 expression (130).

# WNT Signaling in Immune Escape by Tumors

The host immune system constitutes a wall against tumor formation through the innate and the adaptive immune response. The primary role of immune effectors such as macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), and T cells is to discriminate healthy cells from pathogens or tumoral cells through receptors on their cell surface. These molecules integrate all the signals received from microorganisms and/or cells and switch the balance to activation or inhibition of the immune response. Nevertheless, cancer cells can evade detection by the immune cells through the expression of surface molecules that mimic the signals released by healthy cells. Thus, tumoral cells prevent the arrival of immune effectors to the tumor area or, in the event that effector cells infiltrate the tumor, induce their inactivation and death. These molecules expressed by healthy or tumoral cells to keep the immune system under control and their receptors are collectively called checkpoint proteins. These "immune checkpoints" normally function to control excessive immune activation but are also used by tumors to evade the immune system. Because of this, tumors can be classified based on the existence or lack of a T-cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment, and this phenotype correlates with the response to an immune-checkpoint blockade. An inverse correlation has been observed between WNT/βcatenin pathway activation and T-cell infiltration across most human cancers (131, 132). The connection between immune exclusion and the WNT/β-catenin pathway was identified for the first time in metastatic melanoma. When comparing samples categorized as either T cell-inflamed or non-T cell-inflamed it was observed that almost half of the non-T cell-inflamed tumor subset showed increased activation of the WNT/βcatenin signaling pathway. Mechanistic studies using genetically

engineered mouse models confirmed that melanomas with increased WNT/β-catenin activation lacked tumor-infiltrating T cells, mimicking the non-inflamed phenotype observed in patients with melanoma. This effect is due to failed recruitment of specific dendritic cells into tumors, leading to impaired recruitment of T cells to the tumor microenvironment (131, 132). Some of the mechanisms involved in the escape of immunity develop after the activation of WNT in tumor cells. Among them, decrease of secretion by tumoral and/or stromal cells of immune cell-attracting chemokines, such as CC-chemokine ligand 4 (CCL4), should be highlighted (61). Other escape mechanisms involve the expression of checkpoint inhibitors such as programmed death ligand 1 (PD-L1) and CD47 which mainly control the activity of tumor-specific T cells and macrophages (61, 133, 134). PD-L1 and CD47 transcription is controlled by MYC, a proto-oncogene identified as a WNT target gene. Thus, mutations in components of the WNT/β-catenin signaling pathway induce aberrant MYC expression and, because of that, increased expression of the immune checkpoint proteins PD-L1 and CD47 and a non-T cell-inflamed tumor phenotype. Conversely, MYC inactivation led to a decrease in the expression of the above proteins, favoring the accumulation of tumorassociated T cells and macrophages (133-135).

### Impaired DCs Recruitment: CCL4 Inhibition

Anti-tumoral immune cells such as DCs and T cells need to reach the tumor bulk to perform their anti-tumoral activity. Nevertheless, tumors develop mechanisms to avoid immunity by disrupting chemokine secretion. It has been observed that the secretion of chemokines implicated in effector T-cell recruitment is significantly reduced in several types of tumors lacking dendritic cells and CD8+ T-cell infiltrate. Among the chemokines that act on the recruitment of DCs and whose secretion is reduced in many non-T cell inflamed tumors, CCchemokine ligand 4 (CCL4/MIP-1beta) should be highlighted (61, 136). As an example, immune exclusion mediated by activation of the WNT-\beta-catenin pathway was observed in melanoma when expression of CCL4 was inhibited and DCs were no longer recruited into the tumor. Consequently, no T cell priming occurs, and effector T cells were not present at the tumor area (137). Supporting the previous results, a study involving 266 cases of metastatic melanoma found that approximately one third of the melanoma metastatic lesions were non-T cell inflamed and half of them showed activation of WNT-β-catenin signaling in tumor cells. Further support that activation of  $\beta$ catenin in tumors was related to T cell exclusion was obtained in a genetically engineered mouse model of melanoma which conditionally expressed a dominant stable form of  $\beta$ -catenin. Although all the mice developed melanoma,  $\beta$ -catenin-positive tumors had minimal T cell infiltration and were resistant to therapy based on checkpoint blockade. In β-catenin-positive melanoma cells, secretion of CCL4 and other chemokines was reduced, with insufficient recruitment of specific DCs into the tumor area and defective host priming of antigen-specific T cells (138, 139). Another study in bladder cancer demonstrated the WNT7/β-catenin pathway activation in non-T cell-inflamed tumors (140). Studies in melanoma cells also showed that the CCL4 chemokine and the BATF3 transcription factor were linked to the recruitment of the dendritic cells necessary for T-cell activation (141). Additionally, gene expression of WNT7B was explored in urothelial bladder cancer and an inverse correlation with the presence of CD8 cells was found, further supporting a link between the absence of intratumoral T cells and the activation of WNT signaling. This result was also confirmed by immunohistochemistry. Indeed, detection of CD8 transcripts and BATF3 and CCL4 expression within the tumor area inversely correlated with WNT7B expression (**Figure 4**) (140).

#### Inhibition of Tumor-Associate Macrophages (TAM) and DCs Phagocytosis Through "Don't Eat Me" Signals: CD47

CD47 (Integrin-Associated Protein, IAP) is a transmembrane glycoprotein, member of the Ig superfamily, with an IgVlike extracellular domain and a short cytoplasmic tail. CD47 expression is ubiquitous in human cells where it is a "marker of self" functioning as a "don't eat me" signal. CD47 has been shown to interact in cis with  $\alpha\nu\beta3$ ,  $\alpha$ IIb $\beta3$ , and  $\alpha2\beta1$  integrins and in trans with thrombospondins (TSPs) and with regulatory molecules belonging to the signal regulatory protein (SIRP) family. SIRP $\alpha$  and SIRP $\gamma$  are ligands for CD47. SIRP $\alpha$  is highly expressed on myeloid cells (dendritic cells, macrophages, and neutrophils) and smooth muscle cells and discretely expressed by cultured murine and human endothelium. SIRP $\gamma$  is expressed by T-cells, NK cells, and some B-cells (142).

Interaction of CD47 to SIRP- $\alpha$  promotes the phosphorylation of the immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motif (ITIM) on SIRP- $\alpha$ , and the recruitment to the membrane of Src homology region 2 domain-containing phosphatases (SHP-1 and SHP-2), with the subsequent inhibition of myosin-IIA accumulation at the phagocytic area, blocking phagocytosis (143, 144).

CD47 can be expressed on many healthy cells in mice and humans and is highly expressed on a variety of CSCs, including both hematopoietic and solid tumors (145). Expression of CD47 in tumor cells avoid their recognition and elimination by macrophages, dendritic cells, and T cells and induces epithelialmesenchymal transition (EMT) through modulation of Ncadherin and E-cadherin (146). In fact, CD47 protein expression was significantly high in ovarian cancer and associated with patient stage, chemotherapy resistance, and prognosis. Similar results have been observed in glioma cells, breast cancer cells (147), not small-cells lung carcinoma (NSCLC), PDAC, and others (147-150). The presence of CD47 in AML was also associated with a high self-renewal potential of cancer stem cells and with low patient survival (151, 152). CD47 overexpression also correlates with poor prognosis in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma, melanoma, and osteosarcoma (153-156).

Various transcription factors have been proposed to bind to the promoter of CD47 and explain its upregulated expression in different tumors. Some of them like NF- $\kappa$ B, MYC, SNA11, ZEB1, HIF-1 and the PKM2- $\beta$ -catenin–BRG1-TCF4 complex (134, 148, 157, 158) have been implicated in CD47 expression, which strongly suggests that the WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway is involved (**Figure 4**). Supporting this idea, it has been shown that a constant activation of  $\beta$ -catenin is needed for glioma progression (159), and increased levels of its target genes, such as CD47, have been associated with high-grade GBM (16). Conversely, the inhibition of  $\beta$ -catenin in mutant glioma cells abrogated CD47 expression as well as the interaction between  $\beta$ -catenin and TCF4. The reverse effect was observed in the same cells upon the pharmacological elevation of nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin levels. As expected, the CD47 transcriptional downregulation negatively affected the phagocytosis of cancer cells by microglia (158).

In addition, miRNAs have been described as regulators of stem cells and related with the overexpression of CD47 in cancers. miR-133a acts as a tumor suppressor gene, and is downregulated in many types of tumors (160). miR-133a also regulates the transcription factor TCF7, which is essential in the activation of canonical WNT signaling (161).

In another study, miR-708 induced repression of the WNT/ $\beta$ catenin signaling pathway in BCSCs, causing inhibition of selfrenewal and chemoresistance in these cells. miR-708 was shown to directly bind the CD47 gene regulating the expression of this molecule and the tumor-associated macrophage-mediated phagocytosis (162).

Finally, a role for CD47 in drug resistance has been described. In hepatocellular carcinoma cells (HCC), it was found that clones resistant to sorafenib exhibited increased cancer stem cell characteristics, such as tumorigenicity, self-renewal, and invasiveness. Moreover, an increase in CD47 expression, dependent on nuclear factor kappa B (NF- $\kappa$ B) activation, was found. The knockdown or blocking of CD47 in sorafenib-resistant HCC cells consistently demonstrated an increased sensitization to sorafenib by these cells, suggesting that CD47 signaling might be involved in the sensitization to this drug. Therefore, CD47 may have a role through many as yet unknown pathways in drug resistance (163).

### Elimination of Activated T Cells Through "Don't Find Me" Signals: PDL-1

PD-L1 is a type I single-pass transmembrane protein, member of the B7 family, organized in an IgV-like domain, an IgClike domain, and a cytoplasmic tail (163, 164). PD-L1 interacts with the receptor, programmed cell death 1 (PD-1), on activated cytotoxic T cells through the IgV domain. Next, PD-1 forms aggregates with TCR and costimulatory receptor CD28 and recruits the SHP2 phosphatase, leading to its dephosphorylation and inactivation (165, 166). Last, effector T cells become exhausted by the decreased phosphorylation of crucial signaling molecules which regulate activation and proliferation mediated by NFAT (165-167). PD-L1 is expressed in many cell types including macrophages and dendritic cells (164), and tissues such as heart, lung, and placenta (168), and is also overexpressed with immune activation (169). The PD-L1/PD-1 interaction keeps the balance between tolerance and autoimmunity and its deficient or excess functioning can trigger several diseases, including auto-immune diseases such as arthritis and lupus (170). PD-L1 expression has been found to be positive in 5-40% tumor cells such as lung, colon, melanoma, bladder and renal and hepatocellular carcinomas, head and neck cancers, ovarian cancer, and hematologic malignancies (171), inducing



SNAI1, and other transcription factors, promotes the transcription of genes involved in mechanisms supporting tumor cells survival such as the deregulation of molecules involved in immune evasion (CCL4, CD47, and PD-L1). (**B**) The binding of CD47 to SIRPα might prevent phagocytosis of tumor cells (and/or fragments derived from them) by macrophages and dendritic cells with the subsequent absence of T cell activation. (**C**) Expression of PD-L1 might directly impair effector T cells function within the tumor microenvironment. (**D**) Inhibition of CCL4 secretion by tumor cells avoids Dendritic cells recruitment to the tumor microenvironment and the subsequent T cell priming and activation. CCL4, CC-chemokine ligand 4; LRP5/6, Low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5/6; NF-κB, Nuclear factor kappa B; MYC, Myelocytomatosis oncogene cellular homolog; PD-1, Programmed cell death 1; PD-L1, programmed death ligand 1; SIRPα, Signal regulatory protein Alpha; SNAIL, Zinc finger protein SNAI1; TCF/LEF, T-cell factor/lymphoid enhancer factor. Created with BioRender.com.

elimination of effector cells through interaction of PD-L1 on the surface of cancer cells with PD-1 on the T cells plasma membrane (171-174). It has also been shown that PD-L1 expression is modulated by the WNT pathway (Figure 4). Thus, Triple Negative Breast Cancer Stem Cells (TNBCSCs) exhibit PD-L1 overexpression through the WNT cascade and the upregulation or downregulation of this cascade significantly affects the expression of this molecule (175). In testicular germ tumors β-catenin was described as a marker of poor outcome and a positive correlation with PD-L1 expression was observed, as was a decrease in immune infiltration (176). In melanoma cells, the activation of WNT/β-catenin results in the absence of T cell infiltration in the tumor microenvironment. This effect appears to be a consequence of the action of the negative regulatory pathway PD-L1-PD-1 (141). Finally, an increase in PD-L1 in the population of breast mesenchymal-like cancer cells, but specially in breast CSCs, has been observed during EMT by the EMT/β-catenin/STT3/PD-L1 signaling axis. Specifically, it has been shown that the ER-associated N-glycosyltransferases STT3A and STT3B are required for PD-L1 induction through regulating its glycosylation. This produces PD-L1 stabilization by antagonizing  $\beta$ -TrCP-dependent proteasome degradation of this molecule. In this study, the authors also identified that etoposide suppressed the EMT/ $\beta$ -catenin/STT3/PD-L1 axis through TOP2B degradation-dependent nuclear  $\beta$ -catenin reduction, leading to PD-L1 downregulation of CSCs and non-CSCs, and sensitization of cancer cells to anti-Tim-3 therapy. (177). In summary, several studies support an association between WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling and immune evasion through the regulation of the "don't find me signal" PD-L1 and other molecules involved in immune control.

# NEW STRATEGIES FOR EFFECTIVE ANTITUMORAL THERAPY

Most of the anticancer chemotherapies currently being used work by killing highly proliferating cells, which, in many tumors, are mostly non-CSCs, thus decreasing the tumor size. However, the small CSC population present in the tumor bulk is constituted by relatively slow cycling quiescent cells with a higher repair mechanism and are innately resistant to therapy. Furthermore, radiation and chemotherapy may trigger cellular stress response mechanisms enhancing stemness characteristics in non-CSCs and thereby increasing their capacity for adaptation and survival. Thus, conventional chemotherapy can increase the fraction of CSCs within a cancer, making them resistant to treatment, and re-establishing tumor growth in the same or in a distant location from the primary tumor, leading to the formation of metastases which are usually far more resistant to chemotherapy than primary tumors. This has been shown following the treatment of different tumor types, including brain, head and neck, lung, breast, and liver, amongst others (178). Therefore, in contrast to previous therapeutic approaches, new treatments need to consider strategic combinations that could kill CSCs and non-CSCs at once as well as preventing the transition from non-CSCs to CSCs.

Several anti-neoplastic drugs targeting specific molecules are currently in clinical use. One type includes inhibitors of signaling molecules such as inhibitors of tyrosine kinases, Raf, MEK, PI3K, mTOR (mammalian target of rapamycin), and WNT/β-catenin signaling pathways, which are essential for the proliferation of tumoral cells. Another type of therapy is based on obtaining and using monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) to surface proteins highly expressed in cancer cells, such as CD20 in lymphoma (rituximab), HER2 in breast cancer (trastuzumab), and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) in colon cancer (cetuximab). Another type of therapy includes compounds and/or mAbs targeting molecules with a high expression in CSCs and with an essential role in drug resistance and/or tumor immune escape. Inhibitors and antibodies (Abs) specific for ABCB1, CD44, CD47, and/or PD-L1 belong to this group. The great heterogeneity of tumor cellular composition and the complex mechanisms involved in the tumorgenicity in CSCs and non-CSCs subsets requires the use of many different therapeutic approaches and targets, based on the characteristics of the tumor and the patient. Many of these approaches developed to eliminate tumor bulk are used in combination and are currently under clinical evaluation.

# Targeting Molecules Involved in WNT Pathway

Targeting the WNT signaling pathway in CSCs is an interesting and promising approach for anti-tumoral therapy. Although this signaling pathway is expressed in normal cells, deregulation is found in CSCs. Compounds with WNT inhibitory properties can target the CSCs but also normal cells, inducing adverse effects. In this regard, therapeutic molecules should be modified or combined with other therapies to improve their specificity and efficiency. Thus, current chemotherapeutic strategies focus on targeting WNT signaling in specific tumor subclasses or with specific mutational characteristics. Ideally, this tumor-targeted therapy should have at least, three main effects: first, recruitment of dendritic cells, macrophages, and effector T cells in the tumor area; second, reversal of resistance to tumor drugs; and third, inhibition of tumor evasion. Since canonical WNT signaling promotes not only T cell lymphopoiesis but also regulation of peripheral immune cells activation and differentiation (61, 72), ongoing therapy should also have a minimal incidence on immune cells, specifically those infiltrated in the tumor area. Otherwise, mechanisms of anti-tumoral immunity will not function properly and the effectiveness of the immune cells fighting the tumor will be seriously compromised. Finally, given the crucial role of WNT signaling in the maintenance of stem cells and the regeneration of tissues and organs in homeostasis, unwanted side effects should be carefully evaluated. In fact, although diverse types of WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway inhibitors are under development as anti-neoplastic therapies in many hematologic and solid malignancies, none have been approved for clinical use (**Figure 5A**) (36).

### **Targeting WNT Ligands**

Monoclonal antibodies, recombinant proteins, and other inhibitors that neutralize WNT ligands or agonists of these molecules are under clinical investigation and have demonstrated WNT inhibition and tumor reduction in melanoma, sarcoma, colorectal cancers, non-small cell lung carcinoma, and mesothelioma. For example, a hexapeptide has been synthesized which can imitate the characteristics of the WNT5a ligand and inhibit tumor cell migration in vitro. That compound is being tested in a phase 1 study of patients with breast, colon, and prostate metastatic cancers (36, 37). Moreover, a WNT inhibitor which binds and sequesters WNT, blocking the signaling cascade, is in Phase 1b clinical trials (clinicaltrials.gov). Additionally, specific inhibitors have been found that neutralize Porcupine, preventing acylation, and WNT secretion (179). These inhibitors have been tested in phase I trials in melanoma, breast cancer, and pancreatic cancer, metastatic colorectal and head and neck cancers. Promising therapeutic results have also been obtained in pre-clinical models of CRC with another treatment, based on the use of a blocking antibody targeting RSPO3 which produces a loss of stemness and differentiation.

### Targeting Frizzled Receptors and Co-receptors

Several trials testing Abs specific for receptors and co-receptors of the WNT signaling pathway are currently in process. For example, an anti-Fz10 radiolabeled mAb is being evaluated for the treatment of synovial sarcoma in a phase I clinical trial. Also, a monoclonal antibody specific to five human FZD receptors inhibits the growth of human tumor xenografts in mouse models. This antibody is currently included in phase I clinical trials used as monotherapy or in combination with taxanes in breast and pancreatic cancer and non-small cell lung cancer. It is also being used in combination with conventional chemotherapy in phase 1b clinical trials with breast, liver, ovarian, pancreatic, and lung cancer patients (180). Additionally, the use of Abs conjugated to cytotoxic drugs targeting LGR5 has demonstrated therapeutic effectiveness in xenografts and in genetic mouse models of CRC.

### **Disheveled Inhibitors**

A non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) which targets DVL is currently undergoing testing in phase II trials,



Picture 5 Inhibitors used for antitumoral interapy. (A) Agents targeting molecules of the WNT canonical pathway: (1) fargeting WNT ligands or agonists; (2) Porcupine specific inhibitors; (3) Blocking antibody targeting RSPO3; (4) Frizzled blocking agents; (5) Agents targeting LGR5; (6) GSK3β inhibitors; (7) Transcription complex inhibitors; (8) Agents targeting  $\beta$ -catenin expression. (B) Agents targeting molecules involved in drug resistance: (1) Inhibitors of the extrusion pump ABCB1; (2) Blocking antibodies targeting CD44. (C) Agents targeting molecules involved in immune evasion: (1) CD47 blocking agents; (2) Agents targeting SIRP $\alpha$ ; (3) Agents targeting PD-1; (4) Agents targeting PD-L1. Created with BioRender.com.

although multiple non-NSAID inhibitors of DVL have also been developed. Specifically, these agents block the binding between FZD and DVL at the membrane, inhibiting DVL activation. As a consequence of this, the destruction complex is stabilized, thus promoting  $\beta$ -catenin degradation (12, 151, 181).

### GSK3<sub>β</sub> Inhibitors

The effect of an inductor of GSK3 $\beta$  degradation was tested in combination with chemotherapy on cholangiocarcinoma (CCA) cells and was shown to enhance the effect of classical chemotherapy. This agent downregulated ABCB1 expression in a GSK3 $\beta$ -dependent manner (182). In addition, lawsone derivatives are compounds which induce collateral sensitivity in MDR ABCB1-overexpressing cells. These compounds decrease  $\beta$ -catenin activity in a reporter cell line and downregulate c-MYC, ABCB1/P-GP, and FZD7 protein expression. Furthermore, WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling was selectively inhibited in resistant cell lines (108).

#### TCF/CBP/β-Catenin Transcription Complex Inhibitors

Another inhibitor of WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling that has been synthesized specifically binds to the N-terminus of CBP and not p300, blocking only the interaction between CBP and  $\beta$ -catenin. The compound leads to differentiation and loss of self-renewal capacity in pre-B ALL cells. Also, this drug downregulated survivin, an inhibitor-of-apoptosis protein, (IAP) in primary ALL and, in combination with conventional therapy and independently of the mutational status of CBP and chromosomal aberration, eradicates drug-resistant primary leukemia *in vitro* and prolongs the survival of NOD/SCID mice inoculated with primary ALL (183–185).

Additionally, the use of RNA interference technology to knock down the expression of  $\beta$ -catenin results in the reduction of many CSC properties, such as proliferation, migration, drug resistance, and expression of transcription factors such as OCT-4, amongst others (77).

Also, CRISPR/Cas9 genome editing technology has been used to delete  $\beta$ -catenin. Thus, results have shown reduced

tumorigenesis in mixed lineage leukemia and regression of epidermal tumors by depleting CSCs.

Another experimental strategy involves the activation of quiescent CSCs subsets which increases their sensitivity to chemotherapeutic drugs. Quiescence has been associated with the activity of the ubiquitin ligase FBXW7, which downregulates MYC levels. Thus, in experimental models of chronic myeloid leukemia (CML), genetic ablation of *FBXW7* in quiescent leukemic stem cells reprograms them to re-enter the cell cycle and the cells become susceptible to imatinib (186).

# Targeting Molecules Involved in Drug Resistance: ABCB1 and CD44 Targeting ABCB1

Several attempts have been made to efficiently counteract the action of the extrusion pump ABCB1/P-GP and although many pump extrusion inhibitors have been assayed in clinical trials, none of them have been approved for use in patients. Currently, the third and fourth generations of ABCB1/P-GP inhibitors are being designed and/or tested. Third generation inhibitors use nanomolar concentrations to increase their effectiveness at reversing MDR compared to first- and second-generation compounds. Thus, elacridar and zosuquidar significantly inhibited ABCB1 with low toxicity in phase I clinical trials. More specifically, zosuquidar, an oral ABCB1 inhibitor, has been used in the treatment of acute myeloid leukemia, and improves the uptake of daunorubicin, idarubicin, and mitoxantrone. Another inhibitor, tariquidar, has elevated ABCB1 affinity and reduces the ATPase activity of the extrusion pump. Nevertheless, phase III assays of tariquidar with carboplatin/paclitaxel or with vinorelbine were closed due to toxicity issues. Tetrandrine, an alkaloid isolated from Stephania tetrandra, modulates the activity of ABCB1 and has also been used with doxorubicin in phase I clinical trials (www.clinicaltrials.gov) in the treatment of multidrug resistant cancers (187).

More recently, researchers have been working on the fourth generation of ABCB1 inhibitors, which are natural compounds derived from plant extracts, marine organisms, fungi and other sources, and exhibit modulatory properties on ABCB1, less cytotoxicity, and better oral bioavailability. The catalog of these compounds includes alkaloids, coumarins, flavonoids, and terpenoids, many of which are ABCB1 inhibitors. Thus, trabectedin, cytarabine, and Halaven have been approved for use with patients due to their powerful ABC drug transport reversal activity (188). Other phytochemicals such as curcumin and quercetin prevent ABCB1 function reversing MDR in human cancer cell lines (189, 190). Another example is piperine, an alkaloid and major component of black pepper (Piper nigrum) and long pepper (Piper longum). This compound exhibits P-GP inhibitory activity, and also antitumoral, antioxidant, antimicrobial, and hepatoprotective functions (191). Other flavonoids such as luteolin and casticin have been shown to be active on glioma stem-like cells (192, 193). 8-Bromo-7-methoxychrysin (BrMC) induces apoptotic cell death on hepatocellular carcinoma (Hep-G2 cell line) by generating reactive oxygen species (ROS) (194). Additionally, LY294002 is a compound with a PI3K inhibitory activity that induces apoptosis in osteosarcoma CSCs by blocking the cell cycle. This compound also inhibits ABCG2/BCRP, ABCB1/MDR1/P-GP, and ABCC1/MRP1, three transporters with a high expression in stem cells. In addition, salinomycin, an antibiotic isolated from *Streptomyces albus*, interferes with ABC transporters and CSC pathways in many solid tumors and hematological cancers (187, 195).

Thus, novel compounds are being considered as new extrusion pumps inhibitors. Nevertheless, many adverse effects must be considered. Inhibition of efflux pumps can cause adverse effects in normal stem cells, since they exhibit high expression of several extrusion pumps which they need for their physiological function. In addition, ABCB1, and other pumps, play an essential role in keeping the integrity of the blood brain barrier, and interfering with their normal function could have negative consequences for the patient's health (**Figure 5B**) (187, 196, 197).

# Targeting CD44

Another promising approach to blocking essential CSC signaling pathways is the use of therapy based on Abs. Thus, several anti-CD44 monoclonal Abs have been obtained with very promising results, since some of them selectively eliminate the self-renewal properties of CSCs in several malignancies and cancer cell lines. Specifically, the antibody H90 can discern between the stem cells from conventional hematopoietic progenitor cells and from AML cells. Also, the antibody P245 inhibits estrogen and progesterone receptor and HER2 in TNBCC and H4C4 blocks tumor sphere formation in human pancreatic carcinoma cells and inhibits tumorigenesis in a murine xenograft model. Notably, another recombinant and humanized anti-CD44 monoclonal antibody (RO5429083/RG7356) blocks tumorigenesis in head-and-neck carcinoma cells in mice by the cytolytic action of natural killer (NK) cells. Moreover, this antibody can eliminate triple-negative MDA-MB-231 breast cancer and CLL cells (Figure 5B) (198).

### Targeting Molecules Involved in Immune Evasion: CD47 and PD-L1 Targeting CD47

The interaction CD47-SIRPa has been intensively investigated as potential cancer therapy (199-201). Several humanized monoclonal Abs have been obtained with encouraging therapeutic results. For example, Hu5F9-G4, the first humanized mAb to human CD47 increases the phagocytosis of tumor cells by macrophages in vitro and eliminates tumors in xenograft mouse models. The humanized mAb to human CD47, Hu5F9-G4, and CC-90002, are being tested in phase I or I/II clinical trials for solid tumors and hematological malignancies (202). Treatment with another anti-CD47 antibody, B6H12.2, has been shown to improve CD8+ T-cell cytotoxicity and macrophages phagocytosis and decrease tumorigenesis in AML CSCs in animals. Additionally, promising results have been obtained in many types of cancer cells. Therapy based on the use of B6H12 also decreased tumor formation in a leiomyosarcoma mouse model and the reduction of CSCs in pediatric brain carcinomas (151).

Moreover, another therapeutic approach is the design and synthesis of engineered recombinant SIRPa proteins with improved affinity for the CD47 molecule blocking endogenous CD47-SIRPa interaction. Specifically, TTI-621 is formed by the Ig-V-like domain of human SIRPa linked to the Fc region of human IgG1 (203). Similarly, the recombinant protein ALX148 is constituted by a variant of the Ig-V-like domain of human SIRP $\alpha$ anchored to an inactive Fc domain (203, 204). Both treatments are being used in hematological malignancies or solid tumors; as single medication or with Abs specific for tumoral antigens, with radiotherapy or with immune checkpoint inhibitors. CD47 blockade promotes antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis (ADCP) of tumor cells by macrophages and tumor killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. In contrast, since many cell types express CD47, therapy based on targeting that molecule could induce adverse effects and, in fact, treatment with anti-CD47 Abs induced the appearance of anemia in monkeys (Figure 5C) (204).

#### Targeting SIRPα

Another potentially successful strategy for cancer therapy is the combination of a molecule that blocks SIRP $\alpha$  with Abs specific for tumoral antigens. In fact, the combined use of anti-SIRP $\alpha$  murine Abs and rituximab, eliminated human Raji cells grafted into non-obese diabetic (NOD)/SCID mice (205). Moreover, blocking CD47-SIRP $\alpha$  interaction with an antibody specific for human SIRP $\alpha$  enhanced killing *in vitro* by macrophages of HER2+ breast cancer cells previously opsonized with the anti-HER2 monoclonal antibody, trastuzumab (206).

The therapeutic success of anti-SIRPa blocking Abs in tumors SIRP $\alpha$ -positives, might be based on the activation of the ADCP mechanism against tumor cells by macrophages together with the elimination of the phagocytosis blockade exerted by the CD47-SIRPa interaction. In fact, the use of a murine Ab anti-SIRPa reduced tumorigenesis in mice inoculated with cells from renal cell carcinoma or melanoma (205). Cytotoxic T cells and NK cells could also participate in the antitumor mechanisms triggered by the anti-SIRPa Abs (205). Such Abs could favor activation of cytotoxic T lymphocytes by the macrophages and DCs infiltrated in the tumor area and induce antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) by NK cells toward tumor cells (206-208). It is of great importance that this type of treatment has thus far not induced adverse effects such as anemia or neurotoxicity in mice (206). In addition, recombinant CD47 proteins blocking the interaction between CD47 and SIRPa may also contribute to the elimination of tumor cells. Indeed, a variant of CD47 with improved affinity for SIRPa had a synergistic effect when used in combination with tumor-specific monoclonal Abs to ameliorate phagocytosis of tumor cells in vitro (209), although its antitumoral effects in vivo have not been evaluated (Figure 5C).

### Targeting PD-L1

Therapies based on anti-PD-1 and anti-PD-L1 Abs have been designed to augment the cytotoxic T-cell attack to tumor cells. However, these treatments sometimes fail because of the emergence of resistance in patients. Furthermore, these Abs sometimes do not target all the CSCs present in the tumor bulk or

induce insufficient signaling responses. To solve these problems, researchers have obtained multi-specific Abs with the capacity to bind more than one membrane receptor. These chimeric Abs are very efficient at blocking ligand binding and inhibiting downstream signaling. Several inhibitors of PD-L1 have been obtained such as atezolizumab, durvalumab, avelumab, and inhibitors of PD-1 include nivolumab and pembrolizumab (168). Treatment of patients with PD-1 and PD-L1 inhibitors, alone or in combination with standard chemotherapy, has demonstrated preliminary positive results in advanced TNBC (151, 175).

Finally, CRISPR/Cas9 is another method to cleave DNA, allowing edition in any cell. A clinical trial based on this technology was initiated to combat non-small-cell lung cancer by deleting the PD-1 receptor (**Figure 5C**) (151).

#### Combination of Treatments to Target Several Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors

Combinations of therapies based on targeting immune molecules with standard chemotherapeutic drugs and novel therapeutic agents could improve the efficacy of immune checkpoint inhibition in unresponsive patients. The strategy is based on the joint use of Abs and/or recombinant proteins targeting checkpoint inhibitors, chemotherapeutic drugs, cancer vaccines, and immune-stimulatory molecules. These combination therapies are currently being tested in pre-clinical models and patients. The joint blockade of the CD47-SIRPa and PD-1-PD-L1 interactions might have a synergistic effect in the elimination of tumor cells. Indeed, an anti-CD47 nanobody that inhibits the CD47-SIRPa interaction synergized with a PD-L1 antagonist significantly reducing the growth of tumors in mice previously injected with melanoma cells (210, 211). The efficacy of therapy based on the combined use of anti-PD-1 and anti-CTLA-4 antibodies was enhanced by using anti-CD47 blocking Abs in a murine model of esophageal squamous cell cancer (210). Moreover, combined therapy with SIRPa and PD-1 blocking agents had a synergistic antitumoral effect in a murine model of colon cancer (205). The combination of agents with capacity to inhibit the CD47-SIRPa interaction with Abs that block the PD-1-PD-L1 binding is a promising therapeutic approach for the treatment of a broad range of cancers (144, 210, 211).

# CONCLUSIONS

WNT/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling is a highly conserved pathway involved in multiple essential homeostatic functions. Nevertheless, deregulation of this pathway is involved in cancer progression, drug resistance, and immunity escape. Thus, at the same time the WNT pathway is activated in CSCs, a complex transcriptional program is initiated, resulting in the expression of genes such as *ABCB1* and *CD44*, which are involved in drug resistance, and *PD-L1* and *CD47*, which are well-known in immunity. This increased WNT activation in tumor cells is responsible for the start of different survival programs which have made tumor cells highly resistant to the anti-tumoral response and/or the drug treatment. For a long time, inhibitors and/or blocking Abs have been used to counteract the action of ABCB1 as an extrusion pump or to block PD-L1 and/or CD47, and combined therapy has been relatively successful. Additionally, many components of the WNT pathway have been the focus of the scientific community as promising therapeutic targets to eliminate tumor cells. Nevertheless, although the combination of several therapeutic approaches has been promising, many challenges remain to be solved in order to design an effective anti-tumoral treatment which targets tumoral cells, including the small population of CSCs that constitutes a critical subset of the tumor bulk.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

EM-O wrote and revised the manuscript and supervised the figures and references. AS-F assisted in the elaboration of the figures and references list. IO-P organized the references list. All

# REFERENCES

- Anderson K, Lutz C, van Delft FW, Bateman CM, Guo Y, Colman SM, et al. Genetic variegation of clonal architecture and propagating cells in leukaemia. *Nature*. (2011) 469:356–61. doi: 10.1038/nature09650
- Gerlinger M, Rowan AJ, Horswell S, Math M, Larkin J, Endesfelder D, et al. Intratumor heterogeneity and branched evolution revealed by multiregion sequencing. N Engl J Med. (2012) 366:883–92. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1113205
- Anderson ARA, Weaver AM, Cummings PT, Quaranta V. Tumor morphology and phenotypic evolution driven by selective pressure from the microenvironment. *Cell*. (2006) 127:905–15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.09.042
- Sottoriva A, Verhoeff JJC, Borovski T, McWeeney SK, Naumov L, Medema JP, et al. Cancer stem cell tumor model reveals invasive morphology and increased phenotypical heterogeneity. *Cancer Res.* (2010) 70:46– 56. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-3663
- 5. Waclaw B, Bozic I, Pittman ME, Hruban RH, Nowak MA, Guthrie P, et al. A spatial model predicts that dispersal and cell turnover limit intratumour heterogeneity. *Nature*. (2015) 525:261–4. doi: 10.1038/nature14971.A
- Medema JP. Cancer stem cells: the challenges ahead. Nat Cell Biol. (2013) 15:338–44. doi: 10.1038/ncb2717
- Meacham CE, Morrison SJ. Tumour heterogeneity and cancer cell plasticity. *Nature*. (2013) 501:328–37. doi: 10.1038/nature12624
- Vermeulen L, Todaro M, de Sousa Mello F, Sprick MR, Kemper K, Perez Alea M, et al. Single-cell cloning of colon cancer stem cells reveals a multilineage differentiation capacity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:13427– 32. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0805706105
- Campbell LL, Polyak K. Breast tumor heterogeneity: cancer stem cells or clonal evolution? *Cell Cycle*. (2007) 6:2332–8. doi: 10.4161/cc.6.19.4914
- Prasetyanti PR, Medema JP. Intra-tumor heterogeneity from a cancer stem cell perspective. *Mol Cancer*. (2017) 16:41. doi: 10.1186/s12943-017-0600-4
- Steinbichler TB, Dudás J, Skvortsov S, Ganswindt U, Riechelmann H, Skvortsova II. Therapy resistance mediated by cancer stem cells. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2018) 53:156–67. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2018.11.006
- Ramos EK, Hoffman AD, Gerson SL, Liu H. New opportunities and challenges to defeat cancer stem cells. *Trends Cancer*. (2017) 3:780– 96. doi: 10.1016/j.trecan.2017.08.007
- 13. Singh A, Settleman J. EMT cancer stem cells and drug resistance. Oncogene. (2010) 29:4741–51. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.215
- Flanagan DJ, Barker N, Di Costanzo NS, Mason EA, Gurney A, Meniel VS, et al. Frizzled-7 is required for Wnt signaling in gastric tumors with and without APC mutations. *Cancer Res.* (2019) 79:970– 81. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-2095
- Zhang Y, Morris IV JP, Yan W, Schofield HK, Gurney A, Simeone DM, et al. Canonical Wnt signaling is required for pancreatic carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:4909–22. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-4384
- 16. Sinnberg T, Levesque MP, Krochmann J, Cheng PF, Ikenberg K, Meraz-Torres F, et al. Wnt-signaling enhances neural crest migration of

authors assisted in the conception of this review, acquisition of relevant literature, and gave their approval of the last version to be published.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by a grant from the University of Murcia (Plan Propio de Fomento de la Investigación y la Transferencia de la Universidad de Murcia 2019).

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We apologize to those authors whose work we could not cite due to space constraints. We thank Dr. Manuel Sánchez-Angulo for the critical reading of this manuscript and helpful suggestions.

melanoma cells and induces an invasive phenotype. *Mol Cancer.* (2018) 17:59. doi: 10.1186/s12943-018-0773-5

- Vesel M, Rapp J, Feller D, Kiss E, Jaromi L, Meggyes M, et al. ABCB1 and ABCG2 drug transporters are differentially expressed in non-small cell lung cancers (NSCLC) and expression is modified by cisplatin treatment via altered Wnt signaling. *Respir Res.* (2017) 18:52. doi: 10.1186/s12931-017-0537-6
- Liu Y, Chang Y, Lu S, Xiang YY. Downregulation of long noncoding RNA DGCR5 contributes to the proliferation, migration, and invasion of cervical cancer by activating Wnt signaling pathway. *J Cell Physiol.* (2019) 234:11662– 9. doi: 10.1002/jcp.27825
- Veeck J, Bektas N, Hartmann A, Kristiansen G, Heindrichs U, Knüchel R, et al. Wnt signalling in human breast cancer: expression of the putative Wnt inhibitor Dickkopf-3 (DKK3) is frequently suppressed by promoter hypermethylation in mammary tumours. *Breast Cancer Res.* (2008) 10:R82. doi: 10.1186/bcr2151
- Murillo-Garzón V, Kypta R. WNT signalling in prostate cancer. Nat Rev Urol. (2017) 14:683–96. doi: 10.1038/nrurol.2017.144
- McCord M, Mukouyama Y, Gilbert MR, Jackson S. Targeting WNT signaling for multifaceted glioblastoma therapy. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2017) 11:318. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2017.00318
- van Andel H, Kocemba KA, Spaargaren M, Pals ST. Aberrant Wnt signaling in multiple myeloma: molecular mechanisms and targeting options. *Leukemia*. (2019) 33:1063–75. doi: 10.1038/s41375-019-0404-1
- Ashihara E, Takada T, Maekawa T. Targeting the canonical Wnt/βcatenin pathway in hematological malignancies. *Cancer Sci.* (2015) 106:665– 71. doi: 10.1111/cas.12655
- Yadav AK, Desai NS. Cancer stem cells: acquisition, characteristics, therapeutic implications, targeting strategies and future prospects. *Stem Cell Rev Rep.* (2019) 15:331–55. doi: 10.1007/s12015-019-0 9887-2
- Duchartre Y, Kim Y-M, Kahn M. The Wnt signaling pathway in cancer. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. (2016) 99:141–9. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2015.12.005
- Mikels AJ, Nusse R. Wnts as ligands: processing, secretion and reception. Oncogene. (2006) 25:7461–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210053
- Tao Q, Yokota C, Puck H, Kofron M, Birsoy B, Yan D, et al. Maternal Wnt11 activates the canonical Wnt signaling pathway required for axis formation in Xenopus embryos. *Cell.* (2005) 120:857–71. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.01.013
- Nusse R, Clevers H. Wnt/β-catenin signaling, disease, and emerging therapeutic modalities. *Cell.* (2017) 169:985– 99. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.05.016
- Coudreuse D, Korswagen HC. The making of Wnt: new insights into Wnt maturation, sorting and secretion. *Development*. (2007) 134:3– 12. doi: 10.1242/dev.02699
- Willert K, Nusse R. Wnt proteins. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. (2012) 4:a007864. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a007864

- Luga V, Zhang L, Viloria-Petit AM, Ogunjimi AA, Inanlou MR, Chiu E, et al. Exosomes mediate stromal mobilization of autocrine Wnt-PCP signaling in breast cancer cell migration. *Cell.* (2012) 151:1542–56. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.11.024
- Buechling T, Chaudhary V, Spirohn K, Weiss M, Boutros M. P24 proteins are required for secretion of Wnt ligands. *EMBO Rep.* (2011) 12:1265– 72. doi: 10.1038/embor.2011.212
- Port F, Hausmann G, Basler K. A genome-wide RNA interference screen uncovers two p24 proteins as regulators of Wingless secretion. *EMBO Rep.* (2011) 12:1144–52. doi: 10.1038/embor.2011.165
- Nile AH, Hannoush RN. Fatty acylation of Wnt proteins. Nat Chem Biol. (2016) 12:60–9. doi: 10.1038/nchembio.2005
- 35. Gross JC, Chaudhary V, Bartscherer K, Boutros M. Active Wnt proteins are secreted on exosomes. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2012) 14:1036–45. doi: 10.1038/ncb2574
- Krishnamurthy N, Kurzrock R. Targeting the Wnt/beta-catenin pathway in cancer: update on effectors and inhibitors. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2018) 62:50–60. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2017.11.002
- Zhan T, Rindtorff N, Boutros M. Wnt signaling in cancer. Oncogene. (2017) 36:1461–73. doi: 10.1038/onc.2016.304
- Acebron SP, Niehrs C. β-catenin-independent roles of Wnt/LRP6 signaling. *Trends Cell Biol.* (2016) 26:956–67. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2016.07.009
- Kimelman D, Xu W. β-Catenin destruction complex: insights and questions from a structural perspective. Oncogene. (2006) 25:7482– 91. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1210055
- Davidson G, Niehrs C. Emerging links between CDK cell cycle regulators and Wnt signaling. *Trends Cell Biol.* (2010) 20:453–60. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2010.05.002
- Wang X, Jia Y, Fei C, Song X, Li L. Activation/proliferationassociated protein 2 (Caprin-2) positively regulates CDK14/cyclin Y-mediated lipoprotein. J Biol Chem. (2016) 291:26427– 34. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M116.744607
- 42. Li VSW, Ng SS, Boersema PJ, Low TY, Karthaus WR, Gerlach JP, et al. Wnt signaling through inhibition of  $\beta$ -catenin degradation in an intact axin1 complex. *Cell.* (2012) 149:1245–56. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.05.002
- Taelman VF, Dobrowolski R, Plouhinec JL, Fuentealba LC, Vorwald PP, Gumper I, et al. Wnt signaling requires sequestration of Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 inside multivesicular endosomes. *Cell.* (2010) 143:1136– 48. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.11.034
- Kim N-G, Xu C, Gumbiner BM. Identification of targets of the Wnt pathway destruction complex in addition to β-catenin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:5165–70. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0810185106
- Gattinoni L, Ji Y, Restifo NP. Wnt/β-catenin signaling in T cell immunity and cancer immunotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2010) 16:4695– 701. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-0356.
- 46. Sineva GS, Pospelov VA. β-catenin in pluripotency. Adhering to self-renewal or writing to differentiate? In: International Review of Cell and Molecular Biology. Elsevier Inc. (2014), p. 53–78. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800178-3.00002-6
- Yang Y, Mlodzik M. Wnt-frizzled/planar cell polarity signaling: cellular orientation by facing the wind (Wnt). Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol. (2015) 31:623–46. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cellbio-100814-125315
- Gao B, Song H, Bishop K, Elliot G, Garrett L, English M, et al. Wnt signaling gradients establish planar cell polarity by inducing Vangl2 phosphorylation through Ror2. *Dev Cell*. (2011) 20:163–76. doi: 10.1016/j.devcel.2011.01.001.Wnt
- Hatakeyama J, Wald JH, Printsev I, Ho H-YH, Carraway III KL. Vangl1 and Vangl2: planar cell polarity components with a developing role in cancer. *Endocr Relat Cancer*. (2014) 21:R345–56. doi: 10.1530/ERC-14-0141
- Yanfeng WA, Berhane H, Mola M, Singh J, Jenny A, Mlodzik M. Functional dissection of phosphorylation of dishevelled in *Drosophila*. *Dev Biol*. (2011) 360:132–42. doi: 10.1016/j.ydbio.2011.09.017
- Mentink RA, Rella L, Radaszkiewicz TW, Gybel T, Betist MC, Bryja V, et al. The planar cell polarity protein VANG-1/Vangl negatively regulates Wnt/βcatenin signaling through a Dvl dependent mechanism. *PLoS Genet*. (2018) 14:e1007840. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1007840

- Hao HX, Xie Y, Zhang Y, Zhang O, Oster E, Avello M, et al. ZNRF3 promotes Wnt receptor turnover in an R-spondin-sensitive manner. *Nature*. (2012) 485:195–202. doi: 10.1038/nature11019
- Koo BK, Spit M, Jordens I, Low TY, Stange DE, Van De Wetering M, et al. Tumour suppressor RNF43 is a stem-cell E3 ligase that induces endocytosis of Wnt receptors. *Nature*. (2012) 488:665–9. doi: 10.1038/nature11308
- Morgan RG, Mortensson E, Williams AC. Targeting LGR5 in colorectal cancer: therapeutic gold or too plastic? *Br J Cancer*. (2018) 118:1410– 8. doi: 10.1038/s41416-018-0118-6
- 55. Li X, Xiang Y, Li F, Ying C, Li B, Ke X. WNT/β-catenin signaling pathway regulating T cell-inflammation in the tumor microenvironment. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:2293. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02293
- De Lau W, Peng WC, Gros P, Clevers H. The R-spondin/Lgr5/Rnf43 module: regulator of Wnt signal strength. *Genes Dev.* (2014) 28:305– 16. doi: 10.1101/gad.235473.113
- Azzolin L, Panciera T, Soligo S, Enzo E, Bicciato S, Dupont S, et al. YAP/TAZ incorporation in the β-catenin destruction complex orchestrates the Wnt response. *Cell*. (2014) 158:157–70. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.06.013
- Sugimura R, He XC, Venkatraman A, Arai F, Box A, Semerad C, et al. Noncanonical Wnt signaling maintains hematopoietic stem cells in the niche. *Cell*. (2012) 150:351–65. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2012.05.041.
- Galluzzi L, Spranger S, Fuchs E, López-Soto A. WNT signaling in cancer immunosurveillance. *Trends Cell Biol.* (2019) 29:44– 65. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2018.08.005
- Nemeth MJ, Topol L, Anderson SM, Yang Y, Bodine DM. Wnt5a inhibits canonical Wnt signaling in hematopoietic stem cells and enhances repopulation PNAS. (2007) 104:15436–41. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0704747104
- Staal FJ, Luis TC, Tiemessen MM. Wnt signalling in the immune system: Wnt is spreading its wings. *Nature Rev Immunol.* (2008) 8:581– 93. doi: 10.1038/nri2360
- Xu Y, Banerjee D, Huelsken J, Birchmeier W, Sen JM. Deletion of betacatenin impairs T cell development. *Nat Immunol.* (2003) 4:1177– 82. doi: 10.1038/ni1008
- Valencia J, Martínez VG, Hidalgo L, Hernández-López C, Canseco NM, Vicente A, et al. Wnt5a signaling increases IL-12 secretion by human dendritic cells and enhances IFN-γ production by CD4+ T cells. *Immunol Lett.* (2014) 162(1 Pt A):188–99. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2014.08.015
- 64. Sato A, Kayama H, Shojima K, Matsumoto S, Koyama H, Minami Y, et al. The Wnt5a-Ror2 axis promotes the signaling circuit between interleukin-12 and interferon-γ in colitis. *Sci Repl.* (2015) 5:10536. doi: 10.1038/srep10536
- Zhou J, Cheng P, Youn JI, Cotter MJ, Gabrilovich DI. Notch and wingless signaling cooperate in regulation of dendritic cell differentiation. *Immunity*. (2009) 30:845– 59. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.03.021
- van Loosdregt J, Coffer PJ. The Role of WNT signaling in mature T cells: T cell factor is coming home. J Immunol. (2018) 201:2193– 200. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1800633
- Polakis P. Wnt signaling in cancer. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol. (2012) 4:a008052. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a008052
- Krausova M, Korinek V. Wnt signaling in adult intestinal stem cells and cancer. Cell Signal. (2014) 26:570–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2013.11.032
- Giannakis M, Hodis E, Mu XJ, Yamauchi M, Rosenbluh J, Cibulskis K, et al. RNF43 is frequently mutated in colorectal and endometrial cancers. *Nat Genet.* (2014) 46:1264–6. doi: 10.1038/ng.3127
- Loregger A, Grandl M, Mejías-Luque R, Allgäuer M, Degenhart K, Haselmann V, et al. The E3 ligase RNF43 inhibits Wnt signaling downstream of mutated b-catenin by sequestering TCF4 to the nuclear membrane. *Sci Signal*. (2015) 8:393. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aac6757
- Zhong Y, Wang Z, Fu B, Pan F, Yachida S, Dhara M, et al. GATA6 activates Wnt signaling in pancreatic cancer by negatively regulating the Wnt antagonist Dickkopf-1. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:e22129. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0022129
- Fernández NB, Lorenzo D, Picco ME, Barbero G, Dergan-Dylon LS, Marks MP, et al. ROR1 contributes to melanoma cell growth and migration by regulating N-cadherin expression via the PI3K/Akt pathway. *Mol Carcinog.* (2016) 55:1772–85. doi: 10.1002/mc.22426

- Yue Z, Yuan Z, Zeng L, Wang Y, Lai L, Li J, et al. LGR4 modulates breast cancer initiation, metastasis, and cancer stem cells. *FASEB J*. (2018) 32:2422– 37. doi: 10.1096/fj.201700897R.
- Wang D, Cai C, Dong X, Yu QC, Zhang XO, Yang L, et al. Identification of multipotent mammary stem cells by protein C receptor expression. *Nature*. (2015) 517:81–4. doi: 10.1038/nature13851
- Monteiro J, Gaspar C, Richer W, Franken PF, Sacchetti A, Joosten R, et al. Cancer stemness in Wnt-driven mammary tumorigenesis. *Carcinogenesis*. (2014) 35:2–13. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgt279
- 76. Chakrabarti R, Wei Y, Hwang J, Hang X, Andres Blanco M, Choudhury A, et al. ΔNp63 promotes stem cell activity in mammary gland development and basal-like breast cancer by enhancing Fzd7 expression and Wnt signalling. *Nat Cell Biol.* (2014) 16:1004–15. doi: 10.1038/ncb3040
- Teng Y, Wang X, Wang Y, Ma D. Wnt/beta-catenin signaling regulates cancer stem cells in lung cancer A549 cells. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2010) 392:373–9. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2010.01.028
- Yamamoto TM, McMellen A, Watson ZL, Aguilera J, Ferguson R, Nurmemmedov E, et al. Activation of Wnt signaling promotes olaparib resistant ovarian cancer. *Mol Carcinog.* (2019) 58:1770–82. doi: 10.1002/mc.23064
- Huss S, Nehles J, Binot E, Wardelmann E, Mittler J, Kleine MA, et al. β-catenin (CTNNB1) mutations and clinicopathological features of mesenteric desmoid-type fibromatosis. *Histopathology*. (2013) 62:294– 304. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.2012.04355.x
- Gandillet A, Park S, Lassailly F, Griessinger E, Vargaftig J, Filby A, et al. Heterogeneous sensitivity of human acute myeloid leukemia to beta-catenin down-modulation. *Leukemia*. (2011) 25:770–80. doi: 10.1038/leu.2011.17
- Siapati EK, Papadaki M, Kozaou Z, Rouka E, Michali E, Savvidou I, Gogos D, et al. Proliferation and bone marrow engraftment of AML blasts is dependent on beta-catenin signalling. *Br J Haematol.* (2011) 152:164– 74. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2141.2010.08471.x
- Griffiths EA, Gore SD, Hooker C, McDevitt MA, Karp JE, Smith BD, et al. Acute myeloid leukemia is characterized by Wnt pathway inhibitor promoter hypermethylation. *Leukemia Lymphoma*. (2010) 51:1711–9. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2010.496505
- Hu Y, Chen Y, Douglas L, Li S. β-Catenin is essential for survival of leukemic stem cells insensitive to kinase inhibition in mice with BCR-ABL-induced chronic myeloid leukemia. *Leukemia*. (2009) 23:109– 16. doi: 10.1038/leu.2008.262
- Zhao C, Blum J, Chen A, Kwon HY, Jung SH, Cook JM, et al. Loss of betacatenin impairs the renewal of normal and CML stem cells *in vivo*. *Cancer Cell*. (2007) 12:528–41. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2007.11.003
- Wang Y, Krivtsov AV, Sinha AU, North TE, Goessling W, Feng Z, et al. The Wnt/beta-catenin pathway is required for the development of leukemia stem cells in AML. Science. (2010) 327:1650–3. doi: 10.1126/science.1186624
- Yeung J, Esposito MT, Gandillet A, Zeisig BB, Griessinger E, Bonnet D, et al. β-Catenin mediates the establishment and drug resistance of MLL leukemic stem cells. *Cancer Cell*. (2010) 18:606–18. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2010. 10.032
- Kumar SK, Rajkumar V, Kyle RA, van Duin M, Sonneveld P, Mateos MV, et al. Multiple myeloma. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2017) 3:17046. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2017.46
- Rollig C, Knop S, Bornhauser M. Multiple myeloma. Lancet. (2015) 385:2197–208. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60493-1
- Martín-Orozco E, Ferragut JA, Garcia-Peñarrubia P, Ferrer-Montiel A. Acquisition of multidrug resistance by L1210 leukemia cells decreases their tumorigenicity and enhances their susceptibility to the host immune response. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2005) 54:328–36. doi: 10.1007/s00262-004-0588-7
- Chen W, Qin Y, Liu S. Cytokines, breast cancer stem cells (BCSCs) and chemoresistance. *Clin Transl Med.* (2018) 7:27. doi: 10.1186/s40169-018-0205-6
- Turato C, Scarpa M, Kotsafti A, Cappon A, Quarta S, Biasiolo A, et al. Squamous cell carcinoma antigen 1 is associated to poor prognosis in esophageal cancer through immune surveillance impairment and reduced chemosensitivity. *Cancer Sci.* (2019) 110:1552–63. doi: 10.1111/cas. 13986

- Showalter LE, Oechsle C, Ghimirey N, Steele C, Czerniecki BJ, Koski GK. Th1 cytokines sensitize HER-expressing breast cancer cells to lapatinib. *PLoS* ONE. (2019) 14:e0210209. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0210209
- Patel SA, Minn AJ. Combination cancer therapy with immune checkpoint blockade: mechanisms and strategies. *Immunity*. (2018) 48:417–33. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.03.007
- 94. Jaiswal R, Johnson MS, Pokharel D, Krishnan SR, Bebawy M. Microparticles shed from multidrug resistant breast cancer cells provide a parallel survival pathway through immune evasion. *BMC Cancer*. (2017) 17:104. doi: 10.1186/s12885-017-3102-2
- 95. Corrêa S, Binato R, Du Rocher B, Castelo-Branco MTL, Pizzatti L, Abdelhay E. Wnt/β-catenin pathway regulates ABCB1 transcription in chronic myeloid leukemia. BMC Cancer. (2012) 12:303. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-12-303
- Wang YH, Imai Y, Shiseki M, Tanaka J, Motoji T. Knockdown of the Wnt receptor Frizzled-1 (FZD1) reduces MDR1/P-glycoprotein expression in multidrug resistant leukemic cells and inhibits leukemic cell proliferation. *Leuk Res.* (2018) 67:99–108. doi: 10.1016/j.leukres.2018.01.020
- 97. Zhang H, Zhang X, Wu X, Li W, Su P, Cheng H, et al. Interference of Frizzled 1 (FZD1) reverses multidrug resistance in breast cancer cells through the Wnt/β-catenin pathway. *Cancer Lett.* (2012) 323:106– 13. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2012.03.039
- Flahaut M, Meier R, Coulon A, Nardou KA, Niggli FK, Martinet D, et al. The Wnt receptor FZD1 mediates chemoresistance in neuroblastoma through activation of the Wntβ-catenin pathway. Oncogene. (2009) 28:2245– 56. doi: 10.1038/onc.2009.80
- 99. Chen Z, Ma T, Huang C, Zhang L, Lv X, Xu T, et al. MiR-27a modulates the MDR1/P-glycoprotein expression by inhibiting FZD7/βcatenin pathway in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Cell Signal.* (2013) 25:2693–701. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2013.08.032
- 100. Wang H, Wang X, Hu R, Yang W, Liao A, Zhao C, et al. Methylation of SFRP5 is related to multidrug-resistance in leukemia cells. *Cancer Gene Therapy*. (2014) 21:83–9. doi: 10.1038/cgt.2013.87
- 101. Liu YS, Hsu HC, Tseng KC, Chen HC, Chen SJ. Lgr5 promotes cancer stemness and confers chemoresistance through ABCB1 in colorectal cancer. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2013) 67:791–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2013.08.001
- Lin L, Sabnis AJ, Chan E, Olivas V, Cade L, Pazarentzos E, et al. The hippo effector YAP promotes resistance to RAF- and MEK- targeted cancer therapies. *Nat Genet.* (2015) 47:250–6. doi: 10.1038/ng.3218
- 103. Zanconato F, Battilana G, Cordenonsi M, Piccolo S. YAP/TAZ as therapeutic targets in cancer. *Curr Opin Pharmacol.* (2016) 29:26– 33. doi: 10.1016/j.coph.2016.05.002
- 104. Zhang ZM, Wu JF, Luo QC, Liu QF, Wu QW, Ye GD, et al. Pygo2 activates MDR1 expression and mediates chemoresistance in breast cancer via the Wnt/β-catenin pathway. Oncogene. (2016) 35:4787– 97. doi: 10.1038/onc.2016.10
- 105. Schmitt M, Metzger M, Gradl D, Davidson G, Orian-Rousseau V. CD44 functions in Wnt signaling by regulating LRP6 localization and activation. *Cell Death Differ*. (2015) 22:677–89. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2014.156
- 106. Kobune M, Chiba H, Kato J, Kato K, Nakamura K, Kawano Y, et al. Wnt3/RhoA/ROCK signaling pathway is involved in adhesion-mediated drug resistance of multiple myeloma in an autocrine mechanism. *Mol Cancer Ther.* (2007) 6:1774–84. doi: 10.1158/1535-7163.mct-06-0684
- 107. Bjorklund CC, Baladandayuthapani V, Lin HY, Jones RJ, Kuiatse I, Wang H, et al. Evidence of a role for CD44 and cell adhesion in mediating resistance to lenalidomide in multiple myeloma: therapeutic implications. *Leukemia*. (2014) 28:373–83. doi: 10.1038/leu.2013.174
- 108. Spaan I, Raymakers RA, van de Stolpe A, Peperzak V. Wnt signaling in multiple myeloma: a central player in disease with therapeutic potential. J Hematol Oncol. (2018) 11:67. doi: 10.1186/s13045-018-0615-3
- 109. Cerezo D, Lencina M, Ruiz-Alcaraz AJ, Ferragut JA, Saceda M, Sanchez M, et al. Acquisition of MDR phenotype by leukemic cells is associated with increased caspase-3 activity and a collateral sensitivity to cold stress. J Cell Biochem. (2012) 113:1416–25. doi: 10.1002/jcb.24016
- 110. Cerezo D, Ruiz-Alcaraz AJ, Lencina-Guardiola M, Cánovas M, García-Peñarrubia P, Martínez-López I, et al. Attenuated JNK signaling in multidrug-resistant leukemic cells. Dual role of MAPK in cell survival. *Cell Signal*. (2017) 30:162–70. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2016.12.003

- 111. Goler-Baron V, Assaraf YG. Structure and function of ABCG2-rich extracellular vesicles mediating multidrug resistance. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:e16007. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016007
- Horio M, Gottesman MM, Pastan I. ATP-dependent transport of vinblastine in vesicles from human multidrug-resistant cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1988) 85:3580–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.85.10.3580
- 113. Pallis M, Russell N. P-glycoprotein plays a drug-efflux-independent role in augmenting cell survival in acute myeloblastic leukemia and is associated with modulation of a sphingomyelin-ceramide apoptotic pathway. *Blood.* (2000) 95:2897–904. doi: 10.1182/blood.V95.9.2897.009k14\_2897\_2904
- 114. Weisburg JH, Roepe PD, Dzekunov S, Scheinberg DA. Intracellular ph and multidrug resistance regulate complement-mediated cytotoxicity of nucleated human cells. J Biol Chem. (1999) 274:10877–88. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.16.10877
- 115. Ding S, Chamberlain M, McLaren A, Goh L-b, Duncan I, Wolf CR. Crosstalk between signalling pathways and the multidrug resistant protein MDR-1. *Br J Cancer*. (2001) 85:1175–84. doi: 10.1054/bjoc.2001.2044
- 116. Cerezo D, Cánovas M, García-Peñarrubia P, Martín-Orozco E. Collateral sensitivity to cold stress and differential BCL-2 family expression in new daunomycin-resistant lynphoblastoide cell lines. *Exp Cell Res.* (2015) 331:11– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2014.11.017
- 117. Jaiswal R, Luk F, Dalla PV, Grau GER, Bebawy M. Breast cancer-derived microparticles display tissue selectivity in the transfer of resistance proteins to cells. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e61515. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0061515
- 118. Jaiswal R, Sedger LM. Intercellular vesicular transfer by exosomes, microparticles and oncosomes - implications for cancer biology and treatments. *Front Oncol.* (2019) 9:125. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00125
- Lokeshwar VB, Fregien N, Bourguignon LYW. Ankyrin-binding domain of CD44(GP85) is required for the expression of hyaluronic acid-mediated adhesion function. J Cell Biol. (1994) 126:1099–109. doi: 10.1083/jcb.126.4.1099
- Mori T, Kitano K, Terawaki SI, Maesaki R, Fukami Y, Hakoshima T. Structural basis for CD44 recognition by ERM proteins. *J Biol Chem.* (2008) 283:29602–12. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M803606200
- 121. Fehon RG, McClatchey AI, Bretscher A. Organizing the cell cortex: the role of ERM proteins. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol. (2010) 11:276– 87. doi: 10.1038/nrm2866
- Bourguignon LYW, Shiina M, Li JJ. Hyaluronan-CD44 interaction promotes oncogenic signaling, microRNA functions, chemoresistance, and radiation resistance in cancer stem cells leading to tumor progression. *Adv Cancer Res.* (2014) 123:255–75. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800092-2.00010-1
- Orian-Rousseau V, Schmitt M. CD44 regulates Wnt signaling at the level of LRP6. Mol Cell Oncol. (2015) 2:e995046. doi: 10.4161/23723556.2014.995046
- 124. Grass GD, Dai L, Qin Z, Parsons C, Toole BP. CD147: Regulator of hyaluronan signaling in invasiveness and chemoresistance. *Adv Cancer Res.* 123:351–73. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-800092-2.00013-7
- 125. Kozovska Z, Gabrisova V, Kucerova L. Colon cancer: cancer stem cells markers, drug resistance and treatment. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2014) 68:911–6. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2014.10.019
- 126. Misra S, Ghatak S, Toole BP. Regulation of MDR1 expression and drug resistance by a positive feedback loop involving hyaluronan, phosphoinositide 3-kinase, and ErbB2. J Biol Chem. (2005) 280:20310– 5. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M500737200
- Wang Z, Zhao K, Hackert T, Zöller M. CD44/CD44v6 a reliable companion in cancer-initiating cell maintenance and tumor progression. *Front Cell Dev Biol.* (2018) 6:97. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2018.00097
- 128. Bourguignon LYW, Spevak CC, Wong G, Xia W, Gilad E. Hyaluronan-CD44 interaction with protein kinase Cε promotes oncogenic signaling by the stem cell marker nanog and the production of microRNA-21, leading to down-regulation of the tumor suppressor protein PDCD4, antiapoptosis, and chemotherapy resistance. J Biol Chem. (2009) 284:26533– 46. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.027466
- Luke JJ, Bao R, Sweis RF, Spranger S, Gajewski TF. WNT/β-catenin pathway activation correlates with immune exclusion across human cancers. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2019) 25:3074–83. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-1942
- 130. Xiao Z, Wan J, Nur AA, Dou P, Mankin H, Liu T, et al. Targeting CD44 by CRISPR-Cas9 in multi-drug resistant osteosarcoma cells. *Cell Physiol Biochem*. (2018) 51:1879–93. doi: 10.1159/000495714

- Wang B, Tian T, Kalland KH, Ke X, Qu Y. Targeting Wnt/β-catenin signaling for cancer immunotherapy. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2018) 39:648– 58. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2018.03.008
- 132. Trujillo JA, Sweis RF, Bao R, Luke JJ. T cell–inflamed versus non-T cell– inflamed tumors: a conceptual framework for cancer immunotherapy drug development and combination therapy selection. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2018) 6:990–1000. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0277
- 133. Casey SC, Baylot V, Felsher DW. The MYC oncogene is a global regulator of the immune response. *Blood.* (2018) 131:2007–15. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-11-742577
- Casey SC, Tong L, Li Y, Do R, Walz S, Fitzgerald KN, et al. MYC regulates the anti-tumor immune response through CD47 and PD-L1. *Science*. (2016) 352:227–31. doi: 10.1126/science.aac9935
- 135. Ruiz de Galarreta M, Bresnahan E, Molina-Sanchez P, Lindblad KE, Maier B, Sia D, et al. β-catenin activation promotes immune escape and resistance to anti-PD-1 therapy in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Cancer Discov.* (2019) 9:1124–41. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-19-0074
- 136. Pai SG, Carneiro BA, Mota JM, Costa R, Leite CA, Barroso-Sousa R, et al. Wnt/beta-catenin pathway: modulating anticancer immune response. J Hematol Oncol. (2017) 10:101. doi: 10.1186/s13045-017-0471-6
- 137. Spranger S, Gajewski TF. Impact of oncogenic pathways on evasion of antitumour immune responses. *Nat Rev Cancer.* (2018) 18:139– 47. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2017.117
- Wang Q, Wu X. Primary and acquired resistance to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade in cancer treatment. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2017) 46:210– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2017.03.015
- Spranger S, Gajewski TF. A new paradigm for tumor immune escape: β-catenin-driven immune exclusion. J Immunother Cancer. (2015) 3:43. doi: 10.1186/s40425-015-0089-6
- 140. Sweis RF, Spranger S, Bao R, Paner GP, Stadler WM, Steinberg G, et al. Molecular drivers of the non-T cell-inflamed tumor microenvironment in urothelial bladder cancer randy. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2016) 4:563– 8. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0274
- 141. Spranger S, Bao R, Gajewski TF. Melanoma-intrinsic β-catenin signalling prevents anti-tumour immunity. *Nature*. (2015) 523:231–5. doi: 10.1038/nature14404
- 142. Azcutia V, Stefanidakis M, Tsuboi N, Mayadas T, Croce KJ, Fukuda D, et al. Endothelial CD47 promotes vascular endothelialcadherin tyrosine phosphorylation and participates in T cell recruitment at sites of inflammation *in vivo. J Immunol.* (2012) 189:2553–62. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103606
- 143. Fujioka Y, Matozaki T, Noguchi T, Iwamatsu A, Yamao T, Takahashi N, et al. A novel membrane glycoprotein, SHPS-1, that binds the SH2-domaincontaining protein tyrosine phosphatase SHP-2 in response to mitogens and cell adhesion. *Mol Cell Biol.* (1996) 16:6887–99.
- 144. Murata Y, Saito Y, Kotani T, Matozaki T. CD47-signal regulatory protein α signaling system and its application to cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Sci.* (2018) 109:2349–57. doi: 10.1111/cas.13663
- 145. Schürch CM, Forster S, Brühl F, Yang SH, Felley-Bosco E, Hewer E. The "don't eat me" signal CD47 is a novel diagnostic biomarker and potential therapeutic target for diffuse malignant mesothelioma. *Oncoimmunology*. (2018) 7:e1373235. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1373235
- 146. Li F, Lv B, Liu Y, Hua T, Han J, Sun C, et al. Blocking the CD47-SIRP $\alpha$  axis by delivery of anti-CD47 antibody induces antitumor effects in glioma and glioma stem cells. *Oncoimmunology*. (2018) 7:e1391973. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1391973
- 147. Zhao H, Wang J, Kong X, Li E, Liu Y, Du X, et al. CD47 promotes tumor invasion and metastasis in non-small cell lung cancer. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:29719. doi: 10.1038/srep29719
- 148. Noman MZ, Van Moer K, Marani V, Gemmill RM, Tranchevent LC, Azuaje F, et al. CD47 is a direct target of SNAI1 and ZEB1 and its blockade activates the phagocytosis of breast cancer cells undergoing EMT. *Oncoimmunology*. (2018) 7:e1345415. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1345415
- 149. Barrera L, Montes-Servín E, Hernandez-Martinez JM, Garciá-Vicente MDLÁ, Montes-Servín E, Herrera-Martínez M, et al. CD47 overexpression is associated with decreased neutrophil apoptosis/phagocytosis and poor prognosis in non-small-cell lung cancer patients. *Br J Cancer*. (2017) 117:385–97. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2017.173

- 150. Michaels AD, Newhook TE, Adair SJ, Morioka S, Goudreau BJ, Nagdas S, et al. CD47 blockade as an adjuvant immunotherapy for resectable pancreatic cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:1415–25. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-2283
- 151. Marquardt S, Solanki M, Spitschak A, Vera J, Pützer BM. Emerging functional markers for cancer stem cell-based therapies: Understanding signaling networks for targeting metastasis. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2018) 53:90– 109. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2018.06.006
- 152. Majeti R, Chao MP, Alizadeh AA, Pang WW, Jaiswal S, Gibbs KD Jr, et al. CD47 is an adverse prognostic factor and therapeutic antibody target on human acute myeloid leukemia stem cells. *Cell.* (2009) 138:286– 99. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.05.045
- 153. Willingham SB, Volkmer JP, Gentles AJ, Sahoo D, Dalerba P, Mitra SS, et al. CD47-signal regulatory protein alpha (SIRPa) interaction is a therapeutic target for human solid tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:6662– 7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1121623109
- 154. Sakakura K, Takahashi H, Kaira K, Toyoda M, Murata T, Ohnishi H, et al. Relationship between tumor-associated macrophage subsets and CD47 expression in squamous cell carcinoma of the head and neck in the tumor microenvironment. *Lab Invest.* (2016) 96:994–1003. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.2016.70.
- 155. Fu W, Li J, Zhang expression of W Li P. High prognosis CD47 predicts adverse in Chinese patients and immune in melanoma. Biomed suppresses response Pharmacother. (2017)93:1190-6. doi: 10.1016/i.biopha.2017. 06.030
- 156. Dheilly E, Moine V, Broyer L, Salgado-Pires S, Johnson Z, Papaioannou A, et al. Selective blockade of the ubiquitous checkpoint receptor CD47 is enabled by dual-targeting bispecific antibodies. *Mol Ther.* (2017) 25:523–33. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2016.11.006
- 157. Betancur PA, Abraham BJ, Yiu YY, Willingham SB, Khameneh F, Zarnegar M, et al. A CD47-associated super-enhancer links pro-inflammatory signalling to CD47 upregulation in breast cancer. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:14802. doi: 10.1038/ncomms14802
- 158. Gowda P, Patrick S, Singh A, Sheikh T, Sen E. Mutant isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 disrupts PKM2-β-catenin-BRG1 transcriptional network- driven CD47 expression. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2018) 38:e00001-18. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00001-18
- 159. Zheng H, Ying H, Wiedemeyer R, Yan H, Quayle SN, Ivanova EV, et al. PLAGL2 regulates Wnt signaling to impede differentiation in neural stem cells and gliomas. *Cancer Cell.* (2010) 17:497– 509. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2010.03.020
- 160. Yang H, Shao R, Huang H, Wang X, Rong Z, Lin Y. Engineering macrophages to phagocytose cancer cells by blocking the CD47/SIRP? axis. *Cancer Med.* (2019) 8:4245–53. doi: 10.1002/cam4.2332
- Waterman ML. Lymphoid enhancer factor/T cell factor expression in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Metastasis Rev.* (2004) 1–2:41–52. doi: 10.1023/A:1025858928620
- 162. Tan W, Tang H, Jiang X, Ye F, Huang L, Shi D, et al. Metformin mediates induction of miR-708 to inhibit self-renewal and chemoresistance of breast cancer stem cells through targeting CD47. *J Cell Mol Med.* (2019) 23:5994– 6004. doi: 10.1111/jcmm.14462
- 163. Lo J, Lau EY, Ching RH, Cheng BY, Ma MK, Ng IO, et al. Nuclear factor kappa B-mediated CD47 up-regulation promotes sorafenib resistance and its blockade synergizes the effect of sorafenib in hepatocellular carcinoma in mice. *Hepatology*. (2015) 62:534–45. doi: 10.1002/hep. 27859
- 164. Shi L, Chen S, Yang L, Li Y. The role of PD-1 and PD-L1 in T-cell immune suppression in patients with hematological malignancies. *J Hematol Oncol.* (2013) 6:74. doi: 10.1186/1756-8722-6-74
- 165. Yokosuka T, Takamatsu M, Kobayashi-Imanishi W, Hashimoto-Tane A, Azuma M, Saito T. Programmed cell death 1 forms negative costimulatory microclusters that directly inhibit T cell receptor signaling by recruiting phosphatase SHP2. J Exp Med. (2012) 209:1201–17. doi: 10.1084/jem.20112741
- 166. Hui E, Cheung J, Zhu J, Su X, Taylor MJ, Heidi A, et al. T cell costimulatory receptor CD28 is a primary target for PD-1– mediated inhibition. *Science*. (2017) 355:1428–33. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf1292.T

- 167. Gong B, Kiyotani K, Sakata S, Nagano S, Kumehara S, Baba S, et al. Secreted PD-L1 variants mediate resistance to PD-L1 blockade therapy in non–small cell lung cancer. J Exp Med. (2019) 216:982–1000. doi: 10.1084/jem.20180870
- Bellmunt J, Powles T, Vogelzang NJ. A review on the evolution of PD-1/PD-L1 immunotherapy for bladder cancer: the future is now. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2017) 54:58–67. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2017.01.007
- 169. Ritprajak P, Azuma M. Intrinsic and extrinsic control of expression of the immunoregulatory molecule PD-L1 in epithelial cells and squamous cell carcinoma. *Oral Oncol.* (2015) 51:221–8. doi: 10.1016/j.oraloncology.2014.11.014
- 170. Xie QK, Zhao YJ, Pan T, Lyu N, Mu LW, Li SL, et al. Programmed death ligand 1 as an indicator of pre-existing adaptive immune responses in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016) 5:e1181252. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1181252
- 171. Wang Y, Wang H, Yao H, Li C, Fang JY, Xu J. Regulation of PD-L1: emerging routes for targeting tumor immune evasion. *Front Pharmacol.* (2018) 9:536. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00536
- Topalian SL, Drake CG, Pardoll DM. Immune checkpoint blockade: a common denominator approach to cancer therapy. *Cancer Cell.* (2015) 27:450–61. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015.03.001
- 173. Barach YS, Lee JS, Zang X. T cell coinhibition in prostate cancer: new immune evasion pathways and emerging therapeutics. *Trends Mol Med.* (2011) 17:47–55. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2010.09.006
- 174. Chen DS, Mellman I. Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point. *Nature*. (2017) 541:321–30. doi: 10.1038/nature21349
- 175. Castagnoli L, Cancila V, Cordoba-Romero SL, Faraci S, Talarico G, Belmonte B, et al. WNT signaling modulates PD-L1 expression in the stem cell compartment of triple-negative breast cancer. *Oncogene*. (2019) 38:4047– 60. doi: 10.1038/s41388-019-0700-2
- 176. Chovanec M, Cierna Z, Miskovska V, Machalekova K, Kalavska K, Rejlekova K, et al. βcatenin is a marker of poor clinical characteristics and suppressed immune infiltration in testicular germ cell tumors. *BMC Cancer*. (2018) 18:1062. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4929-x
- 177. Hsu JM, Xia W, Hsu YH, Chan LC, Yu WH, Cha JH, et al. STT3-dependent PD-L1 accumulation on cancer stem cells promotes immune evasion. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:1908. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-0 4313-6
- Lathia JD, Liu H. Overview of cancer stem cells and stemness for community oncologists. *Target Oncol.* (2017) 12:387–99. doi: 10.1007/s11523-017-0508-3
- 179. Ho SY, Keller TH. The use of porcupine inhibitors to target Wnt-driven cancers. *Bioorganic Med Chem Lett.* (2015) 25:5472– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.bmcl.2015.10.032
- 180. Takebe N, Miele L, Harris PJ, Jeong W, Bando H, Kahn M, et al. Targeting notch, hedgehog, and Wnt pathways in cancer stem cells: clinical update. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* (2015) 12:445–64. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2015.61
- Batlle E, Clevers H. Cancer stem cells revisited. Nat Med. (2017) 23:1124– 34. doi: 10.1038/nm.4409
- 182. Huang GL, Shen DY, Cai CF, Zhang QY, Ren HY, Chen QX. β-escin reverses multidrug resistance through inhibition of the GSK3β/β-catenin pathway in cholangiocarcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. (2015) 21:1148– 57. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i4.1148
- Zhao Y, Masiello D, McMillian M, Nguyen C, Yongfeng W, Melendez E, et al. CBP/catenin antagonist safely eliminates drug resistant leukemia initiating cells. Oncogene. (2016) 35:3705–17. doi: 10.1038/onc.2015.438
- Han L, Shi S, Gong T, Zhang Z, Sun X. Cancer stem cells: therapeutic implications and perspectives in cancer therapy. *Acta Pharm Sin B.* (2013) 3:65–75. doi: 10.1016/j.apsb.2013.02.006
- 185. Takahashi-Yanaga F, Kahn M. Targeting Wnt signaling: can we safely eradicate cancer stem cells? *Clin Cancer Res.* (2010) 16:3153–62. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-2943
- 186. Takeishi S, Matsumoto A, Onoyama I, Naka K, Hirao A, Nakayama KI. Ablation of Fbxw7 eliminates leukemia-initiating cells by preventing quiescence. *Cancer cell.* (2013) 23:347–61. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2013.01.026
- Mollazadeh S, Sahebkar A, Hadizadeh F, Behravan J, Arabzadeh S. Structural and functional aspects of P-glycoprotein and its inhibitors. *Life Sci.* (2018) 214:118–23. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2018.10.048
- 188. Li W, Zhang H, Assaraf YG, Zhao K, Xu X, Xie J, et al. Overcoming ABC transporter-mediated multidrug resistance: Molecular mechanisms

and novel therapeutic drug strategies. *Drug Resist Updat.* (2016) 27:14–29. doi: 10.1016/j.drup.2016.05.001

- 189. El-Araby ME, Omar AM, Khayat MT, Assiri HA, Al-Abd AM. Molecular mimics of classic p-glycoprotein inhibitors as multidrug resistance suppressors and their synergistic effect on paclitaxel. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0168938. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0168938
- 190. Mohana S, Ganesan M, Rajendra Prasad N, Ananthakrishnan D, Velmurugan D. Flavonoids modulate multidrug resistance through Wnt signaling in P-glycoprotein overexpressing cell lines. *BMC Cancer.* (2018) 18:1168. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-5103-1
- 191. Syed SB, Arya H, Fu IH, Yeh TK, Periyasamy L, Hsieh HP, et al. Targeting P-glycoprotein: investigation of piperine analogs for overcoming drug resistance in cancer. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:7972. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-0 8062-2
- 192. Chakrabarti M, Ray SK. Anti-tumor activities of luteolin and silibinin in glioblastoma cells: overexpression of miR-7-1-3p augmented luteolin and silibinin to inhibit autophagy and induce apoptosis in glioblastoma *in vivo*. *Apoptosis*. (2016) 21:312–28. doi: 10.1007/s10495-015-1198-x
- Liu E, Kuang Y, He W, Xing X, Gu J. Casticin induces human glioma cell death through apoptosis and mitotic arrest. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* (2013) 31:805–14. doi: 10.1159/000350098
- 194. Yang XH, Zheng X, Cao JG, Xiang HL, Liu F, Lv Y. 8-bromo-7-methoxychrysin-induced apoptosis of hepatocellular carcinoma cells involves ROS and JNK. World J Gastroenterol. (2010) 16:3385–93. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v16.i27.3385
- 195. Zinzi L, Contino M, Cantore M, Capparelli E, Leopoldo M, Colabufo NA. ABC transporters in CSCs membranes as a novel target for treating tumor relapse. *Front Pharmacol.* (2014) 5:163. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2014.00163
- 196. Deshmukh A, Deshpande K, Arfuso F, Newsholme P, Dharmarajan A. Cancer stem cell metabolism: a potential target for cancer therapy. *Mol Cancer*. (2016) 15:69. doi: 10.1186/s12943-016-0555-x
- 197. Hamed AR, Abdel-Azim NS, Shams KA, Hammouda FM. Targeting multidrug resistance in cancer by natural chemosensitizers. *Bull Natl Res Cent.* (2019) 43:8. doi: 10.1186/s42269-019-0043-8
- 198. Yan Y, Zao X, Wei D. Concise review: emerging role of CD44 in cancer stem cells: a promising biomarker and therapeutic target. *Stem Cells Transl Med.* (2015) 4:1033–43. doi: 10.5966/sctm.2015-0048
- 199. Ho CCM, Guo N, Sockolosky JT, Ring AM, Weiskopf K, Özkan E, et al. "Velcro" engineering of high affinity CD47 Ectodomain as signal regulatory protein  $\alpha$  (SIRP $\alpha$ ) antagonists that enhance antibody-dependent cellular phagocytosis. *J Biol Chem.* (2015) 290:12650–63. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.648220
- 200. Tseng D, Volkmer J-P, Willingham SB, Contreras-Trujillo H, Fathman JW, Fernhoff NB, et al. Anti-CD47 antibody-mediated phagocytosis of cancer by macrophages primes an effective antitumor T-cell response. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2013) 110:11103–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1305569110
- 201. Liu X, Pu Y, Cron K, Deng L, Kline J, Frazier WA, et al. CD47 blockade triggers T cell-mediated destruction of immunogenic tumors. *Blood Rev.* (2018) 21:1209–15. doi: 10.1038/nm.3931

- 202. Russ A, Hua AB, Montfort WR, Rahman B, Riaz IB, Khalid MU, et al. Blocking 'don't eat me' signal of CD47-SIRPα in hematological malignancies, an in-depth review *Nat Med.* (2015) 32:480–9. doi: 10.1016/j.blre.2018. 04.005
- 203. Petrova PS, Viller NN, Wong M, Pang X, Lin GHY, Dodge K, et al. TTI-621 (SIRPaFc): a CD47-blocking innate immune checkpoint inhibitor with broad antitumor activity and minimal erythrocyte binding. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:1068–79. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-1700
- 204. Kauder SE, Kuo TC, Harrabi O, Chen A, Sangaland E, Doyle L, et al. ALX148 blocks CD47 and enhances innate and adaptive antitumor immunity with a favorable safety profile. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 13:e0201832. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0201832
- 205. Murata Y, Tanaka D, Hazama D, Yanagita T, Saito Y, Kotani T, et al. Antihuman SIRPα antibody is a new tool for cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Sci.* (2018) 109:1300–8. doi: 10.1111/cas.13548
- 206. Zhao XW, van Beek EM, Schornagel K, Van der Maaden H, Van Houdt M, Otten MA, et al. CD47-signal regulatory protein-α (SIRPα) interactions form a barrier for antibody-mediated tumor cell destruction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2011) 108:18342–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1106550108
- 207. Mattiola I, Pesant M, Tentorio PF, Molgora M, Marcenaro E, Lugli E, et al. Priming of human resting NK cells by autologous M1 macrophages via the engagement of IL-1β, IFN-β, and IL-15 pathways. *J Immunol.* (2015) 195:2818–28. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500325
- Bodduluru LN, Kasala ER, Madhana RMR, Sriram CS. Natural killer cells: the journey from puzzles in biology to treatment of cancer. *Cancer Lett.* (2015) 357:454–67. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2014.12.020
- Sockolosky JT, Dougan M, Ingram JR, Ho CCM, Kauke MJ, Almo SC, et al. Durable antitumor responses to CD47 blockade require adaptive immune stimulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:E2646– 54. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1604268113
- Ingram JR, Blomberg OS, Sockolosky JT, Ali L, Schmidt FI, Pishesha N, et al. Localized CD47 blockade enhances immunotherapy for murine melanoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2017) 114:10184–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.17107 76114
- 211. Lian S, Xie R, Ye Y, Lu Y, Cheng Y, Xie X, et al. Dual blockage of both PD-L1 and CD47 enhances immunotherapy against circulating tumor cells. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:4532. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-40241-1

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Martin-Orozco, Sanchez-Fernandez, Ortiz-Parra and Ayala-San Nicolas. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

